

## Estimation of water resources on continental surfaces by multi-sensor microwave remote sensing

Qi Gao

### ► To cite this version:

Qi Gao. Estimation of water resources on continental surfaces by multi-sensor microwave remote sensing. Hydrology. Université Paul Sabatier - Toulouse III, 2019. English. NNT: 2019TOU30137. tel-02349622v2

### HAL Id: tel-02349622 https://hal.science/tel-02349622v2

Submitted on 11 Sep 2020  $\,$ 

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.





# En vue de l'obtention du DOCTORAT DE L'UNIVERSITÉ DE TOULOUSE

Délivré par l'Université Toulouse 3 - Paul Sabatier Cotutelle internationale : Université Ramon Llull

Présentée et soutenue par

### Qi GAO

Le 30 juillet 2019

Estimation des ressources en eau sur les surfaces continentales par télédétection micro-onde multi-capteurs

Ecole doctorale : SDU2E - Sciences de l'Univers, de l'Environnement et de l'Espace

Spécialité : Surfaces et interfaces continentales, Hydrologie

Unité de recherche : CESBIO - Centre d'Etudes Spatiales de la Biosphère

Thèse dirigée par Mehrez ZRIBI, Maria José ESCORIHUELA et Pere QUINTANA SEGUI

Jury

Mme Simonetta PALOSCIA, Rapporteure Mme Catherine OTTLE, Rapporteure M. Joaquim BELLVERT, Examinateur M. Mehrez ZRIBI, Directeur de thèse

# Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS v				
A	ABSTRACT vii			
$\mathbf{R}$	RESUME ix			
$\mathbf{R}$	RESUMEN xi			
RESUM				
1	Intr	roduction	1	
	1.1	Context	1	
		1.1.1 Climate change and interaction with water resources	$\overline{2}$	
		1.1.2 Water resources in global scale	4	
		1.1.3 Water resources in regional scale	5	
		1.1.4 Water cycle and anthropogenic interventions	6	
	1.2	Water resources estimation	7	
		1.2.1 Hydrological models and land surface models	8	
		1.2.2 Measurements and remote sensing techniques	9	
		1.2.3 Challenges	9	
	1.3	About the thesis	10	
		1.3.1 Objectives	10	
		1.3.2       Structure of the thesis	11	
<b>2</b>	Rer	note Sensing Principles	15	
	2.1	Introduction	15	
		2.1.1 Electromagnetic waves	15	
		2.1.2 Characteristics of electromagnetic waves	16	
	2.2	Microwave remote sensing	17	
		2.2.1 Radar	18	
		2.2.2 Synthetic Aperture Radar	20	
		2.2.3 Imaging systems	21	
		2.2.3.1 Scattering mechanisms	22	
		2.2.3.2 Topographic effects	23	
		2.2.3.3 Speckle effect	24	
		2.2.3.4 Soil moisture principle	24	
		2.2.4 Ranging system and principle of altimetry	25	
		2.2.4.1 Trackers and Retrackers	26	
		2.2.4.2 Pulse-limited altimetry	26	

		2.2.4.3 SAR/Delay-Doppler altimetry
	2.3	Conclusion
3	Stu	dy Area and Datasets 29
	3.1	Study area
		3.1.1 Ebro basin
		3.1.2 Urgell site
	3.2	Remote sensing dataset
		3.2.1 Sentinel data
		3.2.2 MODIS data
		3.2.3 DEM data
		3.2.4 SMOS data
	3.3	<i>In situ</i> data
		3.3.1 Ground soil moisture measurements
		3.3.2 Meteorological data
		3.3.3 SIGPAC
		3.3.4 SAIH Ebro
	3.4	Conclusion 40
	0.1	
<b>4</b>	Soil	Moisture Retrieval 43
	4.1	Introduction
	4.2	Methodologies
		4.2.1 Backscatter difference with the driest date
		4.2.2 Backscatter difference between two consecutive dates
	4.3	Soil moisture at 1 km resolution
	4.4	Soil moisture at 100 m resolution
	4.5	Published paper
	4.6	Summary and Conclusions
_	<b>.</b> .	
5	Irrig	gation Mapping 73
	5.1	Introduction
	5.2	Methodology
	5.3	Published paper
	5.4	Summary and Conclusions
6	Wat	er Level Retrieval 95
	6.1	Introduction
	6.2	Methodologies
	6.3	Published paper
	6.4	Summary and Conclusions
7	Dan	n Simulation 125
	7.1	Introduction
	7.2	Models
		7.2.1 SURFEX land surface model
		7.2.2 SAFRAN meteorological analysis system
		7.2.3 SASER hydrological model
	7.3	Methodology
		7.3.1 Forcing model
		7.3.2 Conversion from water level to volume

	7.4	Results	128	
		7.4.1 Simulation	128	
		7.4.2 Satellite data forcing	132	
	7.5	Conclusion	133	
8	Con	clusions and Perspectives	135	
	8.1	Main conclusions	135	
	8.2	Future research lines	136	
A	crony	yms	139	
Li	st of	Figures	143	
List of Tables				
Bibliography				

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisors, Maria Jose Escorihuela, Mehrez Zribi and Pere Quintana Seguí for their guidance and suggestions throughout all my PhD study. I would specially thank Maria Jose, who offered me an internship opportunity after my master study followed by the PhD opportunity and who offered generous support and encouragement in my study. Also, I especially thank Mehrez, who dedicated a lot of time in guiding my study with invaluable ideas and showed me the way to do scientific research. I would like to thank Pere as well for his support and patience to take me as his first PhD student.

Furthermore, I would like to acknowledge the jury members and the members of my thesis committee, who offered valuable suggestions and help for my PhD study.

I would also like to acknowledge with much appreciation the isardSAT team with whom I have been working with more than three years. I am very thankful for the opportunity isardSAT offered me to be a part of the company and the financial support which makes my PhD study possible. A special thanks to Eduard Makhoul who generously offered his knowledge to help me in the altimetry research. Another special thanks to Mercè Natividad who saved me from countless administrative processes.

I also thank the CESBIO staff, who offered me a very friendly and helpful working environment during my stay in Toulouse and the Observatori de l'Ebre team and Universitat Ramon Llull team who offered great support during my study, particularly Anaïs Barella, who helped me with the SASER model.

I also sincerely appreciate the funding source I received apart from isardSAT offered, including the grant DI-15-08105 from the Spanish Education Ministry (MICINN), with the support of the Secretariat of Universities and Research of the Business and Knowledge Department of the Government of Catalonia (DI-2016-078), and the grant No. 645642 from European Commission Horizon 2020 Programme for Research and Innovation (H2020) in the context of the Marie Skłodowska-Curie Research and Innovation Staff Exchange (RISE) action, which gives me the opportunity to experience a very international PhD study.

Again, a great thanks to all my friends both in Europe and in China, who gave me numerous support and encouragement both in life and study.

Last but not least, I would like to take this opportunity to thank my family, for all their support and love, especially my parents, who never said a no to my dreams.

Thank you.

# ABSTRACT

The estimation of the water resources of the continental surfaces at a regional and global scale is fundamental for good water resources management. This estimation covers a wide range of topics and fields, including the characterisation of soils and water resources at the basin scale, hydrological modelling and flood prediction and mapping. In this context, the characterisation of the states of the continental surface, to obtain better input parameters for hydrological models, is essential to improve the precision in the simulation of flows, droughts, and floods. The estimation of the water content in the system, including the different water bodies and the free water in the soil, is especially necessary for a precise description of the hydrological processes and, in general, of the water cycle on the continental surfaces. To better characterise hydrological processes, human interventions cannot be neglected. Humans influence the water cycle, mainly through irrigation and the construction of reservoirs, which must be correctly quantified.

The objective of the thesis is the improvement of the remote estimation of water resources, including the quantification of human factors, using several sensors recently launched, taking advantage of recent developments in remote sensing technology. With the arrival of the Sentinel constellations (Sentinel-1, 2, 3), we have better tools to estimate water resources, including human impacts, with greater precision and coverage.

This thesis consists mainly of two parts where human interventions in the water cycle are considered: irrigation cartography (as an application of soil moisture), and the forcing of reservoirs in hydrological simulations (as an application of altimetry).

Firstly, soil moisture is estimated from the statistical analysis of Sentinel-1 SAR data. Two methodologies are developed to obtain soil moisture with a spatial resolution of 100 m based on the interpretation of Sentinel-1 data collected with the VV polarization (vertical-vertical), which is combined with optical data of Sentinel-2 for the analysis of the effects of vegetation.

Secondly, irrigation is mapped under various meteorological conditions, including high spatial and temporal resolution. A methodology for irrigation mapping is proposed using SAR data obtained in VV (vertical-vertical) and VH (vertical-horizontal) polarizations. With Sentinel-1 time series, different statistics and metrics are analysed, including the mean value, the variance of the signal, the correlation length and the fractal dimension, based on which the classification of irrigated trees, irrigated crops, and non-irrigated crops are derived.

Finally, the level of the reservoirs is estimated from the Sentinel-3 altimetry data, with the SAR altimeter (SRAL), based on different algorithms to improve the accuracy. This study presents three specialised algorithms or retrackers designed to obtain the level of the surface of the studied inland bodies of water, minimising the contamination of the waveforms due to the surrounding soil. The performance of the selection method of the proposed wave portion is compared with three retrackers, that is, the centre of gravity retracker (OCOG) and the two-step physical-based retracker. Temporal series of the water level of reservoirs located in the basin of the Ebro River (Spain) are obtained.

As an application, the level series of the reservoirs obtained are used to force the reservoirs in hydrological simulations. **Keywords**: Water resources, remote sensing, synthetic aperture radar (SAR), soil moisture, altimetry, Sentinel

# RESUME

L'estimation et le suivi des ressources en eau des surfaces continentales aux niveaux régional et global est essentielle pour la gestion du bilan hydrique, particulièrement dans le contexte des changements climatiques et anthropiques. Ils couvrent un large éventail de thèmes et de domaines, incluant la caractérisation des ressources en eau à l'échelle du bassin, la modélisation hydrologique ainsi que la prévision et la cartographie des inondations. Dans ce contexte, la caractérisation des états de surface, en tant que paramètres d'entrée dans les modèles hydrologiques, est essentielle pour obtenir une meilleure précision de la simulation, qui est liée à la précision prévisionnelle des débits des cours d'eau et le suivi des sécheresses et des inondations. L'estimation de la teneur en eau des surfaces continentales, incluant l'état hydrique du sol et les niveaux des surfaces couvertes d'eau, est particulièrement nécessaire pour une description précise des processus hydrologiques et plus généralement du cycle de l'eau sur les surfaces continentales. Afin de mieux comprendre les processus hydrologiques, l'influence humaine (l'effet anthropique) sur le cycle de l'eau nécessite une évaluation fine. Elle est particulièrement liée à la gestion de l'irrigation et la construction de barrages.

L'objectif de la thèse était d'améliorer l'estimation des ressources en eau et une meilleure caractérisation des interventions anthropiques à travers l'utilisation de nouveaux capteurs satellitaires multi-configurations du programme européen Copernicus. Avec le développement de la technologie de télédétection spatiale, et plus particulièrement avec l'arrivée des constellations Sentinel (Sentinel-1, 2, 3) à haute résolution spatiale et temporelle, il existe un meilleur outil pour estimer les états des surfaces continentales. Ce travail de thèse comprend principalement deux priorités liées à des interventions humaines dans le cycle hydrologique:la cartographie de l'irrigation en tant que action humaine liée directement à l'humidité du sol et le forçage des barrages dans un modèle de simulation de rivière en tant qu'application liée à l'estimation du niveau de l'eau libre.

Un premier axe de recherche a été basé sur une analyse statistique des données SAR Sentinel-1 pour caractériser l'état hydrique du sol. Deux méthodes ont été développées pour estimer ce paramètre avec une résolution spatiale de 100 m. Elles sont basées sur des approches de détection de changement à partir des données Sentinel-1 acquises en polarisation VV (verticale-verticale), combinées aux données optiques Sentinel-2 pour corriger les effets de la végétation.

L'application consistait à cartographier l'irrigation, avec des résolutions spatiale et temporelle élevées. Une méthodologie de cartographie de l'irrigation utilisant des données SAR Sentinel-1 a été proposée. Elle estbasée sur les acquisitions en polarisations VV (vertical-vertical) et VH (vertical-horizontal). A partir de la série temporelle des mesures Sentinel-1, des paramètres statistiques tel que la valeur moyenne, la variance du signal, la longueur de corrélation temporelle et la dimension fractale, sont analysées, en fonction du type de culture; cultures annuelles irriguées, arbres irrigués et cultures pluviales. Des classifications supervisées utilisant les approches Random Forest et SVM sont testées.

En deuxième axe, l'estimation de la hauteur de la surface de l'eau à partir des données altimétriques de Sentinel-3 avec l'altimètre SAR (SRAL) a été réalisée à l'aide de différents algorithmes afin d'améliorer la précision sur des petites surfaces. Cette étude présente trois algorithmes spécialisés (ou retrackers) dédiées à la minimisation de la contamination des sols par les formes d'ondes permettant de récupérer les niveaux d'eau à partir de données altimétriques SAR sur des masses d'eaux intérieures. Les performances de la méthode de sélection de portion de forme d'onde proposée avec trois retrackers, à savoir, le retracker à seuil, le retracker à centre de gravité décalé (OCOG) et le retracker à base physique à 2 étapes, sont comparées. Des séries chronologiques de niveaux d'eau sont extraites pour les masses d'eau du bassin de l'Èbre (Espagne).

Une application des produits altimétriques est proposée. Le produit de niveau d'eau a été utilisé comme paramètre d'entrée pour analyser l'effet tampon des barrages dans les simulations de débits fluviaux.

Mots-clés: ressources en eau, télédétection, Radar d'ouverture synthétique (SAR), humidité du sol, hauteur de surface d'eau, altimétrie, Sentinel

# RESUMEN

La estimación de los recursos hídricos de las superficies continentales a escala regional y global es fundamental para una buena gestión de los recursos hídricos. Esta estimación cubre una amplia gama de temas y campos, incluyendo la caracterización de los suelos y de los recursos hídricos a escala de cuenca, la modelización hidrológica y la predicción y la cartografía de inundaciones. En este contexto, la caracterización de los estados de la superficie continental, para obtener mejores parámetros de entrada para los modelos hidrológicos, es esencial para mejorar la precisión en la simulación de caudales, sequías e inundaciones. La estimación del contenido de agua en el sistema, incluidas las diferentes masas de agua y el agua libre en el suelo, es especialmente necesaria para una descripción precisa de los procesos hidrológicos y, en general, del ciclo del agua en las superficies continentales. Una caracterización precisa de los procesos hidrológicos requiere no descuidar las intervenciones humanas. El hombre influye en el ciclo del agua, principalmente mediante el riego y la construcción de embalses, lo que se debe cuantificar correctamente.

El objetivo de la tesis es la mejora de la estimación remota de los recursos hídricos, incluyendo la cuantificación de los factores humanos, mediante el uso de varios sensores lanzados recientemente, aprovechando recientes desarrollos en la tecnología de teledetección. Con la llegada de las constelaciones Sentinel (Sentinel-1, 2, 3), disponemos de mejores herramientas para estimar los recursos hídricos, incluyendo los impactos humanos, con una mayor precisión y cobertura.

Este trabajo de tesis consta principalmente en dos ejes de investigación donde se estiman las intervenciones humanas en el ciclo hidrológico: la cartografía del riego (como aplicación en humedad del suelo), y el forzamiento de embalses en simulaciones hidrológicas (como aplicación de la altimetría).

En relación al primer eje, se estima la humedad del suelo a partir del análisis estadístico de los datos SAR de Sentinel-1. Se desarrollan dos metodologías para obtener la humedad del suelo con una resolución espacial de 100 m basándose en la interpretación de los datos de Sentinel-1 obtenidas con la polarización VV (vertical-vertical), que se combina con datos ópticas Sentinel-2 para el análisis de los efectos de la vegetación.

Como aplicación de la humedad del suelo, se cartografía el riego en diversas condiciones meteorológicas, y con una alta resolución espacial y temporal. Se propone una metodología para la cartografía del riego mediante datos SAR obtenidos en polarizaciones VV (verticalvertical) y VH (vertical-horizontal). A partir de la serie temporal Sentinel-1, se analizan diferentes estadísticas y métricas, incluyendo el valor medio, la varianza de la señal, la longitud de la correlación y la dimensión fractal, a partir de los cuales se clasifican los árboles irrigados, los cultivos irrigados y los cultivos no irrigados.

En el segundo eje, se estima el nivel de los embalses a partir de los datos de altimetría de Sentinel-3, con el altímetro SAR (SRAL), basándose en diferentes algoritmos para mejorar la precisión. Este estudio presenta tres algoritmos especializados o retrackers destinados a obtener el nivel de la superficie de los cuerpos de agua estudiados, minimizando la contaminación de las formas de onda debido al suelo que los rodea. Se compara el rendimiento del método propuesto de selección de la porción de onda con tres retrackers, es decir, un retracker de umbral, el retracker del centro de gravedad (OCOG) y un retracker de base física de dos pasos. Se obtienen series temporales del nivel de la lámina de agua de embalses situados en la cuenca del río Ebro (España).

Como aplicación, las series de nivel de los embalses obtenidas se utilizan para forzar los embalses en simulaciones hidrológicas.

**Palabras clave**: Recursos hídricos, teledetección, radar de apertura sintética (SAR), humedad del suelo, altimetría

## RESUM

L'estimació dels recursos hídrics de les superfícies continentals a escala regional i global és fonamental per a una bona gestió dels recursos hídrics. Aquesta estimació cobreix una àmplia gamma de temes i camps, incloent-hi la caracterització dels sòls i dels recursos hídrics a l'escala de la conca, la modelització hidrològica i la predicció i la cartografia d'inundacions. En aquest context, la caracterització dels estats de la superfície continental, per a obtenir millors paràmetres d'entrada als models hidrològics, és essencial per millorar la precisió en la simulació de cabals, sequeres i inundacions. L'estimació del contingut d'aigua en el sistema, incloses les diferents masses d'aigua i l'aigua lliure en el sòl, és especialment necessària per a una descripció precisa dels processos hidrològics i, en general, del cicle de l'aigua a les superfícies continentals. Per caracteritzar millor els processos hidrològics, les intervencions antropogèniques no es poden negligir. L'home influeix en el cicle de l'aigua, principalment mitjançant el reg i la construcció de preses, fet que s'ha de quantificar correctament.

L'objectiu de la tesi és la millora de l'estimació remota dels recursos hídrics, incloent-hi la quantificació dels factors antròpics, mitjançant l'ús de diversos sensors llançats recentment, aprofitant recents desenvolupaments en la tecnologia de teledetecció. Amb l'arribada de les constel·lacions Sentinel (Sentinel-1, 2, 3), disposem de millors eines per estimar els recursos hídrics, incloent-hi els impactes humans, amb una major precisió i cobertura.

Aquest treball de tesi consta principalment de dues línies de recerca on s'estimen les intervencions humanes en el cicle hidrològic: la cartografia del reg (com a aplicació en humitat del sòl), i el forçament d'embassaments en simulacions hidrològiques (com a aplicació de l'altimetria).

En la primera linia s'estima la humitat del sòl a partir de l'anàlisi estadística de les dades SAR de Sentinel-1. Es desenvolupen dues metodologies per obtenir la humitat del sòl amb una resolució espacial de 100 m basant-se en la interpretació de les dades de Sentinel-1 obtingudes amb la polarització VV (vertical-vertical), que es combina amb dades òptiques Sentinel-2 per a l'anàlisi dels efectes de la vegetació.

Com aplicació de la humitat del sòl, es cartografia el reg en diverses condicions meteorològiques, i amb una alta resolució espacial i temporal. Es proposa una metodologia per a la cartografia del reg mitjançant dades SAR obtingudes en polaritzacions VV (vertical-vertical) i VH (vertical-horitzontal). A partir de la sèrie temporal Sentinel-1, s'analitzen diferents estadístiques i mètriques, incloent-hi el valor mitjà, la variància del senyal, la longitud de la correlació i la dimensió fractal, a partir dels quals es classifiquen els arbres irrigats, els cultius irrigats i els cultius no irrigats.

En la segona línia, s'estima el nivell dels embassaments a partir de les dades d'altimetria de Sentinel-3, amb l'altímetre SAR (SRAL), basant-se en diferents algorismes per millorar la precisió. Aquest estudi presenta tres algorismes especialitzats o retrackers destinats a obtenir el nivell de la superfície dels cossos d'aigua estudiats, minimitzant la contaminació de les formes d'ona degut al sòl que els envolta. Es compara el rendiment del mètode proposat de selecció de la porció d'ona amb tres retrackers, és a dir, un retracker de llindar, el retracker del centre de gravetat (OCOG) i un retracker de base física de dos passos. S'obtenen sèries temporals del

nivell de la làmina d'aigua d'embassaments situats a la conca del riu Ebre (Espanya).

Com aplicació, les sèries de nivell dels embassaments obtingudes s'utilitzen per a forçar els embassaments en simulacions hidrològiques.

**Paraules clau**: Recursos hídrics, teledetecció, radar d'obertura sintètica (SAR), humitat del sòl, altimetria

## Chapter 1

## Introduction

#### Contents

1.1 Context			
1.1.1	Climate change and interaction with water resources $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	2	
1.1.2	Water resources in global scale	4	
1.1.3	Water resources in regional scale	5	
1.1.4	Water cycle and anthropogenic interventions $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	6	
1.2 Wat	ter resources estimation	7	
1.2.1	Hydrological models and land surface models	8	
1.2.2	Measurements and remote sensing techniques	9	
1.2.3	Challenges	9	
1.3 About the thesis			
1.3.1	Objectives	10	
1.3.2	Structure of the thesis	11	

### 1.1 Context

Water is one of the most common substances on Earth (*Thompson et al.*, 2010). It exists in the oceans, on the surface, below the ground, and in the atmosphere. Water resources are defined as "Water available or capable of being made available for use, in sufficient quantity and adequate quality" (*WMO*, 2012). Therefore, water resources normally refer to freshwater that mostly exists in rivers, lakes, surfaces, and underground.

Although water needs are generally associated with access to drinking water for the population, it is also essential for many industrial and agricultural sectors. Agriculture, which uses water for crop irrigation, accounts for 3/4 of the world's current demand (*Postel*, 1992; *Shiklomanov*, 2000; *Cai and Rosegrant*, 2002; *Wisser et al.*, 2008; *Sauer et al.*, 2010; *Siebert et al.*, 2005). This high demand for water is due to the expansion and intensification of agriculture to cope with the increase in the world's population and thus the need for food. Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations estimated that the global demand for food, feed and fibre will grow by 70 percent in the first half of this century (*FAO*, 2009). In addition to this growing demand, climate change, which is already being felt in different parts of the world, is impacting water resources (*Vörösmarty et al.*, 2000).

#### 1.1.1 Climate change and interaction with water resources

Climate change, as a scientific consensus, is undergoing and is primarily due to human activities (*Cook et al.*, 2013). The Earth is globally warmer by  $0.85^{\circ}$ C on average since the beginning of the industrial era, according to the 5th report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (*Pachauri and Meyer*, 2014). Also, the global surface temperature is projected to rise by the end of the 21st century (2081–2100) to about  $0.3^{\circ}$ C to  $1.7^{\circ}$ C under RCP2.6 (Representative Concentration Pathway with radiative forcing of 2.6  $W/m^2$ ) and 2.6°C to 4.8°C under RCP8.5, with reference to 1986–2005 as shown in Figure 1.1 (a) (*Pachauri and Meyer*, 2014). It is very likely that heat waves will occur more often and last longer, and extreme precipitation events, as well as drought events, will become more intense and frequent in many regions (*Easterling et al.*, 2000). The high latitudes and the equatorial Pacific are likely to experience an increase in annual mean precipitation, while many mid-latitude and dry subtropical regions will likely suffer from drought as shown in Figure 1.1 (b) (*Pachauri and Meyer*, 2014).



Figure 1.1: Change in average surface temperature (a) and change in average precipitation (b) based on multi-model mean projections for 2081–2100 relative to 1986–2005 under the RCP2.6 (left) and RCP8.5 (right) scenarios. RCP is short for Representative Concentration Pathway, which is a greenhouse gas concentration (not emissions) trajectory adopted by the IPCC for its fifth Assessment Report in 2014 (*Pachauri and Meyer*, 2014).

The impact of climate change is still uncertain in many areas of the world. To have knowledge of the climate change impact over different regions, a Regional Climate Change Index (RCCI) is developed based on regional mean precipitation change, mean surface air temperature change



Figure 1.2: Regional Climate Change Index (RCCI) over 26 land regions of the world calculated from 20 coupled Atmospheric-Ocean General Circulation Models and 3 IPCC emission scenarios (A1B, A2, B1) (*Giorgi*, 2006; *PAGES*, 2018).

and change in precipitation and temperature interannual variability by *Giorgi* (2006). The RCCI identifies the most responsive regions to climate change or Hot-Spots. As shown in Figure 1.2, the Mediterranean and North Eastern European regions emerge as the primary Hot-Spots, followed by high latitude northern hemisphere regions and by Central America (*Giorgi*, 2006).

Global warming will lead to increased evaporation, leading to an intensification (or acceleration) of the water cycle. The intensification of the global water cycle could affect water availability and may increase the frequency and intensity of tropical storms, floods, and droughts (*Huntington*, 2006). In humid climates, increased evaporation will likely result in more precipitations and increase the risk of flooding. Over arid areas, increased evaporation will reduce water availability, prolong dry periods and aggravate droughts. In some regions, mean annual precipitation will increase, but the number of events will be reduced, which could lead to longer dry seasons and a higher risk of floods.

Furthermore, the increase evapotranspiration (ET) will decrease the effective precipitation in many areas of the world even with the precipitation increases, affecting water resources and agriculture. In a regional perspective of view, the uncertainty of the regional climate, the diversity of the hydrology, and the human activities could all affect the regional water resources. Climate change is projected to reduce renewable surface water and groundwater resources in most dry semitropical regions (*Pachauri and Meyer*, 2014). Extreme challenges for the sustainable management of water resources exist at all levels from the local to the global scale (*Trenberth and Asrar*, 2014). Therefore, the water resources context and problems need to be known both in the global and regional scale.

#### 1.1.2 Water resources in global scale

Freshwater is a renewable resource, yet large regions of the world faces the problem of water scarcity with its patterns varying in time and space. From the perspective of the entire water cycle, water resources are significantly affected by global climate change and human activities. Climate change or global warming increases the uncertainty associated with the future availability and variability of freshwater resources, and may even lead to permanent desertification of certain regions of the world (*UNESCO*, 2011). Extreme weather happens more often than before including droughts and floods, bringing more challenges in water resources management. More than two billion people are affected by water scarcity worldwide (*Oki and Kanae*, 2006), and a total of 2.7 billion have water scarcity for at least one month of the year (*Hoekstra et al.*, 2012). In less than 25 years, two-thirds of the world's population will be living in water-stressed countries (*UNESCO*, 2011).

Water scarcity is exacerbating in many parts of the world due to climate change. In the meanwhile, the demand for water resources is increasing due to population growth and economic development.

Population density and per-capita resource use have increased dramatically over the past few decades. The United Nations predictions estimate that the world population will reach 9 billion people in 2050. This exponential growth in population – a major driver of energy consumption and anthropogenic climate change – is also the key driver behind the hydrologic change and its impacts (UNESCO, 2011).

Urbanisation with a large number of people moving from the countryside to cities aggravates the impact of population growth. More than half of the world's population currently lives in cities, and this number will reach 70 percent by 2050 (*UNESCO*, 2011). With the increase of the population density in cities, the water demand is significantly increasing making water stress more severe for cities.

The demand for agricultural products from the food we eat, to the cotton we wear, is increasing with the rapid population growth. More than 40% of global food and agricultural commodity output (*Shiklomanov*, 1996; *WMO*, 1997; *Vörösmarty and Sahagian*, 2000) depends on irrigation, which requires a large amount of water. Up to 70% of water is currently withdrawn for agricultural use (*Hamdy et al.*, 2003; *Wolfe et al.*, 2004), yet both irrigated and rainfed agriculture are exposed to water risk. Intensification of agriculture is presently contributing to deforestation and desertification, which in turn reduces the holding water capacity of the soil and increases the water scarcity (*Johnson*, 2016; *Keys and McConnell*, 2005).

As the global population continues to increase, authorities are finding ways to secure water supplies through dam construction and water transfer. The number of dams and water transfer systems has risen dramatically in the last century to deal with the uneven distribution of water in space and season. According to Lehner et al., 2011 (*Lehner et al.*, 2011), there are approximately 40 000 registered large dams in the world, with most of them being used for irrigation, followed by the use for hydropower, water supply, and flood control.

Arid and semi-arid areas are facing the most significant challenges of water stress, while many densely populated parts of the humid tropics and temperate zones are also affected by water stress. Water stress is transcending national boundaries and is increasingly leading to competition for water at local, regional, and international levels.

On the other hand, floods which occur periodically in many parts of the world put a significant threat to crops, settlements, infrastructure, and most importantly life. From 1980 to 2009, floods caused more than 500 000 deaths and affected more than 2.8 billion people worldwide. (*Doocy et al.*, 2013). It is essential to monitor and manage the water resources in order to provide early-warning alerts for flood predictions.

#### 1.1. CONTEXT

Water risk, which comes both from the water stress and the risk of flooding, is a global issue as shown in Figure 1.3 (*Gassert et al.*, 2015). The impacts of floods and droughts in many areas will have to be managed more frequently than before, and few areas of the world are not affected (*Kundzewicz et al.*, 2002; *Sadoff and Muller*, 2015). As problems related to water spatio-temporal variability manifest themselves at smaller scales, a significant challenge in freshwater assessments is how to handle this on different geographical scales (*Sophocleous*, 2004a). Water resources in regional scale are the priority concern for local government to make policy decisions and for scientists to learn the mechanism of the water cycle.



Figure 1.3: The global map of water risk index considering both water stress and flood risk (*Gassert et al.*, 2015).

#### 1.1.3 Water resources in regional scale

At the regional scale, water resources are often considered within a river basin, within which the water budget can be closed (groundwater permitting). Humans directly change the dynamics of the water cycle through dams that are constructed for water storage or hydropower, and through water withdrawals for industrial, agricultural, or domestic purposes (*Haddeland et al.*, 2014). Everything we do affects the river basin, while in reverse, water resources in the river basin affect humans by determining the food yield, the diversity of animal species, the speed of economic growth, and the number of people and livestock that can be sustainably supported. Among all the human activities, agriculture is the dominant component of human water use. Hence, many of the solutions to water-related food and environmental security problems come from the increasing of the efficiency of water use for the productivity of agriculture (*Sophocleous*, 2004b).

River basins in arid and semi-arid areas face a more significant threat to water shortage and a bigger challenge of water resources management when encountering the need to support a large amount of population. In a semi-arid environment, the water cycle has particular characteristics. Precipitation and many planetary boundary layer processes are affected by soil moisture variability and, precisely in these areas, soil moisture is very variable in space and time, making the areas very vulnerable to climate change with consequences that may have serious social and environmental effects (*UNESCO*, 2011). The water resources in semi-arid regions, with their vulnerability to climate change, need to be analysed, and the impact of climate change needs to be assessed.

The Mediterranean, as mentioned before, is one of the primary Hot-Spots of climate change. The precipitation is predicted to decrease as shown in Figure 1.1 (b), and droughts will occur more frequently. The Mediterranean region is often cited as an example of the extreme tension on water resources: 180 million inhabitants have less than 1000 m3/year per capita of renewable water resources (425 in Tunisia and 750 in Morocco), and 80 million will have less than 500 m3/year in 2025 (UNEP/MAP, 2009; EASAC, 2010). In most Mediterranean countries, overexploitation of water resources is already observed, and this situation is bound to deteriorate further. The water management is then, with its corollary of food security, the critical issue of the Mediterranean in the 21st century.

#### 1.1.4 Water cycle and anthropogenic interventions

Water is not a stationary substance on Earth. It is moving all the time. To study the water resources, which form water cycle, their movements need to be known first. The water cycle is the movement of water between the oceans, the atmosphere, the surface, and the fresh water. It consists of several processes including precipitation, evaporation, transpiration, infiltration, and runoff, as shown in Figure 1.4 (*Green*, 2000).



Figure 1.4: Processes and pathways of the water cycle (*The Drainage Basin Hydrological Cycle*, 2018).

Humans influence the water cycle mainly by influencing evapotranspiration (evaporation + transpiration) through irrigation for agriculture or land use change and runoff through damming for water storage, hydro powers or flood control. The other processes are subsequently influenced. Anthropogenic influences have affected the global water cycle since the beginning of

agriculture, and the impact has increased dramatically since the 1960s, as dams were built extensively (*Pachauri and Meyer*, 2014).

With the construction of dams, reservoirs are usually formed from the water accumulating above them. Proper management of dams is of great importance since it relates not only to food production but also to floods, droughts, and energy. Moreover, the severe mismanaging of the dams may cause droughts in the downstream of the river or increase the risk of catastrophic floods. Several studies (*Li et al.*, 2016; *Haddeland et al.*, 2014; *Gao et al.*, 2013; *Guo et al.*, 2012) found that the construction of dams reduces river flows and changes the stream flow seasonally, which influences the water cycle significantly. The impacts of reservoirs are most profound in Asia, Europe, and Africa, where in some months the total flux of fresh water into the ocean is 10% less compared to a naturalised situation (*Biemans et al.*, 2011). Therefore, in addition to the satisfaction of the irrigation or energy purpose, the impact and role of dams in the water cycle need to be accounted for.

Equally important as dam construction, but still related to the dams, irrigation is another anthropogenic intervention of the water cycle. To fulfil the increasing global food demand, irrigation is increasing, making more contributions to evaporation as an important step in the water cycle. Irrigation creates an anthropogenic change of the soil moisture, and can ultimately influence the planetary boundary layer, local circulation, clouds and precipitation through evaporation from soil and transpiration from thriving vegetation. Several studies (Tuinenburg et al., 2014: Puma and Cook, 2010; Lee et al., 2011; Douglas et al., 2009) found that irrigation increased evaporation both regionally and globally, and decreased temperature in the local area. Lo et al. (Lo and Famiglietti, 2013) identified that irrigation in the Central Valley (California, United States) increased summer precipitation by 15%, causing correspondingly the increase in Colorado River stream flow of about 30%. Boucher et al., 2004 (Boucher et al., 2004) estimated a global mean radiative forcing in the range of 0.03 to  $+0.1 W/m^2$  due to the increase in water vapour from irrigation, and a massive surface cooling of up to 0.8 K over irrigated land areas. Climate change with rising temperature globally increases atmospheric evaporation demand, and also, evaporation caused by irrigation influences the climate. The water cycle involves the exchange of energy, which leads to temperature changes. The heat exchanges from water evaporation and condensation influence climate and the impact need to be studied and involved in the water cycle process. Also, as the primary purpose of reservoirs, irrigation has been found to decrease the river discharge to the oceans both on a continental and global scale (Gerten et al., 2008; Biemans et al., 2011).

Land use changes also influence the water cycle by changing the evapotranspiration. Land use changes may have many situations including agriculture to buildings, agriculture type changes, etc. With the complexity, it is difficult to quantify the influences of land use change, and thus, out of the scope of this thesis.

#### **1.2** Water resources estimation

To deal with droughts, water shortages, and scarcity in many areas of the world, effective water management is needed to provide some of society's most basic needs from agricultural crops to electricity. Monitoring the state of water resources and their change over time is integral to the development of effective strategies for sustainable water resources management. Water shortage or flood events forecast is essential for minimising the effects of disasters and planning the water allocation for irrigation and industrial usage, yet the forecast depends on the knowledge of the current status of the water resources and the historical changing patterns.

Among all the water resources in a basin scale, the surface water that exists in the reservoirs,

lakes and rivers is the most in need of monitoring and management since it is often the direct source of irrigation, hydropower and flood. The reservoirs and lakes work as a buffer to the river flow and storage to water which can be further used for irrigation. Soil moisture is also a valuable water resource for agriculture, especially for rainfed fields. It is the direct water sources for the crops and decides the amount of water needed for irrigation.

#### 1.2.1 Hydrological models and land surface models

In response to water-related challenges, many hydrological models have been developed to analyse, understand, and explore solutions for sustainable water management in the basin scale, to support decision makers and operational water managers. Hydrological models are mainly used for understanding hydrological processes, estimating the water resources, and predicting system behaviour. They have evolved from empirical rainfall-runoff models (*Mulvany*, 1851; *Sherman*, 1932; *Horton*, 1935) to conceptual models (*Linsley and Crawford*, 1960; *Crawford and Linsley*, 1966; *Dawdy and O'Donnell*, 1965; *Sugawara*, 1969; *Burnash et al.*, 1973; *Burnash*, 1995; *Arnold et al.*, 1998; *Ma and Cheng*, 1998), and to physically based models (*Abbott et al.*, 1986a,b; *Beven and Kirkby*, 1976, 1979; *Beven et al.*, 1987; *Grayson et al.*, 1992; *Fortin et al.*, 2001a,b; *Qu*, 2004; *Qu and Duffy*, 2007; *Kumar*, 2009; *Shi et al.*, 2013; *Todini*, 2007). The recent physical models use parameters to characterise the unique aspects of the system being studied (*Nepal et al.*, 2017). However, the parameters may differ in different catchments due to physical and hydrological differences (*Blöschl and Zehe*, 2005).

In addition to hydrological models, Land Surface Models (LSMs) are equally important to learn the regional land surface status with more complexity since it is physical with the simulation of the energy balance. The LSMs are the components of Global Climate Models (GCMs) that simulate land surface processes, such as the absorption and partitioning of radiation, moisture, and carbon (*Abramowitz et al.*, 2008). The LSMs model the surface energy balance, surface water balance and carbon balance. They are typically provided with meteorological conditions as inputs (from a boundary layer atmospheric model or reanalysis data) and produce outputs that include the surface runoff, latent and sensible heat fluxes, CO2 fluxes, deep soil drainage, soil moisture, etc. LSMs are essential to assess the impact of climate change.

A model is a simplified representation of real-world system (*Sharma et al.*, 2008), with the best one giving results close to reality with the use of least parameters and model complexity (*Devia et al.*, 2015). However, most of the current models do not incorporate (or very little) human intervention in the water cycle, bringing more uncertainties into the assessment, analysis and forecasting. The uncertainties are even more significant in semi-arid areas since models are not accurately developed, and the impact of irrigation and reservoir operation may be amplified (*Zhou et al.*, 2016).

Incorporating anthropogenic intervention in the models helps to understand the hydrological processes and the climate change better, yet long-term and consistent records that focus on water management and human interventions on the water cycle are not widely available (*Zhou et al.*, 2016). The modelling requires better accuracy, both in time and spatial scale, for which researchers are still working on.

To solve water-related challenges and to assess the impact of climate change, better characterised hydrological models and LSMs are needed. For that, the anthropogenic intervention needs to be introduced in the water cycle and models. Involving anthropogenic intervention in the water cycle needs to be done by introducing the irrigation status and the water availability in rivers and reservoirs considering the effects of dams.

LSMs can benefit from reliable soil moisture data for model validation and data assimilation. Soil moisture, which is directly linked with evaporation and decides the irrigation strategy, needs be to mapped with better efficiency to obtain a higher spatial and temporal resolution. Also, LSMs need a good mapping of irrigation, in order to have realistic covers and explicitly simulate irrigation, which is needed for cropland irrigation management (*Ambika et al.*, 2016). The amount of irrigation surfaces, which is of great importance to water resources management, is still unclear. Therefore, to optimise the models, surfaces of irrigated and non-irrigated fields need to be mapped.

Furthermore, now that LSMs have started to include dams, they need dam level/volume data, which is often difficult to obtain. Temporal continuous water availability in rivers and reservoirs needs to be known to assess the effects of dams in hydrological processes. Precise water levels over reservoirs should be monitored to evaluate the available water amount for irrigations. The buffering effects of dams should be included and assessed in the models for optimisation.

#### 1.2.2 Measurements and remote sensing techniques

The irrigation status is traditionally measured by field campaign, which is time-consuming and more importantly impossible to be done for all areas. Soil moisture is traditionally measured with *in situ* measurements either by taking soil samples or by the soil moisture probe. However, *in situ* networks represent single point locations and usually cover relatively short periods of observation (*Pratola et al.*, 2015).

Considering the aspect of water levels, the traditional way of monitoring is using the gauging station or stream gauge, which is a location used by hydrologists to monitor the terrestrial bodies of water. Unfortunately, *in situ* gauging stations are not always available in many parts of the world, or they are otherwise not publicly available and are maintained by local authorities. Furthermore, over the last few decades, *in situ* observations of hydrologic variables have generally been in decline (*Trenberth et al.*, 2018).

The access to both data sources is critical, and moreover, continuous temporal data is needed for the monitoring, assessing, modelling and predicting. Yet data are sparse in developing countries both in spatial and in temporal dimensions. Even where such data have been collected, they are rarely shared across ministries or institutions, while thousands of freshwater bodies are the shared resource of several countries.

At the same time, new observation methods that use satellite sensors have thrived over the past few decades. Thanks to the remote sensing technology, we now possess a powerful tool for monitoring the water resources both within inland water systems where no *in situ* data are available and within transboundary river basins. Wherever satellite data are available, the surface soil moisture, the status of irrigation, and the surface water levels can be assessed and monitored at both regional and global scales.

#### 1.2.3 Challenges

The remote sensing technology used for hydrology has been developed for a few decades to overcome the limitation of lacking data on the time evolution and spatial structure, yet challenges remain to achieve the spatial and temporal resolution needed for hydrological studies.

Satellite systems, both passive and active, have already demonstrated their capability to provide reliable soil moisture measurements (*Lacava et al.*, 2012). The passive satellite Soil Moisture and Ocean Salinity (SMOS) launched November 2nd, 2009 (*Kerr et al.*, 2010) and the Soil Moisture Active Passive (SMAP) launched January, 31st 2015 (*Entekhabi et al.*, 2010) provide a global mapping of surface soil moisture based on radiometric measurements at L-band (21 cm, 1.4 GHz). Alternative satellite-based soil moisture products, including products generated by the Advanced Microwave Scanning Radiometer for the Earth observing system (AMSR-E) onboard

the Aqua satellite (*Njoku et al.*, 2003) and the Advanced SCATterometer (ASCAT) onboard the MetOp (Meteorological Operational) satellite (*Wagner et al.*, 2013). However, the soil moisture retrieved from these instruments has a low spatial resolution. SMOS and SMAP data have a spatial resolution of about 40 km (*El Hajj et al.*, 2018), while AMSR-E and ASCAT data have a spatial resolution of about 60 km and 50 km, respectively.

Currently, ASCAT, which is a real-aperture radar instrument, provides the only active global soil moisture dataset. It was designed to observe wind speed and direction over the oceans, but has been shown to be useful to measure large-scale soil moisture (*Wagner et al.*, 2013). Although backscatter data from active sensors have the potential to monitor soil moisture, there is currently no operational soil moisture product from SAR active microwave (*Escorihuela and Quintana-Seguí*, 2016). SAR imagery has been shown to be advantageous for the estimation of soil surface characteristics, in particular surface roughness and soil moisture (*Aubert et al.*, 2011; *Baghdadi et al.*, 2002, 2012; *Srivastava et al.*, 2009; *Zribi et al.*, 2007; *Zribi and Dechambre*, 2003; *Zribi et al.*, 2005; *El Hajj et al.*, 2014). SAR data in the C-band sensor has demonstrated its ability to retrieve soil characteristics over vegetation-covered surfaces (*Prevot et al.*, 1993; *De Roo et al.*, 2001; *Sikdar and Cumming*, 2001; *Gherboudj et al.*, 2011; *Wang et al.*, 2011; *Yu and Zhao*, 2011; *Zribi et al.*, 2011; *Yang et al.*, 2012). However, almost five years after Sentinel-1 satellite (carries a C-band SAR instrument with a spatial resolution about 10 m) was launched, there is still no operational soil moisture product available. Soil moisture retrieval under dense vegetation cover (irrigated crop fields) is still needs to be studied further.

The similar problem exists for irrigation mapping. Studies using remote sensing to map irrigated fields remain relatively rare (*Ozdogan et al.*, 2010). There are only a few studies which identify irrigated areas globally (*Salmon et al.*, 2015; *Siebert et al.*, 2005; *Thenkabail et al.*, 2009; *Meier et al.*, 2018). The global irrigated area mapping (GIAM) undertaken by *Thenkabail et al.* (2009) uses the combination of meteorological data, land use classification information (forest) and remote sensing data from multiple satellite sensors, and gives spatial resolution about 10 km. Salmon et al. (*Salmon et al.*, 2015) combined national surveys, climate and remote sensing data. However, all these studies are not able to depict individual farm fields. With the diverse range of irrigated field size and scattered distribution, it is difficult to map irrigation fields by satellite remote sensing because of its relatively coarse spatial resolution in comparison to field scale.

For the studying of water levels, satellite altimeters were designed to monitor homogeneous surfaces such as oceans or ice sheets, resulting in poor performance over small inland water bodies due to the contribution from land contamination in the returned waveforms. The advent of SAR altimetry with its improved along-track spatial resolution has enabled the measurement of inland water levels with better accuracy and an increased spatial resolution. However, many previous studies focused on relatively large water bodies, and most studies used low-resolution mode (LRM) altimeters onboard Envisat and ERS. The performance of SAR altimeter over middle-sized and small-sized water bodies still needs to be explored, especially over water bodies with challenging environments.

### 1.3 About the thesis

#### 1.3.1 Objectives

Within the context of water scarcity and anthropological influence, the objective of this PhD study is trying to better estimate the water resources by involving the human interventions in the hydrological process by using remote sensing data. Considering the two main human interventions, irrigation and dam construction, this PhD study tries to contribute to both parts to provide parameters with higher accuracies for LSMs or hydrological models.

First, the irrigation is studied by mapping irrigated areas to better support water resources management, droughts and floods forecasts and agricultural development. In the meantime, the soil moisture will be monitored to evaluate the status of the field along with the health of the crops. Soil moisture in itself is an essential part of the regional water resources, and needs to be quantified more precisely. Therefore, the objective of this part is to provide soil moisture product and irrigation maps with satellite data at better spatial accuracy. SAR data provides the possibility of monitoring land surface under any weather conditions and with vegetation cover. Therefore, this PhD study used the recent SAR product from Sentinel-1 mission to develop methodologies of soil moisture retrieval and irrigation mapping at a field scale.

The second aspect considered is the influence of dam constructions for the river basin. Dams constructed aim not just for hydropower, but more importantly for irrigation purpose. To study the influence of dams, a river flow simulation model is considered with which the buffering effects of dams should be included. The water volumes within reservoirs, which is directly linked to the water levels, will be estimated both for analysing the dam effects in the river model and for irrigation activities, whose water withdraw depends on the storage of water in reservoirs. To retrieve the water levels of the reservoirs, the recent SAR altimetry product from the Sentinel-3 mission is considered, since it provides possibilities of water level retrieval over middle-sized and small-sized water bodies.

To conclude, this PhD thesis is to improve the regional water resource estimation by improving both soil moisture and water level products. It will involve the human interventions in each part for a better assessment, including the irrigation study and involving of the dam levels in river flow simulation model.

#### **1.3.2** Structure of the thesis

As a first step, soil moisture retrieval has been done by two change detection methodologies, without field calibrations, and validated over an area characterised by a dense vegetation cover (irrigated crop fields). The soil moisture is retrieved from the synergetic interpretation of Sentinel-1 and Sentinel-2 data. The mean soil moisture is computed at a resolution of 100 m, which is compatible with agricultural applications. Before the 100 m study, soil moisture was also retrieved at 1 km resolution as a test of the methodologies. Despite Sentinel-1 spatial resolution being around 10 m, the soil moisture is estimated a lower resolution (100 m) in order to decrease uncertainties caused by different types of heterogeneities in agricultural fields such as local changes in roughness, heterogeneities in vegetation cover, etc.

For the second step, the irrigation mapping method has been developed using SAR data time series at a field scale. Four metrics, including the mean temporal value, the signal variance, the correlation length, and the fractal dimension were analysed for the mapping. The classification was done with the Support Vector Machine (SVM).

In the third step, water level retrieval has been improved by three specialised algorithms or retrackers to retrieve water levels from SAR altimeter data over inland water bodies dedicated to minimising land contamination from the waveforms. Three different retrackers were modelled, namely, the threshold retracker, the Offset Centre of Gravity (OCOG) retracker, and the 2step physical-based retracker; the parameters of these retrackers were adjusted for inland water bodies. Additionally, the digital elevation model (DEM) information was included to limit land contamination within the received waveforms and to improve the accuracy for the monitoring of middle-sized and small-sized water bodies.

In the last step, the satellite-derived water levels were converted to water volumes and involved in a river flow model to see the buffering effect of dams in river flow simulations. The observed levels were used to tell the model to try to be close to those levels, which is a technique to include observed information in the simulation.

The following manuscript is structured in 6 parts:

- Chapter 2, offering a detailed description of the remote sensing technology related to soil moisture and water level monitoring.
- Chapter 3, presenting the study area and database
- Chapter 4, that presents the improvements of soil moisture retrieval, and based partly on published article (*Gao et al.*, 2017)
- Chapter 5, presenting the irrigation mapping methodology, based on published article (*Gao* et al., 2018)
- Chapter 6, demonstrating the improved water level retrieval, based on published article (Gao et al., 2019)
- Chapter 7, as an expansion of Chapter 6, showing the dam simulation that evaluates the buffering effect of dams in hydrological models
- Chapter 8, offering general conclusions and future perspectives

The three articles on which Chapter 4, 5, and 6 are based are listed below with details:

• Gao, Q.; Zribi, M.; Escorihuela, M.J.; Baghdadi, N. Synergetic Use of Sentinel-1 and Sentinel-2 Data for Soil Moisture Mapping at 100 m Resolution. Sensors 2017, 17, 1966. DOI: 10.3390/s17091966

#### Quartile / Impact factor of the journal: Q2 / 3.031 Citation (based on Google Scholar): 47

Author contributions: Qi Gao wrote the article text. The co-authors provided corrections and improvement to the text. Qi Gao designed and wrote the code to apply the method. Mehrez Zribi supervised the method. The satellite data was downloaded from Google Earth Engine (GEE) and processed by Qi Gao. The *in situ* data was provided by Lab-Ferrer.

Gao, Q.; Zribi, M.; Escorihuela, M.J.; Baghdadi, N.; Quintana Seguí, P. Irrigation Mapping Using Sentinel-1 Time Series at Field Scale. Remote Sens. 2018, 10, 1495. DOI: 10.3390/rs10091495

#### Quartile / Impact factor of the journal: Q1 / 4.118 Citation (based on Google Scholar): 9

Author contributions: Qi Gao wrote the article text. The co-authors provided corrections and improvement to the text. Qi Gao designed and wrote the code to apply the method. Mehrez Zribi supervised the method. The satellite data was downloaded from Google Earth Engine (GEE) and processed by Qi Gao. The *in situ* data was downloaded from SIGPAC (Geographic Information System for Agricultural Parcels) and processed by Qi Gao. • Gao, Q.; Makhoul, E.; Escorihuela, M.J.; Zribi, M.; Quintana Seguí, P.; García, P.; Roca, M. Analysis of Retrackers' Performances and Water Level Retrieval over the Ebro River Basin Using Sentinel-3. Remote Sen. 2019, 11, 718. DOI: 10.3390/rs11060718

#### Quartile / Impact factor of the journal: Q1 / 4.118Citation (based on Google Scholar): -

Author contributions: Qi Gao wrote the article text. The co-authors provided corrections and improvement to the text. Qi Gao designed and wrote the code to apply the method based on the code of Eduard Makhoul. Maria Jose Escorihuela supervised the work. The satellite data was downloaded from Copernicus Open Access Hub and processed by Qi Gao. The *in situ* data was downloaded from SAIH (Sistema Automático de Información Hidrológica) Ebro and processed by Qi Gao.

### Chapter 2

## **Remote Sensing Principles**

#### Contents

2.1 Intr	oduction	15
2.1.1	Electromagnetic waves	15
2.1.2	Characteristics of electromagnetic waves	16
2.2 Mic	rowave remote sensing	17
2.2.1	Radar	18
2.2.2	Synthetic Aperture Radar	20
2.2.3	Imaging systems	21
2.2.4	Ranging system and principle of altimetry	25
2.3 Con	clusion	<b>28</b>

### 2.1 Introduction

According to Caloz and Collet (*Caloz and Collet*, 2001), remote sensing is defined as the technique of remote observation by the measurement and the analysis of the electromagnetic radiation emitted or reflected by the studied object to interpret the information about its nature, its properties and status. It is based on the use of sensors to record electromagnetic radiation and converting it into a digital output signal.

Satellite-based remote sensing has been rapidly developed after the first launch of an artificial satellite named Sputnik I in 1957 (*Tatem et al.*, 2008). It is a valuable tool in many study areas including weather forecast, climate, hydrology, oceanography, and land use.

There are two types of remote sensing, namely passive and active (*Gupta et al.*, 2013). Passive remote sensing needs an external energy source for objects to reflect or radiate, which in most cases is the sun. Active remote sensing system has its own energy source (*Campbell and Wynne*, 2011). The sensor onboard the satellite or aircraft emits a signal towards the target surface, and receives its reflection by the target object for further processing.

#### 2.1.1 Electromagnetic waves

Electromagnetic (EM) waves are energy transported through space as a result of periodic disturbances of an electric field and a magnetic field (*Rammer and Smith*, 1986). Most sensors record information about the Earth's surface by measuring the transmission of energy from the surface in different portions of the EM spectrum (Figure 2.1) (*Aggarwal*, 2003). The EM

spectrum can be divided into seven different regions: gamma rays (highest frequency and shortest wavelength), X-rays, ultraviolet, visible light, infrared, microwaves and radio waves (lowest frequency and longest wavelength) (*Wait*, 1985).

Remote sensing technology uses different bands of electromagnetic spectrum for different purposes. The most common bands include visible spectrum, infrared and microwave with microwave domain most sensitive to soil moisture and can be used to measure distance, which is the principle of altimetry. Data collected over a large number of wavelength bands is called multispectral or hyperspectral data.



Figure 2.1: The electromagnetic spectrum. Modified from GSP (2018).

#### 2.1.2 Characteristics of electromagnetic waves

EM waves travel through space at the same speed,  $c = 2.99792458 * 10^8 m/s$ , commonly known as the speed of light. Besides this, EM waves have certain characteristics, including amplitude, wavelength/frequency, phase and polarization.

#### Amplitude

Amplitude is the distance from the maximum vertical displacement of the wave to the middle of the wave. It measures the magnitude or intensity of the oscillation of a wave, with larger values corresponding to higher energy and lower values corresponding to lower energy.

#### Wavelength

Wavelength is the distance of one full cycle of the wave oscillation. Wavelength and frequency are related to the speed of light by the equation:

$$c = f * \lambda \tag{2.1}$$

where c is the speed of light, f is the frequency, and  $\lambda$  is the wavelength. Longer wavelength corresponds to lower frequency, which is proportional to energy, whilst shorter wavelength corresponds to the higher frequency and higher energy.

#### Phase

Phase is the position of a point in time on a waveform cycle. Phase information can be used to correct Doppler effects, calculate time delay, and is an important parameter in interferometry for deformation monitoring.

#### Polarization

Polarization is a property of the transverse waves that specifies the geometrical orientation of the oscillations (*Shipman et al.*, 2015). The EM wave consists of two fluctuating fields which are the electric field (E) and magnetic field (B). The two vectors are orthogonal to one another, and both are perpendicular to the direction of travel (Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2: The EM wave illustration. Modified from *Jensen* (2005).

The polarization of the electromagnetic waves refers to the orientation of E (*Smith and Schurig*, 2003). If both E and B remain in their respective planes, the radiation is called plane or linearly polarized (*Sandwell*, 2009). There are two types of polarization including vertically polarization with E parallel to the plane of incidence, and horizontal polarization with E perpendicular to the plane of incidence. The plane of incidence is the plane defined by the vertical and the direction of propagation. Linear polarization is normally used by active remote sensing systems.

### 2.2 Microwave remote sensing

In particular, microwave remote sensing uses electromagnetic radiation with a wavelength between 1 cm and 1 m (300 MHz to 30 GHz commonly referred to as microwaves) as a measurement tool.

While electromagnetic waves in the visible and infrared portions of the spectrum primarily characterised by wavelength, microwave portions of the spectrum are often referenced according to both wavelength and frequency (*Natural Resources Canada*, 2015). The microwave region of the spectrum is quite large, relative to the visible and infrared, and there are several wavelength ranges or bands commonly used which given code letters during World War II, and remained to today as listed in Table 2.1 (*du Preez and Sinha*, 2016).

Microwave remote sensing has many advantages compared to optical remote sensing. It has a day-and-night imaging capability, and ability to penetrate could cover, haze, fog, and to some extent, rain as shown in Figure 2.3. For lower frequencies at L- and P-band, the transmission rate is almost 100%. Moreover, microwave remote sensing is more sensitive to the dielectric constant of the medium and structural characteristics of the surface, such as roughness or canopy structure compared to optical sensors (*Ulaby et al.*, 1986a; *Dobson and Ulaby*, 1981).

Table 2.1: The frequency range and wavelength range of microwave bands (*du Preez and Sinha*, 2016).

Band name	Frequency range	Wavelength range
P band	0.3 - 1 GHz	30 - 100 cm
L band	1 - 2 GHz	$15$ - $30~\mathrm{cm}$
S band	2 - 4 GHz	7.5 - 15 cm
C band	4 - 8 GHz	3.8 - 7.5 cm
X band	8 - 12.5 GHz	2.4 - 3.8 cm
Ku band	12.5 - 18 GHz	1.7 - 2.4 cm
K band	18 - 26.5 GHz	1.1 - 1.7 cm
Ka band	26.5 - 40 GHz	$0.75 - 1.1 {\rm \ cm}$



Figure 2.3: One-way transmission rate (%) of microwave through vapor clouds, ice clouds, and rain as a function of frequency (and wavelength) (*Ouchi*, 2013).

#### 2.2.1 Radar

Similar to remote sensing systems, microwave remote sensing systems are also classified into two groups: passive and active. Passive systems collect the radiation in microwave bands that is naturally emitted by the target surface, and they are generally characterised by relatively low spatial resolutions.

On the contrary, active microwave systems emit their own waves in the microwave bandwidth from the transmitter towards the observed surface. The power of the backscattered signal can be used to discriminate different targets within the scene, while the time between the sent and the received signal is used to measure the distance of the target. A system that operates in this way is called radar (RAdio Detection And Ranging), and also can obtain a microwave image of the observed scene.

The fundamental relation between the characteristics of the radar, the target, and the received signal is called the *radar equation* (*Ulaby et al.*, 1986b). The geometry of scattering from an isolated radar target (scatterer) is shown in Figure 2.4, along with the parameters that are



involved in the radar equation. When a power  $P_t$  is transmitted by an antenna with gain  $G_t$ ,

Figure 2.4: Geometry of radar equation (*Ulaby et al.*, 1986b).

the power per unit solid angle in the direction of the scatterer is  $P_t * G_t$ . The power density at the scatterer  $S_s$  is:

$$S_s = (P_t G_t) (\frac{1}{4\pi R_t^2}) A_{rs}$$
(2.2)

where  $A_{rs}$  is the effective receiving area of the scatterer, and the spreading loss  $(\frac{1}{4\pi R_t^2})$  is the reduction in power density associated with spreading of the power over a sphere of radius R surrounding the antenna.

Some of the power received by the scatterer is absorbed in losses in the scatterer, unless it is a perfect conductor or a perfect isolator; the rest is re-radiated in various directions (*Ulaby et al.*, 1982). The fraction absorbed is  $F_a$ , so the fraction reradiated is  $1 - F_a$ .

With the spreading factor for the re-radiation  $(\frac{1}{4\pi R_r^2})$ , and the effective aperture of the receiving antenna  $A_r$ , the gain at the receiver can be expressed as:

$$P_{r} = (P_{t}G_{t})(\frac{1}{4\pi R_{t}^{2}})A_{rs}(1 - f_{a})G_{ts}(\frac{1}{4\pi R_{r}^{2}})A_{r}$$

$$= (\frac{P_{t}G_{t}A_{r}}{(4\pi)^{2}R_{t}^{2}R_{r}^{2}})[A_{ts}(1 - f_{a})G_{ts}]$$
(2.3)

The factors associated with the scatterer are combined in the square brackets, which are difficult to measure individually, and their relative contributions are irrelevant for the size of the received radar signal. Hence they are normally combined into one factor, the radar scattering cross section:

$$\sigma = A_{ts}(1 - f_a)G_{ts} \tag{2.4}$$

Therefore, the final form of the radar equation is obtained by rewriting equation 2.3:

$$P_r = \left(\frac{P_t G_t A_r}{(4\pi)^2 R_t^2 R_r^2}\right)\sigma\tag{2.5}$$

Most radar sensors are designed to transmit microwave radiation either horizontally polarized (H) or vertically polarized (V). Similarly, the antenna receives either the horizontally or vertically polarized backscattered energy, or both. Thus, there can be four combinations considering the two polarization states for transmission and reception:
- HH for horizontal transmit and horizontal receive,
- VV for vertical transmit and vertical receive,
- HV for horizontal transmit and vertical receive,
- VH for vertical transmit and horizontal receive.

Radar can measure amplitude, which is the strength of the reflected signal, and phase, which is the position of a point in time on a waveform cycle (*Podest*, 2017). Amplitude depends on the target properties such as structure and dielectric properties, while the phase is a function of the distance between the sensor and the target as well as target properties. Therefore, radar sensors are generally divided into two distinct categories: imaging and non-imaging.

## 2.2.2 Synthetic Aperture Radar

Similar to conventional radar, Synthetic Aperture Radar (SAR) sequentially transmits electromagnetic waves towards the Earth surface. The microwave energy scattered back to the antenna is measured. The consecutive time of transmission and reception converts into different locations due to the platform movement (*Moreira et al.*, 2013). An appropriate coherent combination of the received signals makes it possible to construct a virtual aperture much longer than the physical antenna length (*Skolnik*, 2008).



Figure 2.5: SAR geometry (Moreira et al., 2013).

Figure 2.5 illustrates the typical SAR geometry, where the platform moves in the azimuth or along-track direction, and slant range is the direction perpendicular to the radar's flight path. The swath width gives the ground-range extent of the radar scene, which depends on the measurement taken duration, i.e., how long the radar is turned on (*Moreira et al.*, 2013). Compared to Real Aperture Radar (RAR), SAR synthetically increases the antenna's size to increase the azimuth resolution through the pulse compression technique, as well as the range resolution.

The slant-range resolution  $\delta_r$  is inversely proportional to the system bandwidth with the twoway path from transmission to reception, being able to detect the minimum distance between two targets:

$$\delta_r = \frac{c_0}{2B_r} \tag{2.6}$$

where  $c_0$  is the speed of light.

The azimuth resolution  $\delta_a$  is provided by the synthetic aperture, which is the path length during which the radar receives echo signals from a point target (*Chan and Koo*, 2008). The beamwidth of an antenna with length  $d_a$  can be approximated with wavelength  $\lambda$ :

$$\theta_a = \frac{\lambda}{d_a} \tag{2.7}$$

The synthetic aperture length is given by:

$$L_{sa} = \theta_a * r_0 = \frac{\lambda r_0}{d_a} \tag{2.8}$$

where  $r_0$  is the distance between the antenna and the target object. Therefore, the synthetic beam width can be modelled as:

$$\theta_{sa} = \frac{\lambda}{2L_{sa}} = \frac{d_a}{2r_0} \tag{2.9}$$

The azimuth resolution is half of the real radar aperture calculated as follows:

$$\delta_a = r_0 * \theta_{sa} = \frac{d_a}{2} \tag{2.10}$$

## 2.2.3 Imaging systems

The imaging radars map variations in microwave backscatter at fine spatial scales (1 to 50 m) and can be used to measure variations in surface roughness and surface moisture.

The received echo signal data is stored in a two-dimensional data matrix in forms of complex samples, with each sample given by its real and imaginary part, thus representing an amplitude and phase value (*Moreira et al.*, 2013). The first dimension corresponds to the range direction or fast time, while the second dimension corresponds to the azimuth direction or slow time.

In contrast to optical sensors, visualising raw SAR data does not give any useful information on the target (*Lillesand and Kiefer*, 1987). The interpretable image is only available after signal processing, which steps are shown in Figure 2.6. The whole process can be comprehended as two separate matched filter operations along the range and azimuth dimensions. In the first step, the transmitted chirp signals are compressed into a short pulse, and a convolution is performed in the time domain instead of the frequency domain due to the much lower computational load (*Moreira et al.*, 2013). Thus, a range of the compressed image is obtained with each range line multiplied in the frequency domain by the complex conjugate of the spectrum of the transmitted chirp. Until now, only information about the relative distance between the radar and possible targets is known. In the second step, the compression in azimuth direction is solved by convolving with the reference function, which is the complex conjugation of the response expected from a target position on the ground.



Figure 2.6: Summary of SAR processing steps. In the first step, the range of compressed data results from a convolution of the raw data with the range reference function. In a second step, the azimuth compression is performed through convolution with the azimuth reference function, which changes from near to far range. The "\*" represents the convolution operation (*Moreira et al.*, 2013).

## 2.2.3.1 Scattering mechanisms

SAR images represent an estimate of the radar backscatter for the target area on the ground. The strength of the reflected signal is called backscattering coefficient ( $\sigma^0$ ), and is expressed in decibels (dB). Higher values of the backscatter coefficient mean that an expansive part of the radar energy was reflected back to the radar, shown as bright features, while low values imply that very little energy was reflected, shown as dark features. The values of the backscatter coefficient over a target area with a particular wavelength varies a lot for different conditions and different characteristics of the targets, including surface roughness and dielectric properties.

## Surface roughness:

For a fixed looking angle of the satellite, the terrain geometry changes the incidence angle, therefore, changing the backscattered signal received by the sensors. For flat terrain, specular reflection results in very low energy of the returned signal. For a rough surface, on the other hand, incidence energy is scattered in all directions and return a significant portion of the incident energy back to the antenna (*ESA*, 2007), as shown in Figure 2.7. Vegetation is typically moderately rough compared with the scale of most radar wavelengths and returns moderate scale of energy, which results in grey or light grey colour in the radar image. A particularly bright response comes from a corner reflector, which produces a double bounce. City streets and buildings often perform as corner reflectors and, subsequently, appear to be very bright in radar images.

## **Dielectric properties**:

Radar backscatter also relies upon the dielectric properties of the target: for metal and water the dielectric constant is high (80), while for most other materials it is relatively low: in



Figure 2.7: Scattering Mechanisms (ESA, 2007).

dry conditions, the dielectric constant ranges from 3 to 8. The wetness of soils can deliver a prominent increase in radar signal reflectivity. Based on this phenomenon, SAR systems are also used to retrieve the soil moisture content (primarily of bare soils), with wetter objects appearing bright, and drier targets appearing dark (*Massonet and K.L.Feigl*, 1998). The exception to this is a smooth water body, which acts as a flat surface. The incoming pulses of the sensor are reflected away by the flat water bodies, which appear to be dark in radar images.

## 2.2.3.2 Topographic effects

Topographic effects are image distortions due to the side-looking geometry of the radar sensor, particularly in areas with pronounced topography (*Bayer et al.*, 1991) as shown in Figure 2.8. Foreshortening is a dominant effect in SAR images of mountainous areas, with the time delay between the radar echoes received from two different points determining their distance in the image (ESA, 2018). In case of a very steep slope or a very big incidence angle, layovers will occur. The targets in the valley will have a larger slant range than related mountain tops, showing a "reversed" effects in the slant range image.

These distortions are of a geometric and radiometric nature and need be reduced by terrain correction with the use of a digital elevation model, e.g. SRTM 1 ArcSec (*Jarvis et al.*, 2008).



Figure 2.8: Radar topographic effects (Braun and Hochschild, 2017).

## 2.2.3.3 Speckle effect

A particular effect existing in SAR images is the so-called speckle effect, which is caused by the presence of many elemental scatterers with a random distribution within a resolution cell (*Moreira et al.*, 2013). The coherent sum of their amplitudes and phases results in strong fluctuations of the backscatters from cell to cell of the image.

A certain process needs to be applied to minimise the speckle effect in order to get a cleaner image for interpretation. One methodology is using multi-look processing. Multi-look method divides the radar beam into several, narrower sub-beams with each one representing one "look" at the scene. By summing and averaging the different "looks" together, the amount of speckle can be reduced in the final output image (*Podest*, 2017). The other speckle reduction methodology commonly used is spatial filtering using a moving window over the whole image. A mathematical calculation of all pixels within the window is performed to replace the value of the central pixel. Speckle filtering reduces the visual appearance of speckle and applies a smoothing effect of the image.

## 2.2.3.4 Soil moisture principle

Compared with other components of the hydrologic cycle, the volume of soil moisture is small. However, it is essential for hydrology, meteorology and agriculture.

In soil moisture study, surface soil moisture products have been produced both based on the active and passive microwave, i.e. radars and radiometers separately. Two types of radiometers can be identified: L-band (at a frequency of 1.4 GHz) and C-band (at a frequency of 7 GHz). Notable L-band radiometers include SMOS (*Kerr et al.*, 2010) and SMAP (*Entekhabi et al.*, 2010). Because of the vast size required for the antenna in order to have sufficient sensitivity to capture signals, combined with a fixed weight for the payload, the resolution of L-band data is limited to 30-60 km (*Kerr et al.*, 2010; *Njoku and Entekhabi*, 1996; *Schmugge et al.*, 1998). However, this resolution is too coarse for the majority of hydrological and agricultural applications. Thanks to the radar sensors, the resolution of the image could be improved to several tens of meters. The high resolution achieved by active sensors (ERS, ALOS, Sentinel-1) is due to the intensity of the signal backscattered is much higher than the energy emitted by land surfaces measured

by radiometers.

The radar signals backscattered by the surface can be modelled as the sum of the radar signals scattered by the bare soil (soil moisture and soil roughness) and attenuated by vegetation effects, and also the signals scattered by the vegetation cover. These two contributions can be expressed as:

$$\sigma_{cover}^0 = \sigma_{veq}^0 + \lambda^2(\theta)\sigma_{soil}^0 \tag{2.11}$$

where  $\lambda^2(\theta) = exp[-2\tau/cos(\theta)]$  is the two-way vegetation canopy transmissivity,  $\theta$  is the incidence angle, and  $\tau$  is the optical thickness parameter that depends on the type of geometrical structure and vegetation water content of the canopy (*Atterna and Ulaby*, 1978; *Gupta et al.*, 2013).

The irrigation status can be assessed by analysing the temporal changes and characteristics of the backscatter coefficient from the SAR signal since it largely relates to the soil moisture of the field. Details of the methodology are presented in Chapter 5.

## 2.2.4 Ranging system and principle of altimetry

Non-imaging radars, including altimeters, measure the elevation of the earth's surface, and scatterometers are used to estimate ocean wind speed. In this section, the altimeter, which is the ranging system, is discussed.

Space-borne radar altimeters are essential tools for monitoring the oceans, which has been performed for over 20 years (*Benveniste*, 2011). Satellite altimeters have also proven to be valuable tools for monitoring the water levels within inland water systems, including lakes and rivers (*Alsdorf et al.*, 2007; *Calman and Seyler*, 2006; *Cretaux and Birkett*, 2006).



Figure 2.9: Illustration of altimetry principle (Fricker, 2009).

Space-borne radar altimeters transmit a short microwave pulse in the nadir direction, and the signal reflected by the surface is received by the instruments. As shown in Figure 2.9, the altimeter measures the time delay taken for a radar pulse to travel to the surface and back again. The elapsed time corresponds to the range between the satellite and the Earth's surface (*Fernandes et al.*, 2014) by the following equation:

$$R = c * T/2 \tag{2.12}$$

where c is the speed of light and T is the time delay of the signal. The shape of the returned echo received by the altimeter is what we call the waveform. The water level from an altimeter is derived from the measured range (R), which is subtracted from the altitude of the satellite  $(H_{alt})$ , after which geophysical corrections are applied as shown in the equation (*Calman et al.*, 2008; AVISO+, 2017).

$$H_{water\_level} = H_{alt} - R$$
  
- (C<sub>dry\_tropo</sub> + C<sub>wet\_tropo</sub> + C<sub>iono</sub> + C<sub>solid\_earth\_tide</sub> + C<sub>pole\_tide</sub> + C<sub>ocean\_tide</sub>) (2.13)  
- C<sub>geoid</sub>

Corrections applied including the wet troposphere, dry troposphere, ionosphere, solid earth tide, geocentric pole tide and ocean loading tide corrections, and the geoid correction.

## 2.2.4.1 Trackers and Retrackers

To determine the altimeter range accurately, which is related to the water level measurement accuracy, trackers and retrackers are needed to locate the waveform window and to determine the accurate tracking point on the waveform.

Waveforms are recorded by the tracking system placed onboard the satellite. The purpose of the on-board tracker is to keep the reflected signal from the Earth's surface to be within the altimeter analysis window (*Vignudelli et al.*, 2011). There are two tracking modes available, namely the closed-loop tracking and open-loop tracking. Closed-loop tracking is the traditional mode to be used where the altimeter range window is autonomously positioned based on onboard Near Real Time (NRT) analysis of previous waveforms. Alternatively, the open-loop tracking mode is available where the altimeter range window is positioned using a priori knowledge of the surface height stored onboard the instrument in a one-dimensional along track Digital Elevation Model (DEM).

In order to obtain the highest possible accuracy on range measurements, the precise tracking point located on the leading edge (Figure 2.10) needs to be found out, which is called "waveform retracking" (*Deng and Featherstone*, 2006). The ground-based retracking aims to fit a model or functional form to the measured waveforms, and retrieve geophysical parameters such as the range and echo power. Functional forms can be purely empirical, or physical as in the case of the Brown ocean retracker. Details about both empirical and physical-based retrackers are presented in chapter 6.

#### 2.2.4.2 Pulse-limited altimetry

Conventional radar altimeters are pulse-limited altimetry. The effective footprint of a pulselimited altimeter is related with the pulse duration and the width of the waveform window (*Chelton et al.*, 1989, 2001). The altimeter sends a signal in the nadir direction after the pulse hits the water surface, and the area contributing to the reflected power is expanding as a circle, which, after reaching its maximum size, keeps on spreading into an expanding ring with increasing diameter but a constant surface area (Figure 2.11) (*Vignudelli et al.*, 2011). The diameter of the pulse-limited footprint is generally in the range of 2 and 7 km, depending on the significant wave height, which is the average of the highest one-third of waves (*Alcorn*, 2014). On the contrary, when the returned pulse is determined by the width of the beam, is called beam-limited altimetry, which is the principle of laser altimeters (e.g. GLAS on ICESAT).



Figure 2.10: Waveform retracking. Created based on Deng and Featherstone (2006).

## 2.2.4.3 SAR/Delay-Doppler altimetry

Until CryoSat-2 was launched, the satellite altimeters were pulse limited in low-resolution mode (LRM). CryoSat-2 is the first altimeter with synthetic aperture radar (SAR) mode available, followed by Sentinel-3. Unlike classical pulse-limited altimeters, SAR altimeters exploit coherent processing of groups of transmitted pulses to make the most efficient use of the power reflected from the surface (*Radar Altimetry Tutorial and Toolbox*, 2017). Therefore, the along-track resolution improves significantly.

SAR altimetry was first described as Delay-Doppler altimetry in 1998 (*Raney*, 1998) since it uses Doppler effects caused by the satellite movement in the along-track direction. Its key innovation is echo delay compensation, analogous to range cell migration correction in a burstmode SAR (*Raney*, 1998).

The antenna altimeter emits spherical microwave radiation towards the surface in the nadir direction. These pulses are frequency linearly modulated signals and are emitted at regular intervals defined by the Pulse Repetition Frequency (PRF) (*Radar Altimetry Tutorial and Toolbox*, 2017). 64 coherent pulses are emitted in a burst, and each echo of the pulse contains the response of the water surface over the original footprint as in conventional altimetry. A Fast Fourier Transform (FFT) is performed in the along-track dimension (corresponding to time) over the echoes, generating corresponding Doppler beams (*Boy et al.*, 2017). The echo power is sampled and recorded in the waveform tracking window (normally with 64 or 128 gates or waveforms samples), forming the echo waveform. The footprint of each Doppler beam on the ground is referred to as a Doppler cell (Figure 2.9).

The Delay-Doppler technique not only improves the spatial resolution in the along-track direction (down to approximately 300 m for CryoSat-2 and Sentinel-3), but additionally reduces speckle noise for a given spatial resolution cell due to a higher number of independent samples (looks) to be averaged (*Boy et al.*, 2017).



Figure 2.11: Beam-limited, pulse-limited and Doppler-limited altimetry (Sørensen, 2016).

## 2.3 Conclusion

This chapter presented the remote sensing principles and the principles related to soil moisture, irrigation and altimetry, which are the main objectives of this thesis. With the SAR technique, the resolution of the imaging system and the ranging system improves dramatically, offers more opportunities to acquire soil moisture map, irrigation map and water level products with a much better resolution. Additionally, microwave remote sensing offers the tool which is functional under various weather conditions. Therefore, the temporal resolution can be improved mostly over cloudy areas. The combination use of multi-sensor microwave remote sensing is able to enhance the potential of water resources estimation more accurately and efficiently.

## Chapter 3

# Study Area and Datasets

### Contents

3.1	$\mathbf{Stud}$	y area	29
	3.1.1	Ebro basin	29
	3.1.2	Urgell site	31
3.2	Rem	ote sensing dataset	<b>32</b>
	3.2.1	Sentinel data	32
	3.2.2	MODIS data	37
	3.2.3	DEM data	37
	3.2.4	SMOS data	37
3.3	In si	itu data	37
	3.3.1	Ground soil moisture measurements	37
	3.3.2	Meteorological data	39
	3.3.3	SIGPAC	39
	3.3.4	SAIH Ebro	40
<b>3.4</b>	Cond	clusion	40

## 3.1 Study area

## 3.1.1 Ebro basin

The Ebro river basin located in Iberian peninsula, Europe, which is one of the primary Hot-Spots of climate change, is chosen as the study area for this PhD research. Ebro River basin is located in the Iberian peninsula as shown in Figure 3.1. It is one of the most important rivers on the Iberian Peninsula that flows into the Mediterranean, with a length of approximately 928 km and a drainage basin with an area of approximately 85 550 km2 (*Barceló and Petrovic*, 2011). With the Pyrenees located in the north-east and the Cantabrian Range in the north-west, the Atlantic wind can hardly get through the basin. Therefore, the topography of the Ebro River basin determines the semi-arid Mediterranean, with a continental influence. In the central part of the basin, aridity is the main climate characteristic with rainfall decreased dramatically (*Barceló and Petrovic*, 2011).

The river flow is irregular throughout the year, with low levels at the end of summer and high levels during the spring due to melting run-off in the Pyrenees, leading to a danger of flooding. The Ebro River is of great importance for agriculture in the summer, during which drought often



Figure 3.1: The Ebro river basin. Modified from *Ebro Basin* (2007).

occurs due to the continental Mediterranean climate. Nevertheless, the mean annual flow has decreased by approximately 29% during the 20th century due to many causes: the construction of dams, the increasing demands for irrigation, and the evaporation (which is higher than the precipitation due to low rainfall amounts, high sunshine intensities and strong, dry winds) from reservoirs within the river basin (*Barceló and Petrovic*, 2011).

The population in the basin is about 2.8 million people, with a density of 33 inhabitants per  $km^2$ . However, the population is heterogeneously distributed with nearly half of the population concentrated in the cities located in the centre of the Ebro valley (*Barceló and Petrovic*, 2011). Land use in the Ebro River basin has been traditionally based on agricultural crops, such as vineyards, orchards, and maize. Up to 783 948 hectares are dedicated to agriculture where, mainly in the mid and lower Ebro sections, they are irrigated. Nowadays, with the development of the economy, this industry is also gaining importance in most cities. Hydroelectric energy produces about 8 297  $m^3/s$  in 340 hydroelectric plants at the Ebro River basin. Water of the Ebro River is also used for cooling nuclear and thermic plants (*Barceló and Petrovic*, 2011).

The frequency and intensity of extreme events, which will be increasing with climate change, affect the regional water availability, and also influences human activities and government decisions from agricultural irrigation and energy production to flood control. According to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (*Pachauri and Meyer*, 2014), almost the entire of Europe will be negatively affected by climate change. A higher risk of droughts and floods are faced by the whole of Europe, with southern Europe more likely to suffer from droughts with the decrease of summer flows. Moreover, water withdrawals are also expected to increase in south-

ern Europe, amplifying the risks associated with climate change. The Mediterranean regions including the Ebro River basin are more exposed to drought risk.

In the Ebro river basin, due to the semi-arid climate, irrigation has been intensified there since the mid-20th century, though it is still limited to the main floodplains in the middle (*Ro-driguez*, 2018). Many reservoirs (138, total water storage capacity of 6 837 hm3) and canals were constructed during this century for agricultural irrigation, electricity production and domestic use (*Comín*, 1999).

The models applied in the Ebro river basin contain many uncertainties. Moreover, current models do not incorporate (or very little) human intervention in the water cycle, which makes the uncertainty even larger. Within this context, the primary goal of the water resources estimation over the Ebro river basin is to estimate the water levels and soil moisture, and to involve the anthropogenic influences including the irrigation study and the dams.

## 3.1.2 Urgell site

For the soil moisture estimation and irrigation study, the Urgell site within the Ebro river basin is selected. The study area covers a 60 km by 60 km square located in Urgell, Catalonia, as shown in Figure 3.2. The 60 km by 60 km area is used for the soil moisture study at the 1km spatial resolution, while the 20 km by 20 km area, which is shown as the small red square inside the 60 km area, is specifically used for soil moisture and irrigation study at a better spatial resolution. The Urgell climate is typically Mediterranean, with continental influence; it is mild in winter and warm in summer, with a very dry season in summer and two rainy seasons in autumn and spring (*Escorihuela and Quintana-Seguí*, 2016). The average annual precipitation is around 376 mm (347 mm in 2015, 385 mm in 2016, and 397 mm in 2017).



Figure 3.2: Study area located in Urgell, Catalonia. The bigger red square in the left figure shows the 60 km by 60 km square for soil moisture study at 1 km resolution; the inside smaller red square shows the 20 km by 20 km square for soil moisture study at 100m resolution and irrigation study at field scale. The blue polygon shows the Segarra–Garrigues (SG) system being developed.

The study area is mainly irrigated using two irrigation methods: inundation, which is the old irrigation method, and sprinkler or drip, which are the new irrigation systems. The status of the irrigation is mostly static from year to year. Fields that have access to water are always irrigated, and fields that do not have access to water are not. In the old irrigated district, the open channel leads water into the agricultural fields, which causes vegetation flourishing in this area (recognized as being greener areas within the region). Surrounding the irrigated area, the land is much drier without irrigation. Currently, a new irrigation Segarra–Garrigues (SG) system is being carried to convert most of the current dry-land fields into irrigated fields, surrounding the old irrigated system, shown as the blue polygon in Figure 3.2. SG system uses the sprinkler or dripping irrigation, however, most farmers have not yet installed this irrigation system, which means that the SG systems can still be regarded as dry land (Fontanet et al., 2018). Only scatter irrigation fields are located in the middle and north of the study area. The irrigation period mainly occurs in summer, from May to September, and the frequency depends on the irrigation district. In the old district, the irrigation frequency is mainly every two weeks, and in the new area it may be daily, but it depends on the farmers. In the fields with the new irrigation method, the drippers are typically used to irrigate fruit trees, and the sprinklers are typically used to irrigate crops. The croplands dominate most parts of the area, including wheat, corn, and alfalfa. The croplands include fields irrigated using inundation, sprinkler, or subsurface drippers, and rainfed fields. The productive trees are mainly fruit trees, olive trees, or vineyards. Forest and wild trees are spreading throughout the whole area, mostly in the mountainous places in the northwestern part.

## 3.2 Remote sensing dataset

Different spatial datasets are used in this thesis including Sentinel-1 SAR data, Sentinel-2 optical data, Sentinel-3 altimetry data, and MODIS (Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer) optical data. Digital elevation data and SMOS (Soil Moisture and Ocean Salinity) data are also described below, which are used as auxiliary data.

## 3.2.1 Sentinel data

ESA is developing a new family of missions called Sentinels, specifically for the operational needs of the Copernicus programme. Each Sentinel mission is based on a constellation of two satellites to fulfil the revisit and coverage requirements, providing robust datasets for Copernicus Services (*ESA*, 2017).

These missions carry a range of technologies, such as radar and multi-spectral imaging instruments for the land, ocean and atmospheric monitoring. The data used in this thesis are Sentinel products, including Sentinel-1, 2, and 3.

## • Sentinel-1

The Sentinel-1 mission provides data from a dual-polarization C-band Synthetic Aperture Radar (SAR) instrument. The constellation consists of the Sentinel-1A and Sentinel-1B satellites, with a temporal resolution of 12 days for each one. Detailed parameters about the satellites are listed in Table 3.1

The Sentinel-1 SAR instrument may operate in four modes (Kramer, 2018a):

- Interferometric Wide-swath mode (IW)
- Wave mode (WV)
- Strip Map mode (SM)

Launch date	Sentinel-1A: April 03, 2014 Sentinel-1B: April 22, 2016			
Orbit type	SSO (Sun-synchronous Orbit)			
Revisit time	12 days			
Orbital altitude	693 km			
Sensor complement	C-SAR (C-band Synthetic Aperture Radar)			
Acquisition mode	Stripmap (SM) Interferometric Wide swath (IW) Extra-Wide swath (EW) Wave (WV)			

Table 3.1: Sentinel-1 satellite parameters (*Kramer*, 2018a)

	IW	WV	$\mathbf{SM}$	EW
Polarization	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Dual} \\ (\text{HH}+\text{HV}, \\ \mathbf{VV}+\mathbf{VH}) \end{array}$	Single (HH, VV)	Dual (HH+HV, VV+VH)	Dual (HH+HV, VV+VH)
Azimuth resolution	$20 \mathrm{m}$	$5 \mathrm{m}$	$5 \mathrm{m}$	40 m
Ground range resolution	$5 \mathrm{m}$	$5 \mathrm{m}$	$5 \mathrm{m}$	$20 \mathrm{~m}$
Product	L0 RAW L1 SLC <b>L1 GRD</b> L2 OCN	L0 RAW L1 SLC L1 GRD L2 OCN	L0 RAW L1 SLC L1 GRD L2 OCN	L1 SLC L2 OCN

Table 3.2: Sentinel-1 operational modes (ESA, 2018a)

— Extra Wide-swath mode (EW)

The primary operational imaging mode, which is the IW, combined with the Wave mode, satisfies most currently service requirements, and preserves revisit performance with robust and high reliability. For continuity reasons and emerging user requirements, the SM and EW modes are also provided when needed. The SAR instrument measurement modes and their characteristics are listed in Table 3.2.

Except for the Wave mode, which is a single-polarisation mode (selectable between HH and VV), the SAR instrument supports operation in dual polarisation (selectable between HH+HV and VV+VH). The products distributed by ESA include three levels: Level-0 raw data, which is only for specific usage, Level-1 Single Look Complex (SLC) or Ground Range Detected (GRD) data, and Level-2 Ocean (OCN) data.

The Level-1 SLC data is systematically distributed but limited to specific relevant areas, while Level-1 GRD data are systematically distributed globally with multi-looked intensity. Level-2 OCN data is only for retrieving geophysical parameters of the ocean. Therefore, in this PhD study, the Level-1 GRD data is used for soil moisture study (see Chapter 4) and irrigation mapping (see Chapter 5), having a resolution of 20 m by 5 m. Both VV and VH polarization are available with Sentinel-1 data. The investigation period of Sentinel-1A is from June 2015 until September 2017, while Sentinel-1B is from September 2016 until September 2017.

The Sentinel-1 data were downloaded from Google Earth Engine and were pre-processed by the following three steps: - Thermal noise removal, which improves the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) by removing the thermal noise as a result of the random movement of electrons in the circuitry.

- Radiometric calibration, which calibrates images acquired by satellite sensors to radiance or reflectance values, allowing a more accurate assessment of ground surface properties.

- Terrain correction using SRTM DEM at 30 m, which reduces topographic effects in SAR images.

## • Sentinel-2

Sentinel-2 is a polar-orbiting, multispectral high-resolution imaging mission for land monitoring to provide, for example, the imagery of vegetation, soil and water cover, inland waterways and coastal areas. Sentinel-2 can also deliver information for emergency services. Sentinel-2A was launched on 23 June 2015 and Sentinel-2B followed on 7 March 2017. Detailed parameters are listed in Table 3.3.

Tal	ble 3.	3: S	entinel-2	2 satell	ite ı	parameters	(K	Tramer,	2018b	)
-----	--------	------	-----------	----------	-------	------------	----	---------	-------	---

Launch date	Sentinel-2A: June 23, 2015 Sentinel-2B: March 7, 2017		
Orbit type	SSO		
Revisit time	10 days		
Orbital altitude	786 km		
Sensor complement	MSI (Multi Spectral Instrument)		
Product Types	Level-1C Level-1A		

The Sentinel-2 Multispectral Instrument (MSI) samples 13 spectral bands: four bands at 10 metres, six bands at 20 metres and three bands at 60 metres spatial resolution (details shown in Table 3.4). Only the Level-1C and Level-2A products are released to users with all data are systematically processed to Level-1C by the Payload Data Ground Segment (PDGS).

In this PhD study, Sentinel-2 Level-1C product is used to calculate Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) which provide the vegetation information for soil moisture retrieval (see Chapter 4). Band 4 (Red) and band 8 (NIR) are used with the following equation:

$$NDVI = \frac{NIR - Red}{NIR + Red}$$
(3.1)

Band "QA60", which is a bit-mask band containing cloud mask information, is applied in order to remove areas covered by cloud.

#### • Sentinel-3

Sentinel-3 is an ocean and land mission based on a constellation of two satellites (Sentinel-3A and Sentinel-3B). Sentinel-3A was launched on 16 February 2016 with data available beginning in June 2016 and was followed by Sentinel-3B, which was launched on 25 April 2018. The Sentinel-3 Radar Altimeter (SRAL) instrument is the main topographic sensor used to provide water level measurements, and hence, it is used in this thesis. The detailed parameters of the Sentinel-3 SRAL are listed in Table 3.5.

Name	$\mathbf{Scale}$	Resolution	Wavelength	Description
B1	0.0001	60  meters	443.9nm (S2A) / 442.3nm (S2B)	Aerosols
B2	0.0001	10  meters	496.6nm (S2A) / $492.1nm$ (S2B)	Blue
B3	0.0001	10  meters	560nm (S2A) / 559nm (S2B)	Green
B4	0.0001	10  meters	664.5nm (S2A) / $665$ nm (S2B)	Red
B5	0.0001	20  meters	703.9nm (S2A) / $703.8$ nm (S2B)	Red Edge 1
B6	0.0001	20  meters	740.2nm (S2A) / $739.1$ nm (S2B)	Red Edge 2
B7	0.0001	20  meters	782.5nm (S2A) / $779.7nm$ (S2B)	Red Edge 3
B8	0.0001	10  meters	835.1nm (S2A) / 833nm (S2B)	NIR
B8a	0.0001	20  meters	864.8nm (S2A) / 864nm (S2B)	Red Edge 4
B9	0.0001	60  meters	945nm (S2A) / 943.2nm (S2B)	Water vapor
B10	0.0001	60  meters	1373.5nm (S2A) / $1376.9nm$ (S2B)	Cirrus
B11	0.0001	20  meters	1613.7nm (S2A) / $1610.4nm$ (S2B)	SWIR 1
B12	0.0001	20  meters	2202.4nm (S2A) / $2185.7nm$ (S2B)	SWIR 2
QA10		10  meters		Always empty
QA20		20  meters		Always empty
QA60		60  meters		Cloud mask

Table 3.4: Sentinel-2 bands (*Kramer*, 2018b)

Two modes of operation are available with the Sentinel-3 mission: High-Resolution Mode/SAR mode and Low-Resolution Mode (LRM) The SRAL mission is always operated at SAR mode. LRM is back-up mode only.

The SRAL tracks the surface in two different tracking modes, namely, closed loop and open loop tracking (Figure 3.3). For closed loop tracking, the altimeter range window is autonomously positioned based on an onboard near real-time (NRT) analysis of the previous SRAL waveform; in contrast, for open loop tracking, the altimeter range window is positioned using a priori knowledge of the surface height stored in the instrument in a one-dimensional along-track DEM. The tracking modes for the studied water bodies over the Ebro River basin includes both closed loop and open loop tracking modes.

Three levels of processed altimeter data are available: Level-0, Level-1 and Level-2 products. The Level-1 product is composed of data after instrumental corrections from the Level-0 product, which constitutes raw data. The Level-2 product is further processed by applying different retracking algorithms to the Level-1 waveforms to calculate the final altimeter range and the backscatter coefficient, including geophysical corrections.

Level-1 and Level-2 products are available to users with different levels of data latency related to the availability of the auxiliary or ancillary data (AVISO+, 2017):

Near-Real-Time (NRT): delivered less than 3 hours after data acquisition

Slow Time Critical (STC): delivered within 48 hours after data acquisition

Non-Time Critical (NTC): delivered within typically one month after data acquisition.

The NTC product is used with priority in order to derive a high precision.

In this PhD study, both Level-1 and Level-2 product are used, with Level-1 data used for the water level retrieval and Level-2 data for comparison (see Chapter 6).

Launch date	Sentinel-3A: Feb 16, 2014 Sentinel-3B: April 25, 2018		
Orbit type	SSO		
Revisit time	27 days		
Orbital altitude	814.5 km		
Sensor complement	SRAL MWR (MicroWave Radiometer) OLCI (Ocean and Land Color Instrument) SLSTR (Sea and Land Surface Temperature Radiometer)		
Radar bands	<b>Ku</b> (13.575 GHz, bandwidth= $350$ MHz) C (5.41 GHz, bandwidth= $320$ MHz)		
Radar measurement modes	$\mathbf{SAR}$ and $\mathrm{LRM}$		
Tracking modes	Closed and open loop		
Pulse repetition frequency	17.8 KHz (SAR), 1.9 KHz (LRM)		
Total range error	3 cm		
Altimetry data products	Level-0, <b>Level-1</b> , Level-2		

Table 3.5: Sentinel-3 satellite parameters (*Kramer*, 2018c)



Figure 3.3: Sentinel-3 tracking modes (open loop and closed loop) per observed surface (ESA, 2018b).

## 3.2.2 MODIS data

MODIS (Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer) is a key instrument NASA's Terra satellite (launched in 1999) and Aqua satellite (launched in 2002) as part of the Earth Observing System (EOS) Programme (*Barnes et al.*, 1998; *Justice et al.*, 1998). The MODIS instrument acquires data in 36 spectral bands ranging in wavelength from 0.4  $\mu m$  to 14.4  $\mu m$ . The spatial resolution of the products ranges from 250 m to 500 m and to 1 km, depending on the bands used, with daily time coverage.

In this study, the 250-m spatial resolution, 16-day composites of MODIS NDVI data (MOD13Q1, collection 5) were used to calculated NDVI with equation 3.1 for soil moisture study (see Chapter 4). This product is retrieved from atmosphere-corrected, daily bidirectional surface reflectance observations, using a compositing technique based on product quality assurance metrics to remove low-quality pixels. The 250-m spatial resolution is the finest available from the MODIS NDVI dataset, and the 16-day composite was selected in order to ensure a high probability of having the best quality pixel (reduced cloud effects) representing the NDVI within every 16 days.

## 3.2.3 DEM data

A DEM was used as an ancillary dataset for improving the accuracy of water level retrieval (see Chapter 6). The Shuttle Radar Topography Mission (SRTM) is an international research effort that obtains DEM data on a near-global scale from  $56^{\circ}S$  to  $60^{\circ}N$  (*Farr et al.*, 2007). The SRTM provides global data at two resolutions: 1 arc-second (30 m) and 3 arc-seconds (90 m). In this thesis study, Version 2.1 of the 1 arc-second global elevation data, offering worldwide coverage of void-filled data at a resolution of approximately 30 m, is used. The vertical accuracy of SRTM DEM is about  $\pm 16$  m (absolute) and  $\pm 6$  m (relative) (*Farr et al.*, 2007; *Mukul et al.*, 2015, 2017; *Rabus et al.*, 2003; *Elkhrachy*, 2017). However, the vertical accuracy of the data decreases with the increase in slope and elevation due to the presence of large outliers and voids (*Mukul et al.*, 2017).

## 3.2.4 SMOS data

SMOS (Soil Moisture and Ocean Salinity) mission, launched in November 2009, is to observe the soil moisture over Earth's landmasses and the salinity over Earth's oceans. The SMOS satellite carries a new type of instrument called Microwave Imaging Radiometer using Aperture Synthesis (MIRAS), which measures Earth surface in protected L-band at a 1.4 GHz frequency (*Kerr et al.*, 2001; *Kerr et al.*, 2010). SMOS has global coverage and a 3-day equatorial revisiting period. The top soil layer (5 cm) moisture is retrieved with an accuracy of 0.04  $m^3/m^3$  (*Kerr et al.*, 2012). The spatial resolution ranges from 35 to 55 km, depending on the incidence angle. SMOS low-resolution moisture products (SMOS Level 3 daily product), corresponding to the twoyear period of Sentinel-1 acquisitions, were used as ancillary data for soil moisture estimation (see Chapter 4).

## 3.3 In situ data

## 3.3.1 Ground soil moisture measurements

In-situ soil moisture measurements were acquired continuously over a period of several months, in two demonstration fields belonging to the new irrigation SG system: Foradada and Agramunt (Figure 3.4). Each measurement point was analysed at different depths. Table 3.6 lists the measured soil moisture and texture characteristics of the two test fields.



Figure 3.4: Demonstration fields (yellow stars) within the 20 km by 20 km study area: Foradada and Agramunt.

The ground soil moisture measurements are done by capacitive EC-5 sensors (METER Group, Pullman, WA, USA) at a different depth. The EC-5 determines volumetric water content (VWC) by measuring the dielectric constant of the media using capacitance/frequency domain technology at a 5-minute sampling frequency. The different irrigation methods between the two sites, along with the different pedological properties, make their ranges of soil moisture variation very different.

Site	Foradada	Agramunt	
Coordinates	$41.866^{\circ} \text{ N}, 1.015^{\circ} \text{ E}$	$41.782^{\circ}$ N, $1.089^{\circ}$ E	
Field area in hectare	20	2.5	
At soil depths in cm	<b>3</b> ,  9,  10,  20	<b>5</b> , 10, 20, 40	
Measurements period	May-August 2015 June-October 2015	February-October 2016 July-November 2016	
Sand, silt, clay in $\%$	41.5,  42.3,  16.2	52.1,  35.3,  12.6	
Irrigation method	Sprinklers	Subsurface drippers	
SSM (min, max) in $m3/m3$	(0.08,  0.45)	(0.04,  0.28)	
Meteorological station	Baldomar station	Tornabous station	

Table 3.6: Ground soil moisture measurements in two demonstration fields at Foradada and Agramunt.

The *in situ* soil moisture measurements serve as a validation dataset for the satellite retrieved soil moisture products (see Chapter 4). Since the electromagnetic (EM) waves can only measure the properties of the surface soil, the *in situ* moisture measurements with the depth nearest to the surface are considered. The soil moisture measurements obtained at a depth of 3 cm in the Foradada field, and at a depth of 5 cm in the Agramunt field, are used for comparison with the satellite estimations.

## 3.3.2 Meteorological data

The meteorological data were collected from Ruralcat website (*Ruralcat*, 2018). The precipitation along with other meteorological data including temperature and humidity were downloaded with hourly or daily resolution. The nearest meteorological station to the demonstration field is chosen as auxillary data. For the Foradada field, the Baldomar station, which is about 6 km away, is taken, while for Agramunt field, the Tornabous station, which is about 11 km, is taken. Meteorological data were used as supplementary data for the analysis of the satellite retrieved soil moisture (see Chapter 4).



Figure 3.5: The meteorological stations of Catalonia in the Ruralcat database. Modified from *Ruralcat* (2018).

## 3.3.3 SIGPAC

The Geographic Information System for Agricultural Parcels (SIGPAC) is a public registry of an administrative nature that contains information on the parcels, which is updated every year (*Direcció General de Desenvolupament Rural*, 2018). The supplied SIGPAC plotter contains both graphical and alphanumeric information. The graphics information includes the referenced geographic boundary of each plot of land. Alphanumeric information contains information about each one of the enclosures such as identification codes, surface area, land usage, irrigation coefficient, average slope, and others. The interface is shown in Figure 3.6, and further information can be found on the website: http://sig.gencat.cat/visors/Agricultura.html (DARP, 2018). In this study, the SIGPAC data were used as ground truth to validate irrigation mapping results with information regarding the land usage and irrigation coefficient (see Chapter 5).



Figure 3.6: The SIGPAC interface (DARP, 2018).

## 3.3.4 SAIH Ebro

In situ data of water levels and river flows for the Ebro River basin are available in the Automatic Hydrological Information System (in Spanish Sistema Automático de Información Hidrológica - SAIH) Ebro data hub, with examples shown in Figure 3.7. SAIH Ebro is an online system providing hourly and daily hydrological information, including river gauge data, reservoir levels, rainfall amounts and temperatures, over the Ebro River basin (SAIH Ebro, 2018). The in situ data were collected from June 2016 to June 2018, used as validation for water level retrieval (see Chapter 6) and hydrological simulation involving the reservoirs (see Chapter 7).



Figure 3.7: Examples of the SAIH Ebro reservoirs (SAIH Ebro, 2018).

## 3.4 Conclusion

This chapter presented the study area for water resources estimation, where the Ebro river basin is considered for water estimation in reservoirs and the analysis of dam influence (see Chapter 6), and the Urgell site within the Ebro river basin is considered for irrigation mapping and soil moisture study (see Chapter 4 and 5). The Ebro River basin is within the main Hot-Spot of climate change, and irrigation is well developed there for agriculture, making it a typical area for the study of anthropogenic effects for the water cycle.

The dataset including the remote sensing data and the *in situ* data were presented as well. The Sentinel-1, 2, and 3 are the main satellite data used for methodology development, while DEM and SMOS data are used as supplementary data. The validation data for soil moisture retrieval comes from two demonstrative fields, which are located in Foradada and Agramunt, whilst for irrigation mapping, the SIGPAC system offers the irrigation coefficient indicating whether the field is irrigated or not. The SAIH Ebro system, which provides the water level, river flow and characteristics of plenty of reservoirs, serves as the validation data for water level retrieval and river flow simulation for the analysis of dams influences.

With all the valuable datasets, the methodology can be developed with confidence, the retrieved results can be validated, and the accuracy can be assessed.

## Chapter 4

# Soil Moisture Retrieval

## Contents

4.1 Introduction	43
4.2 Methodologies	<b>45</b>
4.2.1 Backscatter difference with the driest date	45
4.2.2 Backscatter difference between two consecutive dates	46
4.3 Soil moisture at 1 km resolution	<b>47</b>
4.4 Soil moisture at 100 m resolution	<b>49</b>
4.5 Published paper	<b>49</b>
4.6 Summary and Conclusions	71

## 4.1 Introduction

Soil moisture plays an important role in the water cycle. It is the direct water source for vegetation, and it indirectly influences the temperature and humidity close to the ground, via its effect on the surface water and energy balance (*Bramer et al.*, 2018). Soil moisture is also important for irrigation management. Before assessing the irrigation status, the soil moisture needs to be investigated in order to plan the irrigation events in the next step better. Soil moisture is a key variable in the rainfall-runoff process (*Aubert et al.*, 2003). Regular evaluation of soil moisture can significantly improve flood and drought estimations (*Wagner et al.*, 2007), since it affects the amount of water available for vegetation growth (*Cook et al.*, 2006; *Bezerra et al.*, 2013).

Before discussing the methodologies, the definition of the soil moisture needs to be presented. There are two ways of measurements for the amount of water or moisture in soil, either by (1) measuring gravimetric soil water content (GWC) or by (2) measuring volumetric soil water content (VWC) (*Edaphic Scientific*, 2018; *Little et al.*, 1998). GWC is the mass of water per mass of dry soil in a given sample with equation (4.1):

$$GWC = (Wet - Dry)/Dry \tag{4.1}$$

where Wet is the weight of the soil sample from the field and Dry is the weight of the dry soil sample.

VWC is the volume of water per volume of soil defined as equation (4.2):

$$VWC = GWC * BD \tag{4.2}$$

where BD is the bulk density of the soil sample. In this PhD study, the VWC is considered for the soil moisture assessment to be consistent with *in situ* probes which determine VWC by measuring the dielectric constant of the soil.

Microwave soil moisture estimations are based on the strong contrast between the dielectric properties of water  $\approx 80$ ) and dry soil (< 5) (*Zhuo and Han*, 2016). With the current Sentinel-1 mission, the active onboard C-band sensor offers regular temporal coverage (about five days for Europe when both A and B satellites are considered), together with a spatial resolution of 10 m.

In the last twenty years, different empirical, semi-empirical and physical models have been proposed for the retrieval of soil moisture from various sources of SAR data (such as ERS, RADARSAT, ENVISAT, TerraSAR-X, COSMO-SkyMed). At the field scale, inversion models often take into account the effects of roughness and vegetation, due to their significant influence on radar signals. The most widely used techniques for the retrieval of soil moisture from SAR data include techniques which make use of a statistical approach such as Neural Network (NN), the direct inversion of semi-empirical or physical models with the most commonly used Water Cloud Model (WCM), and the Change Detection method (CD).

The artificial NN technique involves nonlinear parameterised mapping from an input vector to an output vector (*Pulvirenti et al.*, 2009), and several studies have obtained quite accurate estimations of the soil moisture (*Baghdadi et al.*, 2002; *Ulaby et al.*, 1986a; *Sahebi et al.*, 2004; *Santi et al.*, 2013; *Pham-Duc et al.*, 2017; *Notarnicola et al.*, 2008; *Pasquariello et al.*, 1997; *Baghdadi et al.*, 2016; *El Hajj et al.*, 2016; *Baghdadi et al.*, 2012; *Santi et al.*, 2016; *Paloscia et al.*, 2013). However, this methodology is highly sensitive to the input parameters (*Ahmed et al.*, 2011; *Ghedira et al.*, 2004), and over vegetated areas the results can become highly variable due to high rates of evaporation (*Bousbih et al.*, 2018; *Hassan-Esfahani et al.*, 2015; *Mishra et al.*, 2018).

The WCM approach (Attema and Ulaby, 1978) relates the backscattering coefficient to soil moisture content and the presence of vegetation, making it possible to be used over densely vegetated areas. Many studies have shown the possibilities of retrieving soil moisture at high accuracies (Zribi et al., 2011; Attema and Ulaby, 1978; Chai et al., 2015; He et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2011; Kumar et al., 2015). However, typical input vegetation parameters include the albedo of the vegetation, and the attenuation factor is difficult to define.

With the multi-temporal data available, the CD approach can be advantageously used, and several studies have applied it mainly over semi-arid areas (*Thoma et al.*, 2006, 2004; *Rignot and van Zyl*, 1993; *Villasensor et al.*, 1993; *Shoshany et al.*, 2000; *Thoma et al.*, 2008; *Jacome et al.*, 2013; *Baghdadi et al.*, 2011; *Wagner et al.*, 1999; *Zribi et al.*, 2014; *Wagner et al.*, 2008). The advantage of this method is that it can retrieve soil moisture in the absence of prior knowledge of the study area. However, this approach still needs to be investigated over vegetation covered areas.

This chapter mainly aims at developing methodologies for soil moisture retrieval under dense vegetation cover at field scale, without using field calibrations. The soil moisture is retrieved from the synergetic interpretation of Sentinel-1 and Sentinel-2 data. The first proposed method is based on the interpretation of backscattering statistics from Sentinel-1 observations, using the minimum and maximum values of this parameter throughout the full period of observation, whereas the second method is based on the analysis of backscattering differences on two consecutive acquisition days. With both methodologies, the Sentinel-1 data is combined with the normalised difference vegetation index (NDVI) computed from Sentinel-2 data.

After a short description of the two CD methodologies in Section 4.2, the results and validation in two demonstrative fields at 1 km resolution are presented in Section 4.3. Better resolution results (100 m) are presented in Section 4.4, along with the article corresponding to this study integrated in Section 4.5, providing a more detailed description of the background review, the methodologies, results, as well as detailed discussions and analysis. A summary and general conclusions can be found in Section 4.6.

The author contributions can be found at the end of the published paper. As the first author of the article, Q. Gao performed the whole processing under the supervision of prof. M. Zribi and with the help of all co-authors.

## 4.2 Methodologies

## 4.2.1 Backscatter difference with the driest date

The radar signals backscattered by the surface can be modelled as the sum of the radar signals scattered by the bare soil and attenuated by vegetation effects, and the signals scattered by the vegetation cover. These two contributions can be expressed as:

$$\sigma_{cover}^0 = \sigma_{veg}^0 + \gamma^2(\theta)\sigma_{soil}^0 \tag{4.3}$$

where  $\gamma^2(\theta) = exp[-2\tau/cos(\theta)]$  is the two-way vegetation canopy transmissivity,  $\theta$  is the incidence angle, and  $\tau$  is the optical thickness parameter that depends on the type of geometrical structure and vegetation water content of the canopy (*Gupta et al.*, 2013).

Temporal variations in soil moisture can be directly related to the dynamics of the radar signal. When radar signals are considered for the same 100 x 100m cell, and for approximately the same NDVI index, the roughness effect can be considerably reduced by computing the difference between two radar signals recorded at two dates.

For a given NDVI (retrieved from Sentinel-2 data), by taking all of the corresponding radar data into account, the minimum value of  $\sigma^0$  corresponding to the driest signal can be determined for each cell. The radar signal difference for a given cell (i,j), between one radar signal at date d and the driest signal, can be written as follows:

$$\Delta \sigma_{(i,j)}^{NDVI} = \sigma_{(i,j),NDVI}^{0}(d) - \sigma_{dry,(i,j),NDVI}^{0} = H_{(i,j)}(NDVI, Mv)$$
(4.4)

where  $\sigma_{(i,j),NDVI}^{0}(d)$  is the lowest backscattered signal, corresponding to the driest conditions, and computed using the Sentinel-1 time-series using the same NDVI as for the data recorded on date d ( $\sigma_{(i,j),NDVI}^{0}(d)$ ), and  $H_{(i,j)}(NDVI, Mv)$  is a function of the NDVI and soil moisture Mvin cell (i,j).

Various experimental studies have shown that a linear relationship exists between radar signal differences and changes in soil moisture (*Zribi et al.*, 2007; *Baghdadi et al.*, 2007a), in the case of bare soils and vegetation-covered surfaces. For a given NDVI, the radar signal difference,  $\sigma^{NDVI}$ , can thus be written as:

$$\Delta \sigma^{NDVI} = \alpha (NDVI) \delta M v \tag{4.5}$$

where  $\Delta M v$  is the change in soil moisture between the date d and the date when the soil was at its driest, and where the parameter  $\alpha$  depends on the NDVI.

When the NDVI increases, the moisture sensitivity of the signal can be expected to decrease (*El Hajj et al.*, 2014; *Baghdadi et al.*, 2007b), as shown in Figure 4.1. This means that the difference between surface backscattering at a given date d, and that observed on the driest date, decreases as a function of NDVI.

The maximum variation in backscattered signal (for a fixed value of NDVI), can be written as:

$$\Delta \sigma_{max}^{NDVI} = \alpha (NDVI) \delta M v_{max} = f(NDVI) \tag{4.6}$$

where  $\Delta M v_{max} = M v_{max} - M v_{min}$ 



Figure 4.1: Illustration of the relationship between NDVI and Mv used in method 1.

The soil moisture for pixel (i,j) can thus be retrieved using the following function:

$$Mv(i, j, NDVI, d) = \frac{\delta \sigma_{i,j}^{NDVI}}{f(NDVI)} (Mv_{max} - Mv_{min}) + Mv_{min}(i, j, d)$$
(4.7)

## 4.2.2 Backscatter difference between two consecutive dates

A second change detection approach is based on the difference in backscattered signals observed on two consecutive days of Sentinel-1 data (12 days). Under these conditions, the temporal change in vegetation cover is generally very small such that, for a nearly constant value of roughness and constant vegetation conditions, the difference between the backscattered signals depends mainly on the change in soil moisture (*Baghdadi et al.*, 2011).

When the value of the NDVI increases, the radar signals' sensitivity to temporal variations in moisture decreases. This means that the absolute value of the Sentinel-1 radar signal difference decreases over two consecutive days, provided that the NDVI remains approximately stable on these two dates. In the present case, the latter parameter is taken to be the average of the NDVI values observed for the two consecutive dates. Figure 4.2 shows this change (for both negative and positive) in radar signal behaviour for successive Sentinel-1 acquisitions, as a function of NDVI.  $\delta\sigma_{max}^{NDVI}$  is the maximum change in a radar signal, corresponding to the maximum value of soil moisture change  $\delta M v_{max}$ , for a given value of NDVI. This can be modelled by the empirical function g:

$$\delta \sigma_{max}^{NDVI} = g(NDVI) \tag{4.8}$$

In the case of the maximum value of soil moisture change  $\delta M v_{max}^{NDVI}$ , the function g can be written as:

$$\delta\sigma_{max}^{NDVI} = g(NDVI) = bNDVI + \delta\sigma_{max}^{bare}$$
(4.9)

where  $\delta \sigma_{max}^{bare}$  is the maximum radar signal difference between two consecutive measurements over bare soil, associated with the highest value of moisture change. When the NDVI is equal to zero,  $\delta \sigma_{max}^{NDVI}$  is equal to  $\delta \sigma_{max}^{bare}$ , where b is the slope of the empirical function g. This



Figure 4.2: Illustration of method 2.

describes the decrease in radar signal sensitivity to soil moisture. We observe an approximately symmetrical result in the computed values for the upper and lower limits.

For a given NDVI, the backscatter difference  $\delta\sigma(t_1, t_2)$ , with  $t_1$  and  $t_2$  being adjacent Sentinel-1 acquisition dates, is assumed to be linearly correlated with the soil moisture difference. The soil moisture difference  $\delta Mv(t_1, t_2)$  for each cell (i,j), between successive acquisition dates  $t_1$  and  $t_2$ , can be retrieved using the following function:

$$Mv(i, j, t_2) = H(\delta\sigma(t_1, t_2)) + Mv(i, j, t_1)$$
(4.10)

where H is equal to :

$$H(\delta\sigma(t,t+1)) = \frac{\delta\sigma_{NDVI}}{g(NDVI)} (\delta M v_{max})$$
(4.11)

From a starting date  $t_1$ , which in the present case is a date corresponding to a ground measurement, an iterative calculation is used to determine the soil moisture for the following dates:

. . . . . .

$$Mv(i, j, t_2) = Mv(i, j, t_1) + H(\delta\sigma(t_1, t_2))$$
(4.12)

$$Mv(i, j, t_3) = Mv(i, j, t_2) + f(\delta\sigma(t_2, t_3))$$
(4.13)

## 4.3 Soil moisture at 1 km resolution

Before retrieving the soil moisture at 100 m resolution, which is applicable for agriculture study, 1 km resolution is tested first to evaluate the operation of the two methodologies, which are the backscatter difference with the driest date and the backscatter difference between two consecutive dates. The study was done within the 60 km by 60 km study area using three different tracks (110, 30, 132) of the Sentinel-1A. At the time the study was being conceived, the Sentinel-2 data was not yet released. In the alternative, the MODIS NDVI was used, with a resolution of 250m, which is suitable for 1 km resolution soil moisture study.



Figure 4.3: Intercomparison between ground measurements in the two demonstration fields of Agramunt and Foradada and Sentinel-1 moisture estimations based on method 1 (a) and method 2 (b).



Figure 4.4: Retrieved soil moisture  $[m^3/m^3]$  maps of method 1 and method 2.

With the ground measurements available from May to August 2015 and February to October 2016 in Foradada field, and from May to October 2015 and July to November 2016 in Agramunt field, the validation is done to evaluate the performances of both methods. The Root Mean Square Error (RMSE) is 0.08  $m^3/m^3$  with method 1 considering all three satellite tracks in two years and both demonstrative fields, while the RMSE is 0.07  $m^3/m^3$  for method 2, as shown in Figure 4.3.

The retrieved soil moisture for both methods is mapped for our studied site. Blue colour represents wettest pixels and red colour relatively dry. All the retrieved soil moisture values are scaled from 0 to  $0.3 \ m^3/m^3$ .

In Figure 4.4, the up two figures (a) and (b) are the results of method 1, and figures (c) and (d) are the results of method 2. A high similarity is observed between the two method products. We retrieve approximately the same moisture spatial variations for the two analysed dates. August 21st in 2015 is a very dry day, showing clearly the irrigated area. September 2nd of 2015 estimations are just after a rainfall more than 10 mm, resulting the soil moisture increased a lot in the whole area. The results at 1 km resolution show the potential of soil moisture retrieval with the two proposed methodologies. In the next step, both methods were applied at a better spatial resolution.

## 4.4 Soil moisture at 100 m resolution

The soil moisture retrieval at 100 m resolution was done with the same two methodologies. To reduce the calculation time, the study area was chosen at 20 km by 20 km area. Instead of MODIS NDVI, Sentinel-2 NDVI was used with a resolution of 10 m.

The retrieved soil moisture is also validated in Agramunt and Foradada fields. The RMSE for method 1 in volumetric soil moisture is 0.087  $m^3/m^3$ , with a bias of approximately 0.026  $m^3/m^3$ , while for method 2 the RMSE is 0.059  $m^3/m^3$ , and the unbiased RMSE is 0.053  $m^3/m^3$ . More details about the 100 m resolution study can be found in the published paper integrated in the next section.

## 4.5 Published paper





## Article

# Synergetic Use of Sentinel-1 and Sentinel-2 Data for Soil Moisture Mapping at 100 m Resolution

## Qi Gao <sup>1,2,3,\*</sup>, Mehrez Zribi <sup>1</sup>, Maria Jose Escorihuela <sup>2</sup> 💿 and Nicolas Baghdadi <sup>4</sup> 💿

- <sup>1</sup> CESBIO (CNRS/CNES/UPS/IRD), 18 av. Edouard Belin, bpi 2801, 31401 Toulouse CEDEX9, France; mehrez.zribi@cesbio.cnes.fr
- <sup>2</sup> isardSAT, Parc Tecnològic Barcelona Activa, Carrer de Marie Curie, 8, 08042 Barcelona, Spain; mj.escorihuela@isardsat.cat
- <sup>3</sup> Observatori de l'Ebre (OE), Ramon Llull University, C.\ Horta Alta, 38, 43520 Roquetes, Spain
- <sup>4</sup> IRSTEA, UMR TETIS, 500 rue Franois Breton, 34093 Montpellier CEDEX 5, France; nicolas.baghdadi@teledetection.fr
- \* Correspondence: qi.gao@isardsat.cat or qi.gao@cesbio.cnes.fr; Tel.: +34-933-505-508

Received: 10 July 2017; Accepted: 22 August 2017; Published: 26 August 2017

Abstract: The recent deployment of ESA's Sentinel operational satellites has established a new paradigm for remote sensing applications. In this context, Sentinel-1 radar images have made it possible to retrieve surface soil moisture with a high spatial and temporal resolution. This paper presents two methodologies for the retrieval of soil moisture from remotely-sensed SAR images, with a spatial resolution of 100 m. These algorithms are based on the interpretation of Sentinel-1 data recorded in the VV polarization, which is combined with Sentinel-2 optical data for the analysis of vegetation effects over a site in Urgell (Catalunya, Spain). The first algorithm has already been applied to observations in West Africa by Zribi et al., 2008, using low spatial resolution ERS scatterometer data, and is based on change detection approach. In the present study, this approach is applied to Sentinel-1 data and optimizes the inversion process by taking advantage of the high repeat frequency of the Sentinel observations. The second algorithm relies on a new method, based on the difference between backscattered Sentinel-1 radar signals observed on two consecutive days, expressed as a function of NDVI optical index. Both methods are applied to almost 1.5 years of satellite data (July 2015–November 2016), and are validated using field data acquired at a study site. This leads to an RMS error in volumetric moisture of approximately  $0.087 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3$  and  $0.059 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3$  for the first and second methods, respectively. No site calibrations are needed with these techniques, and they can be applied to any vegetation-covered area for which time series of SAR data have been recorded.

Keywords: soil moisture; SAR; Sentinel-1; NDVI; Sentinel-2; change detection

## 1. Introduction

Surface soil moisture plays an essential role in numerous environmental studies related to hydrology, meteorology and agriculture. For hydrological and agricultural applications, accurate soil moisture estimations are essential, since the hydric state of the soil is a key variable in the rainfall-runoff process [1]. Regular evaluation of this parameter can significantly improve flood and drought estimations [2], since it affects the amount of water available for vegetation growth [3,4]. In situ networks represent single point locations, and usually cover relatively short periods of observation [5], whereas the acquisitions of satellite data make it possible to continuously retrieve surface soil moisture, at regional and global scales. Various approaches have been developed for the retrieval of soil moisture, using optical, thermal infrared (TIR), and microwave (MW) sensors [6,7]. Optical sensors in the thermal spectrum are able to identify temperature differences, which can be related to surface soil moisture. Microwave soil moisture estimations are based on the strong contrast between the dielectric properties

Sensors 2017, 17, 1966

51

of water ( $\approx$ 80) and dry soil (<5) [8]. The depth at which the moisture is sensed depends on the sensor frequency but usually does not exceed several centimeters, in order to access rootzone soil moisture a more or less complex model is needed and several approaches have been developed such as techniques based on the energy balance approach based on thermal infrared soil moisture [9] or simplified water balanced approaches [10,11].

Traditional passive remote sensing instruments can be used to determine the surface soil moisture with a temporal resolution of 2–3 days. However, these instruments, which include the European Space Agency (ESA) Soil Moisture and Ocean Salinity (SMOS) mission [12,13] and the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) Soil Moisture Active Passive (SMAP) mission [14], have a low spatial resolution (around 40 km [15]). With the current Sentinel-1 mission, the active onboard C-band sensor offers regular temporal coverage (about five days for Europe when both A and B satellites are considered), together with a spatial resolution of 10 m.

In recent decades, SAR imagery has been shown to be advantageous for the estimation of soil surface characteristics, in particular surface roughness and soil moisture [16–23]. SAR data in the L, C and X bands is widely used for soil moisture retrieval [15,16,19,21–34], and the C-band sensor carried by Sentinel-1 has demonstrated its ability to retrieve soil characteristics over vegetation-covered surfaces [35–42]. The Sentinel-1 data can either be used to retrieve soil moisture or for downscaling SMOS or SMAP soil moisture. By using active and passive microwave data fusion method [43], it could be possible to retrieve soil moisture at a higher accuracy.

Radar remote sensing measurements of bare soil are very sensitive to the surface-layer water content, due to a pronounced increase in the dielectric constant of the soil with increasing water content [43]. In the last twenty years, different empirical, semi- empirical and physical models have been proposed for the retrieval of soil moisture from various sources of SAR data (ERS, RADARSAT, ENVISAT, TerraSAR-X, etc.). At the field scale, inversion models often take into account the effects of roughness and vegetation, due to their significant influence on radar signals. The most widely used techniques for the retrieval of soil moisture from SAR data include the Neural Network (NN) approach [17,44–54], the Water Cloud Model (WCM) [39,41,55–59], and the Change Detection method (CD) [11,60–69].

The artificial NN technique involves nonlinear parameterized mapping from an input vector to an output vector [70,71]. Santi et al. [46] reported retrieved soil moisture measurements derived from ENVISAT/ASAR data, using an artificial neural network (ANN) technique. The neural network was trained using satellite backscattering coefficients and soil parameters measured during simultaneous ground-truth campaigns, characterized by an RMSE of 0.023 m<sup>3</sup>/m<sup>3</sup>. Baghdadi et al. [52] retrieved soil moisture values from C-band SAR data using the NN technique, with an RMSE close to 0.098 m<sup>3</sup>/m<sup>3</sup> in the absence of a priori information related to the soil parameters, and an RMSE of 0.065 m<sup>3</sup>/m<sup>3</sup> when a priori soil moisture data obtained over bare agricultural areas was included in the analysis.

The Water Cloud Model (WCM) approach can be used over densely vegetated areas, since it relates the backscattering coefficient to soil moisture content and the presence of vegetation. He et al. [57] estimated the soil moisture of an alpine grassland area, using the Integral Equation Method (IEM) and the modified Water Cloud Model (WCM), leading to  $R^2 = 0.71$  and RMSE =  $0.0332 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3$ . Two-thirds of the data points derived from field surveys were used to parameterize the backscattering model, and the remainder were used for validation. Zribi et al. [41] estimated soil moisture values from C-band ASAR data using the WCM, leading to an RMSE of approximately  $0.06 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3$  over a semi-arid region. Typical input vegetation parameters include the albedo of the vegetation and the attenuation factor, both of which are difficult to define. Laboratory-based measurements of the vegetation water content can be used when a high level of accuracy is required [72].

When multi-temporal SAR data is available, the Change Detection (CD) approach can be advantageously used, in the absence of prior knowledge of the study area. Zribi et al. [68] mapped soil moisture in a semi-arid region using ASAR/Wide Swath satellite data, based on the CD approach, with an RMSE equal to 0.13 (approximately 0.035 m<sup>3</sup>/m<sup>3</sup> as volumetric moisture) over a semi-arid

region®开和97app1%%ch makes the assumption that changes in vegetation and soil roughness haveb和y

a minor influence on variations in backscattering coefficient, which are dominated mainly by changes in the value of soil mosture [73]

in the value of soil moisture [73]. in the value of soil moisture [73] In the present paper, two simple CD methodologies are applied, without field calibrations, and In the present paper, two simple CD methodologies are applied, without field calibrations, and validated over an area characterized by a dense vegetation cover (irrigated crop fields). The soil walidated over an area characterized by a dense vegetation cover (irrigated crop fields). The soil moisture is retrieved from the synergetic interpretation of Sentinel-1 and Sentinel-2 data. The mean soil moisture is retrieved from the synergetic interpretation of Sentinel-1 and Sentinel-2 data. The mean soil moisture is computed with a resolution of 100 m, which is compatible with agricultural applications. Soil moisture is computed with a resolution of 100 m, which is compatible with agricultural applications. Soil moisture is computed with a resolution of 100 m, the soil moisture is estimated a lower resolution applications. Despite S1 spatial resolution being around 10 m, the soil moisture is estimated a lower (100 m) in order to decrease uncertainties caused by different types of heterogeneities in agricultural fields such as local shares in to decrease uncertainties caused by different types of heterogeneities in agricultural fields such as local shares in to decrease the observation of vegetations of vegetation, whereas the abservation and the antistice strate fulloperiod differences with a strength of the decrease with a difference the observation and the antistice strate full operiod differences with a strength of the differences with the resolution of the applications and acquisitions days velocitation advection of backseanthering differences with the advection differences with a difference with a difference with the advection of the differences with a difference backseanthering the abservation of the differences with a difference backseanthering the abservation of the differences with a difference backseanthering bitted adifferences

Ouppapers ingrazized solutions: in Section 2, the studied site and ditables on presented. Section 2 presents our validation of the type of type of the type of type of

#### 2. Stusty syteita and Ratabase

#### 2.1.2StudtudytSite

The The atyake a reavery area very a 20 k AP also a reavery and cined and the real of the

The average annual temperature lies between 13 and 14 °C for most of the region, where winter temperatures are low and the summer climate is rather warm, with frequent cool nights. The average vearly rainfall is less than 500 mm for most of the region, with the winters having low rainfalls, and the summers being very dry.



Figureztustustarea inalized annua (2020 Rux 200 km) with ground measurements (and we stars).

### 4.5. PUBLISHED PAPER

Sensors 2017, 17, 1966

4 of 21

More than 80% of the Urgell area is cultivated and there is very little natural vegetation, except in the mountainous areas towards the northern and southern extremities of the region. The most common crops are corn, fruit trees, wheat and alfalfa. In the mountains, the natural vegetation consists of oak forests.

An old irrigated district located in this region has an open channel (built in 1862) transporting water towards the agricultural fields, thus allowing the vegetation to flourish in this specific area. Although the land surrounding the irrigated area is much drier, and a new irrigation network is being developed to augment the coverage of the old irrigation system, its influence is not yet visible on satellite imagery. The locations of two demonstration fields (inside the new irrigation area, at Foradada and Agramunt) are shown in Figure 1.

#### 2.2. Database

#### 2.2.1. Ground Measurements

In-situ soil moisture measurements were acquired continuously (5 min sampling frequency) over a period of several months, in two demonstration fields belonging to the new irrigation district: Foradada and Agramunt (Figure 1). Each measurement point was analyzed at different depths. The precipitation data comes from the nearest meteorological station to the demonstration field. For Foradada field, the Baldomar station, which is about 6 km away, is taken, while for Agramunt field, the Tornabous station, which is about 11 km, is considered. Table 1 lists the measured soil moisture and texture characteristics of the two test fields.

<b>Table 1.</b> Ground soil moisture measurements in two demonstration fields at Foradada	and Agramunt.
---	---------------

Site	Foradada	Agramunt
Coordinates	41.866° N, 1.015° E	41.782° N, 1.089° E
At soil depths in cm	3, 9, 10, 20	5, 10, 20, 40
Devied of ensured an exercise on to	May–August 2015	June–October 2015
Period of ground measurements	February–October 2016	July–November 2016
Sand, silt, clay in %	41.5, 42.3, 16.2	52.1, 35.3, 12.6
Irrigation method	Sprinklers	Subsurface drippers
Surface soil moisture (min, max) in m <sup>3</sup> /m <sup>3</sup>	(0.08, 0.45)	(0.04, 0.28)
Meteorological station	Baldomar station	Tornabous station

#### 2.2.2. Satellite Data

#### (1) Sentinel-1 data

The Sentinel-1 satellites are equipped with C-band Synthetic Aperture Radar (SAR) instruments, providing data in dual or single polarizations. Sentinel-1 provides data with a spatial resolution of 10 m and a temporal resolution of 12 days, in both VV and VH polarizations. In the present study, signals recorded in the VV polarization were used to compute the soil moisture estimations. Only one ground track (110) was considered, for which the incidence angle was approximately 40.3°. Previous studies have shown that VH data has only a limited potential for the estimation of soil moisture, in particular as a consequence of its high sensitivity to volume scattering, which depends strongly on the geometrical alignment and characteristics of the vegetation [75–77]. The Sentinel-1 satellite database corresponds to the period from July 2015 to November 2016 (Table 2). All of the Sentinel-1 data was pre-processed using the Sentinel-1 Toolbox, in three steps:

- Thermal noise removal
- Radiometric calibration
- Terrain correction using SRTM DEM at 30 m.

The last step is needed to average the data over 100 m pixels or cells. As discussed above, the methodologies proposed in this study were developed on the basis of this spatial resolution, which also has the advantage of eliminating speckle effects in the radar data.

Sensors	2017

7, 17, 1966 Sensors 2017, 17, 1966 5 of 21 5 of 21

Table 2	Sentinel-1	database.
---------	------------	-----------

Date	Date	Date	Date	Date	Date
16 July 2015	-13 Nov. 2015	-05 Feb, 2016			<del>26 Oct. 2</del> 016
16 July 2015 28 July 2015 1000000000000000000000000000000000000	25 Nov 2015 25 Nov 2015	$17_{1}^{05}$ Eeb 2016	29 Apr. 2016 11 May 2016	$^{03}$ Aug. 2016 15 Aug. 2016 15 Aug. 2016	6 Oct 2016 7 Nov 2016
09 Appg 2015	$07 \frac{1}{1000} \frac{1}{1$	2925ebb2916	23 May 2010	$272\sqrt{13}$ Aug. 2016 1 $272\sqrt{14}$ $272\sqrt{14}$	9 Nov. 2018 9 Nov. 2016
21AugA2Q15015	19 Dede201615	1212/Matar200166	<b>04</b> June 2 <b>2</b> 066	08 98 pie 2012016	-
02 Sept Sept 3015	31 DePe204915	24211Afar28916	<b>28 June 2006</b> 6	20 2019e 2012016	-
14 Sept. 2015	$12  an 2016^{-12}$	05 <sup>05</sup> Apr 2016	10 July 2016	<sup>02</sup> 02 6 2012 016	-
26 Sept.2015 26 Sept.2015	24 Jan. 2016 <u>24 Jan. 2016</u>	17 Apr. 2016 17 Apr. 2016	22 July 2016 22 July 2016	14 Oct. 2016 14 Oct. 2016	-

#### Sentinel-2 data (2)

The Sentinel-2A satellite was launched in June 2015, and was followed by Sentinel-2B in March 2017. It is a wide-swath, high-resolution, multi-spectral imaging mission, and is designed to provide 2017. It is a wide-swath, high-resolution, multi-spectral imaging mission, and is designed to provide 2017. It is a wide-swath, high-resolution, multi-spectral imaging mission, and is designed to provide 2017. It is a wide-swath, high-resolution, multi-spectral imaging mission, and is designed to provide 2017. It is a wide-swath high-resolution, multi-spectral imaging mission, and is designed to provide 2017. It is a wide-swath high-resolution, multi-spectral imaging mission, and is designed to provide 2018. The Sentinel-2 database corresponds to the period from July 2015 to November 2016 (Table 3). The Sentinel-2 data corresponds to images recorded in 13 spectral bands, with a spatial resolution of 10 m. In the present study, band 4 (Red) and 8 (NIR) are used to calculate the NDVI: and band 8 (NIR) are used to calculate the NDVI:

$$NRV_{F} = \frac{(NR - Reged)}{(NR + Reged)}$$
(1)

Band "QA60", which is a bit-mask band containing cloud mask information, is applied in order to remove a sea so covered by by out outing this 2 is a NDN NHDY before stild unstand or a peaked in open feet time h Selationer 201 det 1990 2020 August 201 Strant 201 Strant triand by enzych by mich of the second s tes Atha Leven and the second and the se

- The first of these corresponds to dry (non-irrigated) land, revealing an NBVI excle that occurs between April and July, with a low NDVI for the remaining periods of the year. This trend is confirmed for all of the pixels observed at this location.
- The second site corresponds to an irrigated area, which is characterized by a broad range of the second site corresponds to an irrigated area, which is characterized by a broad range of spatial and temporal variations in NDVI.



**Figure 2.** Sentinel-2 NDVI map in the study area (**left**), NDVI time series for the dry land site **Figure 2.** Sentinel-2 NDVI map in the study area (**left**), NDVI time series for the dry land site (**upper right**), and NDVI time series for the site in the old irrigated area (**lower right**). **right**). **right**) and NDVI time series for the site in the old irrigated area (**lower right**).

## 4.5. PUBLISHED PAPER

Sensors 2017, 17, 1966

6 of 21

Date	Date	Date	Date	Date
21 Oct. 2015	19 Mar. 2016	21 May 2016	30 July 2016	28 Sept. 2016
20 Nov. 2015	22 Mar. 2016	28 May 2016	06 Aug. 2016	05 Oct. 2016
30 Nov. 2015	29 Mar. 2016	07 June 2016	09 Aug. 2016	15 Oct. 2016
03 Dec. 2015	01 Apr. 2016	10 June 2016	16 Aug. 2016	18 Oct. 2016
23 Dec. 2015	08 Apr. 2016	20 June 2016	19 Aug. 2016	25 Oct. 2016
30 Dec. 2015	11 Apr. 2016	27 June 2016	26 Aug. 2016	28 Oct. 2016
12 Jan. 2016	18 Apr. 2016	30 June 2016	29 Aug. 2016	04 Nov. 2016
19 Jan. 2016	28 Apr. 2016	07 July 2016	05 Sept. 2016	07 Nov. 2016
29 Jan. 2016	01 May 2016	10 July 2016	08 Sept. 2016	14 Nov. 2016
18 Feb. 2016	08 May 2016	17 July 2016	15 Sept. 2016	17 Nov. 2016
09 Mar. 2016	11 May 2016	20 July 2016	18 Sept. 2016	24 Nov. 2016
12 Mar. 2016	18 May 2016	27 July 2016	25 Sept. 2016	27 Nov. 2016
	Date 21 Oct. 2015 20 Nov. 2015 30 Nov. 2015 03 Dec. 2015 23 Dec. 2015 30 Dec. 2015 12 Jan. 2016 19 Jan. 2016 29 Jan. 2016 18 Feb. 2016 09 Mar. 2016 12 Mar. 2016	Date         Date           21 Oct. 2015         19 Mar. 2016           20 Nov. 2015         22 Mar. 2016           30 Nov. 2015         29 Mar. 2016           03 Dec. 2015         01 Apr. 2016           23 Dec. 2015         08 Apr. 2016           30 Dec. 2015         11 Apr. 2016           12 Jan. 2016         18 Apr. 2016           29 Jan. 2016         01 May 2016           18 Feb. 2016         08 May 2016           09 Mar. 2016         11 May 2016           12 Mar. 2016         18 May 2016	DateDateDate21 Oct. 201519 Mar. 201621 May 201620 Nov. 201522 Mar. 201628 May 201630 Nov. 201529 Mar. 201607 June 201603 Dec. 201501 Apr. 201610 June 201623 Dec. 201508 Apr. 201620 June 201630 Dec. 201511 Apr. 201627 June 201612 Jan. 201618 Apr. 201630 June 201629 Jan. 201601 May 201610 July 201618 Feb. 201608 May 201617 July 201609 Mar. 201611 May 201620 July 201612 Mar. 201618 May 201627 July 2016	DateDateDateDate21 Oct. 201519 Mar. 201621 May 201630 July 201620 Nov. 201522 Mar. 201628 May 201606 Aug. 201630 Nov. 201529 Mar. 201607 June 201609 Aug. 201603 Dec. 201501 Apr. 201610 June 201616 Aug. 201623 Dec. 201501 Apr. 201620 June 201619 Aug. 201630 Dec. 201511 Apr. 201627 June 201626 Aug. 201612 Jan. 201618 Apr. 201630 June 201629 Aug. 201619 Jan. 201628 Apr. 201607 July 201605 Sept. 201629 Jan. 201601 May 201610 July 201608 Sept. 201618 Feb. 201608 May 201617 July 201618 Sept. 201609 Mar. 201611 May 201620 July 201618 Sept. 201612 Mar. 201618 May 201627 July 201625 Sept. 2016

Table 3. Sentinel-2 database.

In order to develop suitable soil moisture algorithms, a mask is used to remove high density vegetation areas with an NDVI > 0.8, corresponding to forests that are not encountered in the agricultural pixels, and low density vegetation areas with an NDVI < 0.1, corresponding to water surfaces.

### 3. Proposed Methodologies

### 3.1. Method 1 Description

The first method involves retrieval of soil moisture using the radar signal CD technique. This approach to soil water content estimations has already been applied to data recorded by the ERS Scatterometer over West Africa [15]. In the present study, this method was adapted to the characteristics of the Sentinel-1 observations, and the inversion algorithm was optimized to take advantage of the high repeat rate of this data. The radar signals backscattered by the surface can be modeled as the sum of the radar signals scattered by the bare soil and attenuated by vegetation effects, and the signals scattered by the vegetation cover. These two contributions can be expressed as:

$$\sigma_{\rm cover}^0 = \sigma_{\rm veg}^0 + \gamma^2(\theta)\sigma_{\rm soil}^0 \tag{2}$$

where  $\gamma^2(\theta) = \exp[-2\tau/\cos(\theta)]$  is the two-way vegetation canopy transmissivity,  $\theta$  is the incidence angle and  $\tau$  is the optical thickness parameter that depends on the type of geometrical structure and vegetation water content of the canopy [79].

Temporal variations in soil moisture can be directly related to the dynamics of the radar signal. When radar signals are considered for the same  $100 \times 100$  m cell, and for approximately the same NDVI index, the roughness effect can be considerably reduced by computing the difference between two radar signals recorded at two dates.

For a given NDVI (retrieved from S2 data), by taking all of the corresponding radar data into account, the minimum value of  $\sigma^0$ , corresponding to the driest signal, can be determined for each cell. The radar signal difference for a given cell (i,j), between one radar signal at date d and the driest signal, can be written as follows:

$$\Delta \sigma_{(i,j)}^{\text{NDVI}} = \sigma_{(i,j),\text{NDVI}}^{0}(d) - \sigma_{\text{dry},(i,j),\text{NDVI}}^{0} = H_{(i,j)}(\text{NDVI}, \text{Mv})$$
(3)

where  $\sigma^0_{(i,j),NDVI}(d)$  is the backscattered signal from cell (i,j) at date d, with the corresponding NDVI computed from the (S2) optical images;  $\sigma^0_{dry,(i,j),NDVI}$  is the lowest backscattered signal, corresponding to the driest conditions, and computed using the S1 time-series using the same NDVI as for the data recorded on date d ( $\sigma^0_{(i,j),NDVI}(d)$ ), and  $H_{(i,j)}(NDVI, Mv)$  is a function of the NDVI and soil moisture Mv in cell (i,j).
(5)

As our radar database covers a period of only 1.5 years (due to the later launch date of the Sentinel-2 satellite, i.e., June 2015), it was not possible to retrieve this relationship for each value of NDVI. We thus consider NDVI classes for the computation of  $\sigma^0_{dry,(i,j),NDVI'}$  using intervals of 0.1 (0.1–0.2, 0.2–0.3, 0.3–0.4, etc.). In the present case, the NDVI over the studied agricultural site ranges between a minimum of 0.1 and a maximum of 0.8.

Various craft in entry of the second surfaces. For a given route the second surfaces. For a given route the second surfaces and the second surfaces of the second surfaces.

Sentinel-2 satellite, i.e., June 2015), it was not possible to retrieve this relationship for each value of

NDVI. We thus consider NDVI classed for the computation of  $\sigma^0_{dry, 0,j, NDW}$ , using intervals of 0.1 (0.1– 0.2, 0.2–0.3, 0.3–0.4, etc.). In the present case, the *NDVI* over the studied agricultural site ranges (4)

between a minimum of 0.1 and a maximum of 0.8. where  $\Delta Mv$  is the change in soil moisture between the date d and the date when the soil was at its driest. The parameter of depends on the MUV [19,80], in the case of bare soils and vegetation-covered

When the ADPVI ingreases the moisturge construction of the signal can be expected to decrease [22,81], as shown in Figure 3. This means that the difference between surface backscattering at a given date d,  $\Delta \sigma^{M} = \alpha (NDV) \Delta M$  and that observed on the driest date, decreases as a function of NDVI.

The strong estivation ac invisiture is and the track contract of the second and the theory of the second contract of the second contract

[22,81], as shown in Figure 3. This means that the difference between surface backscattering at a given date d, and that observed on the difference, decrease as a function of NDVI.

The strongest variation in moisture, AMV, corresponding to the difference between the driest Under the (MVmm) if on for the which Att My is defined with a maximum variation in backscattered signal (for a fixed value of NDVI), can be written as:

$$\Delta M v_{max} = M v_{max} - M v_{min}$$
(5)

Under the condition  $M_{Max} = \pi M_{Max} + \pi M_{Max}$ 

The predicted values of backscattered signab difference (comesponding to S1 data, are shown as a function of NDVI in Figure 4. The backscattering difference calculations were carried out for all cells The predicted values of backscattered signal difference, corresponding to S1 data, are shown as a function of All S1 acquisition dates (over a period of approximately two years) were carried out for all

 $\Delta \sigma_{max}^{NDVI}$  in Figure 4. The backseattering difference carculators we  $\Delta \sigma_{max}^{NDVI}$  and the accurate the backseattering difference carculators we have a set of the backseattering difference carculators we

$$\Delta \sigma_{\max}^{\text{NDVI}} \text{ is modeled as [15];} \Delta \sigma_{\max}^{\text{NDVI}} = f(\text{NDVI}) = a \text{ NDVI} + \Delta \sigma_{\max}^{\text{bare}}$$

$$\Delta \sigma_{\max}^{\text{NDVI}} = f(\text{NDVI}) = a \text{ NDVI} + \Delta \sigma_{\max}^{\text{bare}}$$
(7)

When NDVI = 0,  $A\sigma^{NDVI} = M\sigma^{A\sigma} \sigma^{bare}$ , which corresponds to the maximum value of backscattering difference under the driest, barg-soil conditions.

In order to minimize the influence of robse when satimating (16/14) Alore each sale ted value of NDVI, NO & Chuden the HEDBEL % of the corresponding walves at radar signal difference, as well as all data points blacking is gadatasignal lower than 5-dB. SidB, this carthese vane know portocovers pond to water [46, 194] (Higtiger 1).



Figure 3. Illustration of the relationship between NDVI and Mv used in method 1.

Sensors 2017, **Trigume 3.** Illustration of the relationship between NDVI and Mv used in method 1. 8 of 21



FigFigeus Authurstion of the processes of radius right and the second and the second and the second second

The soil moisture for each pixel can thus be retrieved using the following function: The soil moisture for each pixel can thus be retrieved using the following function:

$$Mv(i, j, \textbf{W}, \textbf$$

SMOS low-resolution moisture products (SMOS Level 3 daily product), corresponding to the sMOS low-resolution moisture products (SMOS Level 3 daily product), corresponding to the two-year period of S1 acquisitions, were used to estimate  $Mv_{max}$  and  $Mv_{min}$ , since the ground measurements were recorded for a limited period of time. The mean-S1 radar Signal is estimated over measurements were recorded for a limited period of time. The mean-S1 radar Signal is estimated over a SMOS pixel (the km x40 the signal for the two-year period of S1 acquisitions, were used to estimate  $Mv_{max}$  and  $Mv_{min}$ , since the ground measurements were recorded for a limited period of time. The mean-S1 radar Signal is estimated over a symptometry of the signal for the formation of the signal formation of S1 acquisitions, were used to estimate  $Mv_{max}$  and  $Mv_{min}$ , since the ground measurements were recorded for a limited period of time. The mean-S1 radar Signal is estimated over a symptometry of the signal for a limited period of time. The mean-S1 radar signal is estimated over a symptometry of the symptometry of the signal formation of the signal for

<sup>8 of 21</sup> 57

Sensors **2017**, 17, 1966 Sensors **2017**, 17, 1966



Figure 5. Mean S1 radian signal as a function of the SMOS soil moisture computed over a single SMOS pixel (40 km  $\times$ 440km)). The radian signal betweeter logy and soil moisture levels of (0.322m<sup>3</sup>/m<sup>3</sup>.

## 3.2. Method 2 Description

A second change detection approach is proposed in this paper. This is based on the difference in backscatteredisisgalar breacted on two consecutive developed for the difference the teneditional thents much change that get the genater is search by well such that characterian of the reast on value of the subsequence and constance to the change in soil moisture [24].

When the value of the NDVI increases, the radar signals' sensitivity to temporal variations in moisture decreases. This means that the above of the State day nigentic difference decreases over over two consecutives, daws intervided that the NDVI increasing and the state decreases were two as the state of the state o

$$\delta \sigma_{\text{maxax}}^{\text{NDAVI}} = g(\text{NDAVI})$$

Figure 7 shows the difference in radar signal between two consecutive dates, as a function of NDVI, for all cells (i,j) and all NDVI levels at the Urgell site. The radar signal difference (negative or positive) between two adjacent days decreases in absolute value, when the NDVI increases. The negative or positive radar signal differences, resulting from respectively increasing or decreasing values of soil moisture, can be seen to follow a symmetrical, linear pattern.

9 of 21 9 of 21



Figure 7 shows the difference in radar signal between two consecutive dates, as a function of NDVI, for all cells (i) and all NDVI levels at the Urgell site. The radar signal difference (negative or positive) between two adjacent days decreases in absolute value, when the NDVI increases. The negative or positive radar signal differences, resulting from respectively increasing or decreasing values of soil moisture, can be see Figure 100 Mit for method 2.



**Figure 77.** Illustration of the ration sign of (fiperice (dB)) computed for two consecutive dates, as a function of NDMI over the two ends on the hypoint corresponds to a single sell((ij)). For each value of NDMI, the green points indicate the upper decile of the corresponding differences in relating as la

In the case of the maximum value of soil nois the charges pay your the function g can be written as:

$$\delta \sigma_{\max}^{\text{NIDM}} \bar{g}(\mathbf{NDW}) \stackrel{\text{NDW}}{=} \delta N B V I^+ \delta g_{\max}^{\text{bare}}$$

Figure 7. Illustration of the radar signal difference (dB) computed for two consecutive dates, as a where Some is the maximum radar signal difference between two consecutive measurements where we have instruction of the maximum radar signal difference between two consecutive measurements where we have instructed as a signal difference between two consecutive measurements where we have instructed as a signal difference between two consecutive measurements where we have instructed as a signal difference between two consecutive measurements where we have instructed as a signal difference between two consecutive measurements where we have the maximum radar signal difference between two consecutive measurements where the between two consecutive measurements where the bare signal difference between two consecutive measurements where the bare signal difference between two consecutive measurements where the bare signal difference between two consecutive measurements where the bare signal difference between two consecutive measurements where the bare signal difference between two consecutive measurements where the bare signal difference between two consecutive measurements between twe consecutive measurements between two

In the case of the maximum value of soil moisture change  $\delta M v_{max}$ , the function g can be written as:

$$\delta \sigma_{\max}^{\text{NDVI}} = g(\text{NDVI}) = b \text{ NDVI} + \delta \sigma_{\max}^{\text{bare}}$$
 (9)

where  $\delta \sigma_{max}^{bare}$  is the maximum radar signal difference between two consecutive measurements over bare soil, associated with the highest value of moisture change.

Sensors 2017, 17, 1966

11 of 21

When the NDVI is equal to zero,  $\delta \sigma_{max}^{NDVI}$  is equal to  $\delta \sigma_{max}^{bare}$ , where b is the slope of the empirical function g. This describes the decrease in radar signal sensitivity to soil moisture. We observe an approximately symmetrical result in the computed values for the upper and lower limits. This is due to the fact that for a given value of mean soil moisture, a very similar behavior results from either a decrease or an increase in soil moisture, as these are linearly related to the radar signal.

In order to minimize the influence of noise arising from rare events, when estimating the function g(NDVI), for each selected value of NDVI we exclude the upper 1% of the corresponding values.

For a given NDVI, the backscatter difference  $\delta\sigma(t_1, t_2)$ , with  $t_1$  and  $t_2$  being adjacent S1 acquisition dates, is assumed to be linearly correlated with the soil moisture difference. The soil moisture difference  $\delta Mv(t_1, t_2)$  for each cell (i,j), between successive acquisition dates  $t_1$  and  $t_2$ , can be retrieved using the following function:

$$Mv(i, j, t_1) = H(\delta\sigma(t_1, t_2)) + Mv(i, j, t_1)$$
(10)

where H is equal to:

$$H(\delta\sigma(t,t+1)) = \frac{\delta\sigma_{NDVI}}{g(NDVI)}(\delta Mv_{max})$$

From the ground measurement statistics, the maximum soil moisture difference between two adjacent dates of Sentinel-1 data,  $\delta Mv_{max}$ , is assumed to be equal to 0.15 m<sup>3</sup>/m<sup>3</sup>.

From a starting date  $t_1$ , which in the present case is a date corresponding to a ground measurement, an iterative calculation is used to determine the soil moisture for the following dates  $t_1$ ,  $t_2$ ,  $t_3$ , ... :

.....

$$\begin{split} Mv(i, j, t_2) &= Mv(i, j, t_1) + H(\delta\sigma(t_1, t_2)) \\ Mv(i, j, t_3) &= Mv(i, j, t_2) + H(\delta\sigma(t_2, t_3)) \end{split}$$
(11)

## 4. Results and Discussion

#### 4.1. Results

Using ground measurements recorded in the Foradada field from May to August 2015, and from February to October 2016, and in the Agramunt field from May to October 2015, and from July to November 2016, the values of retrieved soil moisture were validated with Sentinel-1 data, using the two approaches described in the previous section. We compare the satellite estimations with surface moisture measurements obtained at a depth of 3 cm in the Foradada field, and at a depth of 5 cm in the Agramunt field.

### 4.1.1. Method 1 Validation with Ground Measurements

Figure 8 compares the ground measurements with the values of soil moisture modeled using method 1. The Root Mean Square (RMS) error in volumetric soil moisture is  $0.087 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3$ , with a bias of approximately  $0.026 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3$ . For Agramunt field, the RMSE is  $0.074 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3$ , with a bias of  $-0.019 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3$  and for Foradada field, the RMSE is  $0.095 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3$ , with a bias of  $0.057 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3$ . The RMSE can be estimated more reliably by defining an unbiased RMSE [83]:

$$ubRMSE = \sqrt{E\{[(Mv_{retrieved} - E[Mv_{retrieved}]) - (Mv_{insitu} - E[Mv_{insitu}])]^2\}}$$
(12)

where  $E[\cdot]$  is the expectation operator. The unbiased RMSE corresponding to the first method is  $0.083 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3$ , which is equal to  $0.071 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3$  for Agramunt field, and to  $0.076 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3$  for Foradada field.

Sensors 2017, 17, 1966 4.5: PBLISHED PAPER where  $E[\cdot]$  is the expectation operator. The unbiased RMSE corresponding to the first method is 0.083

vAnyraPKAhkahasexpestationoperplan: Anexynainandu RMAE sanurspoording/muharinstanahuva shi?0831 m3/m31tvahicbeiseenveltertheEtrorstradeforaAstranonyhtighenand tasko76troghmdfortErradade. fitte is due

to plicambe seen that the errors are particularly his hin the case of his hmonisture levels. This is due to The can be seen that the errors are particularly fight in the case of high moisture levels. This is to be active the control of the control o Acquisitions from the Sit time series. This can be expected to improve campration of the function : Figure a comparise the solutions with the ground noasternent plana condition of the function of The solution of the solutions with the ground measurements, as a function of the the solutions with the ground for the solutions with the ground measurements, as a function of the There is a function of the solution of the solution of the ground measurements as a function of the the solution of the solution of the solution of the solution of the ground measurements of the function of the the solution of the the solution of the the solution of the



**Figure 8.** Intercomparison between ground measurements and S1 moisture estimations based on **Figure 8.** Intercomparison between ground measurements and S1 moisture estimations based on **Figure 8.** Intercomparison between ground measurements and S1 moisture estimations based on **method 1**, for the case of two demonstration fields, at Agramunt and Foradada. method 1, for the case of two demonstration fields, at Agramunt and Foradada.







13 of 21 13 of 21



(b) Temporal variations at Foradada site

Figure 9: Femporal variations in ground measurements and S1 estimations of soil moisture at the Agramunt site (a) and Foradada site (b):

#### 4.1.2. Method 2 Validation with Ground Measurements 4.1.2. Method 2 Validation with Ground Measurements



Figure 10: Antecomparison between ground measurements in the two demonstration dolds of Agramunt and Foradada and S1 moisture estimations based on method 2:

Sensors 2017, 17, 1966 Sensors 2017, 17, 1966





(a) Temporal variations at Agramunt site



(b) Temporal variations at Foradada site



- 4.2. Discussion
- 4.2. Discussion

The soil moisture at two study sites has been computed and mapped, using Equations (5)–(11) and the pirovietures of the states o

date 2 september 2015 A dimeted difference is illustrated for the tender to dare to entry 2015 and date 2 september 2015. A difference of the transformed to the tran

64 Sensors 2017, 17, 1966

CHAPTER 4. SOIL MOISTURE RETRIEVAL



(c) MFibude 212. Reuser 2015) moisture maps obtained d) Mgthad 2012 September 2015)



Higguree 122. Rettrie veeds soil moisture maps sold tained lussing methods s11 and 22.

**Figure 13**. Difference of soil moisture retrieved by method 2 and 1 for data 1 (21 August 2015) and **Figure 13**(a) **Date 2012** September 2015). and the 2 (2 September 2015). Gate 2 (2 September 2015). **Figure 13**. Difference of soil moisture retrieved by method 2 and 1 for date 1 (21 August 2015) and the september 2015).

**Figure 13.** Difference of soil moisture retrieved by method 2 and 1 for date 1 (21 August 2015) and date 2 (2 September 2015).

sensor 2617717719866



Figure 14. RMS between methods 1 and 2, as a function of NDVI for date 21 August 2015 (a) and date Figure 14. RMS between methods 1 and 2, as a function of NDVI for date 21 August 2015 (a) and date 2<sup>2</sup>September 2015 (b). 2 September 2015 (b).

# 5. Conclusions 5. Conclusions

5. Conclusions
5. Conclusions
Section 2010 and 100 an

Acknowledgments: This study is part of the REC project partially funded by the European Commission Horizon Azdzoowladzmentski Friesetuczi i na ni wich a REG 1920201 po ni oliv fue dedi bu cha Eucopia o wa kaje za o na v 2020 Programme for Research and Input vation (H2020) in the context of the Masie Skindowska Aurier Researchs and Innovation Staff Exchange (RISE) action under grant agreement No. 645642 and TOSCA/CNES ASCAS projects. The authors wish to thank the technical teams for their support and contributions to the successful

ground campaigns.

168P271

projects. The authors wish to thank the technical teams for their support and contributions to the successful ground campaigns.

**Author Contributions:** Q.G. and M.Z. conceived, designed and implemented the research. Q.G. performed the processing and drafted the manuscript. M.J.E. and N.B. provided suggestions and revised the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

#### References

- 1. Aubert, D.; Loumagne, C.; Oudin, L. Sequential assimilation of soil moisture and streamflow data in a conceptual rainfall-runoff model. *J. Hydrol.* **2003**, *280*, 145–161. [CrossRef]
- Wagner, W.; Bloeschl, G.; Pamaloni, P.; Calvet, J. Operational readiness of microwave romote sensing of soil moisture for hydrologic applications. *Nord. Hydrol.* 2007, 38, 1–20. [CrossRef]
- Cook, B.I.; Bonan, G.B.; Levis, S. Soil moisture feedbacks to precipitation in Southern Africa. J. Clim. 2006, 19, 4198–4206. [CrossRef]
- Bezerra, B.G.; Santos, C.A.C.; Silva, B.B.; Perez-Marin, A.M.; Bezerra, M.V.C.; Berzerra, J.R.C.; Rao, T.V.R. Estimation of soil moisture in the root-zone from remote sensing data. *Rev. Bras. Cienc. Solo* 2013, 37, 596–603. [CrossRef]
- Pratola, C.; Barrett, B.; Gruber, A.; Dwyer, E. Quality Assessment of the CCI ECV Soil Moisture Product Using ENVISAT ASAR Wide Swath Data over Spain, Ireland and Finland. *Remote Sens.* 2015, 7, 15388–15423. [CrossRef]
- Barrett, B.; Petropoulos, G.P. Satellite Remote Sensing of Surface Soil Moisture. In *Remote Sensing of Energy Fluxes and Soil Moisture Content*; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, USA, 2013; pp. 85–120, ISBN 978-1-4665-0578-0.
- 7. Petropoulos, G.P.; Ireland, G.; Barrett, B. Surface soil moisture retrievals from remote sensing: Current status, products and future trends. *Phys. Chem. Earth* **2015**, *83*, 36–56. [CrossRef]
- Zhuo, L.; Han, D. The relevance of soil moisture by remote sensing and hydrological modelling. *Procedia Eng.* 2016, 154, 1368–1375. [CrossRef]
- Alexandridis, T.K.; Cherif, I.; Bilas, G.; Almeida, W.G.; Hartanto, I.M.; van Andel, S.J.; Araujo, A. Spatial and Temporal Distribution of Soil Moisture at the Catchment Scale Using Remotely-Sensed Energy Fluxes. *Water* 2016, *8*, 32. [CrossRef]
- 10. Wagner, W.; Lemoine, G.; Rott, H. A method for estimating soil moisture from ERS Scatterometer and soil data. *Remote Sens. Environ.* **1999**, *70*, 191–207. [CrossRef]
- Al Bitar, A.; Kerr, Y.; Merlin, O.; Cabot, F.; Wigneron, J.P. Global drought index from SMOS soil moisture. In Proceedings of the IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium (IGARSS 2013), Melbourne, Australia, 21–26 July 2013.
- Kerr, Y.; Waldteufel, P.; Richaume, P.; Wigneron, J.; Ferrazzoli, P.; Mahmoodi, A.; Al Bitar, A.; Cabot, F.; Gruhier, C.; Juglea, S.; et al. The SMOS soil moisture retrieval algorithm. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* 2012, 50, 1384–1403. [CrossRef]
- 13. Mecklenburg, S.; Font, J.; Crapolicchio, R. ESA's soil moisture and ocean salinity mission: Mission performance and operations. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* **2012**, *50*, 1354–1366. [CrossRef]
- Entekhabi, D.; Njoku, E.G.; O'Neill, P.E.; Kellogg, K.H.; Crow, W.T.; Edelstein, W.N.; Entin, J.K.; Goodman, S.D.; Jackson, T.J. The soil moisture active passive (SMAP) mission. *Proc. IEEE* 2010, *98*, 704–716. [CrossRef]
- 15. Zribi, M.; Andre, C.; Decharme, B. A method for soil moisture estimation in Western Africa based on the ERS scatterometer. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* **2008**, *46*, 438–448. [CrossRef]
- Gorrab, A.; Zribi, M.; Baghdadi, N.; Mougenot, B.; Chabaane, Z.L. Potential of X-band TerraSAR-X and COSMO-SkyMed SAR data for the assessment of physical soil parameters. *Remote Sens.* 2015, 7, 747–766. [CrossRef]
- 17. Baghdadi, N.; Gaultier, S.; King, C. Retrieving surface roughness and soil moisture from synthetic aperture radar (SAR) data using neural networks. *Can. J. Remote Sens.* **2002**, *28*, 701–711. [CrossRef]
- 18. Zribi, M.; Gorrab, A.; Baghdadi, N. A new soil roughness parameter for the modelling of radar backscattering over bare soil. *Remote Sens. Environ.* **2014**, *152*, 62–73. [CrossRef]

Sensors 2017, 17, 1966

- Srivastava, H.S.; Patel, P.; Sharma, Y.; Navalgund, R.R. Large-area soil moisture estimation using multi-incidence-angle RADARSAT-1 SAR data. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* 2009, 47, 2528–2535. [CrossRef]
- 20. Zribi, M.; Saux-Picart, S.; André, C.; Descroix, L.; Ottle, C.; Kallel, A. Soil moisture mapping based on ASAR/ENVISAT radar data over a Sahelian region. *Int. J. Remote Sens.* **2007**, *28*, 3547–3565. [CrossRef]
- Zribi, M.; Baghdadi, N.; Holah, N.; Fafin, O. New methodology for soil surface moisture estimation and its application to ENVISAT-ASAR multi-incidence data inversion. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 2005, *96*, 485–496. [CrossRef]
- 22. Zribi, M.; Dechambre, M. A new empirical model to retrieve soil moisture and roughness from C-band radar data. *Remote Sens. Environ.* **2003**, *84*, 42–52. [CrossRef]
- El Hajj, M.; Baghdadi, N.; Belaud, G.; Zribi, M.; Cheviron, B.; Courault, D.; Charron, F. Irrigated grassland monitoring using a time series of TerraSAR-X and COSMO-SkyMed X-band SAR data. *Remote Sens.* 2014, 6, 10002–10032. [CrossRef]
- 24. Aubert, M.; Baghdadi, N.N.; Zribi, M.; Ose, K.; El Hajj, M.; Vaudour, E.; Gonzalez-Sosa, E. Toward an operational bare soil moisture mapping using TerraSAR-X data acquired over agricultural areas. *IEEE J. Sel. Top. Appl. Earth Obs. Remote Sens.* **2013**, *6*, 900–916. [CrossRef]
- Baghdadi, N.; Saba, E.; Aubert, M.; Zribi, M.; Baup, F. Evaluation of radar backscattering models IEM, Oh, and Dubois for SAR data in X-band over bare soils. *IEEE Geosci. Remote Sens. Lett.* 2011, *8*, 1160–1164. [CrossRef]
- Baghdadi, N.; Cresson, R.; Pottier, E.; Aubert, M.; Zribi, M.; Jacome, A.; Benabdallah, S. A potential use for the C-band polarimetric SAR parameters to characterize the soil surface over bare agriculture fields. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* 2012, *50*, 3844–3858. [CrossRef]
- 27. Gorrab, A.; Zribi, M.; Baghdadi, N.; Mougenot, B.; Chabaane, Z.L. Retrieval of both Soil Moisture and Texture Using TarraSAR-X Images. *Remote Sens.* **2015**, *7*, 10098–10116. [CrossRef]
- Hegarat-Mascle, L.; Zribi, M.; Alem, F.; Weisse, A.; Loumagne, C. Soil moisture estimation from ERS/SAR data: Toward an operational methodology. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* 2002, 40, 2647–2658. [CrossRef]
- Srivastava, H.S.; Patel, P.; Manchanda, M.L.; Adiga, S. Use of multiincidence angle RADARSAT-1 SAR data to incorporate the effect of surface roughness in soil moisture estimation. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* 2003, 41, 1638–1640. [CrossRef]
- 30. Singh, D. A simplistic incidence angle approach to retrieve the soil moisture and surface roughness at X-band. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* **2005**, *43*, 2606–2611. [CrossRef]
- Anguela, T.P.; Zribi, M.; Baghdadi, N.; Loumagne, C. Analysis of local variation of soil surface parameters with TerraSAR-X radar data over bare agricultural fields. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* 2010, 48, 874–881. [CrossRef]
- Shi, J.; Wang, J.; Hsu, A.Y.; O'Neill, P.E.; Engman, E.T. Estimation of bare surface soil moisture and surface roughness parameter using L-band SAR image data. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* 1997, 35, 1254–1266. [CrossRef]
- Ponnurangam, G.G.; Rao, Y.S. Soil moisture mapping using ALOS PALSAR and ENVISAT ASAR data over India. In Proceedings of the 2011 3rd International Asia-Pacific Conference on Synthetic Aperture Radar (APSAR 2011), Seoul, Korea, 26–30 September 2011.
- 34. Sonobe, R.; Tani, H.; Wang, X.; Fukuda, M. Estimation of soil moisture for bare soil fields using ALOS/PALSAR HH polarization data. *Agric. Inf. Res.* **2008**, *17*, 171–177. [CrossRef]
- 35. Prevot, L.; Champion, I.; Guyot, G. Estimating surface soil moisture and leaf area index of a wheat canopy using a dual-frequency (C and X bands) scatterometer. *Remote Sens. Environ.* **1993**, *46*, 331–339. [CrossRef]
- De Roo, R.D.; Du, Y.; Ulaby, F.T.; Dobson, M.C. A semi-empirical backscattering model at L-band and C-band for a soybean canopy with soil moisture inversion. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* 2001, *39*, 864–872. [CrossRef]
- Sikdar, M.; Cumming, I. A modified empirical model for soil moisture estimation in vegetated areas using SAR data. In Proceedings of the 2004 IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium, Anchorage, AK, USA, 20–24 September 2004.
- Gherboudj, I.; Magagi, R.; Berg, A.A.; Toth, B. Soil moisture retrieval over agricultural fields from multi-polarized and multi-angular RADARSAT-2 SAR data. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 2011, 115, 33–43. [CrossRef]

- Wang, S.G.; Li, X.; Han, X.J.; Jin, R. Estimation of surface soil moisture and roughness from multi-angular ASAR imagery in the Watershed Allied Telemetry Experimental Research (WATER). *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.* 2011, *15*, 1415–1426. [CrossRef]
- 40. Yu, F.; Zhao, Y. A new semi-empirical model for soil moisture content retrieval by ASAR and TM data in vegetation-covered areas. *Sci. Chin. Earth Sci.* **2011**, *54*, 1955–1964. [CrossRef]
- Zribi, M.; Chahbi, A.; Shabou, M.; Lili-Chabaane, Z.; Duchemin, B.; Baghdadi, N.; Amri, R.; Chehbouni, A. Soil surface moisture estimation over a semi-arid region using ENVISAT ASAR radar data for soil evaporation evaluation. *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.* 2011, *15*, 345–358. [CrossRef]
- Yang, G.; Shi, Y.; Zhao, C.; Wang, J. Estimation of soil moisture from multi-polarized SAR data over wheat coverage areas. In Proceedings of the 2012 First International Conference on Agro-Geoinformatics (Agro-Geoinformatics), Shanghai, China, 2–4 August 2012.
- Peng, J.; Loew, A.; Merlin, O.; Verhoest, N. A review of methods for downscaling remotely sensed soil moisture. *Rev. Geophys.* 2017, 55, 341–366. [CrossRef]
- 44. Ulaby, F.T.; Moore, R.K.; Fung, A.K. Pysical mechanisms and empirical models for scattering and emission. *Microw. Remote Sens.* **1982**, *2*, 816–921.
- 45. Sahebi, M.R.; Bonn, F.; Bénié, G.B. Neural networks for the inversion of soil surface parameters from synthetic aperture radar satellite data. *Can. J. Civ. Eng.* **2004**, *31*, 95–108. [CrossRef]
- Santi, E.; Paloscia, S.; Pettinato, S.; Notarnicola, C.; Pasolli, E.; Pistocchi, A. Comparison between SAR Soil Moisture Estimates and Hydrological Model Simulations over the Scrivia Test Site. *Remote Sens.* 2013, 5, 4961–4976. [CrossRef]
- 47. Pham-Duc, B.; Prigent, C.; Aires, F. Surface Water Monitoring within Cambodia and the Vietnamese Mekong Delta over a Year, with Sentinel-1 SAR Observations. *Water* **2017**, *9*, 366. [CrossRef]
- 48. Notarnicola, C.; Angiulli, M.; Posa, F. Soil moisture retrieval from remotely sensed data: Neural network approach versus bayesian method. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* **2008**, *46*, 547–557. [CrossRef]
- Pasquariello, G.; Satalino, G.; Mattia, F.; Casarano, D.; Posa, F.; Souyris, J.C.; Le Toan, T. On the retrieval of soil moisture from SAR data over bare soils. In Proceedings of the IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing (IGARSS 1997), Singapore, 3–8 August 1997; Voulme 3, pp. 1272–1274.
- 50. Baghdadi, N.; El Hajj, M.; Zribi, M.; Fayad, I. Coupling SAR C-band and optical data for soil moisture and leaf area index retrieval over irrigated grasslands. *IEEE JSTARS* **2016**, *9*, 1229–1243. [CrossRef]
- El Hajj, M.; Baghdadi, N.; Zribi, M.; Belaud, G.; Cheviron, B.; Courault, D.; Charron, F. Soil moisture retrieval over irrigated grassland using X-band SAR data. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 2016, 176, 202–218. [CrossRef]
- 52. Baghdadi, N.; Cresson, R.; El Hajj, M.; Ludwig, R.; la Jeunesse, I. Estimation of soil parameters over bare agriculture areas from C-band polarimetric SAR data using neural networks. *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.* 2012, 16, 1607–1621. [CrossRef]
- 53. Santi, E.; Paloscia, S.; Pettinato, S.; Fontanelli, G. Application of artificial neural networks for the soil moisture retrieval from active and passive microwave spaceborne sensors. *Int. J. Appl. Earth Obs. Geoinf.* **2016**, *48*, 61–73. [CrossRef]
- Alexakis, D.D.; Mexis, F.K.; Vozinaki, A.K.; Daliakopoulos, I.N.; Tsanis, I.K. Soil Moisture Content Estimation Based on Sentinel-1 and Auxiliary Earth Observation Products. A Hydrological Approach. *Sensors* 2017, 17, 1455. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 55. Attema, E.W.P.; Ulaby, F.T. Vegetation modelled as a water cloud. Radio Sci. 1978, 13, 357–364. [CrossRef]
- 56. Chai, X.; Zhang, T.; Shao, Y.; Gong, H.; Liu, L.; Xie, K. Modeling and Mapping Soil Moisture of Plateau Pasture Using RADARSAT-2 Imagery. *Remote Sens.* **2015**, *7*, 1279–1299. [CrossRef]
- 57. He, B.; Xing, M.; Bai, X. A Synergistic Methodology for Soil Moisture Estimation in an Alpine Prairie Using Radar and Optical Satellite Data. *Remote Sens.* **2014**, *6*, 10966–10985. [CrossRef]
- 58. Kumar, K.; Suryanarayana Rao, H.P.; Arora, M.K. Study of water cloud model vegetation descriptors in estimating soil moisture in Solani catchment. *Hydrol. Process.* **2015**, *29*, 2137–2148. [CrossRef]
- Bai, X.; He, B.; Li, X.; Zeng, J.; Wang, X.; Wang, Z.; Zeng, Y.; Su, Z. First Assessment of Sentinel-1A Data for Surface Soil Moisture Estimations Using a Coupled Water Cloud Model and Advanced Integral Equation Model over the Tibetan Plateau. *Remote Sens.* 2017, *9*, 714. [CrossRef]
- Thoma, D.P.; Moran, M.S.; Bryant, R.; Rahman, M.; Holifield-Collins, C.D.; Skirvin, S.; Sano, E.E.; Slocum, K. Comparison of four models to determine surface soil moisture from C-band radar imagery in a sparsely vegetated semiarid landscape. *Water Resour. Res.* 2006, *42*, 1–12. [CrossRef]

Sensors 2017, 17, 1966

- Thoma, D.; Moran, M.; Bryant, R.; Collins, C.H.; Rahman, M.; Skirvin, S. Comparison of two methods for extracting surface soil moisture from C-band radar imagery. In Proceedings of the IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium (IGARSS 2004), Anchorage, AK, USA, 20–24 September 2004; pp. 827–830.
- Rignot, E.J.M.; van Zyl, J.J. Change detection techniques for ERS-1 SAR data. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* 1993, 31, 896–906. [CrossRef]
- 63. Villasensor, J.D.; Fatland, D.R.; Hinzman, L.D. Change detection on Alaska's North Slope using repeat-pass ERS-1 SAR images. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* **1993**, *31*, 227–236. [CrossRef]
- 64. Shoshany, M.; Svoray, T.; Curran, P.J.; Foody, G.M.; Perevolotsky, A. The relationship between ERS-2 SAR backscatter and soil moisture: Generalization from a humid to semi-arid transect. *Int. J. Remote Sens.* 2000, 21, 2337–2343. [CrossRef]
- Thoma, D.P.; Moran, M.S.; Bryant, R.; Rahman, M.M.; Collins, C.D.H.; Keefer, T.O.; Noriega, R.; Osman, I.; Skrivin, S.M.; Tischler, M.A.; et al. Appropriate scale of soil moisture retrieval from high resolution radar imagery for bare and minimally vegetated soils. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 2008, *112*, 403–414. [CrossRef]
- Jacome, A.; Bernier, M.; Chokmani, K.; Gauthier, Y.; Poulin, J.; De Sève, D. Monitoring Volumetric Surface Soil Moisture Content at the La Grande Basin Boreal Wetland by Radar Multi Polarization Data. *Remote Sens.* 2013, 5, 4919–4941. [CrossRef]
- Baghdadi, N.; Camus, P.; Beaugendre, N.; Malam Issa, O.; Zribi, M.; Desprats, J.F.; Rajot, J.L.; Abdallah, C.; Sannier, C. Estimating surface soil moisture from TerraSAR-X data over two small catchments in the sahelian part of western Niger. *Remote Sens.* 2011, *3*, 1266–1283. [CrossRef]
- Zribi, M.; Kotti, F.; Amri, R.; Wagner, W.; Shabou, M.; LiliChabaane, Z.; Baghdadi, N. Soil moisture mapping in a semiarid region, based on ASAR/wide swath satellite data. *Water Resour. Res.* 2014, 50, 823–835. [CrossRef]
- Wagner, W.; Pathe, C.; Doubkova, M.; Sabel, D.; Bartsch, A.; Hasenauer, S.; Bloeschl, G.; Scipal, K.; Martinez-Fernandez, J.; Loew, A. Temporal stability of soil moisture and radar backscatter observed by the Advanced Synthetic Aperture Radar (ASAR). *Sensors* 2008, *8*, 1174–1197. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Pulvirenti, L.; Ticconi, F.; Pierdicca, N. Neural Network Emulation of the Integral Equation Model with Multiple Scattering. *Sensors* 2009, *9*, 8109–8125. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 71. Fung, A.K.; Li, Z.; Chen, K.S. Backscattering from a randomly rough dielectric surface. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* **1992**, *30*, 356–369. [CrossRef]
- Gharechelou, S.; Tateishi, R.; Sri Sumantyo, J.T. Comparison of Simulated Backscattering Signal and ALOS PALSAR Backscattering over Arid Environment Using Experimental Measurement. *Adv. Remote Sens.* 2015, 4, 224–233. [CrossRef]
- 73. Barrett, B.W.; Dwyer, E.; Whelan, P. Soil Moisture Retrieval from Active Spaceborne Microwave Observations: An Evaluation of Current Techniques. *Remote Sens.* **2009**, *1*, 210–242. [CrossRef]
- 74. Escorihuela, M.J.; Quintana-Segui, P. Comparison of remote sensing and simulated soil moisture datasets in mediterranean landscapes. *Remote Sens. Environ.* **2016**, *180*, 99–114. [CrossRef]
- 75. Karjalainen, M.; Kaartinen, H.; Hyyppä, J.; Laurila, H.; Kuittinen, R. The Use of ENVISAT Alternating Ploarization SAR Images in Agricultureal Monitoring in Compatison with RADARSAT-1 SAR Images. In Proceedings of the ISPRS Congress, Istanbul, Turkey, 12–23 July 2004.
- Patel, P.; Srivastava, H.S.; Panigrahy, S.; Parihar, J.S. Comparative evaluation of the sensitivity of multi-polarized multi-frequency SAR backscatter to plant density. *Int. J. Remote Sens.* 2006, 27, 293–305. [CrossRef]
- 77. Chauhan, S.; Srivastava, H.S. Comparative evaluation of the sensitivity of multi-polarized SAR nd optical data for various land cover classed. *Int. J. Remote Sens.* **2016**, *4*, 01–14.
- Pesaresi, M.; Corbane, C.; Julea, A.; Florczyk, A.J.; Syrris, V.; Soille, P. Assessment of the Added-Value of Sentinel-2 for Detecting Built-up Areas. *Remote Sens.* 2016, *8*, 299. [CrossRef]
- 79. Gupta, V.K.; Sharma, N.; Jangid, R.A. Emission and scattering behaviour of bare and vegetative soil surfaces of different moist states by microwave remote sensing. *Indian J. Radio Space Phys.* **2013**, *42*, 42–51.
- Baghdadi, N.; Aubert, M.; Cerdan, O.; Franchistéguy, L.; Viel, C.; Martin, E.; Zribi, M.; Desprats, J.F. Operational Mapping of Soil Moisture Using Synthetic Aperture Radar Data: Application to the Touch Basin (France). Sensors 2007, 7, 2458–2483. [CrossRef]

21 of 21

- Baghdadi, N.; Cerdan, O.; Zribi, M.; Auzet, V.; Darboux, F.; El Hajj, M.; Kheir, R.B. Operational performance of current synthetic aperture radar sensors in mapping soil surface characteristics in agricultural environments: Application to hydrological and erosion modelling. *Hydrol. Process.* 2007, *22*, 9–20. [CrossRef]
- Liu, C. Analysis of Sentinel-1 SAR Data for Mapping Standing Water in the Twente Region. Master's Thesis, University of Twente, Twente, The Netherlands, February 2016. Available online: http://www.itc.nl/library/ papers\_2016/msc/wrem/cliu.pdf (accessed on 22 May 2017).
- 83. Entekhabi, D.; Reichle, R.H.; Koster, R.D.; Crow, W.T. Performance Metrics for Soil Moisture Retrievals and Application Requirements. *J. Hydrometeorol.* **2010**, *11*, 832–840. [CrossRef]



© 2017 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

## 4.6 Summary and Conclusions

In this chapter, two inversion approaches are developed for soil moisture retrieval using Sentinel-1 radar data in synergy with Sentinel-2 optical data. Change detection techniques in proposed methodologies are validated with ground measurements carried out in two demonstration fields. Both methods are found to predict soil moisture variations that are well correlated with rainfall events. Method 1 models the backscattering difference with the driest value, whereas method 2 is based on the difference between radar signals observed on two consecutive dates, meaning that the radar signals are influenced by much smaller changes in vegetation. Method 2 is found to be more robust than method 1, as it does not require searching for the minimum value in each pixel, which can introduce larger errors under extreme local conditions. The backscattered radar contributions produced by the vegetation are small in the case of method 2. However, as the retrieved value of soil moisture depends on the soil moisture determined at an earlier date with this method, the iterative process can lead to the accumulation of errors. Both of these methods allow soil moisture to be estimated, with no need for calibrations based on ground measurements and have led to the production of similar, 100 m resolution soil moisture maps of the study area.

This study only used VV polarization with better sensitivity to the soil moisture compared with VH polarization. However, VH polarization will be included in future research to better characterize the role of vegetation in soil moisture retrieval using SAR data. Also, since vegetation effects on radar signal are not only due to the amount of biomass but also the vegetation structure, a better vegetation index which can reveal both characters need to be investigated instead of NDVI. A land cover map could be considered along with the vegetation index to better characterize the relation between backscattered radar signals and vegetation characters. In the present study, the ground measurements are taken in different depth (3 cm in Foradada field and 5 cm in Agramunt field), the impacts of sensor depth need to be evaluated in the future.

Besides the possibilities of improving and enriching the study, the results in the current research already demonstrated the potential of Sentinel-1 data for the retrieval of 100 m (or even better) resolution soil moisture. Both methods can be applied to any vegetation-covered area for which time-series of SAR and optical data have been recorded.

With the soil moisture map available at a good spatial and temporal resolution, irrigation events can be managed in a better way.

# Chapter 5

# **Irrigation Mapping**

## Contents

5.1	Introduction	<b>73</b>
5.2	Methodology	<b>74</b>
5.3	Published paper	75
<b>5.4</b>	Summary and Conclusions	94

## 5.1 Introduction

Irrigation, as one of the most important human interventions of the water cycle, is of great interest in evaluating the food yield and water usage. The irrigated fields are mostly stable, with fields having access to water always irrigated, but fields that do not have access to water are not. Irrigation events in irrigated fields directly increase the soil moisture, which is the direct water source of vegetation. Therefore, the spatially explicit irrigated area information needs to be investigated to provide a clear image for the agricultural water usage and irrigation management.

This chapter is devoted to developing the methodology of irrigation mapping using remote sensing data. The most commonly used methodologies include the optical multi-bands classification method, the vegetation index method, and the radar-based approach. The first two methodologies, which are based on optical remote sensing, are limited by weather conditions and may not be applicable over frequently cloudy regions. SAR remote sensing technology provides a new potential tool for monitoring irrigation fields under any weather conditions. However, few studies have used SAR data alone to do irrigation mapping, except for paddy rice fields (*Ribbes and Toan*, 1999; *Shao et al.*, 2001). Since irrigation increases the soil moisture in the fields and helps cultures flourish, the SAR data that is affected both by soil moisture and vegetation have the ability to discriminate the irrigated and non-irrigated fields.

Sentinel-1 SAR mission data, with its high spatial and temporal resolution, allows to distinguish irrigated and non-irrigated areas at the field scale. In this study, both the VV and VH polarizations of multi-temporal SAR data are used to map irrigated fields over an agricultural site in Urgell, Catalunya. The database consists of Sentinel-1A from June 2015 until September 2017, and Sentinel-1B from September 2016 until September 2017. By analysing the mathematical metrics derived from the SAR backscatter time series, including the mean value, the signal variance, the correlation length, irrigated and non-irrigated fields can be separated. Furthermore, the SAR characteristics of backscatter show a difference for different irrigation types; based on this aspect, the irrigated trees and irrigated crops can be separated as well. The classification is done both with the Support Vector Machine (SVM) and Random Forest (RF) machine. The validation using the ground truth from SIGPAC over the whole study area shows good overall accuracy with 81.08% for SVM and 82.2% for RF classification.

In this chapter, a short description of the methodology for classification is presented in Section 5.2. Then in Section 5.3, the published article corresponding to this study can be found, providing a more detailed literature review, the methodologies, results, as well as detailed discussions and analysis. Finally, the summary and conclusions are presented in Section 5.4.

The author contributions can be found at the end of the published paper. As the first author of the article, Q. Gao performed the whole processing under the supervision of Prof. M. Zribi, and with the help of all co-authors.

## 5.2 Methodology

This study used multi-temporal SAR data with field segmentation information from SIGPAC (the Geographic Information System for Agricultural Parcels). The backscatter intensities are averaged within each field to reduce the speckle effects and at the same time maintain the field scale. From the Sentinel-1 time series for each field, the statistics and metrics, including the mean value, the variance of the signal, the correlation length, and the fractal dimension, are analysed. Then, based on the SVM or RF, the classification is done over the whole study area.

Four metrics of backscatter time series both in VV and VH polarization were analysed over three groups of selected fields including irrigated croplands, irrigated trees, and non-irrigated crops:

- Mean value: shows the average scale of the backscatter intensity. In principle, the value should be higher for irrigated than non-irrigated fields in VV polarization, with higher soil moisture in irrigated fields makes more contribution to the backscatter intensity. For VH polarization, which is more sensitive to vegetation, the mean value should be higher over irrigated fields than non-irrigated fields, since irrigated helps vegetation to flourish.
- Variance: measures how far a dataset is spread out. Its value over the forest and urban areas are expected to be lower than the agricultural areas, with limited temporal variations.
- **Correlation length**: the temporal interval in which the autocorrelation function decays to half of the power the fastest, providing the information regarding the temporal variance of the backscatter signal, with limited values for fast-changing fields (e.g., irrigated fields) in principle.
- **Fractal dimension**: measures the self-similarity of the backscatter time series. Its value is expected to be higher over the irrigated field in principle, since irrigation should bring faster change to SAR signals. However, the results show no big differences between irrigated and non-irrigated fields. The fractal dimension was analysed but not used for classification.

With the metrics being analysed, SVM was used for classification. First, the irrigated and nonirrigated fields were separated using mean value and variance; then, the irrigated fields were further separated into irrigated trees and irrigated crops using variance and correlation length. With the classification functions derived in this step, a tree classification method was applied over the whole study area. RF is also tested with half of the fields for learning and the other half for validating. A detailed methodology description can be found in the published article integrated with Section 5.3.

# 5.3 Published paper





# Article Irrigation Mapping Using Sentinel-1 Time Series at Field Scale

## Qi Gao <sup>1,2,3,\*</sup>, Mehrez Zribi <sup>2,\*</sup>, Maria Jose Escorihuela <sup>1</sup>, Nicolas Baghdadi <sup>4</sup> and Pere Quintana Segui <sup>3</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> isardSAT, Parc Tecnològic Barcelona Activa, Carrer de Marie Curie, 8, 08042 Barcelona, Catalunya, Spain; mj.escorihuela@isardSAT.cat
- <sup>2</sup> CESBIO (CNRS/CNES/UPS/IRD), CEDEX 9, 31401 Toulouse, France
- <sup>3</sup> Observatori de l'Ebre (OE), Ramon Llull University, 43520 Roquetes, Spain; pquintana@obsebre.es
- <sup>4</sup> IRSTEA, University of Montpellier, UMR TETIS, CEDEX 5, 34093 Montpellier, France; nicolas.baghdadi@teledetection.fr
- \* Correspondence: qi.gao@isardSAT.cat (Q.G.); mehrez.zribi@ird.fr (M.Z.); Tel.: +34-933-505-508 (Q.G.); +33-05-61-55-85-25 (M.Z.)

Received: 6 August 2018; Accepted: 15 September 2018; Published: 18 September 2018



Abstract: The recently launched Sentinel-1 satellite with a Synthetic Aperture Radar (SAR) sensor onboard offers a powerful tool for irrigation monitoring under various weather conditions, with high spatial and temporal resolution. This research discusses the potential of different metrics calculated from the Sentinel-1 time series for mapping irrigated fields. A methodology for irrigation mapping using SAR data is proposed. The study is performed using VV (vertical-vertical) and VH (vertical-horizontal) polarizations over an agricultural site in Urgell, Catalunya (Spain). With field segmentation information from SIGPAC (the Geographic Information System for Agricultural Parcels), the backscatter intensities are averaged within each field. From the Sentinel-1 time series for each field, the statistics and metrics, including the mean value, the variance of the signal, the correlation length, and the fractal dimension, are analyzed. With the Support Vector Machine (SVM), the classification of irrigated crops, irrigated trees, and non-irrigated fields is performed with the metrics vector. The results derived from the SVM are validated with ground truthing from SIGPAC over the whole study area, with a good overall accuracy of 81.08%. Random Forest (RF) machine classification is also tested in this study, which gives an accuracy of around 82.2% when setting the tree depth at three. The methodology is based only on SAR data, which makes it applicable to all areas, even with frequent cloud cover, but this method may be less robust when irrigation is less dominated to soil moisture change.

Keywords: soil moisture; SAR; Sentinel-1; irrigation; classification

## 1. Introduction

Irrigated agriculture is essential for the global food yield. In the past 40 years, global agricultural production has more than doubled, while the cropland has only increased by 12%, which reveals that irrigation has made a great contribution [1–3]. With the constant increase of the global population, the shortage of water resources, and the mismatch between irrigation needs and the actual amount of water used for irrigation [4,5], irrigation needs to be better planned in order to fulfill the high demand for food and water. Spatially explicit irrigated area information is needed for cropland irrigation management [6]. The amount of irrigation surfaces, which is of great importance to water resource management, is still unclear. Remote sensing technology leads to a new direction for mapping irrigated areas to better support water resources and agricultural development [7]. However, studies using remote sensing to map irrigated

Remote Sens. 2018, 10, 1495

fields remain relatively rare [3]. With the diverse range of irrigated field size and scattered distribution, it is difficult to map irrigation fields by satellite remote sensing because of its relatively coarse spatial resolution in comparison to field scale.

The most commonly used methodologies are the optical multi-bands classification method, the vegetation index method, and the radar-based approach. Several studies [8–15] have shown the capability of optical multi-bands remote sensing for irrigation mapping. Thiruvengadachari [14] demonstrated that areas irrigated by surface water could be distinguished from those irrigated with groundwater by using single-date Landsat imagery, based on supplementary information regarding major surface irrigation projects, canal network maps, drainage patterns, and recorded groundwater utilization. Even though the single-date image can be used for distinguishing irrigation fields, it is not always reliable, since single-date analysis in visible cropping intensity often does not take into account planting dates that vary from year to year [3]. Therefore, multi-temporal analysis provides a better potential to define irrigated fields [16]. Thenkabail et al. [8] used Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS) time-series data to generate Land Use/Land Cover (LULC) and a map of irrigated areas for the Ganges and Indus river basins.

Various vegetation indices, such as the NDVI (Normalized Difference Vegetation Index), the NDWI (Normalized Difference Wetness Index), and the GVI (Green Vegetation Index), derived from multi-bands satellite data, are proven to be able to map irrigated areas [10,12,17–20]. Boken et al. [18] demonstrated the potential of NOAA-AVHRR (Advanced Very High Resolution Radiometer) for estimating irrigated areas using NDVI and the Vegetation Health Index (VHI) with coefficients of determination (R2) of approximately 0.49 and 0.80, respectively. Xiao et al. [19] developed a paddy rice mapping algorithm that uses the time series of three vegetation indices, namely, the Land Surface Water Index (LSWI), the Enhanced Vegetation Index (EVI), and the NDVI, derived from MODIS images.

Studies combining the two methods above increased the spatial and temporal resolution for irrigation mapping. Gumma et al. [21] developed a decision tree approach using Landsat 30-m one-time data fusion with MODIS 250-m time series data. Fuzzy classification accuracy assessment for the irrigated classes varied between 67–93%.

Methods based on optical data rely heavily on weather conditions. For areas with frequent cloud cover, these methods may not be adaptable. The availability of Synthetic Aperture Radar (SAR) data offers a new potential for irrigation monitoring by providing the ability to observe under any weather conditions. The radar remote sensing measurements of soil are very sensitive to the water content in the surface layer, due to the pronounced increase in the soil dielectric constant with increasing water content [22-25]. Although primarily affected by soil moisture, active radar backscatter is also influenced by vegetation and surface roughness [26-32], and the proportions depend on the different polarization modes. The Sentinel-1 mission also proved that it can be used to retrieve soil moisture under vegetation cover [33,34]. Studies also demonstrated that radar data can provide unique characteristics of irrigated croplands such as rice fields [35,36]. Ribbes and Toan [35] demonstrated that the radar backscatter coefficient of rice fields had a significant temporal variation, and that this variation can be used to identify paddy rice fields. However, rice fields are special since they are inundated, which can be distinguished more easily by SAR than general irrigated croplands. Few studies have used SAR data alone to do irrigation mapping, except for paddy rice fields. Since irrigation events change the soil moisture in the fields and help cultures flourish, the SAR data that is affected both by soil moisture and vegetation should have the ability to discriminate the irrigation fields. Irrigation mapping using SAR data needs to be studied to enrich remote sensing applications in agricultural and hydrological fields. Since irrigation is a time dynamic activity, more multi-temporal datasets are needed.

In this study, multi-temporal SAR data is used to map irrigated crops, irrigated trees, and non-irrigated fields. Sentinel-1 SAR mission data, with its high spatial and temporal resolution, allows for more possibilities for distinguishing irrigated areas at the field scale. Unlike optical data, which is restricted by cloud coverage, SAR data can work under any weather conditions. By analyzing

2 of 18

the metrics derived from the SAR backscatter time series, irrigated and non-irrigated fields can be separated. Furthermore, the SAR characteristics of backscatter show a difference for different irrigation types; based on this aspect, the irrigated trees and irrigated crops can be separated as well.

In this paper, we introduce four metrics, including the mean value, the signal variance, the correlation length, and the fractal dimension derived from Sentinel-1 multi-temporal data. By combining different metrics, the irrigated trees, irrigated crops, and non-irrigated fields are separated. In Section 2, the studied site, the database, and the land use are presented. Section 3 describes the methodologies and metrics that were studied. Section 4 shows the results of the classification mapping and comparison with ground truth. Section 5 contains a discussion about the results. Finally, the conclusions are presented in the last section.

## 2. Database and Study Area

#### 2.1. Database

#### 2.1.1. Sentinel-1 Data

The Sentinel-1 mission provides data from a dual-polarization C-band Synthetic Aperture Radar (SAR) instrument. In this study, we use both Sentinel-1A and Sentinel-1B backscatter data, with a resolution of 10 m and a temporal resolution of 12 days, for each satellite. Previous studies have shown that VV (vertical-vertical) polarization data, in comparison to VH (vertical-horizontal) polarization, show high sensitivity to soil moisture [37–42]. VH data, in its turn, has a higher sensitivity to volume scattering, which depends strongly on the geometrical alignment and characteristics of the vegetation. Thus, VH data has a limited potential for the estimation of soil moisture compared to VV data, but higher sensitivity to vegetation [38,43,44]. Since irrigation makes a difference for vegetation density, and in order to make full use of the satellite data, we use both VV and VH polarizations for our analysis. The period of Sentinel-1A is from June 2015 until September 2017, while Sentinel-1B is available from September 2016 until September 2017. The database is shown in Figure 1. All of the Sentinel-1 data was pre-processed using the Sentinel-1 Toolbox, in three steps:

- Thermal noise removal
- Radiometric calibration
- Terrain correction using SRTM (Shuttle Radar Topography Mission) DEM (Digital Elevation Model) at 30 m.



**Figure 1.** Temporal availability of Sentinel-1 time series data used in this study. Blue color indicates Sentinel-1A data and red color indicates Sentinel-1B data.

#### 2.1.2. Ground Truth (SIGPAC)

The Geographic Information System for Agricultural Parcels (hereinafter SIGPAC) is a public registry of an administrative nature that contains information on the parcels [45]. The supplied SIGPAC plotter contains both graphical and alphanumeric information. The graphic information

## 5.3. PUBLISHED PAPER

Remote Sens. 2018, 10, 1495

includes the referenced geographic boundary of each plot of land. Alphanumeric information contains information about each one of the enclosures such as identification codes, surface area, land usage (updated annually), irrigation coefficient, average slope, and others. Information can be found on the website: http://sig.gencat.cat/visors/Agricultura.html [46].

In this study, the SIGPAC data is used as ground truth to validate our classification results with information regarding the land usage and irrigation coefficient.

#### 2.2. Study Area

The study area covers a 20 km by 20 km area, located in Urgell, Catalonia, Spain (Figure 2). The Urgell climate is typically Mediterranean, with continental influence; it is mild in winter and warm in summer, with a very dry season in summer and two rainier seasons in autumn and spring [47]. The average annual precipitation is around 376 mm (347 mm in 2015, 385 mm in 2016, and 397 mm in 2017). Precipitation events at the Baldomar meteo station, which is the nearest one to our study area, are illustrated in Figure 3.



Figure 2. Study area located in Urgell, Catalunya, Spain, and the land-use map.



Figure 3. Precipitation event in Baldomar meteo station (1.5 km away from the study area).

The study area is mainly irrigated using two irrigation methods: inundation, which is the old irrigation method, and sprinkler or drip, which are the new irrigation systems. The status of the irrigation is mostly static from year to year. Fields that have access to water are always irrigated, and fields that do not have access to water are not. In the old irrigated district, the open channel leads water into the agricultural fields, which causes vegetation flourishing in this area (lower left of the study

4 of 18

area). Surrounding the irrigated area, the land is much drier without irrigation. Currently, a new irrigated system is being developed, surrounding the old irrigated system, using sprinkler or dripping irrigation; scatter irrigation fields are located in the middle and north of the study area. The irrigation period mainly occurs in summer, from May to September, and the frequency depends on the irrigation district. In the old district, the irrigation frequency is mainly every two weeks, and in the new area it may be daily, but it depends on the farmers.

In the fields with the new irrigation method, the drippers are always used to irrigate fruit trees, and the sprinkler is always used to irrigate crops. In our study, the fields are separated into irrigated trees, irrigated crops, and non-irrigated fields in the end.

Figure 2 shows the land-use map from SIGPAC in our study area. The croplands dominate most parts of the area, including wheat, corn, and alfalfa. The croplands include fields irrigated using inundation, sprinkler, or subsurface drippers, and rainfed fields. The productive trees are mainly fruit trees, olive trees, or vineyards. Forest and wild trees are spreading throughout the whole area, mostly in the mountainous places in the northwest part. In total, there are 22,775 fields of croplands and 3659 fields of productive trees that are used for the mapping and validation.

### 3. Methodology

The first step is the data pre-processing. Second, we use metrics of a backscatter signal time series over the selected fields to perform modeling to build the classification function. Third, irrigation mapping is performed using the metrics maps, the classification function, and the fields boundary information. The accuracy assessment will be explained in the next section. The overall workflow using the Support Vector Machine (SVM) is shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4. Workflow overview using a Support Vector Machine (SVM).

Remote Sens. 2018, 10, 1495

#### 6 of 18

## 3.1. Data Pre-Processing

To build the classification method, we first selected 10 areas for irrigated crops, five areas for irrigated trees, and 10 areas for non-irrigated crop lands, as shown in Figure 5, to perform learning and modeling. The surface size of the selected areas varies from 3 ha to 25 ha. All of the pixels within the selected reference areas are pre-processed by averaging every 10 by 10 pixels, starting from the left-top corner into 100 m by 100 m cells in order to reduce the speckle effect.



Figure 5. Selected reference areas for irrigated crops, irrigated trees, and non-irrigated crops.

### 3.2. Analyzed Metrics

The mathematical statistics of the backscatter time series for the selected areas, including irrigated trees, irrigated croplands, and non-irrigated crops, will be analyzed. In principle, the backscatter values are different for irrigated and non-irrigated areas and for different irrigation methods, since different water content in the soil creates differences in soil dielectric constant, which relates to the backscatter characters. Furthermore, the irrigation makes a difference for vegetation density, which affects the backscatter coefficient, especially for VH polarization. Additionally, the changing pattern and other mathematical statistics will be analyzed for irrigated trees, irrigated crops, and non-irrigated crops.

Analysis of the temporal-related metrics is the first step in the analysis of the possibility that the three types of classes will be separated. The analyzed metrics include the mean value of the backscatter time series, the temporal variance of the signal, the signal correlation length, and the fractal dimension. First, we analyze these metrics solely within the selected areas over irrigated croplands, irrigated trees, and non-irrigated crops. Cells with hundred-meter resolution fell into the selected fields are considered for the analysis.

7 of 18

### 3.2.1. Mean Value of $\sigma^{\circ}$

The mean value, which is the basic statistical parameter of a time series, shows the average scale of the data. In the first analysis, the mean value of the backscatter time series is taken for each 100-m cell within the selected irrigated and non-irrigated areas. Analysis is based on the whole period of our data acquisition, as shown in Figure 1. The mean value reflects the general level of signal intensity for different land use.

For VV polarization, the backscatter intensity should be higher for irrigated than non-irrigated fields, with more water content in the fields because the increase of water increases reflectivity and thus, the backscatter value. For VH polarization, the sensitivity to water content in the soil is less pronounced, while the impact of vegetation increases. Figure 6 illustrates the case of VV and VH polarization signal dynamics through radar signal histograms; the approximate mean value of the selected irrigated cells for VV polarization is -11.724 dB, as shown in Figure 6a, and -14.137 dB for non-irrigated cells, as shown in Figure 6b. The mean values are smaller for VH polarization than VV polarization, and smaller for non-irrigated fields than irrigated fields.



**Figure 6.** Signal backscatter distribution over selected irrigated areas for vertical–vertical (VV) polarization (**a**) and vertical–horizontal (VH) polarization (**b**); signal backscatter distribution over selected non-irrigated areas for VV polarization (**c**) and VH polarization (**d**).

## 3.2.2. Signal Variance

Variance is the expectation of the squared deviation of a random variable from its mean. Informally, it measures how far a set of numbers is spread out from its average value. The variance value over the forest and urban areas are expected to be lower over the agricultural areas, with limited temporal variations. Figure 6 shows that the variance values are smaller for irrigated areas compared

#### Remote Sens. 2018, 10, 1495

with non-irrigated areas, while VH polarization shows in average higher values than VV polarization, but similarly to VV, it is also smaller for the irrigated area.

#### 3.2.3. Signal Correlation Length

Autocorrelation is a measure of the internal correlation within a time series. Autocorrelation is the correlation of a signal ( $\mu$ ) with a delayed copy of itself as a function of delay ( $\tau$ ). It is a way of measuring and explaining the internal association between observations in a time series.

$$\rho(\tau) = \mathbf{E} \left[ f(\mu) f(\mu - \tau) \right],\tag{1}$$

Autocorrelation length represents the temporal interval in which the autocorrelation function decays to half of the power the fastest. It provides the information regarding the temporal variance of the backscatter signal, with limited values for fast-changing fields (e.g., irrigated fields) in principle. In our analysis, Edelson and Krolik's Discrete Correlation Function (DCF) is used [48]. Figure 7 gives two examples for irrigated cells and non-irrigated cells for VV and VH polarization; an exponential function  $[y = A \exp(x/B)]$  is used to fit the temporal discrete correlation function. The correlation length is larger for irrigated cells in this case, since the existence of temporal variations is linked principally to soil moisture dynamic, and for non-irrigated areas, local temporal variations due to roughness and vegetation could generate reduction on correlation length; however, the overall results show that a large range of autocorrelation length varies from less than 10 days to more than 60 days for both irrigated and non-irrigated cells.



**Figure 7.** Autocorrelation function of irrigated and non-irrigated cells (100 m  $\times$  100 m) for VV polarization (**a**) and VH polarization (**b**).

## 3.2.4. Fractal Dimension

To quantitatively characterize backscatter dynamics, fractal geometry can be used to extract robust features hidden in the fluctuations. Fractals have the property of self-similarity [49–51]. Our fractal characterization is based on the power spectrum dependence of a fractional Brownian motion. We determine the power spectrum of the backscatter time series by computing its Fourier transform. The scaling behavior of the data is revealed by a power-law dependence of the spectrum as a function of frequency [52,53]:

$$S(f) \approx 1/f^{\beta}$$

The fractal dimension is derived from the slope  $\beta$  of a least-squares regression linear fit to the data points in the log–log plot of the power spectrum, leading to the dimension [50]: D = 7/2 -  $\beta/2$ .

8 of 18

Over irrigated fields, the fractal dimensions are expected to be higher in principle, since irrigation should bring faster change in the irrigation period to SAR signals. However, the results show that the values are almost the same for irrigated and non-irrigated fields, since the backscatter is influenced by many factors, including soil roughness and precipitation. Figure 8 provides two examples of power spectral density plots of irrigated cells and non-irrigated cells for VV and VH polarization. The difference of slopes is not evident for the separation of irrigated and non-irrigated fields. In the implementation of our method, we discard fractal dimensions, which are not robust enough for classification.



**Figure 8.** Power spectral density plots of irrigated and non-irrigated cells (100 m  $\times$  100 m) for VV polarization (**a**) and VH polarization (**b**).

#### 3.3. Modeling

#### 3.3.1. Support Vector Machine

A Support Vector Machine (SVM) is a typical learning machine for two-group classification problems [54]. SVM is a discriminative classifier that is formally defined by a separating hyperplane. In other words, given labeled training data (supervised learning), the algorithm builds an optimal hyperplane, which can be used to categorize a new dataset. In a two-dimensional space, the hyperplane becomes a line dividing a plane into two classes, which lay in each part of the plane. Our method of separating non-irrigated fields, irrigated crops, and irrigated trees is based on the linear Support Vector Machine.

In our process, first, we separate irrigated and non-irrigated fields using mean value and variance, then, the irrigated fields are further separated into irrigated trees and irrigated crops using variance and correlation length. The reason to separate two classes each time instead of three is that the mean values of irrigated trees and irrigated crops are a bit mixed, since the backscatter difference between the flouring crops and trees are not evident, and the correlation length for non-irrigated crops varies a lot depending on the soil roughness and vegetation status, which makes it difficult to be separated from irrigated fields.

#### 3.3.2. Classification Function

The classification functions are derived using SVM as shown in Figures 9 and 10. First, a function for the irrigated fields and non-irrigated fields classification is built by the mean value and variance. Second, a function for irrigated crops and irrigated trees classification is built by the variance and correlation length.

#### 5.3. PUBLISHED PAPER

Remote Sens. 2018, 10, 1495





**Figure 9.** The relation of the mean value and the variance for irrigated and non-irrigated areas for VV polarization (**a**) and VH polarization (**b**).



**Figure 10.** The relation of the variance and the correlation length for VV polarization (**a**) and VH polarization (**b**).

Considering the selected irrigation and non-irrigated masks, we analyzed the mean value and the variance of the backscatter time series for each 100 m by 100 m cell. The results are shown in Figure 9. The mean values can be easily distinguished for irrigated and non-irrigated cells, with large values for irrigated cells. Over the selected fields, the mean variance for VV polarization is 3.96 dB for irrigated areas and 5.96 dB for non-irrigated areas. The function of the VV polarization increases, while for the VH polarization, it decreases, because VV is more sensitive to soil moisture and VH is more sensitive to vegetation.

Based on the two metrics, the irrigated and non-irrigated fields can be separated by the function of the mean value and the variance, using both VV and VH polarization. Then, for irrigated areas, the SVM derived linear function of correlation length and variance is used for the separation of the irrigated trees and irrigated crops (as shown in Figure 10). The characteristics of its self-correlation vary substantially, as shown in Figure 10. The effect of vegetation coverage limits the variance for the case of trees. Apart from this, we see a limited increase of variance with correlation length.

By using the function of the correlation length and variance, we can separate irrigated crops and irrigated trees.

11 of 18

### 3.4. Tree Classification

Our study uses a tree classification, considering metrics from both VV and VH polarization, including mean value, variance, and autocorrelation length. Over the whole study area, the two linear SVM functions in Figure 9 are first used to separate irrigated fields and non-irrigated fields. Second, the two linear SVM functions in Figure 10 are used to separate irrigated crops and irrigated trees.

#### 3.5. Random Forest (RF) Classification

Random Forest (RF) is an ensemble learning method for classification, regression, and other tasks, that operates by constructing a multitude of decision trees at training time and outputting the class that is the type of the classes (classification) or mean prediction (regression) of the individual trees [55,56].

Our study targets the classification process using half of the fields for learning, and the other half for validating, with the mean value, the variance, and autocorrelation length of both VV and VH polarization as input.

### 4. Results and Validation

With the geoinformation from SIGPAC, we know the boundary of all of the fields in our study area, which changed very slightly over the study period. The latest version of the fields' boundary is used. The surface area of the fields varies from less than 0.5 ha to more than 50 ha.

To apply our method over the whole study area, we average the backscatter into each field, so the speckle effect can be reduced. Instead of validating a 100-m resolution map, we validated the backscatter at each field scale to be consistent with the ground truth. Some of our fields are smaller than the 100 m by 100 m size, so it makes more sense to consider a field scale for which we have ground information.

## 4.1. Metrics Mapping

For each segmented field, we calculate these four metrics using the averaged backscatter signals for both VV and VH polarization. The maps of mean value, variance, correlation length, and fractal dimension for VV polarization over the study area are shown in Figure 11. Areas including forests, urban areas, and water bodies are masked out, so all of the productive fields are left to be illustrated. In the mean value map, areas with low values relate to non-irrigated fields, which can be easily distinguished from the irrigated fields. The same case exists in the variance map, where areas with high values relate to non-irrigated fields. In the correlation length map, the non-irrigated fields have relatively lower values, but it is becoming more difficult to separate them from the irrigated fields. Finally, the fractal dimension map shows a mixed situation for these two classes, which we therefore decided not to use.



Figure 11. Cont.

## 5.3. PUBLISHED PAPER

Remote Sens. 2018, 10, 1495



**Figure 11.** Examples of metrics maps for each field in VV polarization: mean value (**a**), variance value (**b**), correlation length (**c**), and fractal dimension (**d**).

## 4.2. Classification Map

Using the tree classification method based on the SVM with the mean value, variance, and correlation length for both VV and VH polarization as input, three classes, including non-irrigated fields, irrigated crops, and irrigated trees are classified after masking out forest, urban areas, and water bodies, as shown in Figure 12. The blue color represents the irrigated croplands, while the green color represents the irrigated trees. Yellow-colored areas are classified as non-irrigated fields.



Figure 12. Irrigation mapping after masking out forest, urban areas, and water bodies.

12 of 18

#### 4.3. Validation

Validation is done using SIGPAC information over all of the productive fields in our study area (26,434 fields in total). Each field is checked if it is correctly classified through being compared with the ground truth. The confusion matrix is listed in Table 1.

Classes	Irrigated Crops	Irrigated Trees	Non-Irrigated Fields
Irrigated crops	77.5%	1.9%	20.6%
Irrigated trees	22.3%	73.5%	4.2%
Non-irrigated fields	14.8%	1.9%	83.3%

Table	1.	Confusion	matrix
		· ^ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	100 0 8101 1/
10010		<b>x</b> . <b>x</b> / <b>i</b> i i <b>k</b> / <b>i x</b> / <b>i x</b> / <b>i</b> i i	

The overall accuracy, which is the ratio of correctly classified fields and the total number of fields, is 81.08%, with the accuracy for non-irrigated crops slightly higher, with a value of 83.27%. The accuracy for irrigated crops is 77.53%, while for irrigated trees, it is 73.49%.

The most wrongly classified fields are irrigated crops into non-irrigated fields, with a percentage of 20.6%. The crops are mainly wheat. The different types of irrigation techniques may be a reason for the error, since fields using a new irrigated system are irrigated daily, while fields in the old irrigation area are irrigated about every two weeks, which makes the contribution of the irrigation events to the signal less important. The non-irrigated fields that were wrongly classified into irrigated crops were also high, with a percentage of 14.5%; most of them are located in the mountainous areas, where they may be influenced by topography. For irrigated trees, the most wrongly classified was into irrigated crops, which are the green-colored fields, with a percentage of 22.3%. The difference in the behaviors of backscatter signals for irrigated trees and very flouring crops may not be very evident.

The RF classification is also tested using half of the fields for learning and the other half for validating. The overall accuracy is around 82.2%, with the tree depth at three. The result shows the best accuracy for the irrigated crop, followed by irrigated trees and non-irrigated crops, which is the worst. The accuracy may vary from 80% to 83% when using different ground truth fields for learning, since RF is a very sensitive method. When using mean value alone as the input feature, the accuracy is about 80.9%, and using variance alone, the accuracy is about 66.4%, while when using correlation length alone, the accuracy is about 70.3%. Table 2 shows an example when using different combinations of metrics as input for RF classification. Combined the mean value with the variance, the accuracy increased by 1% above using the mean value only. After adding the correlation length, the accuracy increased by 0.3%.

Table 2.	The accuracy	with	different	input	metrics.
----------	--------------	------	-----------	-------	----------

Input Metrics	Mean (VV/VH)	Mean (VV/VH) + Variance (VV/VH)	Mean (VV/VH) + Variance (VV/VH) + Correlation Length (VV/VH)
Accuracy	80.9%	81.9%	82.2%

## 5. Discussions

This study uses Sentinel-1 SAR multi-temporal data from June 2015 to September 2017 and focused on the statistics and metrics including the mean value, the variance, the correlation length, and the fractal dimension. In the classification, only the first three metrics are used as input. The SVM and RF are tested, and both methods showed a good accuracy.

The mean value shows a clear difference for irrigated and non-irrigated fields in VV polarization, as shown in Figure 11a. The non-irrigated fields have smaller mean values of the backscatter time series than irrigated fields, because of the backscatter signal intensity increasing with the soil dielectric constant, which is proportional to the water content in the soil until it is flooded.

#### 5.3. PUBLISHED PAPER

Remote Sens. 2018, 10, 1495

14 of 18

The variance values of non-irrigated fields are relatively higher than those for irrigated fields, as shown in Figures 6, 9 and 11b. This behavior is because non-irrigated areas can generally reach extreme values, with high levels due to precipitation events, and extremely low values in the summer period due to a long absence of precipitation. This is not the case for irrigated fields that receive water frequently, and they rarely reach those extreme low moisture levels. The variance values are somehow mixed, but we can still find the pattern, as the signals of non-irrigated areas tend to be more spread out. There is a class with dense blue points for irrigated fields with low variance values (less than 1 for both VV and VH) and high mean values (greater than -11 dB for VV and -18 dB for VH) in Figure 9, which consists of the irrigated trees, whose relatively high volumes yield higher reflectivity with small changes.

The function of the VV polarization increases, while for the VH polarization, it decreases as shown in Figure 9, because VV is more sensitive to soil moisture, and VH is more sensitive to vegetation. For VV polarization in a relatively dry region such as in our study area, small changes in soil moisture with a low variance value will have a relatively low average backscatter mean value, while the increase of soil moisture on some days will lead to a high variance value and a relatively high average mean value. However, for the irrigated trees, the vegetation volumes contribute more to the backscatter signal, which leads to higher mean values with low variances. The case for VH polarization, which is more sensitive to vegetation, is more complex. For irrigated fields, the trees always have a high backscatter mean value with small changes, and for crops, the increase of variance may due to the flourishing of the vegetation as a consequence of irrigation. This could also be due to the decrease of canopy caused by harvest events, which in the end leads to relatively stable backscatter mean values. For non-irrigated fields, the vegetation volume will not be able to reach to a very dense situation because of water shortage, so the increase of variance can only be the consequence of harvest events, which of course will lead to a low backscatter mean value.

The correlation length shows a relatively higher value for irrigated fields than non-irrigated fields, as shown in Figures 7 and 11c. As the irrigation event happens in the summertime, the backscatter time series show a more seasonal pattern, which brings a higher correlation length value. Since the irrigation status is quite different for different croplands (different irrigation method, different irrigation period, different amount of applied water, etc.), the characteristics of its self-correlation may vary substantially, as shown in the *x*-axis of Figure 10.

The fractal dimension didn't show a clear difference between irrigated fields and non-irrigated fields (Figures 8 and 11d). The temporal backscatter signal is influenced by many factors such as the irrigation frequency, precipitation, the vegetation type, etc.; the self-similarity of the time series is hardly observed. We discarded it as input in the end.

For the classification step, we tested both the SVM and RF method, and both show good accuracy. In SVM classification, we use the linear SVM functions to separate irrigated fields and non-irrigated fields. Then, the irrigated fields are further separated into irrigated crops and irrigated trees. RF classification used half of the fields for learning and the other half for testing; the fields are also separated into irrigated crops, irrigated trees, and non-irrigated fields. RF can give a better accuracy with a larger number of ground truth fields for learning and a bigger tree depth. However, the accuracy of RF classification with the tree depth at three can change from 80% to 83% when using different fields for learning. Through increasing the input metrics, the RF method shows an increase of accuracy. The SVM method also gives a good accuracy, and is more robust. Besides, SVM does not need as many ground truth fields as RF, but of course, more ground truth fields may bring a better accuracy.

#### 6. Conclusions

In this paper, a methodology for irrigation mapping using the Sentinel-1 SAR data time series is introduced. The backscatter mean value, the signal variance, and the correlation length are derived from the backscatter signal time series and are used for classification. The classification result of irrigated and non-irrigated fields is compared with the ground truth from SIGPAC database over 26,434 fields in the whole study area. The result shows a good overall accuracy, which is 81.08% using the SVM. The mean value of the backscatter time series is the key to separating irrigated and non-irrigated fields, while the correlation length and variance are used for the separation of irrigated trees and irrigated crops.

The results of the SVM show good accuracy for irrigated croplands and non-irrigated fields, with soil moisture change more dominant to multi-temporal radar signals. Classification results for irrigated trees are slightly poor, and the effect of vegetation cover over backscatter in the case of trees is more obvious than the effect of soil moisture change.

The RF classification gives a similar accuracy as SVM, but it depends a lot on the number and location of the ground truth fields for machine learning, and is less robust compared with SVM.

In areas where there is no ground field information available, instead of using field boundary information, field segmentation was performed using Sentinel-2 NDVI data [57–59], but only for areas without frequent cloud cover. Another alternative method is using 100-m resolution cells directly to calculate the metrics only from Sentinel-1 SAR data, which is more consistent with our original intention to use the methodology under any weather conditions.

This approach can be used in any agricultural areas when SAR data is available, and is adapted to regions with a limited use of S2 because of climate conditions. For areas that are more humid than the Catalunya study area during irrigation season, soil moisture contribution will be more limited, which may make the method less robust. Additionally, this method does not need to develop operational algorithms to estimate soil moisture before application; it is based directly on radar signal analysis. It is unrestricted by weather conditions and the location of the fields. The results demonstrated the potential of using Sentinel-1 data for irrigation mapping at the field scale.

**Author Contributions:** Q.G. and M.Z. conceived, designed and implemented the research. Q.G. coded and performed the analysis of the data and drafted the manuscript. M.J.E. assisted in the data analysis and interpretation. All authors reviewed and improved the manuscript. The study was supervised by M.Z.

**Funding:** Qi Gao received grant DI-15-08105 from the Spanish Education Ministry (MICINN) and DI-2016-078 from the Catalan Agency of Research (AGAUR). The study was partially funded by the REC project funded by the European Commission Horizon 2020 Programme for Research and Innovation (H2020) in the context of the Marie Skłodowska-Curie Research and Innovation Staff Exchange (RISE) action under grant agreement No. 645642.

Acknowledgments: The authors wish to thank the technical teams for their support and the SIGPAC team, which provides plenty of ground information.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

## References

- Gleick, P.H. Global freshwater resources: Soft-path solutions for the 21st century. *Science* 2003, 302, 1524–1528. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rosegrant, M.W.; Meijer, S.; Cline, S.A. International Model for Policy Analysis of Agricultural Commodities and Trade (IMPACT): Model Description; IFPRI: Washington, DC, USA, 2002.
- 3. Ozdogan, M.; Yang, Y.; Allez, G.; Cervantes, C. Remote Sensing of Irrigated Agriculture: Opportunities and Challenges. *Remote Sens.* **2010**, *2*, 2274–2304. [CrossRef]
- Kharrou, M.; Page, M.L.; Chehbouni, A.; Simonneaux, V.; Er-Raki, S.; Jarlan, L.; Ouzine, L.; Khabba, S.; Chehbouni, G. Assessment of Equity and Adequacy of Water Delivery in Irrigation Systems Using Remote Sensing-Based Indicators in Semi-Arid Region, Morocco. *Water Resour. Manag.* 2013, 27, 4697–4714. [CrossRef]
- Stefan, V. Mixed Modeling and Multi-Resolution Remote Sensing of Soil Evaporation. Ph.D. Thesis, Université Toulouse 3 Paul Sabatier (UT3 Paul Sabatier), Toulouse, France, 2016.
- 6. Ambika, A.K.; Wardlow, B.; Mishra, V. Data descriptor: Remotely sensed high resolution irrigated area mapping in India for 2000 to 2015. *Sci. Data* **2016**, *3*, 160118. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Cai, X.; Magidi, J.; Nhamo, L.; Koppen, B. *Mapping Irrigated Areas in the Limpopo Province, South Africa;* IWMI Working Paper 172; IWMI: Colombo, Sri Lanka, 2017.

Remote Sens. 2018, 10, 1495

- Thenkabail, P.S.; Schull, M.; Turral, H. Ganges and Indus river basin land use/land cover (LULC) and irrigated area mapping using continuous streams of MODIS data. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 2004, 95, 317–341. [CrossRef]
- Beltran, C.M.; Belmonte, A.C. Irrigated crop area estimation using Landsat TM imagery in La Mancha, Spain. Photogramm. Eng. Remote Sens. 2001, 67, 1177–1184.
- Biggs, T.W.; Thenkabail, P.S.; Gumma, M.K.; Scott, C.A.; Parthasaradhi, G.R.; Turral, H.N. Irrigated area mapping in heterogeneous landscapes with MODIS time series, ground truth and census data, Krishna Basin, India. *Int. J. Remote Sens.* 2006, *27*, 4245–4266. [CrossRef]
- Dheeravath, V.; Thenkabail, P.S.; Chandrakantha, G.; Noojipady, P.; Reddy, G.P.O.; Biradar, C.M.; Gumma, M.K.; Velpuri, M. Irrigated areas of India derived using MODIS 500 m time series for the years 2001–2003. *ISPRS J. Photogramm. Remote Sens.* 2009, 65, 42–59. [CrossRef]
- Kamthonkiat, D.; Honda, K.; Turral, H.; Tripathi, N.K.; Wuwongse, V. Discrimination of irrigated and rainfed rice in a tropical agricultural system using SPOT VEGETATION NDVI and rainfall data. *Int. J. Remote Sens.* 2005, 26, 2527–2547. [CrossRef]
- Draeger, W.C. Monitoring Irrigated Land Acreage Using LANDSAT Imagery: An Application Example. In Proceedings of the 11th International Symposium on Remote Sensing of Environment, Ann Arbor, MI, USA, 25–29 April 1977; pp. 515–524.
- 14. Thiruvengadachari, S. Satellite sensing of irrigation pattern in semiarid areas: An Indian study. *Photogramm. Eng. Remote Sens.* **1981**, 47, 1493–1499.
- 15. Rundquist, D.C.; Richardo, H.; Carlson, M.P.; Cook, A. The Nebraska center-pivot inventory—An example of operational satellite remote sensing on a long term basis. *Photogramm. Eng. Remote Sens.* **1989**, *55*, 587–590.
- 16. Akbari, M.; Mamanpoush, A.; Gieske, A.; Miranzadeh, M.; Torabi, M.; Salemi, H.R. Crop and land cover classification in Iran using Landsat 7 imagery. *Int. J. Remote Sens.* **2006**, 27, 4117–4135. [CrossRef]
- 17. Ozdogan, M.; Gutman, G. A New Methodology to Map Irrigated Areas Using Multi-Temporal MODIS and Ancillary Data: An Application Example in the Continental US. *Remote Sens. Environ.* **2008**, *112*, 3520–3537. [CrossRef]
- Boken, V.K.; Hoogenboom, G.; Kogan, F.N.; Hook, J.E.; Thomas, D.L.; Harrison, K.A. Potential of using NOAA-AVHRR data for estimating irrigated area to help solve an inter-state water dispute. *Int. J. Remote Sens.* 2004, 25, 2277–2286. [CrossRef]
- Xiao, X.; Boles, S.; Liu, J.; Zhuang, D.; Frolking, S.; Li, C.; Salas, W.; Moore, B., III. Mapping paddy rice agriculture in southern China using multi-temporal MODIS images. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 2005, 95, 480–492. [CrossRef]
- Xiao, X.; Boles, S.; Frolking, S.; Li, C.; Babu, J.Y.; Salas, W.; Moore, B. Mapping paddy rice agriculture in South and Southeast Asia using multi-temporal MODIS images. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 2005, 100, 95–113. [CrossRef]
- Gumma, M.K.; Thenkabail, P.S.; Hideto, F.; Nelson, A.; Dheeravath, V.; Busia, D.; Rala, A. Mapping Irrigated Areas of Ghana Using Fusion of 30 m and 250 m Resolution Remote-Sensing Data. *Remote Sens.* 2011, 3, 816–835. [CrossRef]
- 22. Baghdadi, N.; Zribi, M. Land Surface Remote Sensing in Continental Hydrology; ISTE Press: London, UK; Elsevier: Oxford, UK, 2016.
- 23. Morvan, A.L.; Zribi, M.; Baghdadi, N.; Chanzy, A. Soil moisture profile effect on radar signal measurement. *Sensors* 2008, *8*, 256–270. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 24. Anguela, T.P.; Zribi, M.; Hasenauer, S.; Habets, F.; Loumagne, C. Analysis of surface and root-zone soil moisture dynamics with ERS scatterometer and the hydrometeorological model SAFRAN-ISBA-MODCOU at Grand Morin watershed (France). *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.* **2008**, *12*, 1415–1424. [CrossRef]
- Zribi, M.; Chahbi, A.; Shabou, M.; Lili-Chabaane, Z.; Duchemin, B.; Baghdadi, N.; Amri, R.; Chehbouni, A. Soil surface moisture estimation over a semi-arid region using ENVISAT ASAR radar data for soil evaporation evaluation. *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.* 2011, *15*, 345–358. [CrossRef]
- 26. Zribi, M.; Gorrab, A.; Baghdadi, N. A new soil roughness parameter for the modelling of radar backscattering over bare soil. *Remote Sens. Environ.* **2014**, *152*, 62–73. [CrossRef]
- 27. Fontanelli, G.; Paloscia, S.; Zribi, M.; Chahbi, A. Sensitivity analysis of X-band SAR to wheat and barley leaf area index in the Merguellil Basin. *Remote Sens. Lett.* **2013**, *4*, 1107–1116. [CrossRef]
- Zribi, M.; Dechambre, M. A new empirical model to retrieve soil moisture and roughness from C-band radar data. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 2003, 84, 42–52. [CrossRef]
- Baghdadi, N.; Cresson, R.; Pottier, E.; Aubert, M.; Zribi, M.; Jacome, A.; Benabdallah, S. A potential use for the C-band polarimetric SAR parameters to characterize the soil surface over bare agriculture fields. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* 2012, 50, 3844–3858. [CrossRef]
- Srivastava, H.S.; Patel, P.; Manchanda, M.L.; Adiga, S. Use of multiincidence angle RADARSAT-1 SAR data to incorporate the effect of surface roughness in soil moisture estimation. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* 2003, 41, 1638–1640. [CrossRef]
- Sikdar, M.; Cumming, I. A modified empirical model for soil moisture estimation in vegetated areas using SAR data. In Proceedings of the 2004 IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium, Anchorage, AK, USA, 20–24 September 2004.
- Tomer, S.K.; Al Bitar, A.; Sekhar, M.; Zribi, M.; Bandyopadhyay, S.; Sreelash, K.; Sharma, A.K.; Corgne, S.; Kerr, Y. Retrieval and Multi-scale Validation of Soil Moisture from Multi-temporal SAR Data in a Tropical Region. *Remote Sens.* 2015, 7, 8128–8153. [CrossRef]
- Gao, Q.; Zribi, M.; Escorihuela, M.J.; Baghdadi, N. Synergetic use of Sentinel-1 and Sentinel-2 data for soil moisture mapping at 100 m resolution. *Sensors* 2017, 17, 1966. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- El Hajj, M.; Baghdadi, N.; Zribi, M.; Bazzi, H. Synergic Use of Sentinel-1 and Sentinel-2 Images for Operational Soil Moisture Mapping at High Spatial Resolution over Agricultural Areas. *Remote Sens.* 2017, 9, 1292. [CrossRef]
- Ribbes, F.; Toan, T.L. Rice field mapping and monitoring with RADARSAT data. Int. J. Remote Sens. 1999, 20, 745–765. [CrossRef]
- 36. Shao, Y.; Fan, X.; Liu, H.; Xiao, J.; Ross, S.; Brisco, B.; Brown, R.; Staples, G. Rice monitoring and production estimation using multitemporal RADARSAT. *Remote Sens. Environ.* **2001**, *76*, 310–325. [CrossRef]
- 37. Zribi, M.; Andre, C.; Decharme, B. A Method for Soil Moisture Estimation in Western Africa Based on the ERS Scatterometer. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* 2008, 46, 438–448. [CrossRef]
- Patel, P.; Srivastava, H.S.; Panigrahy, S.; Parihar, J.S. Comparative evaluation of the sensitivity of multi-polarized multi-frequency SAR backscatter to plant density. *Int. J. Remote Sens.* 2006, 27, 293–305. [CrossRef]
- Jacome, A.; Bernier, M.; Chokmani, K.; Gauthier, Y.; Poulin, J.; De Sève, D. Monitoring Volumetric Surface Soil Moisture Content at the La Grande Basin Boreal Wetland by Radar Multi Polarization Data. *Remote Sens.* 2013, 5, 4919–4941. [CrossRef]
- Amazirh, A.; Merlin, O.; Er-Raki, S.; Gao, Q.; Rivalland, V.; Malbeteau, Y.; Khabba, S.; Escorihuela, M.J. Retrieving surface soil moisture at high spatio-temporal resolution from a synergy between Sentinel-1 radar and Landsat thermal data: A study case over bare soil. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 2018, 211, 321–337. [CrossRef]
- Eweys, O.A.; Elwan, A.; Borham, T. Retrieving topsoil moisture using RADARSAT-2 data, a novel approach applied at the east of The Netherlands. *J. Hydrol.* 2017, 555, 670–682. [CrossRef]
- Gherboudj, I.; Magagi, R.; Berg, A.A.; Toth, B. Soil moisture retrieval over agricultural fields from multi-polarized and multi-angular RADARSAT-2 SAR data. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 2011, 115, 33–43. [CrossRef]
- 43. Karjalainen, M.; Kaartinen, H.; Hyyppä, J.; Laurila, H.; Kuittinen, R. The Use of ENVISAT Alternating Ploarization SAR Images in Agricultureal Monitoring in Compatison with RADARSAT-1 SAR Images. In Proceedings of the ISPRS Congress, Istanbul, Turkey, 12–23 July 2004.
- 44. Chauhan, S.; Srivastava, H.S. Comparative evaluation of the sensitivity of multi-polarized SAR and optical data for various land cover classes. *Int. J. Adv. Remote Sens. GIS Geogr.* **2016**, *4*, 1–14.
- INFORMACIÓ DE LES DADES SIGPAC. Available online: https://analisi.transparenciacatalunya.cat/ api/views/w9bf-jejh/files/36948005-55ef-4003-826b-d01c17968ddf?download=true&filename=Dades\_ SIGPAC\_2017.pdf (accessed on 1 May 2018).
- 46. El Departament d'Agricultura, Ramaderia, Pesca i Alimentació (DARP)—Mapa Agricultura. Available online: http://sig.gencat.cat/visors/Agricultura.html (accessed on 1 May 2018).
- Escorihuela, M.J.; Quintana-Segui, P. Comparison of remote sensing and simulated soil moisture datasets in mediterranean landscapes. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 2016, 180, 99–114. [CrossRef]
- 48. Edelson, R.A.; Krolik, J.H. The discrete correlation function—A new method for analyzing unevenly sampled variability data. *Astrophys. J.* **1988**, *333*, 646–659. [CrossRef]

- 49. Mandelbrot, B.B. *Fractals, Form, Chance and Dimension*; W. H. Freeman and Company: San Francisco, CA, USA, 1977; p. 365. [CrossRef]
- Amri, R.; Zribi, M.; Lili-Chabaane, Z.; Duchemin, B.; Gruhier, C.; Chehbouni, A. Analysis of vegetation behavior in a north African semi-arid region, using SPOT-Vegetation NDVI data. *Remote Sens.* 2011, 3, 2568–2590. [CrossRef]
- 51. Sun, W.; Xu, G.; Gong, P.; Liang, S. Fractal analysis of remotely sensed images: A review of methods and applications. *Int. J. Remote Sens.* **2006**, *27*, 4963–4990. [CrossRef]
- Menenti, M.; Azzali, S.; Vries, A.; Fuller, D.; Prince, S. Vegetation monitoring in southern Africa using temporal fourrier analysis of AVHRR/NDVI observations. In Proceedings of the International Symposium on Remote Sensing in Arid and Semi-arid Regions, Lanzhou, China, 25–28 August 1993; Volume 3, pp. 287–294.
- Havlin, S.; Amaral, L.A.N.; Ashkenazy, Y.; Golberger, A.L.; Ivanov, P.C.; Peng, C.K.; Stanley, H.E. Application of statistical physics to heartbeat diagnosis. *Physica A* 1999, 274, 99–110. [CrossRef]
- 54. Vapnik, V.; Lerner, A. Pattern recognition using generalized portrait method. *Autom. Remote Control* **1963**, 24, 774–780.
- 55. Ho, T.K. Random Decision Forests. In Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Document Analysis and Recognition, Montreal, QC, Canada, 14–16 August 1995; pp. 278–282.
- 56. Ho, T.K. The Random Subspace Method for Constructing Decision Forests. *IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell.* **1998**, 20, 832–844. [CrossRef]
- 57. Fukunaga, K.; Hostetler, L. The estimation of the gradient of a density function, with applications in pattern recognition. *IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory* **1975**, *21*, 32–40. [CrossRef]
- Comaniciu, D.; Meer, P. Mean shift: A robust approach toward feature space analysis. *IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell.* 2002, 24, 603–619. [CrossRef]
- Comaniciu, D.; Meer, P. Mean shift analysis and applications. In Proceedings of the Seventh IEEE International Conference on Computer Vision, Kerkyra, Greece, 20–27 September 1999; Volume 2, pp. 1197–1203.



© 2018 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

# 5.4 Summary and Conclusions

In this chapter, an approach is developed for irrigation based on Sentinel-1 radar data considering both VV and VH polarization. Three statistics and metrics are found to be operational for classification of irrigated crops, irrigated trees and non-irrigated fields. The validations with ground measurements show good performances of both SVM and RF classifications. However, RF depends too greatly on the number and location of the ground truth fields for machine learning and is less robust compared with SVM.

The results of classification demonstrate the potential of Sentinel-1 data for irrigation mapping at the field scale. This approach can be used in any agricultural areas when SAR data is available, and it is adapted to regions where the use of optical data is limited because of climate conditions. Additionally, this method does not need to develop operational algorithms to estimate soil moisture before application; it is based directly on radar signal analysis.

In the present study, individual fields were identified thanks to the SIGPAC system. In areas where there was no ground field information available, an alternative method was to calculate the metrics from Sentinel-1 SAR data at the product spatial resolution. With the irrigation status monitored, the inclusion of it within an LSM needs to be investigated in a further study.

# Chapter 6

# Water Level Retrieval

#### Contents

6.1	Introduction	95
6.2	Methodologies	96
6.3	Published paper	98
6.4	Summary and Conclusions	124

# 6.1 Introduction

Dam construction is the most common way for the human to restrict the flow of water, and can be used for flood control, irrigation, hydropower, etc. In the Ebro river basin, the water withdrawals for irrigation mostly comes from the reservoirs either by inundation with channels leading water into the fields, or by sprinkler or drip whose water also come from the reservoirs or rivers. Therefore, the surface water within reservoirs and rivers is vital and needs to be estimated and monitored in a better way.

Satellite altimeters have proven to be valuable tools for monitoring the water levels within inland water systems, including lakes and rivers (*Alsdorf et al.*, 2007; *Calman and Seyler*, 2006; *Cretaux and Birkett*, 2006), from which water storage estimates can be derived. Traditionally, satellite altimeters were designed to monitor homogeneous surfaces such as oceans or ice sheets, resulting in poor performance over small inland water bodies due to the contribution from land contamination in the returned waveforms. Moreover, most studies about inland water bodies used low-resolution mode (LRM) altimeters. With the advent of synthetic aperture radar (SAR) altimetry, the along-track spatial resolution of which has been improved a lot, this has enabled the measurement of inland water levels with better accuracy and an increased spatial resolution.

This chapter aims to develop an operational methodology for water level retrieval from Sentinel-3 SAR mode Level-1B waveforms over small to middle-sized water bodies, whose width varies from hundreds of meters (close to along-track resolution) to a few kilometres, and/or surrounded by rapid changing topography. Three specialized algorithms or retrackers, namely the threshold retracker (*Davis*, 1997), the OCOG retracker (*Davis*, 1997; *Wingham et al.*, 1986), and our in-house SAR physical-based retracker (*Makhoul et al.*, 2018), together with a new waveform portion selection method, are evaluated in order to minimize land contamination in the waveforms, and to select the nadir return associated with the water body being overflown. The accuracy is assessed for each water body using *in situ* measurements from the gauging stations in the SAIH system. In this chapter, a short description of the methodology for water level retrieval is presented in Section 6.2, including the retrackers and waveform portion selection using DEM. The published article corresponding to this study can be found in Section 6.3, providing a more detailed literature review of inland water study and different retrackers, the methodologies, results, as well as detailed discussions and analysis. Finally, the summary and conclusions are presented in Section 6.4.

The author contributions can be found at the end of the published paper. As the first author of the article, Q. Gao performed the processing and analysis under the supervision of M.J. Escorihuela and based on the work of E. Makhoul (*Makhoul et al.*, 2018).

# 6.2 Methodologies

Retracking is a process that is applied to the waveforms to get a resulting estimated geophysical parameters. In this study, three retrackers are modelled to pick out the tracking point, which is corresponding to the satellite range, and furthermore to the water level:

- Threshold retracker, which is a simple retracker based on an estimation of the epoch (the leading edge position) as a percentage of the maximum peak (*Davis*, 1997, 1995).
- Offset Centre of Gravity (OCOG) retracker, which is an empirical retracker that implements a combination of the centre of gravity (COG) and a conventional offset to estimate the related epoch (the leading edge position). Three main parameters are estimated for the OCOG retracker: the COG, the window size (W) and the amplitude (A), as shown in Figure 6.1.



Figure 6.1: Schematic description of OCOG retracker with main parameters, where W is the window size, A is the amplitude, COG is the center of gravity of the window, and LEP is the leading edge position. (*Vignudelli et al.*, 2011).

• **Two-Step Physical-Based Retracker**, which is an in-house isardSAT implementation based on the SAR ocean model proposed by *Ray et al.* (2015), in which a physically based model of the SAR altimetric power waveform over the ocean is used to fit the backscattered

signal received by the actual altimetric sensor. The fitting parameters included are the epoch, amplitude, significant wave height (SWH), and mean square slope (MSS) related to the surface roughness. It is integrated into a two-step fitting procedure to meet the diversity of the backscattered echo waveforms over inland waters. In a first step, there is the fitting of epoch, amplitude, and SWH whilst keeping the roughness parameter fixed, then a second run is the fitting of the epoch, amplitude and roughness whilst keeping the SWH fixed. The estimate of the surface height was extracted from the fit with the best correlation coefficient between the measured waveform and the modelled waveform.

Retracking waveforms over inland water bodies are complex since the heterogeneity of the land covers potentially contaminates the waveform from the inland water bodies of interest. An example of the variation of waveforms in continental waters is shown in Figure 6.1. The presence of multiple peaks represents a challenge for the retracker when trying to obtain an accurate estimation of the continental water level.



Figure 6.2: Schematic representation of waveform variability along the satellite track in radar altimetry (*Maillard et al.*, 2015).

Taking into account the complexity of the multi-peaks in the backscattered waveforms, a methodology of the waveform portion selection using DEM information is proposed to select the portion of the waveform from nadir before the retrackers being applied, which can be seen as a pre-processing in the retracking chain. An illustration of the waveform portion selection process is shown in Figure 6.2. With the DEM height (SRTM DEM at a resolution of 30 m was used in this study) and the window delay as input, the method selects the waveform portion from nadir return based on a peak-valley approach. It selects the peak whose window delay is close to the nadir return (calculated from DEM), and selects the samples defined by the valleys surrounding this peak in addition to some guard samples to the left and right.





The water level for each footprint is retrieved based on the selected portion of the waveform with the application of the retracker. The time series of the water levels are calculated using a water mask polygon. The results show good agreement with the *in situ* measurements with ubRMSE over the Ribarroja Reservoir at about 16 cm, and that over the Ebro Reservoir at about 28 cm. A detailed methodology description can be found in the published article integrated with Section 6.3.

# 6.3 Published paper



Article



# Analysis of Retrackers' Performances and Water Level Retrieval over the Ebro River Basin Using Sentinel-3

Qi Gao <sup>1,2,3,\*</sup>, Eduard Makhoul <sup>1</sup>, Maria Jose Escorihuela <sup>1</sup>, Mehrez Zribi <sup>2</sup>, Pere Quintana Seguí <sup>3</sup>, Pablo García <sup>1</sup> and Mònica Roca <sup>1</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> isardSAT, Parc Tecnològic Barcelona Activa, Carrer de Marie Curie 8, 08042 Barcelona, Catalonia, Spain; Eduard.Makhoul@isardSAT.cat (E.M.); mj.escorihuela@isardSAT.cat (M.J.E.); Pablo.Garcia@isardSAT.cat (P.G.); Monica.Roca@isardSAT.cat (M.R.)
- <sup>2</sup> CESBIO (CNRS/CNES/UPS/IRD), 31401 CEDEX 9 Toulouse, France; mehrez.zribi@ird.fr
- <sup>3</sup> Observatori de l'Ebre (OE), Ramon Llull University, 43520 Roquetes, Spain; pquintana@obsebre.es
- \* Correspondence: qi.gao@isardSAT.cat; Tel.: +34-933-505-508

Received: 29 January 2019; Accepted: 21 March 2019; Published: 25 March 2019



Abstract: Satellite altimeters have been used to monitor river and reservoir water levels, from which water storage estimates can be derived. Inland water altimetry can, therefore, play an important role in continental water resource management. Traditionally, satellite altimeters were designed to monitor homogeneous surfaces such as oceans or ice sheets, resulting in poor performance over small inland water bodies due to the contribution from land contamination in the returned waveforms. The advent of synthetic aperture radar (SAR) altimetry (with its improved along-track spatial resolution) has enabled the measurement of inland water levels with a better accuracy and an increased spatial resolution. This study aimed to retrieve water levels from Level-1B Sentinel-3 data with focus on the minimization of the land contamination over small- to middle-sized water bodies (130 m to 4.5 km), where continuous clean waveforms rarely exist. Three specialized algorithms or retrackers, together with a new waveform portion selection method, were evaluated to minimize land contamination in the waveforms and to select the nadir return associated with the water body being overflown. The waveform portion selection method, with consideration of the Digital Elevation Model (DEM), was used to fit the multipeak waveforms that arise when overflying the continental water bodies, exploiting a subwaveform-based approach to pick up the one corresponding to the nadir. The performances of the proposed waveform portion selection method with three retrackers, namely, the threshold retracker, Offset Center of Gravity (OCOG) retracker and two-step SAR physical-based retracker, were compared. No significant difference was found in the results of the three retrackers. However, waveform portion selection using DEM information great improved the results. Time series of water levels were retrieved for water bodies in the Ebro River basin (Spain). The results show good agreement with in situ measurements from the Ebro Reservoir (approximately 1.8 km wide) and Ribarroja Reservoir (approximately 400 m wide), with unbiased root-mean-square errors (RMSEs) down to 0.28 m and 0.16 m, respectively, depending on the retracker.

Keywords: altimetry; retracking; Sentinel-3; synthetic aperture radar (SAR)

#### 1. Introduction

Inland water systems constitute crucial resources of fresh water necessary for human survival [1]. Water within rivers and reservoirs represent the primary supply of drinking water, agricultural irrigation and industrial water usage globally [2], and also used to produce renewable hydrological energy. In addition, floods that periodically occur in every region of the world represent threats to crops, settlements, infrastructure, and most importantly life. Therefore, it is important to monitor

2 of 25

the water levels of inland water bodies to provide early-warning alerts for water shortages or flood predictions. Unfortunately, in situ gauging stations are not always available in many parts of the world, or not publicly available, being maintained by local authorities [3–5]. An alternative to this is the use of satellite radar altimeters. Satellite radar altimeters are essential tools for monitoring the oceans, a task they have performed for over 25 years [6]. Satellite radar altimetry has also proven to be valuable tools for monitoring the water levels within inland water systems, including lakes and rivers [3,7,8]. Satellite radar altimetry can help overcome the lack of data in many parts of the world, and contribute to monitoring the water levels both within inland water systems where no in situ data are available, and also within transboundary river basins.

A list of satellite radar altimetry missions and their resolutions is shown in Table 1. Until CryoSat-2 was launched, the satellite radar altimetry was pulse limited to low-resolution mode (LRM). CryoSat-2 is the first altimetry mission with the synthetic aperture radar (SAR) mode available, followed by Sentinel-3. Unlike classical pulse-limited altimetry, SAR altimetry exploits coherent processing of groups of transmitted pulses to make the most efficient use of the power reflected from the surface [9], therefore significantly improving along-track resolution [9–11], as shown in Table 1. Sentinel-3, the newest in-orbit satellite, has a temporal resolution of approximately 27 days and an inclination angle of approximately 98.6 degrees, meaning it can cover almost all Earth latitudes except the poles. Operating in high-resolution SAR mode [10], the ground track separation of Sentinel-3 at the equator is approximately 104 km. In contrast, the CryoSat-2 ground track separation at the equator reaches 7.7 km at the expense of its temporal resolution, at 369 days. Sentinel-3 exhibits the best along-track resolution at 300 m, close to the resolution of CryoSat-2 in SAR and interferometric SAR (SARIn) modes. However, CryoSat-2 has a focus on the cryosphere, and as a result covers most continental surfaces in LRM. Therefore, Sentinel-3 constitutes the first altimetry mission that covers the globe completely in SAR mode, and is thus the most ideal tool for inland water level monitoring thanks to its good global coverage and sufficient temporal and spatial resolutions.

Satellite Mission	Mission Period	Inclination (deg)	Revisit Time (Days)	Along-Track Resolution (km)	Ground Track Separation at Equator (km)
Geosat <sup>1</sup>	1985-1990	108	17	1.7	16
ERS <sup>2</sup> 1 and 2	1991–2011	98.5	35	1.7 (ocean mode) 3.4 (ice mode)	80
TOPEX/Poseidon <sup>3</sup>	1992-2006	66	10	2.2	315
GFO <sup>4</sup>	1998-2008	108	17	1.7 km	164
Jason 1, 2, and 3	2001-present	66	10	2.2	315
Envisat <sup>5</sup>	2002-2012	98.55	30-35	1.7	80
CryoSat-2 <sup>6</sup>	2010-present	92	369	0.25 (SAR and SARIN) 1.6 (LRM)	7.7
HY-2 <sup>7</sup>	2011-present	99.3	Two phases (14 and 168)	1.9	100
SARAL <sup>8</sup>	2013-present	98.55	35	1.4	75
Sentinel-3	2016-present	98.6	27	0.3	104
SWOT 9	Planned on 2021	77.6	21	0.1	0
JASON-CS <sup>10</sup> / SENTINEL-6	Planned on 2022	66	10	0.3	315

Table 1. Satellite radar altimetry missions.

<sup>1</sup> Geodetic Satellite. <sup>2</sup> European remote sensing satellite. <sup>3</sup> Topography Experiment/Poseidon. <sup>4</sup> GEOSAT Follow-On satellite. <sup>5</sup> Environmental Satellite. <sup>6</sup> Earth Explorer Opportunity Mission. <sup>7</sup> Haiyang-2/Ocean-2. <sup>8</sup> Satellite with Argos (Data Collection System) and ALtiKa (Altimeter in Ka-band). <sup>9</sup> Surface Water Ocean Topography Mission. <sup>10</sup> Jason Continuity of Service Mission.

The majority of previous studies [12–27] focus on relatively large water bodies with a scale of several kilometers. One of the first studies employing satellite altimetry for inland water level extraction was performed by Koblinsky et al. [12], who processed Geodetic Satellite (Geosat) waveforms to estimate the water levels at four sites in the Amazon basin. A root-mean-square

#### 6.3. PUBLISHED PAPER

Remote Sens. 2019, 11, 718

3 of 25

error (RMSE) of 70 cm was estimated between the satellite and in situ measurements. Since then, with new generations of satellites, the spatial resolution and the accuracy of the orbit determination have both improved, thereby increasing the accuracies of the estimation results. Accordingly, several studies have since focused on lakes and large rivers with scales, ranging from 1000 km<sup>2</sup> to 80,000 km<sup>2</sup>, and demonstrated good results [12–27]. For example, Nielsen et al. [17] used Environmental Satellite (Envisat) and CryoSat-2 SAR data to retrieve the water levels over Vaenern (Sweden, 5650 km<sup>2</sup>) and Lake Okeechobee (Florida, 1900 km<sup>2</sup>), and obtained good accuracies with RMSEs, varying from 4 cm to 9 cm between the satellite-retrieved water levels and in situ measurements. Currently, several online data hubs, such as the Database for Hydrological Time Series of Inland Waters (DAHITI) (https://dahiti.dgfi.tum.de/en/) [28], Hydroweb (http://hydroweb.theia-land. fr/) [29], Global Reservoir and Lake Monitoring (https://ipad.fas.usda.gov/cropexplorer/global\_ reservoir/) [30], and Thematic Exploitation Platform (TEP) for Hydrology (https://hydrology-tep. eo.esa.int/) [31], also provide time series of water levels over large lakes and rivers. The web platform named SAR Versatile Altimetric Toolkit for Ocean Research & Exploitation (SARvatore) (http://gpod.eo.esa.int/services/CRYOSAT\_SAR/) can also provide Level-2 water level product of Sentinel-3 by exploiting 80 Hz data on line and on demand using the G-POD (Grid-Processing On Demand) service [32].

Numerous studies [33–43] have also focused on middle-sized water bodies. For example, Birkinshaw et al. [33] measured the water level of the Mekong River, the width of which varies from 400 m to 1700 m; their results show RMSEs of approximately 44-65 cm for Envisat and 46-76 cm for European Remote-Sensing Satellite-2 (ERS-2). Da Silva et al. [34] studied water level time series over the Amazon River basin, which exhibits widths ranging from several kilometers to less than a hundred meters, using both Envisat and ERS-2; they showed a RMSE varying from 12 cm in the best cases, 40 cm in most cases, to several meters in the worst cases. Furthermore, Michailovsky et al. [35] employed Envisat to monitor the Zambezi River basin and reported river widths reaching 80 m with RMSEs of 32–72 cm relative to in situ measurements at different locations. In addition, Maillard et al. [36] measured the water levels of medium-sized rivers with widths between 100 and 1000 m over the São Francisco River, Brazil, with RMSEs lower than 60 cm, and better than 30 cm in some cases using Envisat and Satellite with ARgos and ALtiKa (SARAL) data. Most studies of middle-sized water bodies used mainly Envisat and ERS. In addition, previous results referred to LRM altimeters, which provide accuracies on the order of tens of centimeters. RMSEs over different water targets vary with size and morphology, with smaller size and complexity of the shape bring more uncertainties. With the launch of Sentinel-3, equipped with a SAR Altimeter (SRAL), there is a need to evaluate its performance. Because of its higher spatial along-track resolution, SRAL is naturally better suited to eliminate land contaminations found within LRM altimetry footprint [44]. Our study objective was to retrieve water levels in challenging environments exploiting SAR altimeter data capabilities. We focused on middle-sized and small-sized water bodies whose width varies from hundreds of meters (close to along-track resolution) to a few kilometers, and/or surrounded by rapid changing topography.

As the backscattered waveform depends on the surface reflecting the signal, altimeter data are usually applied by different retrackers adapted to different surfaces to better locate the height of the reflective surface. A lot of research has been carried out regarding this, and is still ongoing in the retracking modeling framework, specifically considering the evolution from the LRM to SAR altimetric operation [45]. There are two types of retrackers, based on either empirical observations and practical experience, or theoretical knowledge of microwave scattering at nadir, namely empirical retracker and physical-based retracker, respectively. Most notable empirical retrackers include the threshold [46], beta-5 [47], and the Offset Center of Gravity (OCOG) [46,48], with the OCOG being the core of ice-1 retracker [49]. The physical-based retrackers include the LRM ocean retrackers based on the well-known Brown ocean waveform model [50] (e.g., ice-2 retracker [51,52]), and the altimetry SAR mode ocean retrackers based on the original work of Ray et al. [53] (e.g., the SAMOSA retracker [53,54]).

4 of 25

Whilst well-developed retrackers have been defined for operation over the oceans and ice surfaces, called ocean retrackers and ice retrackers, respectively, no retracker has been adapted for inland water bodies as of yet. Jarihani et al. [15] compared the results from different satellite missions for inland water bodies, where most previous studies used ice retrackers [15–18,24,34,36], and some others included ocean retrackers [15,16,24]. Nevertheless, different retrackers need to be developed and compared for inland water bodies. Due to the relatively recent advance towards SAR altimetry operation, started by the CryoSat-2 mission [55], and continued with the Sentinel-3 [56] mission, most of the studies over inland water are quite limited to the classical LRM operation. When trying to retrack waveforms over continental water bodies, the radar altimetric community has widely applied different retrackers including threshold, ice-1 and ice-2 retrackers. The robust OCOG retracker shows a consistent behavior over the different types of waveforms found in [57] with SARAL/Altika mission over different rivers and reservoirs in India. The SAMOSA retracker and its further adaptations have proven well fitting with CryoSat-2 data not only over the open-ocean and coastal zones [58], but also over ice sheets and inland waters where waveforms show specular characteristics [25,59].

Studies also show the possibilities of retrieving water levels over very small water bodies using techniques that allow precisely monitoring water surfaces. Investigation of individual echoes of Envisat LRM altimetry [60–63] has shown the possibility of retrieving water levels over water bodies with widths down to 50 m [63]. The SARvatore service provides 80 Hz data dedicated to inland water bodies. Another retracker, "fully focused SAR", has shown the potential of monitoring 40 m wide water surfaces by reducing the along-track resolution down to the theoretical limit, equaling half the antenna length [64]. The fully focused processing is a very promising processing technique that can provide very high resolution Level-1B products, and has the ability to open a new paradigm in SAR altimetry when it becomes fully operational.

The objective of our study was to develop an operational methodology for water level retrieval from altimetry SAR mode Level-1B waveforms. We focused on small water bodies where continuous clean waveforms rarely exist, and efforts were made to better retrack the contaminated waveforms to improve the accuracy of the water level. First, we modeled three different retrackers including the most widely used threshold retracker, the OCOG retracker, and our in-house SAR physical-based retracker [65] (isardSAT SAR retracker in [65] is an implementation based on the original physical-based model developed by Ray et. al [53], which is also the origin of the sometimes-called SAMOSA model). The latter was integrated in a two-step fitting procedure, exploiting both its normal operation over ocean-like waveforms, and the adaptation to peaky-like waveforms, expected from inland waters. For the second typology, the mean squared slope (MSS) describing the sea surface roughness [66] was used as a fitting parameter instead of the significant wave height (SWH), as proposed and initially evaluated in [59] over Tibetan lakes when using SAMOSA model. (In isardSAT retracker, a rough surface of Gaussian distributions is assumed to define the scattering model, such that the normalized radar cross section (NRCS) as a function of incidence angle is modeled as a Gaussian [67], where the MSS is a parameter defining the directivity of surface radiation pattern, i.e. small values of MSS lead to very narrow and directive radiation patterns related to very specular surfaces. Therefore, considering this parameter (MSS) as fitting term rather than a constant one would allow better fitting specular waveforms.) Additionally, to limit land contamination within the received waveforms, we included Digital Elevation Model (DEM) information to select the waveform portion from nadir, which was performed as a pre-processing in the whole retracking chain. The remainder of this paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, the studied area and the database are presented. In Section 3, the methodologies are introduced, including the selection of the waveform portion, different retrackers and waveform filtering approach. In Section 4, the performances of the different retrackers and the results of the water level time series are shown in comparison with the Sentinel-3 Level-2 ocean retracked results from the European Space Agency (ESA) and in situ measurements. In Section 5, the method and results are discussed. In Section 6, the conclusions are presented.

*Remote Setting*<sup>2</sup>European Space Agency (ESA) and in situ measurements. In Section 5, the method and <sup>f 25</sup> results are discussed. In Section 6, the conclusions are presented.

#### 2. Study Area and Database 2. Study Area and Database

#### 2.1. Study Area 2.1. Study Area

Our study area encompassed the reservoirs and rivers in the Ebro River basin (Figure 1). The Ebro Our study area encompassed the reservoirs and rivers in the Ebro River basin (Figure 1). The Ebro River, which has a length of approximately 910 km and a drainage basin with an area of approximately 85 362 km is one of the most some of approximately 910 km and a drainage basin with an area of approximately 10 km and a drainage basin with an area of approximately 85 362 km is one of the most some of approximately 910 km and a drainage basin with an area of approximately 10 km and a drainage basin with an area of 85 362 km is one of the most some of approximately 910 km and a drainage basin with an area of 85 approximately 10 km and a drainage basin with an area of 85 approximately 10 km and a drainage basin with an area of 85 approximately 10 km and a drainage basin with an area of 85 approximately 10 km and a drainage basin with an area of 85 approximately 10 km and a drainage basin with an area of 85 approximately 10 km and a drainage basin with an area of 86 approximately 10 km and a drainage basin with an area of 86 approximately 10 km and a drainage basin with an area of 86 approximately 10 km and a drainage basin with an area of 86 approximately 10 km and a drainage basin with an area of 87 approximately 10 km and a drainage basin with an area of 86 approximately 10 km and a drainage basin with an area of 86 approximately 10 km and a drainage basin with an area of 86 approximately 10 km and a drainage basin with an area of 87 approximately 10 km and 10 km and



Figiguer d.1.The BlooRiver bassim: (a) the ElbroRiver network kinthet Bloeria Repensional and (U) (b) the twater budde is covered bloc Sentimel 3 statellite tracks with all available gauging stations.

THE Pyrnees mountain range lies to the month of the HoorRive basis Coorportently, ist is challenging to retrieve the water surface beights of the studied measurth and be based at any end of the mountainous terrain. The eletede a verteolistic extension in the second by the mountainous terrain. The eletede a verteolistic extension is the water based of the studied measure of the second by the mountainous terrain. The eletede a verteolistic extension is the water based of the studied measure of the second by the mountainous terrain. The eletede a verteolistic extension is the water based of the studied measure of the mountainous terrain. The eletede a verteolistic extension is the water based of the studies of the studied of the studied of the second by the mountainous terrain. The eletede a verteolistic extension of the studied of the studied of the studied of the second of the studied of the studies of the studied of the studies of the studies of the studies of the studies of the second of the second of the second of the studies and the location of gauging stations. Only tracks over passing the upper stream of the river (before the dam) were considered, ensuring the results could be validated validated against the in situ measurements.

# 104 *Remote Sens.* 2019, 11, x FOR PEER REVIEW

Remote Sens. 2019, 11, 718

Table 2. Selected water bodies.

6 of 25

CHAPTER 6. WATER LEVEL RETRIEVAL

Water Bodies	Coordinates	, Table 2. S	elected	atalli Гrack	‡e <sub>bodie</sub> Tracking s Mode	Gauging Station	Average Slope (5 km)
Water		X47* 1/1	Satellite		Tracking Ga	ruging Station	Average Slope
Ebi <b>Bordise</b> rvoir	$206^{\circ}M$	1.8 km	Tracks	014	Mocteosed loop	Distansekm	(5 km)
Ebro	(43.0°N,	1.8400 m–2.7 km	014		Closed loop	8 km	4%
Itoiz Reservoir	3.96(44,01)	400 depends on satell	ite	165	Closed loop	2 km	19%
Itoiz	(42.81°N, W)	lepends on satellite	165		Closed loop	2 km	19%
Irabia Reservoir	<sup>1.37</sup> (42.99°N,	tracks 130 m		186	Closed loop	450 m	20%
Irabia	(42.99°.15°W)	130 m	186		Closed loop	450 m	20%
Keetonera:	$1.15(421)(2^{\circ}N)$	4.5 km		222	Closed loop	1.5 km	3%
Reservoir	$(12.14).00^{\circ}$ (V) $0.68^{\circ}$ (W) $h_{10NI}$	4.5 km	222		Closed loop	1.5 km	3%
Ribarroja. Reservoir Reservoir	$(41.24^{\circ}N)$ $(41.24^{\circ}N)$ $0.40^{\circ}E)$	400 m	242	242	Open loop Open loop	3.5 km 3.5 km	$^{24\%}_{24\%}$
Mequinenza Mequinenza pReservoir	(41.26°N, 0.04@04°W)	600 m <sup>600 m</sup>	279	279	Open loop	30 km <sup>30 km</sup>	3.3%
Gevällers	(42.5 <b>9±</b> 2 <b>1</b> 5,9°N,	800 m 800 m	200	299	Open loop	500 <b>5</b> 00 m	27972%
Reservoir	0.86° <b>E</b> \$6°E)	000 III 000 III	2))	277	Open toppen loop	500 1400 111	21248 /0
Som Solved dor Beservoir	(41.7(841). 1.78°N,	1.2 km <sub>1.2</sub> km	242	242	Open loopen loop	2.5 km 5 km	4.54%5%
*Reservoir	0.20°E)				1 1		







1000 m

0 m

(a)



(c)



(**d**)

Figure 2. Cont.

### 6.3. PUBLISHED PAPER

Remote Sens. 2019, 11, x FOR PEER REVIEW

Remote Sens. 2019, 11, 718

-

7 of 25 7 of 26



Figure 2.2Wheterbookiesand DHM/swith water masks (green polygons), Sentimel-3 tracks (red linss) and gaugings stations (red low beation prins): (a) Ebro Reservoir, (b) Ebro Reservoir DEM, (c) Itaiz REservir) (d) (d) of Reservoir DEM, (d) Interior Reservoir (r) (rabbin Reservoir DEM, (c) Itaiz (H) Sotonera (ReSotonir DRM; (r) Riber Mja i Reservoir are (r) Ribaroj djr. Bibaroj djr.

## 2.2.2.DotadBase

# 2.2.1. Sentinel-3

Septimel-3313-an-Ocean-and-land mission based on a constellation of two satellites (Sentingl-3A and Septimel-3B). Sentingl-3A was launched on 16 February 2016, with data available beginning in June 2006. It was followed by, Sentingl-3B, which was launched on 25 April 2018, with data available beginning in Preember-2018. In this study, two years of Sentinel-3A data were used from June 2016 to June 2018. The SRAL instrument is the main topographic sensor used to provide water level 105

to June 2018. The SRAL instrument is the main topographic sensor used to provide water level measurements, and, hence, it was used in our research. The detailed parameters of the Sentinel-3 SRAL can be found in [70]. To acquire altimeter measurements, the Sentinel-3 SRAL transmits pulses at a Ku-band frequency, which is complemented by a C-band frequency to correct range delay errors due to the varying density of electrons in the ionosphere [70]. Sentinel-3 has two operational modes: SAR mode and LRM. As the SAR mode is available globally, we could retrieve inland water levels over any area tracked by Sentinel-3. The SRAL tracks the surface in two different tracking modes, namely, closed loop and open loop tracking. For closed loop tracking, the altimeter range window is autonomously positioned based on an on-board near real-time (NRT) analysis of the previous SRAL waveform; in contrast, for open loop tracking, the altimeter range window is positioned using a priori knowledge of the surface height stored in the instrument in a one-dimensional along-track DEM. The tracking modes for the studied water bodies over the Ebro River basin are listed in Table 2.

Three levels of processed altimeter data are available: Level-0, Level-1 and Level-2 products. In our study, Level-1 non-time critical (NTC) 20 Hz data were used for the water level retrieval by the three retrackers (i.e., the threshold, OCOG and two-step physical-based retrackers), and Sentinel-3 Level-2 ocean retracked data from ESA were used for comparison.

The main objectives of the Level-2 processing of SAR mode data are to provide elementary retracked altimeter estimates of the oceans, coastal zones, ice sheets and sea ice elevations [71]. Different retracking algorithms are more suited to specific surfaces, that is, for ocean retracking, OCOG retracking, ice sheet retracking, ice retracking and sea ice retracking. Unfortunately, ice-related retracker results are not available for inland water bodies; hence, we used Sentinel-3 Level-2 ocean retracker results for comparison. Ocean retrackers try to fit theoretically modeled multi-look Level-1B (L1B) waveforms to real L1B SAR waveforms, thereby providing estimates of the epoch, composite sigma, amplitude and the mispointing angle [71].

#### 2.2.2. In Situ Data

In situ data for the Ebro River basin are available in the Automatic Hydrological Information System, in Spanish known as the "Sistema Automático de Información Hidrológica", or the SAIH Ebro data hub [72]. SAIH Ebro is an online system providing hourly and daily hydrological information, including river gauge data, reservoir levels, rainfall amounts and temperatures, over the Ebro River basin. Together with the Sentinel-3 passes, we studied eight water bodies in our research, as listed in Table 2. The in situ data were collected from June 2016 to June 2018 on an hourly basis.

#### 2.2.3. Digital Elevation Model

A DEM was used as an ancillary dataset for the selection of the waveform portion. The Shuttle Radar Topography Mission (SRTM) is an international research effort that obtains DEM data on a near-global scale from 56°S to 60°N [73]. The SRTM provides global data at two resolutions: 1 arc-second (~30 m) and 3 arc-seconds (~90 m). In our study, 1 arc-second global elevation data, which offer a worldwide coverage of void-filled data at a resolution of approximately 30 m, were used. The DEMs of water bodies are shown in Figure 2. The vertical accuracy of SRTM DEM is about  $\pm 16$  m (absolute) and  $\pm 6$  m (relative) [73–77]. However, vertical accuracy of the data decreases with the increase in slope and elevation due to presence of large outliers and voids [75].

#### 3. Methodology

#### 3.1. Geophysical Corrections

The space-borne radar altimeter is an essential tool for monitoring the oceans, but it can also be used for inland water surfaces, including lakes and rivers. The principle of altimetry can be found in [78] with application of geophysical corrections. In this study, corrections for the wet troposphere, dry troposphere, ionosphere, solid earth tide, geocentric pole tide and ocean loading tide were considered, as discussed by Fernandes et al. [79], and the geoid correction was applied. As the objective of the study was to directly exploit official Sentinel-3 L1B data and compare against Level-2 official products, the use of the geophysical corrections available in the Level-2 product were considered. The detailed corrections and their ranges are listed in Table 3 [80]. The Geoid model used is the Earth Gravitational Model 2008 (EGM2008) [81].

Correction	Model	Variable of Level-2 Product	Range of Correction
Dry troposphere	European Center for Medium-Range Weather Forecasts (ECMWF) model [82]	Mod_dry_tropo_cor_meas_altitude_01	1.7–2.5 m
Wet troposphere	ECMWF model [82]	Mod_wet_tropo_cor_meas_altitude_01	0–50 cm
Ionosphere	Global Ionospheric Map (GIM) [83]	Iono_cor_gim_01_ku	6–12 cm
Solid earth tide	Cartwright model [84]	Solid_earth_tide_01	-30 to +30 cm
Geocentric polar tide	Historical pole location [85]	Pole_tide_01	-2 to $+2$ cm
Ocean loading tide	GOT00.2 model [86]	Ocean_tide_sol1_01	-2 to +2 cm

Table 3. Geophysical corrections from the Sentinel-3 Level-2 product.

To improve the altimeter range accuracy, which is related to the water level measurement accuracy, the waveform needs to be retracked precisely to determine the accurate tracking point located on the leading edge [87]. We tested three different retrackers, which are listed in Section 3.2, to find the tracking points precisely from the land-contaminated waveforms.

#### 3.2. Retrackers

#### 3.2.1. Threshold Retracker

The threshold retracker is a simple retracker based on an estimation of the epoch (the leading edge position) as a percentage of the maximum peak [46,88]. In principle, it works well when the maximum peak originates from a nadir water body. The epoch is calculated as the first sample or range bin that is above a percentage of the waveform peak. To provide a higher precision on the estimated epoch, a linear interpolation between the range bins adjacent to the threshold crossing is used as suggested in [46]:

$$epoch = n_{th} - 1 + \left(A_{peak} \cdot \eta_{th} - y(n_{th} - 1)\right) / \left(y(n_{th}) - y(n_{th} - 1)\right)$$
(1)

where  $n_{th}$  is the first range bin of the waveform whose power,  $y(n_{th})$  is right above the threshold  $(A_{peak} \cdot \eta_{th})$ ,  $A_{peak}$  is the amplitude of the peak of the waveform, and  $\eta_{th}$  is defined as a threshold percentage (50% in our case). The term  $(A_{peak} \cdot \eta_{th} - y(n_{th} - 1))/(y(n_{th}) - y(n_{th} - 1))$  in Equation (1) corresponds to the linear proportionality coefficient.

#### 3.2.2. Offset Center of Gravity (OCOG) Retracker

The OCOG retracker [46,48] was designed to calculate the center of gravity of the reflected waveform based on the power levels in the bins. It is an empirical retracker that implements a combination of the center of gravity (COG) and a conventional offset to estimate the related epoch (the leading edge position). Three main parameters are estimated for the OCOG retracker: the COG, the window size (W) and the amplitude (A).

Frappart's definition [24] was considered in our analysis using squares of the power samples:

$$COG = \frac{\sum_{n=n_1}^{n_2} n \cdot y^2(n)}{\sum_{n=n_1}^{n_2} y^2(n)}$$

$$W = \frac{\left(\sum_{n=n_1}^{n_2} y^2(n)\right)^2}{\sum_{n=n_1}^{n_2} y^4(n)}$$

$$A = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{n=n_1}^{n_2} y^4(n)}{\sum_{n=n_1}^{n_2} y^2(n)}}$$
(2)

where y(n) is the  $n_{\text{th}}$  power sample of the input waveform, and  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  are the initial and end range bins or positions, respectively, in the waveform used for the OCOG parameter estimation.

The estimated epoch can then be implemented using the conventional OCOG definition of the epoch:

$$epoch = COG - W/2 \tag{3}$$

#### 3.2.3. Two-Step Physical-Based Retracker

The in-house isardSAT SAR ocean retracker in [65] is integrated in a two-step fitting procedure to operate over inland waters, providing robust surface height estimation with a minimal modification to the SAR ocean retracker model. The waveforms reflected from an inland water body might exhibit ocean-like shapes (winds blowing over lakes) or, most commonly, a peakier shape (smoother surfaces) for small water bodies. To adapt to the latter ones, the MSS, describing the sea surface roughness [66], was used instead of the SWH as a fitting parameter; this approach is initially considered in [59], when exploiting the SAMOSA model over Tibetan plateau lakes.

The SAR ocean retracker in [65] considers a scattering model of rough surface with Gaussian statistics, and so the normalized backscattering coefficient (surface radiation pattern) as function of the incidence angle  $\theta_{inc}$  can be modeled as [67]:

$$\sigma^{0}(\theta_{inc}) = \sigma^{0}(0) \cdot \exp\left(-\frac{(\tan \theta_{inc})^{2}}{MSS}\right)$$
(4)

where the MSS represents the variance of the surface slopes. From the relationship in Equation (4), it can determined that, when the variance of the surface slopes (MSS) is large, a broad surface radiation pattern is obtained (rough surfaces), while, when MSS tends to small values, the pattern is more directed as expected for specular returns (smooth surfaces). Therefore, the MSS can be accordingly adjusted as a fitting parameter to properly fit specular returns. With the objective of exploiting the SAR ocean retracker [65] with minimal changes over inland waters, the same retracker model can be used, but the SWH is fixed (to a value close to zero), while the MSS or surface roughness is fitted. A similar approach with the SAMOSA model is exploited in [89] to fit waveform returns from leads.

To ensure that the different typology of waveforms (ocean- and specular-like) can be fitted, a two-step retracking is implemented. In a first run, the normal operation of the physical-based retracker in [65] was considered, i.e., the SWH was one of the fitting parameters (keeping MSS constant). Then, a second run of the fitting was implemented but this time the SWH was fixed (to a very small value around 1e-5) and the MSS was fitted so that the radiation pattern of the rough surface was adjusted. Then, the estimate of the surface height was extracted from the fit with the best correlation coefficient between the measured waveform and the modeled waveform. In this way, it was ensured that peaky-like waveforms could be properly fitted using the MSS as a fitting parameter, since the normal SAR ocean retracker would fail to adjust the model. An example of the operation of the two-step retracker is shown in Figure 3 over a peaky waveform.

The in-house isardSAT SAR ocean retracker integrated in the two-step procedure [65] is an implementation based on the SAR ocean model proposed by Chris Ray et al. [53]. It is a physically-based model of the altimetric power waveform over the ocean received by the altimetric sensor after delay-Doppler (or SAR) processing. Details regarding the definition and implementation of this retracker can be found in [65].

In SAR or delay-Doppler altimetry, different Doppler beams, also known as looks (*l*), are synthesized to focus on a given surface on the ground [65]. Thus, averaging of all these Doppler power beams would lead to the final multilook power waveform to be retracked. Therefore, for this physical-based retracker, each single-look power waveform was modeled as follows:

#### 6.3. PUBLISHED PAPER

Remote Sens. 2019, 11, 718

$$P_{(k,l)}(P_u, k_0, SWH/MSS) = P_u \cdot B_{(k,l)}(MSS) \cdot \sqrt{(g_l(SWH))} [f_0(g_l(SWH) \cdot (k - k_0)) + T_{(k,l)}(MSS) \cdot g_l(SWH) \cdot \frac{\sigma_z^2}{I^2} \cdot f_1(g_l(SWH) \cdot (k - k_0))]$$
(5)

where k refers to the range index vector within the received waveform window, l is the Doppler index or beam pointed to the specific surface,  $P_u$  is the amplitude,  $k_0$  is the epoch (related to the surface height), *SWH* is the significant wave height (referred also as  $H_s$ ), and *MSS* is the mean square slope **related**et **a the surfaceroegenergy the first iteration** of the two-step retracker,  $P_u$ ,  $k_0$ , *SWH* **areothe** fitting parameters, while in the second iteration the parameters being adjusted are  $P_u$ ,  $k_0$ , *MSS*.



**Figure 3.** Operation of the two-step physical-based retracker over peaky-like waveform. r (1st) is the **Figure 3** operation of the two-step physical based retracker over peaky-like waveform r (1st) is the **SWH** the switch has of retracker over peaky-like (2nd) for the r (1st) is the correlation coefficient for the SWH fit with the original waveform, while r (2nd) is the correlation coefficient for the MSS fit.

The terms  $B_{k,l}$  and  $T_{k,l}$  encompass the information related to the antenna pattern, antenna mis-Doming, and isande TastaRon parterns. The intersolution of the intersolu

$$P_{(k,l)}(P_u, k_0, SWH/MSS) / \sigma_{ac}^2 + \left(2 \cdot \sigma_{al} \cdot \frac{L_x}{L_y^2} \cdot l\right) + \sigma_z^2 / L_z^2$$

where  $\sigma_{ac}$  and  $\sigma_{al}$  refer to the WidtB<sub>8k</sub>9f (MSDaus(inr(SWH2))) by (mat(SWH2)) (katekt)) point target response in the across-track (or range) and along-track (azimuth) dimensions, respectively, and  $\sigma_z$ corresponds to the standard deviation (MSthe sea SWH2) in paybrid to the standard deviation (MSthe sea SWH2) in paybrid to the SWH as  $\sigma_z = \frac{H_s}{4}$ . The definition of the additional terms in Equation (6) can be found in Table 4, where the main paymenters of the SAR occan model are summarized

The terms  $B_{k,l}$  and  $T_{k,l}$  encompass the information related to the antenna pattern, antenna mis-pointing, and surface radiation patterns. They are obtained, respectively, as the constant and first order terms of a Taylor approximation of the antenna and surface radiation pattern's product. The closed expression for these two terms can be found in [65]. A Gaussian-like antenna and surface radiation (as indicated in Equation (5)) patterns were assumed.

In Equation (5),  $g_l$  refers to the Doppler-dependent (l) dilation term, and takes into account

1

in Table 4, where the main parameters of the SAR ocean model are summarized. where, k refers to the range index vector within the received waveform window, l is the Doppler dependent functions modulated by the Doppler-dependent index or beam pointed to the specific surface,  $P_u$  is the amplitude,  $k_o$  is the epoch (related to the dilation term and can be obtained from the general expression (for n = 0 and 1): surface height), SWH is the significant wave height (referred also as  $H_s$ ), and MSS is the mean square slope related to the surface roughness. In the first iteration of the two-step retracker,  $P_u, k_0, SWH$  are the fitting parameters, = while  $e^2n$ -the second iteration the parameters being adjust(a) are  $P_u, k_0, MSS$ .

12 of 25

Parameter	Definition	Formulation		
BW <sup>1</sup>	Receive Bandwidth	-		
PRF	Pulse Repetition Frequency	-		
$N_p$	Number of Pulses in a burst	-		
$f_c$	Carrier frequency	-		
$c_0$	Speed of light	-		
R	Range to the surface (distance from	_		
R	satellite to the surface)			
$H_{orb}$	Orbit Height	-		
$H_s$	SWH	-		
$\sigma_{z}$	Standard deviation of the height PDF	$\frac{H_s}{4}$		
$\alpha_R$	Orbital factor	$\alpha_R = \frac{R + H_{orb}}{R}$		
$L_{x}$	Along-track resolution	$\frac{c_0 \cdot H_{orb} \cdot P\hat{R}F}{2 \cdot v_{sat} \cdot f_c \cdot N_p}$		
$L_y$	Across-track resolution	$\sqrt{\frac{c_0 \cdot H_{orb}}{\alpha_R \cdot BW}}$		
$L_z$	Vertical resolution	$\frac{c_0}{2.BW}$		

Table 4. Definition of the main parameters of the SAR ocean model [65].

<sup>1</sup> For a chirp pulse the bandwidth can be expressed in terms of the chirp rate  $(k_r)$  and pulse duration  $(T_p)$  as follows:  $BW = K_r \cdot T_p$ .

#### 3.3. Waveform Exclusion

For very small water bodies, the waveform may be highly contaminated by the land. Thus, we added additional conditions to exclude the waveforms with a poor quality.

First, if the epoch of the reference SRTM DEM is outside the waveform window, which has a measuring range of approximately 60 m, it is likely that the on-board tracker window was unable to focus on the reflecting surface. Second, within the vicinity of land, reflections from both water and land will contribute to the received waveform, resulting in more than one peak. If the number of outstanding peaks is larger than a threshold, the waveform may be contaminated substantially by land or contains no water information at all, making it not suitable for water level retrieval. In our case, the threshold was set to 5 based on the analysis of waveforms. The number of outstanding peaks is normally less five, even with land contaminations. Finally, sigma\_0, which is the backscatter coefficient for water from nadir, should be much larger than the backscatter coefficient for land, where the value is normally less than 50 dB based on the analysis in our study area. With these conditions (summarized below), we could filter out highly contaminated waveforms that were unsuitable for detecting the levels of water bodies:

- The epoch of the reference SRTM DEM must be within the waveform window
- Number of outstanding peaks < 5</li>
- Sigma\_0 (backscatter coefficient) > 50 dB

After waveform exclusion, only the remaining waveforms (including both slightly contaminated and clean waveforms) were considered in our study to maximize the usage of the available measurements in the water body of interest. For a small water body, the quality of the waveform largely depends on the satellite tracks which drift daily, and the surface area changes with seasons, resulting in no clean waveform from time to time.

#### 6.3. PUBLISHED PAPER

Remote Sens. 2019, 11, 718

#### 3.4. Selection of the Waveform Portion

Over inland water bodies, the on-board tracker may not properly locate the retrieval window to acquire the signal from the nadir corresponding to the water body. In addition, specific across-track surface contamination will be present in the waveforms, making it difficult to properly track the desired portion of the waveform. In our study, we used DEM information (SRTM DEM at a resolution of 30 m) to locate the waveform portion that comes from nadir within the receiving window, and then retracked the waveform using the selected portion only. This pre-processing approach, which prepares the portion of waveforms, can be applied and integrated with any kind of retracker.

The waveform portion selection method isolates the nadir return within the receiving window as follows:

- From the geo-located surface of interest within the water body and beneath the satellite track, the associated height was interpolated from the DEM information and referred to the geodetic ellipsoid, *H*<sub>DEM</sub>.
- This height was subtracted from the satellite height (*H*<sub>orb</sub>) at the geo-located surface to obtain a rough estimation of the range (or equivalently window delay) from where the nadir returns were expected.
- This range was linked to a specific bin within the received waveform, by comparing it with the vector of ranges associated to each bin in the receiving window, which could be obtained from the measured range by the radar and the range sampling.
- The peak location closest to the previous range bin position was taken, and the portion of the waveform was selected around this peak considering the valley positions to the left and right of the peak plus some guard samples on top:
  - A built-in Matlab function (findpeaks) was used to compute the prominent or outstanding peaks within the waveform. Prominent peaks are those peaks that drop more than a given threshold value on either side of the peak before the signal attains a higher value.
  - The associated valley locations can be extracted using this built-in function, but taking as input the maximum of the whole waveform minus the waveform itself.

The water level for each footprint was retrieved based on the selected portion of the waveform applying the three retrackers. The time series of the water levels were calculated using a strict water mask polygon as shown in Figure 2, within which the water levels of the altimeter footprints were considered, selected and averaged for each track. The water mask polygon was created manually according to the shoreline displayed in the Google Earth image.

The workflow of the water level retrieval using the Sentinel-3 Level-1 product included four main steps: waveform exclusion, selecting the waveform portion using a DEM determining the retracking range using different retrackers, geophysical corrections and water level averaging, as shown in Figure 4. Geophysical corrections were applied to the retracked range using the Sentinel-3 Level-2 product, and the accuracy was assessed for each water body using in situ measurements from the gauging stations in the SAIH system.

#### Remathe Sens. 2019, 14, 71 POR PEER REVIEW

144 8f 25



**Figure 4.** Overview of the workflow. **Figure 4.** Overview of the workflow.

# 4. Results

**4. Results** 4.1. Selecting the Waveform Portion Using a DEM

4.1. Soluting the Wheeferie Brittiened diby adalla Sased contamination, the waveform will contain small peaks due to off-nadir land or land coverage that follow the large peak, which corresponds to the water. When a waveform is influenced by fand-based contamination, the waveform will contain small reflection within the altimeter footprint. In this case, as shown in Figure 5 (two outstanding peaks in peaks due to oil-hadir land or laid coverage that follow the large peak, which corresponds to the Figure 5 waveform), the negative respective the selected waveform within the altimeter rootpain. In this case, as shown in Figure 5 (two outstanding yeaks in waveform), the negative rootpaint for waveform within the altimeter rootpain. In this case, as shown in Figure 5 (two outstanding peaks in the selected waveform) and the selected waveform within the altimeter rootpaint for the selected waveform. the two-step physical-based retracker and OCOG retracker, especially for the OCOG retracker, whose peaks in Figure 5 waveform), the portion of the selected waveform provided a more precise tracking retracking point was the front edge of the COG window The footprint of the signal was very close to point for the ocog the shore, thereby introducing a large peak at the trailing edge. The DEM information was used to retracking point was the front edge of the COG window. The rootprint of the signal select the portion of the waveform closer to nadir. The closest peak and valley after nadir were selected for retracking. Figure 5a c shows the location of nadir in a black vertical line. The portion being information was used to select the portion of the waveform closer to hadir. The closest peak and selected is under the SWH fitting or MSS fitting line in Figure 5a with the two-step physical-based valley after nadir were selected for retracking. Figure 5ac shows the location of nadir in a black retracker, and is marked out in red crosses as the L1B Waveform portion in Figure 5, with OCOG The two-step the two step physical based retracker, and is marked fulling is the selected we very portion (Figure 5a) resulted in a 99% accuracy, while the fitting using the whole waveform (Figure 5b) resulted portion in Figure 5c with OCOG retracker. For the two step physical based retracker, the fitting in an accuracy of \$3%, making the location of the tracking point on the leading edge slightly different using the selected waveform portion (Figure 5a) resulted in a 99% accuracy while the fitting using In this study, the objective of the two-step physical-based retracker was to ensure proper retrieval of the whole waveform (Figure 3B) resulted physical-based retracker was to ensure proper retrieval of the surface height over inland waters, when exploiting the SAR ocean retracker in [65] with minimal point on the blective [65] with monimal the study, the the blective [65] with monimal point on the study. changes on its operation; the significance and interpretation of other geophysical parameters that physical-based retracker, was to ensure proper retrieval of the surface height over infland waters, when exploiting the SAR ocean retracker in [65] with minimal changes on its operation; the

### 6.3 Rembre SELLISHED FOR PERREVIEW

*Remote Sens.* **2019**, *11*, 718 15 of 25 significance and interpretation of other geophysical parameters that can be inferred (SWH and MSS) needs to be further investigated and it is out of the scope of the current study.

can beinthered (SWHemadkMSShereed Ctowberhunding ithestigated and vitiginoup of the scope of the invitentiate the first peak. However, when using the whole waveform, it was located in between peaks, resulfing the OAD Internations the international the set of the se ther fickepethe Havking provilmentialing the angel investigation of the set o tifdangestapking polinth, that show thin fifigured to of the GOG window. For which there should be the character the sedesting policy which not allow and the participation of the participat schickuasisher infligure tige via eshe senteres that without without a without those levis of the week of the senteres and the shection dethtoldiffestepeaksnotsbeing from the nadir water body but from the surroundings or other objectives, the threshold retracker with and without waveform portion selection led to different results.



Figure 5. Comparison of the waveform portion selection method with the method using the whole waveform fotothethwo-steep-stepsigall-basedkereatrad Rec Ounderta Rea (a) tetraesteep playsidad based patysaikatrbasital thet saiketed into the courte proci in nav (dif) transportation h (ds) cal-basted returns ikal-basitkat bei intro the transport withefbenny/(o) COOP wetwa (keOOOD the used keted in har see a peat is a year of the open the second s therackolewith the number of the states on an Richard states the the states of the sta coefficient funtlos Midichit with the Witgins with the original (2ad) is the anatrel with is this is the control of the contro MSfiftent for the MSS fit.

The differences between the performance wisis the waveform portion selection in the day athe methed winsithe include velocitor are abound in the there are issued and the second and the second and the second are about the second and the second are about the second and the second are about th Figregue The The They developed avere obtained from the Sentiers of Linvel 2 product pising the origin Retrocker rehisekde wart industrians ware form partion spection scheensar from pretion spection seven and alimitated master these compared with the weeked and the star betweeker waveform.

#### Remote Sens. 2019, 11, 718 Remote Sens. 2019, 11, x FOR PEER REVIEW

16 of 25 16 of 26



Higgure 6. Time senies waterlevels over the Ebord Beservionsing ingether version for portion to be subjection method (a); and using the wild be water for the b.

#### 42. Time Series Validation

Among the eight water bodies monitored in this study, the water levels over the Mequinenza Reservoir, Cavallers Reservoir and San Salvador Reservoir, all of which were tracked in an open loop tracking mode (on-board DEM dependent), could not be retracked. The difference between the on-board tracking heights derived from the received waveforms and the heights from the SRTM DEM with reference to the geodetic ellipsoid was almost 50 m over the Mequinenza Reservoir, more than 1000 m over the Cavallers Reservoir, and approximately 80 m over the San Salvador Reservoir. These findings indicate that the SRAL sensor lost its track and was unable to acquire the waveforms reflected from these water body surfaces.

Rematte Sens. 2019, 11, 7 HOR PEER REVIEW

17 of **26** of 25



Figure 7. Cont.

#### Remote Sens. 2019, 11, 7 BOR PEER REVIEW

18 of 26 of 25



Higgure 7. Water lewell timesseriescover lifférentravater cholockie(sa) (la)/itcRzsReseiny (b)/ (la)/itaRiaeResiry voir; (c) Sotonera Reservoir; and (c) Ribbaroja RReservoir.

Phy RNA 1876 and the Natural and State (miltication (Section 1997) Reservisias CarNICE Reservice in Eindle San Statemative Reservices, all of which were tracked in an open loop tracking mode (on-board DEM dependent), could not be retracked. The difference between the on-board tracking heights derived the received waveforms and the theights from the SRTM (8)DEM with reference to the geodetid ellipsoid was almost 50 m over the Mequinenza Reservoir, more than 1000 m over the Cavallers Reservoir, and approximately 80 m over the San Salvador Reservoir. where E[·] is the expectation operator and WL is the water level derived from satellite data. The RMSEs These findings indicate that the SRAL sensor lost its track and was unable to acquire the waveforms for different water bodies varied from 17 cm to more than 1 m. A comparison of the performances for reflected from these water body surfaces. the different refrackers over different water bodies is shown in Table 5. The best result was obtained the RMSE and unbiased RMSE (ubRMSE) (Equation (8)) were calculated, as listed in Table 5. for the Ribarroja Reservoir, which had an ubRMSE of approximately 16 cm. The results over the Ebro Processories for the different water bodies as it removes the bodies. Reservoir, Sotonera and Ribarroja Reservoirs were also satisfactory. The RMSEs for the Itoiz Reservoir and Irabia Reservoir were refutively law e with a ues is returned in the results using the three different/ptsarkeexplocanabahoperlataseanliferenseenexcentrfnevthedSatoverro.Resaranic and Riharroja Reverse site The Benn water a charge on the smallest when States the Sates and Benn states with a walle of approximately the anti-Font two area power at here and water a kation of the state of the sta bester over obea Riber ingather even in the second contraction of the second second second second second second 16 suits Advertitude along a Rebetterine Solts runan and IRibal-20 jack reservaire waithals that is face for Thorison selection on the desired and Irabia Reservoir were relatively large with values greater than 1 m. The results using the three different retrackers do not show large differences except for the Sotonera Resta Soft and arithmetic the soft of the back of the state o Sotonera Reservoir with a value of approximately 38 cm. The two-step physical based retracker and Tracking thres Wile Pediacker performed better of the Ribarroja Reservoir theofthe Chroshift tracker which the Ribarroja Reservoir theofthe Chroshift tracker which the second se had an ukray of approximately 1615m 1611 retracks 250 gave better or sults than the Level 1896 and retrackerResithout the wavefarkerportionselection method.02 1.10/1.00 1.10/1.00 1.41/1.03Irabia Reservoir 1.39/1.39 1.39/1.38 1.39/1.38 1.44/1.39 130 m Closed loop Sotonera Reservoir 4.5 km 0.60/0.43 0.49/0.38 1.65/1.19Closed loop 0.48/0.44Ribarroja Reservoir 400 m Open loop 0.18/0.16 0.29/0.28 0.31/0.16 0.44/0.20 Mequinenza Reservoir 600 m Open loop Off-track

#### 5. Discussion

Cavallers Reservoir

San Salvador Reservoir

800 m

1.2 km

Open loop

Open loop

In this study, the size of the target water bodies vary from 130 m to 4.5 km and change with seasons. The geometries of the water bodies are complex with irregular lake shores and various sizes,

Off-track

Off-track

making the along-track width (the width as seen by the satellite flying along the water body) very different from one satellite overpass to another due to the drifting satellite ground tracks. As a result, continuous clean waveforms rarely exist in our study area.

The shore of the Ebro Reservoir is irregular, and lands exist within water, resulting in no clean waveforms available over many tracks. Figure 6b shows the water level time series derived using the whole waveform, while Figure 6a shows the water level time series derived using the waveform portion selection. Retracking of the waveform portion accordingly reduced land contamination effects on the waveform. Figure 6a shows higher consistency with in situ time series, and thus shows that most of the outliers were caused by the land contamination. The land contaminated waveforms can be originated by surface area changes or satellite track drifting, making the altimeter footprint closer to the side bank, introducing outliers in the time series.

Over the water bodies where Sentinel-3 is operated in closed loop, the water levels of all water bodies could be tracked. Over the water bodies where Sentinel-3 is operated in open loop, three water bodies were missed and only one was tracked accurately. The results over the Ebro Reservoir, Sotonera and Ribarroja Reservoirs are satisfactory. The Ebro Reservoir is located in the north near the Pyrenees mountain range with elevations exceeding 820 m, and an average slope within 5 km along track of about 4%. The RMSE was 30 cm compared with the in situ measurements. The Sotonera Reservoir is the biggest reservoir studied, and is located in a relatively flat area with a slope of about 3% and an elevation of about 410 m. The result is good as there is no influence from the mountainous terrain, and it is big enough to be well monitored by satellite. The Ribarroja Reservoir is only 400 m wide and with a slope of more than 20%, but an elevation of only around 70 m. Its small width results in only one altimeter footprint per track available within the water body. The ubRMSE of Ribarroja Reservoir shows very good performance with a value of about 16 cm. However, the results for a few tracks were excluded due to poor waveform quality, which may be influenced by the rapid changes of surrounding terrain. The RMSEs over the Itoiz Reservoir and Irabia Reservoir exceeds 1 m. One reason for this could be the rapid change in the elevations along the satellite track as both water bodies are located in the Pyrenees, making it easy for a satellite to lose its track. The width of the Itoiz Reservoir with satellite data varies from 400 m to more than 2 km depending on the different satellite tracks, which drift daily. In addition, the Irabia Reservoir is a very small water body with a width of approximately 130 m, making the retrieval of its surface height more challenging. Besides the waveform quality, the size of the water body and the surrounding terrain, another reason for the differences with in-situ data from the gauging station is the distance between the gauging station and the Sentinel-3 tracks, varying from a few meters to several kilometers. Satellite tracks are always drifting (up to 1.5 km), making the footprints always changing in their locations for each water body. With the altimetry mission originally designed for ocean, the accuracy of geophysical corrections over inland water ranges from a few centimeters to tens of centimeters, depending on the size of the water body and wind conditions [79,90,91]. These effects will most definitely influence the final results, and need to be further considered quantitatively.

The results of the three retrackers, in combination with the waveform portion selection method, always give better accuracies than the results of the Sentinel-3 Level-2 ocean retracker (the results of both sets of retrackers are shown in Figure 6 and Table 5). Therefore, given the lack of an ice retracker over inland water bodies, retrieving the water levels by retracking the Level-1 waveforms and using the waveform portion selection method constitutes an alternative approach to obtain more accurate water levels.

The waveform portion selection method using DEM information greatly improved the results shown in both Figures 5 and 6. As mentioned above, the vertical accuracy of SRTM DEM is approximately  $\pm 16$  m (absolute) and  $\pm 6$  m (relative). In the case of a 6 m error, the difference of choosing the right peak corresponding to nadir would be about 3 m. Therefore, if two large peaks were very close to each other, the portion of the waveform chosen might not be accurate. However, for most cases, the DEM error is small compared to the waveform tracking window, which is more

19 of 25

than 60 m, and thus optimistic results can be obtained. Besides, waveform portion selection using DEM information improved the water level results over water bodies where only a few or no clean waveforms are available, and retained more results to have a better complete time series. In the case of the water level changing enormously and the waveform being heavily contaminated at the same time, the waveform portion selection approach may lose its capability of precise retracking.

The different retrackers obtained a good accuracy with in situ measurements. The ubRMSEs showed smaller values compared with RMSEs for all retrackers over different reservoirs, as listed in Table 5. The bias between the retrieved water levels and the in situ measurements existed in most cases, which may be related to the drift of the river course (the measurements are not co-located with the Sentinel-3 track). Other error sources include the waveform quality, which depends on the surrounding terrain. These include the geometry of the lake shore and the characteristics of the terrain, all of which contribute to the shape of the waveform. Nevertheless, Sentinel-3 has been proven to work for small water bodies.

We detected some issues related to the Sentinel-3 SRAL tracking mode. The open loop tracking mode, which depends on the on-board DEM to locate the tracking window, loses its track over the Cavallers Reservoir, which is surrounded by mountains, but also in Mequinenza and San Salvador Reservoirs, which are in relatively flat areas. We provided the correct water level height information to make Sentinel-3 able to capture the correct water level in the open loop tracking mode using the service altimeter open loop tracking command for hydrology monitoring (https://www.altimetry-hydro.eu/). We optimistically expect the water bodies that are under the Sentinel-3 coverage, but with loss of track, will be monitored in the near future. Another potential solution could be changing the tracking mode to a closed loop mode.

#### 6. Conclusions

The objective of this study was to develop a methodology that can estimate water levels in small water bodies (similar size to the along-track resolution) and/or complex topography environments where many waveforms are expected to be contaminated by land. The study compared the performances of the threshold, OCOG and two-step physical-based retrackers, but no significant differences were found in the results of the three retrackers. However, the main improvements found show that selecting the portion of the waveform to be fitted significantly affected the retrievals.

The novel DEM-oriented waveform portion selection method could isolate the nadir peak from land-based contamination relatively well, and greatly improved the results with a reduction of RMSE by more than 0.5 m over Ebro Reservoir. Retracking the water levels from Level-1 waveforms using the combination of a retracker and the waveform portion selection method was more robust to land contamination than using Sentinel-3 Level-2 data directly. It also resulted in a better accuracy.

The water levels were compared with in situ measurements and the Sentinel-3 Level-2 ocean retracker from ESA. The results show good agreement with the in situ measurements. The ubRMSE over the Ribarroja Reservoir with a width of about 400 m could reach 16 cm, while that over the Ebro Reservoir whose width is about 1.8 km, it could reach 28 cm. Waveform portion selection using DEM information showed its ability to retrieve water levels over small- to medium-sized water bodies. In contrast, the accuracy over water bodies located in mountainous areas still needs to be improved, but the results demonstrate the possibility of retrieving the water levels over a very small water body with a width of approximately 130 m.

Overall, the Sentinel-3 SRAL has been proven to work over inland water bodies, even those with widths as small as 130 m. Retracking using the waveform portion selection method with an SRTM DEM as a pre-processing to the two-step physical-based retracker, the OCOG retracker and threshold retracker improved the accuracy with an optimal ubRMSE of 16 cm. Further steps need to be taken to explore the possibilities for both tracking water bodies that are not currently being tracked, and for improving the accuracies for very small water bodies with Sentinel-3 altimeter data.

21 of 25

**Author Contributions:** Q.G., E.M. and M.J.E. conceived, designed and implemented the research. Q.G. and E.M. coded the program. Q.G. performed the analysis of the data and drafted the manuscript. M.J.E. assisted in the data analysis and interpretation. All authors reviewed and improved the manuscript. The study was supervised by M.J.E.

**Funding:** Qi Gao received grant DI-15-08105 from the Spanish Education Ministry (MICINN) and DI-2016-078 from the Catalan Agency of Research (AGAUR). This work was partially funded by the Spanish Ministry of Science, Innovation and Universities and the European Regional Development Fund through grant CGL2017-85687-R.

Acknowledgments: The authors wish to thank the technical teams for their support, the Copernicus Programme, which provided open access to the Sentinel data, and the SAIH Ebro team, who provided the ground information.

**Conflicts of Interest:** The authors declare no conflict of interest.

#### References

- Postel, S.L.; Carpenter, S.R. Freshwater Ecosystem Services. In *Nature's Services*; Daily, G., Ed.; Island Press: Washington, DC, USA, 1997; pp. 195–214.
- Döll, P.; Hoffmann-Dobrev, H.; Portmann, F.T.; Siebert, S.; Eicker, A.; Rodell, M.; Strassberg, G.; Scanlon, B.R. Impact of water withdrawals from groundwater and surface water on continental water storage variations. *J. Geodyn.* 2012, 59, 143–156. [CrossRef]
- Alsdorf, D.E.; Rodriguez, E.; Lettenmaier, D.P. Measuring surface water from space. *Rev. Geophys.* 2007, 45, RG2002. [CrossRef]
- Gleick, P.H. Global freshwater resources: Soft-path solutions for the 21st century. *Science* 2003, 302, 1524–1528. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Bogning, S.; Frappart, F.; Blarel, F.; Niño, F.; Mahé, G.; Bricquet, J.-P.; Seyler, F.; Onguéné, R.; Etamé, J.; Paiz, M.-C.; et al. Monitoring Water Levels and Discharges Using Radar Altimetry in an Ungauged River Basin: The Case of the Ogooué. *Remote Sens.* 2018, *10*, 350. [CrossRef]
- Benveniste, J. Radar Altimetry: Past, Present and Future. In *Coastal Altimetry*; Vignudelli, S., Kostianoy, A., Cipollini, P., Benveniste, J., Eds.; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 2011; ISBN 978-3-642-12795-3. [CrossRef]
- Calman, S.; Seyler, F. Continental surface water from satellite altimetry. C. R. Geosci. 2006, 338, 1113–1122. [CrossRef]
- 8. Cretaux, J.F.; Birkett, C. Lake studies from satellite radar altimetry. *C. R. Geosci.* 2006, 338, 1098–1112. [CrossRef]
- 9. Radar Altimetry Tutorial and Toolbox—A Collaborative Portal for Altimetry Users. Available online: http://www.altimetry.info/ (accessed on 3 November 2018).
- 10. Raney, R.K. The delay/Doppler radar altimeter. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* **1998**, *36*, 1578–1588. [CrossRef]
- 11. Wingham, D.J.; Phalippou, L.; Mavrocordatos, C.; Wallis, D. The mean echo and echo cross-product from a beam forming, interferometric altimeter and their application to elevation measurement. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* **2004**, *10*, 10–2323. [CrossRef]
- 12. Koblinsky, C.J.; Clarke, R.T.; Brenner, A.C.; Frey, H. Measurement of river level variations with satellite altimetry. *Water Resour. Res.* **1993**, *29*, 1839–1848. [CrossRef]
- Birkett, C. The contribution of TOPEX/POSEIDON to the global monitoring of climatically sensitive lakes. J. Geophys. Res. Ocean. 1995, 100, 25179–25204. [CrossRef]
- 14. Birkett, C.M. Contribution of the TOPEX NASA radar altimeter to the global monitoring of large rivers and wetlands. *Water Resour. Res.* **1998**, *34*, 1223–1239. [CrossRef]
- 15. Jarihani, A.A.; Callow, J.N.; Johansen, K.; Gouweleeuw, B. Evaluation of multiple satellite altimetry data for studying inland water bodies and river floods. *J. Hydrol.* **2013**, *505*, 78–90. [CrossRef]
- 16. Yi, Y.; Kouraev, A.V.; Shum, C.K.; Vuglinsky, V.S.; Cretaux, J.F.; Calmant, S. The performance of altimeter waveform retrackers at Lake Baikal. *Terr. Atmos. Ocean. Sci.* **2013**, 24, 513–519. [CrossRef]
- 17. Nielsen, K.; Stenseng, L.; Andersen, O.B.; Villadsen, H.; Knudsen, P. Validation of CryoSat-2 SAR mode based lake levels. *Remote Sens. Environ.* **2015**, *171*, 162–170. [CrossRef]
- 18. Schwatke, C.; Dettmering, D.; Boergens, E.; Bosch, W. Potential of SARAL/AltiKa for inland water applications. *Mar. Geod.* 2015, *38*, 626–643. [CrossRef]

- Villadsen, H.; Andersen, O.; Stenseng, L.; Nielsen, K.; Knudsen, P. CryoSat-2 altimetry for river level monitoring—Evaluation in the Ganges-Brahmaputra River basin. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 2015, 168, 80–89. [CrossRef]
- Moore, P.; Birkinshaw, S.J.; Ambrózio, A.; Restano, M.; Benveniste, J. CryoSat-2 Full Bit Rate Level 1A processing and validation for inland water applications. *Adv. Space Res.* 2018, 62, 1497–1515. [CrossRef]
- Song, C.; Huang, B.; Ke, L. Inter-annual changes of alpine inland lake water storage on the Tibetan Plateau: Detection and analysis by integrating satellite altimetry and optical imagery. *Hydrol. Process.* 2014, 28, 2411–2418. [CrossRef]
- 22. Song, C.; Ye, Q.; Sheng, Y.; Gong, T. Combined ICESat and CryoSat-2 altimetry for accessing water level dynamics of Tibetan lakes over 2003–2014. *Water* **2015**, *7*, 4685–4700. [CrossRef]
- 23. Song, C.; Ye, Q.; Cheng, X. Shifts in water-level variation of Namco in the central Tibetan Plateau from ICESat and CryoSat-2 altimetry and station observations. *Sci. Bull.* **2015**, *60*, 1287–1297. [CrossRef]
- 24. Frappart, F.; Calmant, S.; Cauhop, M.; Seyler, F.; Cazenave, A. Preliminary results of ENVISAT RA-2-derived water levels validation over the Amazon Basin. *Remote Sens. Environ.* **2006**, *100*, 252–264. [CrossRef]
- Villadsen, H.; Deng, X.; Andersen, O.B.; Stenseng, L.; Nielsen, K.; Knudsen, P. Improved inland water levels from SAR altimetry using novel empirical and physical retrackers. J. Hydrol. 2016, 537, 234–247. [CrossRef]
- Jiang, L.; Nielsen, K.; Andersen, O.B.; Bauer-Gottwein, P. Monitoring recent lake level variations on the Tibetan Plateau using CryoSat-2 SARin mode data. J. Hydrol. 2017, 544, 109–124. [CrossRef]
- 27. Kleinherenbrink, M.; Ditmar, P.G.; Lindenbergh, R.C. Retracking CryoSat data in the SARIn mode and robust lake level extraction. *Remote Sens. Environ.* **2014**, 152, 38–50. [CrossRef]
- Schwatke, C.; Dettmering, D.; Bosch, W.; Seitz, F. DAHITI—An innovative approach for estimating water level time series over inland waters using multi-mission satellite altimetry. *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.* 2015, 19, 4345–4364. [CrossRef]
- Crétaux, J.-F.; Jelinski, W.; Calmant, S.; Kouraev, A.; Vuglinski, V.; Bergé-Nguyen, M.; Gennero, M.-C.; Nino, F.; Abarca Del Rio, R.; Cazenave, A.; et al. SOLS: A Lake database to monitor in Near Real Time water level and storage variations from remote sensing data. *J. Adv. Space Res.* 2011, 47, 1497–1507. [CrossRef]
- Birkett, C.M.; Reynolds, C.; Beckley, B.; Doorn, B. From Research to Operations: The USDA Global Reservoir and Lake Monitor; Vignudelli, S., Kostianoy, A.G., Cipollini, P., Benveniste, J., Eds.; Chapter 2 in Coastal Altimetry, Springer Publications; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 2010; ISBN 978-3-642-12795-3.
- Gustafsson, D.; Andersson, J.; Brito, F.; Martinez, B.; Arheimer, B. New tool to share data and models in hydrological forecasting, based on the ESA TEP. In Proceedings of the EGU 2018 Symposium, Vienna, Austria, 8–13 April 2018.
- Dinardo, S.; Restano, M.; Ambrózio, A.; Benveniste, J. SAR Altimetry Processing on Demand Service for Cryosat-2 and Sentinel-3 at Esa G-Pod. In Proceedings of the 2016 conference on Big Data from Space (BiDS'16), Santa Cruz de Tenerife, Spain, 15–17 March 2016. [CrossRef]
- Birkinshaw, S.J.; O'Donnell, G.M.; Moore, P.; Kilsby, C.G.; Fowler, H.J.; Berry, P.A.M. Using satellite altimetry data to augment flow estimation techniques on the Mekong River. *Hydrol. Process.* 2010, 24, 3811–3825. [CrossRef]
- Da Silva, J.S.; Calmant, S.; Seyler, F.; Rotunno Filho, O.C.; Cochonneau, G.; Mansur, W.J. Water levels in the Amazon basin derived from the ERS 2 and ENVISAT radar altimetry missions. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 2010, 114, 2160–2181. [CrossRef]
- Michailovsky, C.I.; McEnnis, S.; Berry, P.A.M.; Smith, R.; Bauer-Gottwein, P. River monitoring from satellite radar altimetry in the Zambezi River Basin. *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.* 2012, *9*, 3203–3235. [CrossRef]
- Maillard, P.; Bercher, N.; Calmant, S. New processing approaches on the retrieval of water levels in Envisat and SARAL radar altimetry over rivers: A case study of the Sao Francisco River, Brazil. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 2015, 156, 226–241. [CrossRef]
- 37. Boergens, E.; Nielsen, K.; Andersen, O.B.; Dettmering, D.; Seitz, F. River Levels Derived with CryoSat-2 SAR Data Classification—A Case Study in the Mekong River Basin. *Remote Sens.* **2017**, *9*, 1238. [CrossRef]
- Schneider, R.; Tarpanelli, A.; Nielsen, K.; Madsen, H.; Bauer-Gottwein, P. Evaluation of multi-mode CryoSat-2 altimetry data over the Po River against in situ data and a hydrodynamic model. *Adv. Water Resour.* 2018, 112, 17–26. [CrossRef]

- Huang, Q.; Long, D.; Du, M.; Zeng, C.; Li, X.; Hou, A.; Hong, Y. An improved approach to monitoring Brahmaputra River water levels using retracked altimetry data. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 2018, 211, 112–128. [CrossRef]
- Biancamaria, S.; Frappart, F.; Leleu, A.-S.; Marieu, V.; Blumstein, D.; Desjonquères, J.D.; Boy, F.; Sottolichio, A.; Valle-Levinson, A. Satellite altimetry water elevations performance over a 200 m wide river: Evaluation over the Garonne River. *Adv. Space Res.* 2017, *59*, 128–146. [CrossRef]
- 41. Becker, M.; da Silva, J.; Calmant, S.; Robinet, V.; Linguet, L.; Seyler, F. Water level fluctuations in the Congo Basin derived from ENVISAT satellite altimetry. *Remote Sens.* **2014**, *6*, 9340–9358. [CrossRef]
- 42. Birkett, C.M.; Mertes, L.A.K.; Dunne, T.; Costa, M.H.; Jasinski, M.J. Surface water dynamics in the Amazon Basin: Application of satellite radar altimetry. *J. Geophys. Res.* **2002**, *107*, 8059. [CrossRef]
- 43. Birkinshaw, S.J.; Moore, P.; Kilsby, C.G.; O'Donnell, G.M.; Hardy, A.J.; Berry, P.A.M. Daily discharge estimation at ungauged river sites using remote sensing. *Hydrol. Process.* **2014**, *28*, 1043–1054. [CrossRef]
- 44. Cretaux, J.-F.; Calmant, S. Spatial Altimetry and Continental Waters. In Land Surface Remote Sensing in Continental Hydrology; Baghdadi, N., Zribi, M., Eds.; Elsevier: Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2016. [CrossRef]
- Gommenginger, C.; Martin-Puig, C.; Amarouche, L.; Raney, R.K. *Review of State of Knowledge for SAR Altimetry* over Ocean; Report of the EUMETSAT JASON-CS SAR Mode Error Budget Study; National Oceanography Centre: Southampton, UK, 2013. Available online: https://eprints.soton.ac.uk/366765/ (accessed on 1 September 2018).
- 46. Davis, C.H. A robust threshold retracking algorithm for measuring ice-sheet surface elevation change from satellite radar altimeter. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* **1997**, *35*, 974–979. [CrossRef]
- 47. Martin, T.V.; Zwally, H.J.; Brenner, A.C.; Bindschadler, R.A. Analysis and retracking of continental ice sheet radar altimeter waveforms. *J. Geophys. Res. Ocean.* **1983**, *88*, 1608–1616. [CrossRef]
- Wingham, D.J.; Rapley, C.G.; Griffiths, H. New techniques in satellite tracking system. In Proceedings of the IGARSS' 86 Symposium, Zurich, Switzerland, 8–11 September 1986; pp. 1339–1344.
- 49. Bamber, J.L. Ice sheet altimeter processing scheme. Int. J. Remote Sens. 1994, 15, 925–938. [CrossRef]
- Brown, G.S. The average impulse response of a rough surface and its applications. *IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag.* 1977, 25, 67–74. [CrossRef]
- Legrésy, B.; Rémy, F. Altimetric observations of surface characteristics of the Antarctic ice sheet. J. Glaciol. 1997, 43, 265–275. [CrossRef]
- Legrésy, B.; Papa, F.; Remy, F.; Vinay, G.; Bosch, M.V.D.; Zanife, O.Z. ENVISAT radar altimeter measurements over continental surfaces and ice caps using the Ice-2 retracking algorithm. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 2005, 95, 150–163. [CrossRef]
- 53. Ray, C.; Martin-Puig, C.; Clarizia, M.P.; Ruffini, G.; Dinardo, S.; Gommenginger, C.; Benveniste, J. SAR altimeter backscattered waveform model. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* **2015**, *53*, 911–919. [CrossRef]
- Fenoglio-Marc, L.; Dinardo, S.; Scharroo, R.; Roland, A.; Dutour Sikiric, M.; Lucas, B.; Becker, M.; Benveniste, J.; Weiss, R. The German Bight: A validation of CryoSat-2 altimeter data in SAR mode. *Adv. Space Res.* 2015, *55*, 2641–2656. [CrossRef]
- 55. Wingham, D.J.; Francis, C.R.; Baker, S.; Bouzinac, C.; Brockley, D.; Cullen, R.; de Chateau-Thierry, P.; Laxon, S.W.; Mallow, U.; Mavrocordatos, C.; et al. CryoSat: A mission to determine the fluctuations in Earth's land and marine ice fields. *Adv. Space Res.* 2006, *37*, 841–871. [CrossRef]
- Mavrocordatos, C.; Berruti, B.; Aguirre, M.; Drinkwater, M. The Sentinel-3 mission and its topography element. In Proceedings of the IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium (IGARSS 2007), Barcelona, Spain, 23–27 July 2007; pp. 3529–3532. [CrossRef]
- Chander, S.; Ganguly, D.; Dubey, A.K.; Gupta, P.K.; Singh, R.P.; Chauhan, P. Inland Water Bodies Monitoring Using Satellite Altimetry Over Indian Region. *ISPRS-Int. Arch. Photogramm. Remote Sens. Spat. Inf. Sci.* 2014, 1035–1041. [CrossRef]
- Martin-Puig, C.; García, P. A new SAR altimetry waveform model in combination with phase information for coastal altimetry. In Proceedings of the 8th Coastal Altimetry Workshop, Lake Constance, Germany, 23–24 October 2014.
- 59. Martin-Puig, C.; García, P. Synthetic Aperture Radar (SAR) altimetry for hydrology. In Proceedings of the ESA Living Planets Symposium, Edinburgh, Scotland, UK, 9–13 September 2013.

- Roca, M.; Martínez, D.; Reche, M. Preliminary results obtained using the EnviSat RA-2 individual echoes (full-rate waveforms with phase information). In Proceedings of the IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium, Seoul, Korea, 25–29 July 2005. [CrossRef]
- Roca, M.; Martinez, D.; Reche, M. The RA-2 individual echoes processing description and some scientific results. In Proceedings of the IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium, Barcelona, Spain, 23–27 July 2007; pp. 3541–3546. [CrossRef]
- 62. Bramer, S.M.S.; Berry, P.A.M.; Freeman, J.A.; Rommen, B. Global Analysis of Envisat Ku and S Band Sigma0 over All Surfaces. In Proceedings of the Envisat Symposium, Montreux, Switzerland, 23–27 April 2007.
- 63. Abileah, R.; Scozzari, A.; Vignudelli, S. Envisat RA-2 Individual Echoes: A Unique Dataset for a Better Understanding of Inland Water Altimetry Potentialities. *Remote Sens.* **2017**, *9*, 605. [CrossRef]
- 64. Egido, A.; Smith, W.H.F. Fully Focused SAR Altimetry: Theory and Applications. *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.* 2017, 55, 392–406. [CrossRef]
- Makhoul, E.; Roca, M.; Ray, C.; Escolà, R.; Garcia-Mondéjar, A. Evaluation of the precision of different Delay-Doppler Processor (DDP) algorithms using CryoSat-2 data over open ocean. *Adv. Space Res.* 2018, 62, 1464–1478. [CrossRef]
- Li, S.; Zhao, D.; Zhou, L.; Liu, B. Dependence of mean square slope on wave state and its application in altimeter wind speed retrieval. *Int. J. Remote Sens.* 2013, 34, 264–275. [CrossRef]
- Valenzuela, G.R. Theories for the interaction of electromagnetic and oceanic waves—A review. *Bound.-Layer* Meteorol. 1978, 13, 61–85. [CrossRef]
- Romaní, A.M.; Sabater, S.; Muñoz, I. The Physical Framework and Historic Human Influences in the Ebro River. In *The Ebro River Basin*; The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry; Barceló, D., Petrovic, M., Eds.; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 2010; Volume 13. [CrossRef]
- Cruzado, A.; Velasquez, Z.; Perez, M.; Bahamon, N.; Grimaldo, N.S.; Ridolfi, F. Nutrient fluxes from the Ebro River and subsequent across-shelf dispersion. *Cont. Shelf Res.* 2002, 22, 349–360. [CrossRef]
- Sentinel-3 Team. SentinSentinel-3 User Handbook. European Space Agency. Available online: https://earth.esa.int/documents/247904/685236/Sentinel-3\_User\_Handbook-iss1\_v1\_20170113/ 960ff616-87f5-43cc-b23e-3e96030bd13a (accessed on 15 March 2018).
- Re-Tracking Estimates. Available online: https://sentinel.esa.int/web/sentinel/technical-guides/sentinel-3-altimetry/level-2/re-tracking-estimates (accessed on 3 October 2018).
- 72. SAIH Ebro. Available online: http://www.saihebro.com (accessed on 1 July 2018).
- 73. Farr, T.G.; Rosen, P.A.; Caro, E.; Crippen, R.; Duren, R.; Hensley, S.; Kobrick, M.; Paller, M.; Rodriguez, E.; Roth, L.; et al. The Shuttle Radar Topography Mission. *Rev. Geophys.* **2007**, *45*. [CrossRef]
- Mukul, M.; Srivastava, V.; Mukul, M. Analysis of the accuracy of shuttle radar topography mission (SRTM) height models using international global navigation satellite system service (IGS) network. *J. Earth Syst. Sci.* 2015, 124, 1343–1357. [CrossRef]
- Mukul, M.; Srivastava, V.; Mukul, M. Uncertainties in the Shuttle Radar Topography Mission (SRTM) heights: Insights from the Indian Himalaya and Peninsula. *Sci. Rep.* 2017, *7*, 41672. [CrossRef]
- 76. Rabus, B.; Eineder, M.; Roth, A.; Bamler, R. The shuttle radar topography mission—A new class of digital elevation models acquired by space borne radar. *J. Photogramm. Remote Sens.* 2003, *57*, 241–262. [CrossRef]
- Elkhrachy, I. Vertical accuracy assessment for SRTM and ASTER Digital Elevation Models: A case study of Najran city, Saudi Arabia. *Ain Shams Eng. J.* 2017. [CrossRef]
- Calmant, S.; Seyler, F.; Cretaux, J.F. Monitoring continental surface waters by satellite altimetry. *Surv. Geophys.* 2008, 29, 247–269. [CrossRef]
- Fernandes, M.J.; Lázaro, C.; Nunes, A.L.; Scharroo, R. Atmospheric Corrections for Altimetry Studies over Inland Water. *Remote Sens.* 2014, 6, 4952–4997. [CrossRef]
- Sentinel-3A L2P SLA Product Handbook. Available online: https://www.aviso.altimetry.fr/fileadmin/ documents/data/tools/hdbk\_L2P\_S3.pdf (accessed on 1 November 2017).
- Pavlis, N.K.; Holmes, S.A.; Kenyon, S.C.; Factor, J.K. The development and evaluation of the Earth Gravitational Model 2008 (EGM2008). J. Geophys. Res. Solid Earth 2012, 117, B4. [CrossRef]
- Boehm, J.; Kouba, J.; Schuh, H. Forecast Vienna Mapping Functions 1 for real-time analysis of space geodetic observations. J. Geod. 2009, 83, 397. [CrossRef]
- Scharroo, R.; Smith, W.H.F. Global positioning system-based climatology for the total electron content in the ionosphere. J. Geophys. Res. 2010, 115. [CrossRef]

- Cartwright, D.E.; Edden, A.C. Corrected Tables of Tidal Harmonics. *Geophys. J. Int.* 1973, 33, 253–264. [CrossRef]
- 85. Wahr, J.M. Deformation of the Earth induced by polar motion. J. Geophys. Res. (Solid Earth) 1985, 90, 9363–9368. [CrossRef]
- Ray, R.D.; Ponte, R.M. Barometric tides from ECMWF operational analyses. Ann. Geophys. 2003, 21, 1897–1910. [CrossRef]
- 87. Deng, X.; Featherstone, W.E. A coastal retracking system for satellite radar altimeter waveforms: Application to ERS-2 around Australia. *J. Geophys. Res.* **2006**, *111*. [CrossRef]
- Davis, C.H. Growth of the Greenland ice sheet: A performance assessment of altimeter retracking algorithms. *IEEE Trans Geosci Remote Sens.* 1995, 33, 1108–1116. [CrossRef]
- Jain, M.; Martin-Puig, C.; Andersen, O.B.; Stenseng, L.; Dall, J. Evaluation of SAMOSA3 adapted retracker using Cryosat-2 SAR altimetry data over the Arctic ocean. In Proceedings of the IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium (IGARSS), Quebec City, QC, Canada, 13–18 July 2014; pp. 5115–5118. [CrossRef]
- Crétaux, J.F.; Calmant, S.; Del Rio, R.A.; Kouraev, A.; Bergé-Nguyen, M.; Maisongrande, P. Lakes Studies from Satellite Altimetry. In *Coastal Altimetry*; Vignudelli, S., Kostianoy, A.G., Cipollini, P., Benveniste, J., Eds.; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 2011; pp. 509–533.
- Zhang, M.M.; Lee, H.; Shum, C.K.; Alsdorf, D.; Schwartz, F.; Tseng, K.H.; Yi, Y.C.; Kuo, C.Y.; Tseng, H.Z.; Braun, A.; et al. Application of retracked satellite altimetry for inland hydrologic studies. *Int. J. Remote Sens.* 2010, *31*, 3913–3929. [CrossRef]



© 2019 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

# 6.4 Summary and Conclusions

In this chapter, a methodology has been developed to estimate water levels in small water bodies (similar size to the along-track resolution) and/or complex topography environments where many waveforms are expected to be contaminated by land. The study compared the performances of the threshold, OCOG and two-step physical-based retrackers, but no significant difference is found in the results of the three retrackers. However, waveform portion selection using DEM information makes great improvements on the results. The Sentinel-3 SRAL has been proven to work over inland water bodies, even those with widths as small as 130 m.

With the altimetry mission originally designed for the ocean, the accuracy of geophysical corrections over inland water ranges from a few centimetres to tens of centimetres, depending on the size of the water body and wind conditions (*Fernandes et al.*, 2014; *Vignudelli et al.*, 2011; *Zhang et al.*, 2010). These effects are important sources of errors and need to be further considered quantitatively.

With the water levels retrieved, the integration of them with an LSM needs to be done to include the anthropogenic effects within models. In the next chapter (Chapter 7), a simple dam simulation example is given by including the buffering effect of dams in river flow simulations.

# Chapter 7

# **Dam Simulation**

#### Contents

7.1 Introduction
7.2 Models
7.2.1 SURFEX land surface model
7.2.2 SAFRAN meteorological analysis system
7.2.3 SASER hydrological model
7.3 Methodology
7.3.1 Forcing model
7.3.2 Conversion from water level to volume $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
7.4 Results
7.4.1 Simulation $\dots \dots \dots$
7.4.2 Satellite data forcing $\ldots \ldots 132$
7.5 Conclusion

# 7.1 Introduction

With water level products available (Chapter 6), there is a need to include them in models to better characterise water processes with the anthropogenic intervention included. Humans play an important role in the hydrological process. However, most of the models, especially those applied at large scales (national, continental or global), do not include human activities like irrigation and dam construction (*Haddeland et al.*, 2014). This chapter, as an expansion of Chapter 6, presents simple examples to evaluate the buffering effect of dams in river flow simulations.

Dams modify the water cycle in different ways: they are used to remove water from the river; they are used for irrigation; they change the seasonality of the streamflow; they remove floods and maintain low flows, which is what we call the buffering effect of the dam on the flow. In order to be able to include these effects, there are different options; one is to simulate the dam operating rules, which is always difficult; another option is to use observations to force the dam behaviour in the simulation. In the second case, remotely sensed dam levels can be converted to volumes, and can be used to force a simulation. This approach is beneficial for global simulations or for simulations in countries where the dam level data cannot be obtained from the dam operators.

A Land surface model (LSM) coupled to a river routing scheme is considered in this study to generate the simulated river flow as input. The idea of including the buffering effect of dams is schematically illustrated in Figure 7.1. If the dam is not simulated in a river flow simulation model, the outflow of a dam is simply the simulated inflow; when considering the effect of the dam, the water volume in the dam is forced by the observed volume converted from the satellite water level observation, and the outflow is what is called modelled outflow. Then, both the simulated outflow and the modelled outflow are evaluated with the observed outflow.



Figure 7.1: Illustration of the forcing dams.

In this chapter, first, the models used to generate the simulated inflows are introduced in Section 7.2, including SURFEX LSM forced by SAFRAN meteorological model, who provide meteorological dataset as input, and RAPID river routing model, which is used under the framework of Eaudyssée. Second, the methodology of forcing volumes by observations is presented in Section 7.3. Then, the results are presented and discussed in Section 7.4. With the difficulties of having satellite observations and gauging stations' historical observations simultaneously, the results of the simulation using historical observation data are shown first. Finally, the conclusion of this chapter is presented in Section 7.5.

# 7.2 Models

### 7.2.1 SURFEX land surface model

LSMs physically simulate the exchange of surface water and energy fluxes at the soil-atmosphere interface, taking into account numerous physical processes at the interface between soil, vegetation and atmosphere. When coupled to a river routing scheme, LSMs are also able to simulate river flow. This converts them into physically based and distributed hydrological models, which may be used to quantify and understand hydrological processes at large scales.

In this study, the SURFEX (SURFace EXternalisée) land-surface modelling platform developed by Météo France (*Masson et al.*, 2013) is used. SURFEX uses the ISBA (Interaction Sol-Biosphère-Atmosphère) land surface scheme (*Noilhan and Planton*, 1989; *Noilhan and Mahfouf*, 1996) to describe the vertical processes in the soil column and the vegetation, and generates the outflows that will allow us to simulate the river flow. Using an offline method, the SURFEX LSM is forced by a gridded dataset of meteorological observations.

### 7.2.2 SAFRAN meteorological analysis system

The SAFRAN (Système d'analyse fournissant des renseignements atmosphériques à la neige) meteorological analysis was developed in order to provide an analysis of the atmospheric forcing in mountainous areas for the avalanche forecasting (*Durand et al.*, 1993, 1999). SAFRAN analyses eight parameters including air temperature, relative air humidity, wind speed, incoming solar radiation, incoming atmospheric radiation, cloudiness, snowfall and rainfall.

SAFRAN has been extensively used in France (Quintana-Seguí et al., 2008; Vidal et al., 2010) and, more recently, it has also been applied in Spain by Quintana-Seguí et al. (Quintana-Seguí et al., 2016; Quintana-Seguí et al., 2017). The Spanish application of SAFRAN uses observational data from the Spanish State Meteorological Agency (AEMET) and ERA-Interim (Dee et al., 2011) as the first estimate (Quintana-Seguí et al., 2016). The estimates are on a gridded dataset, at a 5 km resolution. In this study, the SAFRAN forced SURFEX is used to provide simulated inflows in the simulation test when no satellite data is available.

#### 7.2.3 SASER hydrological model

SURFEX does not simulate river flow directly. Thus, a modelling platform called Eau-dyssée (*Saleh et al.*, 2011) is used to transport SURFEX's runoff and drainage to the river and then compute the river flow. Eau-dyssée couples existing specialised models to simulate surface and sub-surface water processes. With the lack of routing scheme within SURFEX, the river routing model called RAPID (*David et al.*, 2011), Routing Application for Parallel Computation of Discharge, is coupled to SURFEX by Eau-dyssée. The whole chain is called SASER (SAfran-Surfex-Eaudyssée-Rapid), which works as a hydrological model to generate river flows.

# 7.3 Methodology

## 7.3.1 Forcing model

To evaluate the buffering effects of dams, a simple model to force the volumes within dams to the target is developed with the inclusion of a simple dam operation rule considering the dam scheme included within the Soil and Water Assessment Tool (SWAT) model (*Douglas-Mankin et al.*, 2010). At each time step, the model modifies the outflows in order to guarantee that we attain the target volume.

The simple dam model is defined as follows:

$$vol(d) = vol(d-1) + qin_{sim}(d)$$

$$(7.1)$$

• If dam is more than half-full:

$$qout(d) = [vol(d) - vol_{target}(d)]/\tau$$
(7.2)

• If dam is less than half-full:

$$qout(d) = [vol(d) - vol_{target}(d)] * 30\%/\tau$$

$$(7.3)$$

where  $vol_{target}(d)$  is the target volume at date (d),  $qin_{sim}$  is the simulation inflow, qout is the modelled outflow, and  $\tau$  is a constant that determines the speed in which the volume converges to the target volume, which allows filtering peak flows. If  $vol(d) < vol_{target}(d)$ , qout is set to be zero. The water volume is controlled by the maximum volume of the reservoir to make sure the daily volume never exceeds the maximum, to avoid the risk of flooding.

This model has been coded in Python and run separately to the SASER modelling chain. This allows us to easily test the model individually for each dam, without dealing with the complexities of the SASER Fortran code.


Figure 7.2: Polynomial function between water level and volume.

#### 7.3.2 Conversion from water level to volume

From satellite altimetry mission, only water levels can be observed. To convert water level products into volumes, the historical gauging measurements including water levels and volumes are used to build a polynomial function. Therefore, the target volumes to be the input of the forcing model can be derived from water levels observed by satellite. One example of the polynomial function is given over the Ebro Reservoir in Figure 7.2. However, this approach would not work in dams where no historical data is available, and thus, in those cases, other approaches should be used to relate volume and level. However, for simplicity's sake, it will be kept like this.

## 7.4 Results

With limited satellite data available from 2016, first, the test was done with historical observed *in situ* volumes to expand period in Section 7.4.1's simulation. Second, the test was performed with satellite altimetry data as the forcing target, and results are shown in Section 7.4.2. The modelled outflow is evaluated by the Root Mean Square Error (RMSE). In order to validate the model, the RMSE must be smaller than the RMSE of not having a dam.

#### 7.4.1 Simulation

In this part, the simulated inflows were derived using the SAFRAN forced SURFEX, and the target volumes are simulated by historical database from 2003 to 2005. The volumes are extracted every 27 days from the historical observations to be consistent with the time resolution of the Sentinel-3 mission. Six reservoirs are chosen: the Itoiz, Yesa, Mequinenza, Barasona, Rialb and Oliana Reservoirs. The results are shown in Figure 7.2, and the RMSE values are listed in Table 7.1. Obtaining observed flows is not evident at times as sometimes the dams have different tributaries coming, and data is often lacking.

In Figure 7.2, the left column shows the comparison of the observed volumes (vol\_obs) and the modelled volumes (vol\_linear). The target volumes (target) are the smooth of the observed volumes extraction by every 27 days. The maximum volume (max) is for controlling the daily volume not exceeding the maximum value, which may bring a risk of flooding. The overfill is the absolute volume of the reservoir, just for showing the capability of maximum water storage. The right column shows the comparison of stream flows including the simulated inflow (qin\_sim), the observed outflow (q\_out\_obs) and the modelled outflow (q\_out\_mod\_linear). The modelled outflow filtered out significant peaks in the simulated inflow and showed a closer trend to the observed outflow. This can also conclude with the RMSE value in Table 7.1. The first column of the RMSE values is between the modelled outflow and observed outflow, whilst RMSE-reference values are between the simulated outflow (which is equal to the simulated inflow) and observed outflow. For all tested reservoirs, the RMSEs of modelled outflow are smaller than the referenced RMSEs, which means the model improves the results of the outflow. One of the limitations of using monthly data is that the sub-monthly changes are sometimes massive and have a significant impact, which can be observed in Barasona Reservoir simulation in Figure 7.2.

In the simulation test, it must be noted that the simulated inflows are sometimes considered not good enough and, in this case, the dam model can do little to improve the simulation. Also, in some cases, the peaks are not well filtered (for example in Barasona the first peaks should not have been filtered). This is difficult with such a simple model, but in general what we see is an improvement in low flows and filtering of peaks, which are the main buffering effects of dams.





Figure 7.2: Results of forcing dams for volumes (left) and stream flows (right) with historical data from 2003 to 2005, where vol\_obs is the observed volumes, target is the target volume, vol\_linear is the modelled volumes, max is the maximum volume, overfill is the absolute volume of the reservoir, qin\_sim is the simulated inflow, q\_out\_obs is the observed outflow, q\_out\_mod\_linear is the modelled outflow.

reservoirs			
	Dams	<b>RMSE</b> $[hm^3/day]$	<b>RMSE-reference</b> $[hm^3/day]$

Table 7.1: RMSE of the outflow compared to the observations and RMSE-reference over different

$\mathbf{Dams}$	<b>RMSE</b> $[hm^3/day]$	<b>RMSE-reference</b> $[hm^3/day]$
Itoiz	1.23044	1.24529
Yesa	2.2956	2.7005
Mequinenza	10.91728	12.82188
Barasona	1.19124	1.28102
Rialb	1.81069	2.32936
Oliana	1.7312	1.78994

#### 7.4.2 Satellite data forcing

In Ebro River basin, the water levels at dams can be observed by Sentinel-3 satellite including for the Ebro, Itoiz, Irabia, Sotonera and Ribbarroja Reservoirs. However, most of the reservoirs have problems in different aspects. For example, the Ebro Reservoir is very complex with more than one upper stream, but only one has observations. The LSM could not give near realistically simulated inflows. Over Irabia Reservoir, observations do not exist after 2016. Sotonera Reservoir is also very complex, which would require important modifications in our simple model. Ribbarroja Reservoir is not considered interesting as the dam is operated in a very simple way; the water level is almost constant, making the dam transparent (the inflow is equal to the outflow). With the only reservoir left, which is Itoiz, the satellite forcing data is involved. However, the simulated inflows are not satisfying for Itoiz Reservoir. Therefore, we decide to use the observed inflows instead of simulated inflows.

Figure 7.3 shows the results with target volumes converted from satellite water levels over Itoiz Reservoir.



Figure 7.3: Results of forcing dams for volumes (left) and stream flows (right) using satellite data over Itoiz Reservoir (2016-2018). Legend explained in Figure 7.2.

The results show that still there are some big peaks in the modelled outflow. In order to avoid big peaks and test the sensitivity of the constant release pace for the outflow, and instead of releasing the volumes within one week, different possibilities are tested. Table 7.2 shows the RMSEs of releases of the volumes at a constant speed within two weeks, three weeks and four weeks. When setting the time span with larger values from 1 week to 3 weeks, the RMSE decreases, whilst peaks in the modelled outflows are better filtered. However, the decrease no longer continues after that.

Table 7.2: RMSEs over different time span for releasing the volumes

	1 week	2 weeks	3 weeks	4 weeks	Reference
RMSE	1.65444	1.60315	1.57517	1.58179	3.25177

To evaluate the improvement of forcing volumes using satellite data, the comparison between using the observed smoothing volumes as the target and using the satellite converted volumes as the target has been done. The results are shown in Figure 7.4.



Figure 7.4: Results of forcing dams using satellite data as target (upper) and using observed volumes as target (bottom) over Itoiz Reservoir (2016-2018).

The RMSE of using satellite data is 1.654, and the RSME for using observed volumes as forcing data is 1.659. The performance of using volumes converted from satellite water level as target forcing is satisfied compared with results using observations as the target.

### 7.5 Conclusion

In this chapter, we have shown that a very simple model, that only tries to keep the volume close to the observed one (at the monthly scale), and that filters peak flows by releasing the water slowly (in a few days), is able to improve the outflows greatly, producing more realistic downstream river flows. It must be taken into account that our approach is still only a prototype, but it has shown the value of the remote sensing of dam levels for hydrological modellers.

Forcing the volumes using the observed volumes as the target and using volumes converted from satellite water levels as the target is tested. A straightforward linear model is considered as the dam operation rule, and results show that using target volume to force the dam volumes improved the simulation outflow. Due to differing circumstances (e.g. lack of observation data etc.) dam forcing using satellite data is only performed over Itoiz reservoir. Good performance is shown compared with using *in situ* gauging as target volumes. However, the simulated inflows are sometimes not good enough, and some of the peaks are difficult to fully filtered with such a simple model. In general though, the improvement in low flows and filtering of peaks, which are the main buffering effects of dams, are observed using target volume forcing compared to simulated inflows. The very simple model is still in development, and more tests need to be done to prove these findings in other river basins and to improve the performance of the dam model.

The following shows how this work should be expanded:

- 1. increasing the number of dams by including dams outside the Ebro basin.
- 2. integrating the extractions in those dams where they are important.
- 3. calibrate the time constant  $(\tau)$  using long time series of observations.

4. improve the model by making more realistic assumptions concerning its behaviour during dry, normal and wet periods (flood control).

5. rewrite the simple model in Fortran and integrate it into the SASER chain.

## Chapter 8

## **Conclusions and Perspectives**

#### Contents

8.1	Main conclusions	135
8.2	Future research lines	136

## 8.1 Main conclusions

During the last few years, the Sentinel missions are to replace the current older Earth observation missions, which have reached retirement or are currently nearing the end of their operational life span. With the most up-to-date sensors on board, Sentinel missions bring more possibilities to observe the Earth surface at a higher resolution. In this framework, spaceborne synthetic aperture radar (SAR) has proven to be a suitable tool for inland water resources monitoring, regardless of daylight and weather conditions, and thus is considered primarily in this PhD study.

Human intervention in the water cycle is important both with respect to irrigation and dam construction. The water resources need to be assessed, and the impact of human activities need to be evaluated and included in the modelling. With the work described in this thesis, the feasibility to monitor the water resources in an environment heavily influenced by humans has been demonstrated, with the capability of soil moisture retrieval and water level retrieval from satellite data. This thesis intends to contribute to the development of methodologies to monitor soil moisture and water levels at a better resolution with the use of SAR and altimetry, both of which can work under any weather condition. Furthermore, to include the human interventions in the water cycle, this thesis has also contributed to evaluating irrigation by developing the methodology of irrigation mapping and involving dams using the Land Surface Model (LSM). The main and original contributions and conclusions of this thesis are outlined below:

• Soil moisture retrieval. Two methodologies to retrieve the soil moisture by using the relationship between the SAR backscatter and NDVI has been developed. Method 1 models the backscattering difference with the driest value, whereas method 2 is based on the difference between radar signals observed on two consecutive dates, meaning that the radar signals are influenced by much smaller changes in vegetation. Both methods are found to predict soil moisture variations that are well correlated with rainfall events. Method 2 is found to be more robust than method 1, since it does not require searching for the minimum value in each pixel, which can introduce larger errors under extreme local conditions. These results demonstrate the potential of Sentinel-1 data for the retrieval of 100 m (or even better)

resolution soil moisture. Both methods can be applied to any vegetation-covered area for which time-series of SAR and optical data have been recorded.

- Irrigation mapping. A new methodology for irrigation mapping using the Sentinel-1 SAR data time series is developed. The backscatter mean value, the signal variance, and the correlation length are derived from the backscatter signal time series and are used for classification. The result shows a good overall accuracy both using the Support Vector Machine (SVM) and Random Forest (RF). The mean value of the backscatter time series is the key to separate irrigated and non-irrigated fields, while the correlation length and variance are used for the separation of irrigated trees and irrigated crops. With the advantage of SAR being able to work under any weather conditions, this method can be applied to areas with frequent cloud cover. Additionally, this method does not need to develop operational algorithms to estimate soil moisture before application; it is based directly on radar signal analysis. The results demonstrated the potential of using Sentinel-1 data for irrigation mapping at the field scale.
- Water level retrieval. A methodology of estimating water levels in small water bodies has been developed with the novel DEM-oriented waveform portion selection method. The performances of the threshold, OCOG and 2-step physical-based retrackers are compared, but no significant differences were found in the results of the three retrackers. However, the main improvements that have been found show that selecting the portion of the waveform to be fitted affects the retrievals in a significant way. The results show good agreement with the *in situ* measurements. Retracking the water levels from Level-1 waveforms using the combination of a retracker and the waveform portion selection method is more robust to land contamination than using Sentinel-3 Level-2 data directly and with better accuracies. The Sentinel-3 SAR altimeter (SRAL) has been proven to work over inland water bodies, even those with widths as small as 130 m.
- Dam simulation. The effects of dams have been tested in the river flow simulations by forcing the dam volumes to the target. We have shown that even with a very simple model that tries to keep the monthly dam volume very close to the observed one, and while filtering peak flows, this is enough to significantly improve streamflows in rivers affected by dams. However, due to different kinds of reasons (e.g. lack of observation data), dam forcing using satellite data is only performed over Itoiz reservoir, but we were able to show the value of the satellite-derived monthly dam level data in the context of hydrological modelling.

## 8.2 Future research lines

Various research perspectives in connection with the work carried in this doctoral research can be considered for the future:

• Soil moisture retrieval using both VV and VH polarization. In the present study, data derived from the VV polarization was analysed, since it is more sensitive to soil conditions. However, Sentinel-1 provides data in both VV and VH polarization modes, and it is planned to include VH polarization analyses in future studies, since this operational mode is highly sensitive to the influence of vegetation, and can be used to discriminate between the effects of vegetation. In future, the statistical analysis should be improved by using a larger number of data acquisitions from the Sentinel-1 time series. Besides, with the truth that vegetation effects on radar signal come both from the amount of biomass and vegetation

structure, a better vegetation index needs to be investigated instead of NDVI which is only sensitive to the amount of photosynthetically active vegetation.

- Irrigation mapping using 100-m resolution cells. In the present study, the ground field information is used to average the backscatters within agriculture fields. However, the methodology could not directly be applied in areas where there is no ground field information available. Instead of using field boundary information, field segmentation could be performed using Sentinel-2 NDVI data (*Comaniciu and Meer*, 1999, 2002; *Fukunaga and Hostetler*, 1975), but only for areas without frequent cloud cover. Another alternative method is using 100-m resolution cells directly to calculate the metrics only from Sentinel-1 SAR data, which is more consistent with our original intention to use the methodology under any weather conditions. This need to be tested in the future study.
- Improving water level retrieval over very small water bodies and assess the influence of geophysical corrections. In the present water level study, waveform portion selection using DEM information shows its capability to retrieve water levels over small to medium-sized water bodies. In contrast, the accuracy over water bodies located in mountainous areas still needs to be improved. Further steps need to be taken to explore the possibilities for both tracking water bodies that are not currently being tracked, and for improving the accuracies for very small water bodies with Sentinel-3 altimeter data. The drifting effects of satellite tracks on a daily basis makes the footprints always changing in their locations for each water body, resulting in uncertainties in the validation. Also, with the altimetry mission originally designed for the ocean, the accuracy of geophysical corrections over inland water ranges from a few centimetres to tens of centimetres, depending on the size of the water body and wind conditions (*Fernandes et al.*, 2014; *Vignudelli et al.*, 2011; *Zhang et al.*, 2010). These effects will most definitely influence the final results and need to be further considered quantitatively.
- Evaluate the buffering effects of dams with more datasets. In the present study of the inclusion of the buffering effects of dams in river flow simulations, there are only five reservoirs that can be retrieved from Sentinel-1 altimetry data. Moreover, because of differing reasons (e.g. lacking observations, the complexity of reservoirs with canals of irrigation, etc.), target volumes converted from satellite-derived water levels are only forcing in the Itoiz Reservoir. To better evaluate the performance of satellite data forcing, more tests need to be done in other river basins where both satellite data and gauging stations are available.
- Involving both irrigation and the buffering effects of dams in LSMs. Most of the recent LSMs do not include anthropogenic interventions in the water process. To improve the models to more realistic ones, both anthropogenic interventions of irrigation and dam construction should be considered. However, it is a very complex work since neither of them is easy to be modelled. This doctoral research has contributed to part of this goal, yet more works need to be done in the future study to integrate the results of this PhD study in the modelling.

In summary, the work developed in the present thesis has demonstrated the capability of monitoring water resources from space. This doctoral activity compiles multidisciplinary studies covering soil moisture study, altimetry study, data processing, signal processing, as well as hydrological modelling, showing the complexity and diversity of the hydrological related studies. The diversification allowed the identification of different issues to be tackled in future research, and also showed the potential of using satellites to understand our planet in a better way.

# Acronyms

- **AEMET** Agencia Estatal de Meteorología **ALOS** Advanced Land Observation Satellite **AMSR-E** Advanced Microwave Scanning Radiometer for the Earth observing system ASCAT Advanced SCATterometer **CD** Change Detection COG Centre of Gravity CSIRO Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation **DEM** digital elevation model EASAC European Academies Science Advisory Council **EC** European Commission **EM** Electromagnetic **EO** Earth observation EOS Earth Observing System **ERS** European Remote Sensing Satellite **ET** Evapotranspiration **EU** European Union **EW** Extra-Wide swath FAO Food and Agriculture Organization **FFT** fast Fourier trasform GCM Global Climate Model **GEE** Google Earth Engine **GIAM** global irrigated area mapping **GLAS** the Geoscience Laser Altimeter System
- **GRD** Ground Range Detected

- ICESat Ice, Cloud, and land Elevation Satellite
- **IPCC** Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
- **IW** Interferometric Wide swath
- ${\bf LRM}$  low-resolution mode
- **LSM** Land Surface Model
- ${\bf MAP}\,$  Mediterranean Action Plan
- MetOp Meteorological Operational
- MIRAS Microwave Imaging Radiometer using Aperture Synthesis
- **MODIS** Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer
- **MSI** Multi Spectral Instrument
- **MSS** mean square slope
- $\mathbf{MWR}\,$  MicroWave Radiometer
- **NASA** National Aeronautics and Space Administration
- **NDVI** Normalized Difference Vegetation Index
- **NIR** Near Infrared
- **NN** Neural Network
- NOAA National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
- ${\bf NRT}\,$  Near Real Time
- NTC Non-Time Critical
- $\mathbf{OCN}$  Ocean
- **OCOG** Offset Centre of Gravity
- **OLCI** Ocean and Land Color Instrument
- PDGS Payload Data Ground Segment
- **PRF** Pulse Repetition Frequency
- radar RAdio Detection And Ranging
- **RAR** real aperture radar
- **RCP** Representative Concentration Pathway
- **RCCI** Regional Climate Change Index
- ${\bf RF}\,$  Random Forest

**RMSE** Root Mean Square Error S2A Sentinel-2A S2B Sentinel-2B SAFRAN Système d'analyse fournissant des renseignements atmosphériques à la neige SAIH Sistema Automático de Información Hidrológica **SAR** synthetic aperture radar **SG** Segarra–Garrigues **SIGPAC** Geographic Information System for Agricultural Parcels **SLC** Single Look Complex **SLSTR** Sea and Land Surface Temperature Radiometer **SM** Stripmap **SMAP** Soil Moisture Active Passive **SMOS** Soil Moisture and Ocean Salinity **SNR** signal-to-noise ratio **SRAL** Radar Altimeter SRTM Shuttle Radar Topography Mission **SSM** Surface Soil Moisture SSO Sun-synchronous Orbit **STC** Slow Time Critical **SURFEX** SURFace EXternalisée **SVM** Support Vector Machine SWAT Soil and Water Assessment Tool **SWH** significant wave height **UNESCO** United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization **UNEP** United Nations Environment Programme **VWC** volumetric water content WCM Water Cloud Model WCRP The World Climate Research Programme WV Wave

 ${\bf WWF}\,$  World Wide Fund

# List of Figures

1.1	Change in average surface temperature (a) and change in average precipitation (b) based on multi-model mean projections for 2081–2100 relative to 1986–2005 under the RCP2.6 (left) and RCP8.5 (right) scenarios. RCP is short for Representative Concentration Pathway, which is a greenhouse gas concentration (not emissions) trajectory adopted by the IPCC for its fifth Assessment Report in 2014 ( <i>Pachauri</i>	
1.2	and Meyer, 2014)	2 3
1.3	The global map of water risk index considering both water stress and flood risk ( <i>Gassert et al.</i> , 2015).	5
1.4	Processes and pathways of the water cycle ( <i>The Drainage Basin Hydrological Cycle</i> , 2018).	6
$2.1 \\ 2.2 \\ 2.3$	The electromagnetic spectrum. Modified from $GSP$ (2018)	16 17
9.4	and rain as a function of frequency (and wavelength) ( $Ouchi$ , 2013)	18 10
2.4 2.5	SAR geometry ( <i>Moreira et al.</i> , 2013)	$\frac{19}{20}$
2.6	Summary of SAR processing steps. In the first step, the range of compressed data results from a convolution of the raw data with the range reference function. In a second step, the azimuth compression is performed through convolution with the azimuth reference function, which changes from near to far range. The "*" represents the convolution operation ( <i>Moreira et al.</i> , 2013).	22
2.7	Scattering Mechanisms ( $ESA$ , 2007)	23
2.8	Radar topographic effects ( <i>Braun and Hochschild</i> , 2017)	24 25
2.9	Waveform retracking. Created based on <i>Deng and Featherstone</i> (2006)	$\frac{23}{27}$
2.11	Beam-limited, pulse-limited and Doppler-limited altimetry ( $Sørensen$ , 2016)	28
$3.1 \\ 3.2$	The Ebro river basin. Modified from <i>Ebro Basin</i> (2007)	30
	Segarra–Garrigues (SG) system being developed.	31
3.3	Sentinel-3 tracking modes (open loop and closed loop) per observed surface ( $ESA$ ,	
	2018b).	36

3.4	Demonstration fields (yellow stars) within the 20 km by 20 km study area: Foradada and Agramunt	38
3.5	The meteorological stations of Catalonia in the Ruralcat database. Modified from <i>Ruralcat</i> (2018).	39
$\begin{array}{c} 3.6\\ 3.7\end{array}$	The SIGPAC interface ( <i>DARP</i> , 2018)	$\begin{array}{c} 40\\ 40 \end{array}$
$4.1 \\ 4.2 \\ 4.3$	Illustration of the relationship between NDVI and Mv used in method 1 Illustration of method 2	46 47
4.4	(a) and method 2 (b)	$\frac{48}{48}$
6.1	Schematic description of OCOG retracker with main parameters, where W is the window size, A is the amplitude, COG is the center of gravity of the window, and LEP is the leading edge position $(Vianudelli et al. 2011)$	96
6.2	Schematic representation of waveform variability along the satellite track in radar altimetry ( <i>Maillard et al.</i> , 2015).	90 97
6.3	Illustration of waveform portion selection. Modified from <i>Makhoul et al.</i> (2018).	98
7.1 7.2 7.2	Illustration of the forcing dams	126 128
7.3	is the observed outflow, q_out_mod_linear is the modelled outflow Results of forcing dams for volumes (left) and stream flows (right) using satellite	131
7.4	data over Itoiz Reservoir (2016-2018). Legend explained in Figure 7.2 Results of forcing dams using satellite data as target (upper) and using observed	132
	volumes as target (bottom) over Itoiz Reservoir (2016-2018).	133

# List of Tables

2.1	The frequency range and wavelength range of microwave bands (du Preez and	
	Sinha, 2016). $\ldots$	18
3.1	Sentinel-1 satellite parameters (Kramer, 2018a)	33
3.2	Sentinel-1 operational modes $(ESA, 2018a)$	33
3.3	Sentinel-2 satellite parameters (Kramer, 2018b)	34
3.4	Sentinel-2 bands ( $Kramer$ , 2018b)	35
3.5	Sentinel-3 satellite parameters (Kramer, 2018c)	36
3.6	Ground soil moisture measurements in two demonstration fields at Foradada and	
	Agramunt	38
7.1	RMSE of the outflow compared to the observations and RMSE-reference over	
	different reservoirs	131
7.2	RMSEs over different time span for releasing the volumes	132

# Bibliography

- Abbott, M. B., J. C. Bathurst, J. A. Cunge, P. E. O'Connell, and J. Rasmussen (1986a), An introduction to the european hydrological system—systeme hydrologique europeen, "she", 1: History and philosophy of a physically-based, distributed modeling system, J. Hydrol., 87, 45–59.
- Abbott, M. B., J. C. Bathurst, J. A. Cunge, P. E. O'Connell, and J. Rasmussen (1986b), An introduction to the european hydrological system—systeme hydrologique europeen, "she", 2: Structure of a physically-based, distributed modeling system, J. Hydrol., 87, 61–77.
- Abramowitz, G., R. Leuning, M. Clark, and A. Pitman (2008), Evaluating the performance of land surface models, *Journal of Climate*, 21 (21), 5468–5481, doi:10.1175/2008JCLI2378.1.
- Aggarwal, S. (2003), Principles of remote sensing, http://www.wmo.int/pages/prog/wcp/agm/ publications/AGM8\_en.php.
- Ahmed, A., Y. Zhang, and S. Nichols (2011), Review and evaluation of remote sensing methods for soil-moisture estimation, *SPIE Reviews*, 2(1), doi:10.1117/1.3534910.
- Alcorn, R. (2014), Chapter 17 wave energy, in *Future Energy (Second Edition)*, edited by T. M. Letcher, second edition ed., pp. 357 – 382, Elsevier, Boston, doi:https://doi.org/10. 1016/B978-0-08-099424-6.00017-X.
- Alsdorf, D., E. Rodriguez, and D. Lettenmaier (2007), Measuring surface water from space, Rev. Geophys., 45 (RG2002), doi:10.1029/2006RG000197.
- Ambika, A. K., B. Wardlow, and V. Mishra (2016), Remotely sensed high resolution irrigated area mapping in india for 2000 to 2015, *Scientific Data*, 3(1), 160,118, doi:10.1038/sdata.2016.118.
- Arnold, J. G., R. Srinivasan, R. S. Muttiah, and J. R. Williams (1998), Large area hydrologic modeling and assessment. part i: Model development, J. Amer. Water Resour. Assoc., 34, 73–89.
- Attema, E. P. W., and F. T. Ulaby (1978), Vegetation modeled as a water cloud, Radio Science, 13(2), 357–364, doi:10.1029/RS013i002p00357.
- Aubert, D., C. Loumagne, and L. Oudin (2003), Sequential assimilation of soil moisture and streamflow data in a conceptual rainfall–runoff model, *Journal of Hydrology*, 280(1), 145 161, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1694(03)00229-4.
- Aubert, M., N. Baghdadi, M. Zribi, A. Douaoui, C. Loumagne, F. Baup, M. El Hajj, and S. Garrigues (2011), Analysis of terrasar-x data sensitivity to bare soil moisture, roughness, composition and soil crust, *Remote Sens. Environ.*, 115, 1801–1810, doi:10.1016/j.rse.2011.02. 021.

- AVISO+ (2017), Sentinel-3a l2p sla product handbook, https://www.aviso.altimetry.fr/ fileadmin/documents/data/tools/hdbk\_L2P\_S3.pdf.
- Baghdadi, N., S. Gaultier, and C. King (2002), Retrieving surface roughness and soil moisture from synthetic aperture radar (sar) data using neural networks, *Can. J. Remote Sens.*, 28, 701–711, doi:10.5589/m02-066.
- Baghdadi, N., M. Aubert, O. Cerdan, L. Franchistéguy, C. Viel, E. Martin, M. Zribi, and J. Desprats (2007a), Operational mapping of soil moisture using synthetic aperture radar data: Application to the touch basin (france), Sensors, 7(10), 2458–2483, doi:10.3390/s7102458.
- Baghdadi, N., O. Cerdan, M. Zribi, V. Auzet, F. Darboux, M. El-Hajj, and R. Kheir (2007b), Operational performance of current synthetic aperture radar sensors in mapping soil surface characteristics in agricultural environments: Application to hydrological and erosion modelling, *Hydrol. Process.*, 22, 9–20, doi:10.1002/hyp.6609.
- Baghdadi, N., P. Camus, N. Beaugendre, O. Malam-Issa, M. Zribi, J. Desprats, J. Rajot, C. Abdallah, and C. Sannier (2011), Estimating surface soil moisture from terrasar-x data over two small catchments in the sahelian part of western niger, *Remote Sensing*, 3, 1266–1283, doi:10.3390/rs3061266.
- Baghdadi, N., R. Cresson, M. El Hajj, R. Ludwig, and I. la Jeunesse (2012), Estimation of soil parameters over bare agriculture areas from c-band polarimetric sar data using neural networks, *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.*, 16, 1607–1621, doi:10.5194/hess-16-1607-2012.
- Baghdadi, N., M. El Hajj, M. Zribi, and F. I. (2016), Coupling sar c-band and optical data for soil moisture and leaf area index retrieval over irrigated grasslands, *IEEE JSTARS*, 9(3), 1229–1243, doi:10.1109/JSTARS.2015.2464698.
- Barceló, D., and M. Petrovic (2011), *The Ebro River Basin*, 434 pp., Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, Germany, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-18032-3.
- Barnes, W. L., T. S. Pagano, and V. V. Salomonson (1998), Prelaunch characteristics of the moderate resolution imaging spectroradiometer (modis) on eos-am1, *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, 36(4), 1088–1100, doi:10.1109/36.700993.
- Bayer, T., R. Winter, and G. Schreier (1991), Terrain influences in sar backscatter and attempts to their correction, *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, 29(3), 451–462, doi:10.1109/36.79436.
- Benveniste, J. (2011), Radar altimetry: Past, present and future, in *Coastal Altimetry*, edited by S. Vignudelli, A. Kostianoy, P. Cipollini, and J. Benveniste, chap. 1, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, Germany, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-12796-0\_1.
- Beven, K. J., and M. J. Kirkby (1976), Towards a simple physically based variable contributing model of catchment hydrology, 11 pp., University of Leeds.
- Beven, K. J., and M. J. Kirkby (1979), A physically based, variable contributing area model of basin hydrology, *Hydrol. Sci. Bull.*, 24, 43–69.
- Beven, K. J., A. Calver, and E. M. Morris (1987), *The Institute of Hydrology distributed model*, 32 pp., Tech. Rep. 98, Institute of Hydrology.

- Bezerra, B., C. Santos, B. Silva, A. Perez-Marin, M. Bezerra, J. Berzerra, and T. Rao (2013), Estimation of soil moisture in the root-zone from remote sensing data, *Rev. Bras. Ciênc. Solo*, 37, 596–603.
- Biemans, H., I. Haddeland, P. Kabat, F. Ludwig, R. W. A. Hutjes, J. Heinke, W. von Bloh, and D. Gerten (2011), Impact of reservoirs on river discharge and irrigation water supply during the 20th century, *Water Resources Research*, 47(3), doi:10.1029/2009WR008929.
- Blöschl, G., and E. Zehe (2005), On hydrological predictability, *Hydrological Processes*, 19(19), 3923–3929, doi:10.1002/hyp.6075.
- Boucher, O., G. Myhre, and A. Myhre (2004), *Climate Dynamics*, vol. 22, Springer-Verlag, doi: 10.1007/s00382-004-0402-4.
- Bousbih, S., M. Zribi, M. El Hajj, N. Baghdadi, Z. Lili-Chabaane, Q. Gao, and P. Fanise (2018), Soil moisture and irrigation mapping in a semi-arid region, based on the synergetic use of sentinel-1 and sentinel-2 data, *Remote Sensing*, 10(12), doi:10.3390/rs10121953.
- Boy, F., J. Desjonquères, N. Picot, T. Moreau, and M. Raynal (2017), Cryosat-2 sar-mode over oceans: Processing methods, global assessment, and benefits, *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, 55(1), 148–158.
- Bramer, I., B. J. Anderson, J. Bennie, A. J. Bladon, P. D. Frenne, D. Hemming, R. A. Hill, M. R. Kearney, C. Körner, A. H. Korstjens, J. Lenoir, I. M. Maclean, C. D. Marsh, M. D. Morecroft, R. Ohlemüller, H. D. Slater, A. J. Suggitt, F. Zellweger, and P. K. Gillingham (2018), Chapter three advances in monitoring and modelling climate at ecologically relevant scales, in *Next Generation Biomonitoring: Part 1, Advances in Ecological Research*, vol. 58, edited by D. A. Bohan, A. J. Dumbrell, G. Woodward, and M. Jackson, pp. 101 161, Academic Press, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aecr.2017.12.005.
- Braun, A., and V. Hochschild (2017), Potential and limitations of radar remote sensing for humanitarian operations, *Journal for Geographic Information Science*, 5, 228–243, doi:10. 1553/giscience2017\_01\_s228.
- Burnash, R. J. C. (1995), The NWS river forecast system: Catchment modeling. Computer Models of Watershed Hydrology, 311–366 pp., Water Resources Publications.
- Burnash, R. J. C., R. L. Ferral, and R. A. McGuire (1973), A generalized streamflow simulation system: Conceptual modeling for digital computers, 204 pp., Tech. Rep., U.S. Department of Commerce, National Weather Service, Silver Spring.
- Cai, X., and M. Rosegrant (2002), Global water demand and supply projections part1: A modeling approach, *Water Int.*, 27(2), 159–169.
- Calman, S., and F. Seyler (2006), Continental surface water from satellite altimetry, C. R. Geosci., 338, 1113–1122, doi:10.1016/j.crte.2006.05.012.
- Calman, S., F. Seyler, and J. F. Cretaux (2008), Monitoring continental surface waters by satellite altimetry, Surv. Geophys., 29, 247–269, doi:10.1007/s10712-008-9051-1.
- Caloz, R., and C. Collet (2001), Précis de Télédétection. Volume III : Traitements Numériques d'Images de Télédétection, Presses Universitaires du Québec-Agence Universitaire de la Francophonie, Sainte-Foy, Québec.

- Campbell, J. B., and R. H. Wynne (2011), *Introduction to Remote Sensing*, 662 pp., The Guilford Press.
- Chai, X., T. Zhang, Y. Shao, H. Gong, L. Liu, and K. Xie (2015), Modeling and mapping soil moisture of plateau pasture using radarsat-2 imagery, *Remote Sens.*, 7, 1279–1299, doi: 10.3390/rs70201279.
- Chan, Y. K., and V. C. Koo (2008), An introduction to synthetic aperture radar (sar), *Progress* In Electromagnetics Research B, 2, 27–60, doi:10.2528/PIERB07110101.
- Chelton, D. B., E. J. Walsh, and J. L. MacArthur (1989), Pulse compression and sea level tracking in satellite altimetry, *Journal of Atmospheric and Oceanic Technology*, 6(3), 407–438, doi:10.1175/1520-0426(1989)006<0407:PCASLT>2.0.CO;2.
- Chelton, D. B., J. C. Ries, B. J. Haines, L.-L. Fu, and P. S. Callahan (2001), Chapter 1 satellite altimetry, in *Satellite Altimetry and Earth Sciences*, *International Geophysics*, vol. 69, edited by L.-L. Fu and A. Cazenave, pp. 1 – ii, Academic Press, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0074-6142(01)80146-7.
- Comaniciu, D., and P. Meer (1999), Mean shift analysis and applications, In Proceedings of the Seventh IEEE International Conference on Computer Vision, 2, 1197–1203, doi:10.1109/34. 1000236.
- Comaniciu, D., and P. Meer (2002), A robust approach toward feature space analysis, *IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell.*, 24, 603–619, doi:10.1109/34.1000236.
- Comín, F. A. (1999), Management of the ebro river basin: Past, present and future, Water Science and Technology, 40(10), 161 168, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0273-1223(99)00672-1, management of Large River Basins.
- Cook, B. I., G. B. Bonan, and S. Levis (2006), Soil moisture feedbacks to precipitation in southern africa, *Journal of Climate*, 19(17), 4198–4206, doi:10.1175/JCLI3856.1.
- Cook, J., D. Nuccitelli, S. A. Green, M. Richardson, B. Winkler, R. Painting, R. Way, P. Jacobs, and A. Skuce (2013), Quantifying the consensus on anthropogenic global warming in the scientific literature, *Environmental Research Letters*, 8(2), 024,024, doi:10.1088/1748-9326/8/ 2/024024.
- Crawford, N. H., and R. K. Linsley (1966), Digital simulation in hydrology: Stanford Watershed Model, 225 pp., IV. Tech. Rep.
- Cretaux, J. F., and C. Birkett (2006), Lake studies from satellite radar altimetry, C. R. Geosci., 338, 1098–1112, doi:10.1016/j.crte.2006.08.002.
- DARP (2018), Mapa agricultura, http://sig.gencat.cat/visors/Agricultura.html, dARP (El Departament d'Agricultura, Ramaderia, Pesca i Alimentació).
- David, C. H., D. R. Maidment, G.-Y. Niu, Z.-L. Yang, F. Habets, and V. Eijkhout (2011), River network routing on the nhdplus dataset, *Journal of Hydrometeorology*, 12(5), 913–934, doi:10.1175/2011JHM1345.1.
- Davis, C. (1995), Growth of the greenland ice sheet: A performance assessment of altimeter retracking algorithms, *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.*, 33, 1108–1116, doi:10.1109/36. 469474.

- Davis, C. (1997), A robust threshold retracking algorithm for measuring ice-sheet surface elevation change from satellite radar altimeter, *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.*, 35, 974–979, doi:10.1109/36.602540.
- Dawdy, D. R., and T. O'Donnell (1965), Mathematical models of catchment behavior, J. Hydraul. Div., 91, 123–127.
- De Roo, R., Y. Du, F. Ulaby, and M. Dobson (2001), A semi-empirical backscattering model at l-band and c-band for a soybean canopy with soil moisture inversion, *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.*, 39, 864–872, doi:10.1109/36.917912.
- Dee, D. P., S. M. Uppala, A. J. Simmons, P. Berrisford, P. Poli, S. Kobayashi, U. Andrae, M. A. Balmaseda, G. Balsamo, P. Bauer, P. Bechtold, A. C. M. Beljaars, L. van de Berg, J. Bidlot, N. Bormann, C. Delsol, R. Dragani, M. Fuentes, A. J. Geer, L. Haimberger, S. B. Healy, H. Hersbach, E. V. Hólm, L. Isaksen, P. Kållberg, M. Köhler, M. Matricardi, A. P. McNally, B. M. Monge-Sanz, J.-J. Morcrette, B.-K. Park, C. Peubey, P. de Rosnay, C. Tavolato, J.-N. Thépaut, and F. Vitart (2011), The era-interim reanalysis: configuration and performance of the data assimilation system, *Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society*, 137(656), 553–597, doi:10.1002/qj.828.
- Deng, X., and W. Featherstone (2006), A coastal retracking system for satellite radar altimeter waveforms: Application to ers-2 around australia, J. Geophys. Res., 111, doi: 10.1029/2005JC003039.
- Devia, G. K., B. Ganasri, and G. Dwarakish (2015), A review on hydrological models, Aquatic Procedia, 4, 1001 1007, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aqpro.2015.02.126.
- Direcció General de Desenvolupament Rural (2018), Informació de les dades sigpac, https://analisi.transparenciacatalunya.cat/api/views/w9bf-jejh/files/ 36948005-55ef-4003-826b-d01c17968ddf?download=true&filename=Dades\_SIGPAC\_ 2017.pdf.
- Dobson, M. C., and F. T. Ulaby (1981), Microwave backscatter dependence on surface roughness, soil moisture and soil texture: Part iii- soil tension, *IEEE Transactions on Geosciences and Remote Sensing*, 19, 51–61.
- Doocy, S., A. Daniels, S. Murray, and T. Kirsch (2013), The human impact of floods: a historical review of events 1980-2009 and systematic literature review, *PLOS Currents Disasters*, doi: 10.1371/currents.dis.f4deb457904936b07c09daa98ee8171a.
- Douglas, E., A. Beltrán-Przekurat, D. Niyogi, R. Pielke-Sr., and C. Vörösmarty (2009), The impact of agricultural intensification and irrigation on land-atmosphere interactions and indian monsoon precipitation—a mesoscale modeling perspective, *Global and Planetary Change*, 67(1–2), 117–128, doi:10.1016/j.gloplacha.2008.12.007.
- Douglas-Mankin, K. R., R. Srinivasan, and J. G. Arnold (2010), Soil and water assessment tool (swat) model: Current developments and applications, *Transactions of the ASABE*, 53(5), 1423–1431, doi:10.13031/2013.34915.
- du Preez, J., and S. Sinha (2016), *Millimeter-Wave Antennas: Configurations and Applications*, Springer International Publishing, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-35068-4.

- Durand, Y., E. Brown, L. Merindol, G. Guyomarc'h, B. Lesaffre, and E. Martin (1993), A meteorological estimation of relevant parameters for snow models, *Annals of Glaciology*, 18, 65–71, doi:10.3189/S0260305500011277.
- Durand, Y., G. Giraud, E. Brun, L. Mérindol, and E. Martin (1999), A computer-based system simulating snowpack structures as a tool for regional avalanche forecasting, *Journal of Glaciology*, 45(151), 469–484, doi:10.3189/S0022143000001337.
- EASAC (2010), Groundwater in the southern member states of the european union: an assessment of current knowledge and future prospects, european Academies Science Advisory Council.
- Easterling, D. R., G. A. Meehl, C. Parmesan, S. A. Changnon, T. R. Karl, and L. O. Mearns (2000), Climate extremes: Observations, modeling, and impacts, *Science*, 289(5487), 2068– 2074, doi:10.1126/science.289.5487.2068.
- Ebro Basin (2007), https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/archive/d/d2/ 20190205015344%21SpainEbroBasin.png.
- Edaphic Scientific (2018), how to convert gravimetric soil water content to volumetric soil water content, https://www.edaphic.com.au/soil-water-compendium/ how-to-convert-gravimetric-soil-water-content-to-volumetric-soil-water-content/.
- El Hajj, M., N. Baghdadi, G. Belaud, M. Zribi, B. Cheviron, D. Courault, and F. Charron (2014), Irrigated grassland monitoring using a time series of terrasar-x and cosmo-skymed x-band sar data, *Remote Sensing*, 6, 10,002–10,032, doi:10.3390/rs61010002.
- El Hajj, M., N. Baghdadi, M. Zribi, G. Belaud, B. Cheviron, D. Courault, and F. Charron (2016), Soil moisture retrieval over irrigated grassland using x-band sar data, *Remote Sensing* of Environment, 176, 202–218, doi:10.1016/j.rse.2016.01.027.
- El Hajj, M., N. Baghdadi, M. Zribi, N. Rodríguez-Fernández, J. P. Wigneron, A. Al-Yaari, A. Al Bitar, C. Albergel, and J.-C. Calvet (2018), Evaluation of smos, smap, ascat and sentinel-1 soil moisture products at sites in southwestern france, *Remote Sensing*, 10(4), doi:10.3390/ rs10040569.
- Elkhrachy, I. (2017), Vertical accuracy assessment for srtm and aster digital elevation models: A case study of najran city, saudi arabia, *Ain Shams Eng. J.*, p. 241–262, doi:10.1016/j.asej. 2017.01.007.
- Entekhabi, D., , E. G. Njoku, P. E. O'Neill, K. H. Kellogg, W. T. Crow, W. N. Edelstein, J. K. Entin, S. D. Goodman, and T. J. Jackson (2010), The soil moisture active passive (smap) mission, *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 98(5), 704–716.
- ESA (2007), Asar product handbook, https://earth.esa.int/pub/ESA\_DOC/ENVISAT/ASAR/ asar.ProductHandbook.2\_2.pdf.
- ESA (2017), Sentinels: Copernicus programme mission operations, https://www.esa.int/Our\_Activities/Operations/Sentinels.
- ESA (2018), Radar course, https://earth.esa.int/web/guest/missions/ esa-operational-eo-missions/ers/instruments/sar/applications/radar-courses.

- ESA (2018a), Sentinel-1 level-1 products, https://earth.esa.int/web/sentinel/ technical-guides/sentinel-1-sar/products-algorithms/level-1-algorithms/ products.
- ESA (2018b), Sentinel-3 altimetry operating modes, https://sentinel.esa.int/web/ sentinel/user-guides/sentinel-3-altimetry/overview/modes.
- Escorihuela, M., and P. Quintana-Seguí (2016), Comparison of remote sensing and simulated soil moisture datasets in mediterranean landscapes, *Remote Sens. Environ.*, 180, 99–114, doi: 10.1016/j.rse.2016.02.046.
- FAO (2009), How to feed the world in 2050, www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/wsfs/docs/ expert\_paper/How\_to\_Feed\_the\_World\_in\_2050.pdf, food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Farr, T., P. Rosen, E. Caro, R. Crippen, R. Duren, S. Hensley, M. Kobrick, M. Paller, E. Rodriguez, and L. Roth (2007), The shuttle radar topography mission, *Rev. Geophys.*, 45, doi: 10.1029/2005RG000183.
- Fernandes, M. J., C. Lázaro, A. L. Nunes, and R. Scharroo (2014), Atmospheric corrections for altimetry studies over inland water, *Remote Sensing*, 6(6), 4952–4997, doi:10.3390/rs6064952.
- Fontanet, M., D. Fernàndez-Garcia, and F. Ferrer (2018), The value of satellite remote sensing soil moisture data and the dispatch algorithm in irrigation fields, *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 22(11), 5889–5900, doi:10.5194/hess-22-5889-2018.
- Fortin, J. P., R. Turcotte, S. Massicotte, R. Moussa, J. Fitzback, and J. P. Villeneuve (2001a), A distributed watershed model compatible with remote sensing and gis data, J. Hydrol. Eng., 6, 91–99.
- Fortin, J. P., R. Turcotte, S. Massicotte, R. Moussa, J. Fitzback, and J. P. Villeneuve (2001b), A distributed watershed model compatible with remote sensing and gis data. ii: Application to chaudière watershed, J. Hydrol. Eng., 6, 100–108.
- Fricker, H. A. (2009), Satellite remote sensing sio 135/sio 236 lecture 12: Satellite radar and laser altimetry, ftp.bartol.udel.edu.
- Fukunaga, K., and L. Hostetler (1975), The estimation of the gradient of a density function, with applications in pattern recognition, *IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory*, 21, 32–40.
- Gao, P., V. Geissen, C. Ritsema, X. Mu, and F. Wang (2013), Impact of climate change and anthropogenic activities on stream flow and sediment discharge in the wei river basin, china, *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.*, 17, 961–972, doi:10.5194/hess-17-961-2013.
- Gao, Q., M. Zribi, M. J. Escorihuela, and N. Baghdadi (2017), Synergetic use of sentinel-1 and sentinel-2 data for soil moisture mapping at 100 m resolution, *Sensors*, 17(9), doi:10.3390/s17091966.
- Gao, Q., M. Zribi, M. J. Escorihuela, N. Baghdadi, and P. Q. Segui (2018), Irrigation mapping using sentinel-1 time series at field scale, *Remote Sensing*, 10(9), doi:10.3390/rs10091495.
- Gao, Q., E. Makhoul, M. J. Escorihuela, M. Zribi, P. Quintana Seguí, P. García, and M. Roca (2019), Analysis of retrackers' performances and water level retrieval over the ebro river basin using sentinel-3, *Remote Sensing*, 11(6), doi:10.3390/rs11060718.

- Gassert, F., M. Luck, M. Landis, P. Reig, and T. Shiao (2015), Aqueduct global maps 2.1: Constructing decision-relevant global water risk indicators., *World Resources Institute*.
- Gerten, D., S. Rost, W. von Bloh, and W. Lucht (2008), Causes of change in 20th century global river discharge, *Geophysical Research Letters*, 35(20), doi:10.1029/2008GL035258.
- Ghedira, H., T. Lakhankar, N. Jahan, and R. Khanbilvardi (2004), Combination of passive and active microwave data for soil moisture estimates, in *IGARSS 2004. 2004 IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium*, vol. 4, pp. 2783–2786 vol.4, doi:10.1109/IGARSS. 2004.1369880.
- Gherboudj, I., R. Magagi, A. Berg, and B. Toth (2011), Soil moisture retrieval over agricultural fields from multi-polarized and multi-angular radarsat-2 sar data, *Remote Sens. Environ.*, 115, 33–43, doi:10.1016/j.rse.2010.07.011.
- Giorgi, F. (2006), Climate change hot-spots, *Geophysical Research Letters*, 33(8), doi:10.1029/2006GL025734.
- Grayson, R. B., I. D. Moore, and T. A. McMahon (1992), Physically based hydrologic modeling.
  1: A terrain-based model for investigative purposes, *Water Resour. Res.*, 28, 2639–2658.
- Green, J. (2000), Global energy and water cycles, *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, 25(5), 560–561, doi:10.1002/(SICI)1096-9837(200005)25:5<560::AID-ESP88>3.0.CO;2-\#.
- GSP (2018), Microwave remote sensing overview, http://gsp.humboldt.edu/OLM\_2015/ Courses/GSP\_216\_Online/lesson7-2/overview.html.
- Guo, H., Q. Hu, Q. Zhang, and S. Feng (2012), Effects of the three gorges dam on the yangtze river flow and river interaction with poyang lake, china: 2003–2008, *Journal of Hydrology*, 416–417, 19–27, doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2011.11.027.
- Gupta, V., N. Sharma, and R. Jangid (2013), Emission and scattering behaviour of bare and vegetative soil surfaces of different moist states by microwave remote sensing, *Indian J. Radio* Space Phys., 42, 42–51.
- Haddeland, I., J. Heinke, H. Biemans, S. Eisner, M. Flörke, N. Hanasaki, M. Konzmann, F. Ludwig, Y. Masaki, J. Schewe, T. Stacke, Z. D. Tessler, Y. Wada, and D. Wisser (2014), Global water resources affected by human interventions and climate change, *PNAS*, 111, 3251–3256, doi:pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.1222475110.
- Hamdy, A., R. Ragab, and E. Scarascia-Mugnozza (2003), Coping with water scarcity: water saving and increasing water productivity, *Irrigation and Drainage*, 52(1), 3–20, doi:10.1002/ ird.73.
- Hassan-Esfahani, L., A. Torres-Rua, A. Jensen, and M. McKee (2015), Assessment of surface soil moisture using high-resolution multi-spectral imagery and artificial neural networks, *Remote* Sensing, 7(3), 2627–2646, doi:10.3390/rs70302627.
- He, B., M. Xing, and X. Bai (2014), A synergistic methodology for soil moisture estimation in an alpine prairie using radar and optical satellite data, *Remote Sens.*, 6, 10,966–10,985, doi:10.3390/rs61110966.
- Hoekstra, A. Y., M. M. Mekonnen, A. K. Chapagain, R. E. Mathews, and B. D. Richter (2012), Global monthly water scarcity: Blue water footprints versus blue water availability, *PLOS ONE*, 7(2), 1–9, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0032688.

- Horton, R. E. (1935), Surface Runoff Phenomena. Part 1: Analysis of the Hydrograph, 73 pp., Horton Hydrology Laboratory Publication.
- Huntington, T. (2006), Evidence for intensification of the global water cycle: Review and synthesis, *Journal of Hydrology*, 319, 83–95, doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2005.07.003.
- Jacome, A., M. Bernier, K. Chokmani, Y. Gauthier, J. Poulin, and D. De Sève (2013), Monitoring volumetric surface soil moisture content at the la grande basin boreal wetland by radar multi polarization data, *Remote Sens.*, 5, 4919–4941, doi:10.3390/rs5104919.
- Jarvis, A., H. Reuter, A. Nelson, and E. Guevara (2008), Hole-filled srtm for the globe version 4, https://cgiarcsi.community/data/srtm-90m-digital-elevation-database-v4-1/, available from the CGIAR-CSI SRTM 90m Database (http://srtm.csi.cgiar.org).
- Jensen, J. R. (2005), Introductory Digital Image Processing: A Remote Sensing Perspective, 505-512 pp., Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River.
- Johnson, P. M. (2016), Governing Global Desertification: Linking Environmental Degradation, Poverty and Participation, 312 pp., Routledge, London, doi:10.4324/9781315253916.
- Justice, C. O., E. Vermote, J. R. G. Townshend, R. Defries, D. P. Roy, D. K. Hall, V. V. Salomonson, J. L. Privette, G. Riggs, A. Strahler, W. Lucht, R. B. Myneni, Y. Knyazikhin, S. W. Running, R. R. Nemani, A. R. Huete, W. van Leeuwen, R. E. Wolfe, L. Giglio, J. Muller, P. Lewis, and M. J. Barnsley (1998), The moderate resolution imaging spectroradiometer (modis): land remote sensing for global change research, *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, 36(4), 1228–1249, doi:10.1109/36.701075.
- Kerr, Y., P. Waldteufel, J. P. Wigneron, S. Delwart, F. Cabot, J. Boutin, M. J. Escorihuela, J. Font, N. Reul, C. Gruhier, S. E. Juglea, M. R. Drinkwater, A. Hahne, M. Martin Neira, and S. Mecklenburg (2010), The SMOS mission : new tool for monitoring key elements of the global water cycle, *Proceedings of the Ieee*, 98, 666–687, doi:10.1109/jproc.2010.2043032.
- Kerr, Y., P. Waldteufel, P. Richaume, J. Wigneron, P. Ferrazzoli, A. Mahmoodi, A. Bitar, F. Cabot, C. Gruhier, S. Juglea, D. Leroux, A. Mialon, and S. Delwart (2012), The smos soil moisture retrieval algorithm, *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, 50(5), 1384–1403.
- Kerr, Y. H., P. Waldteufel, J. Wigneron, J. Martinuzzi, J. Font, and M. Berger (2001), Soil moisture retrieval from space: the soil moisture and ocean salinity (smos) mission, *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, 39(8), 1729–1735, doi:10.1109/36.942551.
- Keys, E., and W. J. McConnell (2005), Global change and the intensification of agriculture in the tropics, *Global Environmental Change*, 15(4), 320 337, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j. gloenvcha.2005.04.004.
- Kramer, H. J. (2018a), Copernicus: Sentinel-1 the sar imaging constellation for land and ocean services, https://earth.esa.int/web/eoportal/satellite-missions/c-missions/ copernicus-sentinel-1.
- Kramer, H. J. (2018b), Copernicus: Sentinel-2 the optical imaging mission for land services, https://earth.esa.int/web/eoportal/satellite-missions/c-missions/ copernicus-sentinel-2.

- Kramer, H. J. (2018c), Copernicus: Sentinel-3 global sea/land monitoring mission including altimetry, https://earth.esa.int/web/eoportal/satellite-missions/c-missions/ copernicus-sentinel-3.
- Kumar, K., H. Suryanarayana-Rao, and M. K. Arora (2015), Study of water cloud model vegetation descriptors in estimating soil moisture in solani catchment, *Hydrol. Process.*, 29, 2137–2148, doi:10.1002/hyp.10344.
- Kumar, M. (2009), Toward a hydrologic modeling system, Ph.D. thesis, The Pennsylvania State University.
- Kundzewicz, Z. W., S. Budhakooncharoen, A. Bronstert, H. Hoff, D. Lettenmaier, L. Menzel, and R. Schulze (2002), Coping with variability and change: Floods and droughts, *Natural Resources Forum*, 26(4), 263–274, doi:10.1111/1477-8947.00029.
- Lacava, T., L. Brocca, M. Faruolo, P. Matgen, T. Moramarco, N. Pergola, and V. Tramutoli (2012), A multi-sensor (smos, amsr-e and ascat) satellite-based soil moisture products intercomparison, in 2012 IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium, pp. 1135–1138, doi:10.1109/IGARSS.2012.6351348.
- Lee, E., W. J. Sacks, T. N. Chase, and J. A. Foley (2011), Simulated impacts of irrigation on the atmospheric circulation over asia, *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 116(D8), doi:10.1029/2010JD014740.
- Lehner, B., C. R. Liermann, C. Revenga, C. Vörösmarty, B. Fekete, P. Crouzet, P. Döll, M. Endejan, K. Frenken, J. Magome, C. Nilsson, J. C. Robertson, R. Rödel, N. Sindorf, and D. Wisser (2011), High-resolution mapping of the world's reservoirs and dams for sustainable river-flow management, *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 9(9), 494–502, doi:10.1890/100125.
- Li, Y., C. Liu, D. Zhang, X. Liang, K.and Li, and G. Dong (2016), Reduced runoff due to anthropogenic intervention in the loess plateau, china, *Water*, 8(10), 458, doi:10.3390/w8100458.
- Lillesand, T., and R. Kiefer (1987), Remote Sensing and Image Interpretation, Wiley.
- Linsley, R. K., and N. H. Crawford (1960), Computation of a synthetic streamflow record on a digital computer, Int. Assoc. Sci. Hydrol. Pub., 51, 526–538.
- Little, K. M., B. Metelerkamp, and C. W. Smith (1998), A comparison of three methods of soil water content determination, South African Journal of Plant and Soil, 15(2), 80–89, doi: 10.1080/02571862.1998.10635121.
- Lo, M.-H., and J. S. Famiglietti (2013), Irrigation in california's central valley strengthens the southwestern u.s. water cycle, *Geophysical Research Letters*, 40(2), 301–306, doi:10.1002/grl. 50108.
- Ma, X., and W. Cheng (1998), A modeling of hydrological processes in a large low plain area including lakes and ponds, J. Japan Soc. Hydrol. Water Resour., 9, 320–329.
- Maillard, P., N. Bercher, and S. Calmant (2015), New processing approaches on the retrieval of water levels in envisat and saral radar altimetry over rivers: A case study of the sao francisco river, brazil, *Remote Sens. Environ.*, 156, 226–241, doi:10.1016/j.rse.2014.09.027.
- Makhoul, E., M. Roca, C. Ray, R. Escolà, and A. Garcia-Mondéjar (2018), Evaluation of the precision of different delay-doppler processor (ddp) algorithms using cryosat-2 data over open ocean, Adv. Space Res., 62, 1464–1478, doi:10.1016/j.asr.2018.04.004.

- Masson, V., P. Le Moigne, E. Martin, S. Faroux, A. Alias, R. Alkama, S. Belamari, A. Barbu, A. Boone, F. Bouyssel, P. Brousseau, E. Brun, J.-C. Calvet, D. Carrer, B. Decharme, C. Delire, S. Donier, K. Essaouini, A.-L. Gibelin, H. Giordani, F. Habets, M. Jidane, G. Kerdraon, E. Kourzeneva, M. Lafaysse, S. Lafont, C. Lebeaupin Brossier, A. Lemonsu, J.-F. Mahfouf, P. Marguinaud, M. Mokhtari, S. Morin, G. Pigeon, R. Salgado, Y. Seity, F. Taillefer, G. Tanguy, P. Tulet, B. Vincendon, V. Vionnet, and A. Voldoire (2013), The surfexv7.2 land and ocean surface platform for coupled or offline simulation of earth surface variables and fluxes, *Geoscientific Model Development*, 6(4), 929–960, doi:10.5194/gmd-6-929-2013.
- Massonet, D., and K.L.Feigl (1998), Radar interferometry and its application to changes in the earth surface, *Reviews of Geophysics*, 36(4).
- Meier, J., F. Zabel, and W. Mauser (2018), A global approach to estimate irrigated areas a comparison between different data and statistics, *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 22(2), 1119–1133, doi:10.5194/hess-22-1119-2018.
- Mishra, V., J. F. Cruise, C. R. Hain, J. R. Mecikalski, and M. C. Anderson (2018), Development of soil moisture profiles through coupled microwave-thermal infrared observations in the southeastern united states, *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 22(9), 4935–4957, doi: 10.5194/hess-22-4935-2018.
- Moreira, A., P. Prats-Iraola, M. Younis, G. Krieger, I. Hajnsek, and K. P. Papathanassiou (2013), A tutorial on synthetic aperture radar, *IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Magazine*, 1(1), 6–43, doi:10.1109/MGRS.2013.2248301.
- Mukul, M., V. Srivastava, and M. Mukul (2015), Analysis of the accuracy of shuttle radar topography mission (srtm) height models using international global navigation satellite system service (igs) network, J. Earth Syst. Sci., 124, 1343–1357, doi:10.1007/s12040-015-0597-2.
- Mukul, M., V. Srivastava, and M. Mukul (2017), Uncertainties in the shuttle radar topography mission (srtm) heights: Insights from the indian himalaya and peninsula, *Sci. Rep.*, 7, 41,672, doi:10.1038/srep41672.
- Mulvany, T. J. (1851), On the use of self-registering rain and flood gauges in making observations of the relations of rainfall and of flood discharges in a catchment, *Trans. Inst. Civ. Eng.*, 4, 1–8.
- Natural Resources Canada (2015), Radar basics, https://www.nrcan.gc.ca/node/9355.
- Nepal, S., W.-A. Flügel, P. Krause, M. Fink, and C. Fischer (2017), Assessment of spatial transferability of process-based hydrological model parameters in two neighbouring catchments in the himalayan region, *Hydrological Processes*, 31(16), 2812–2826, doi:10.1002/hyp.11199.
- Njoku, E., and D. Entekhabi (1996), Passive microwave remote sensing of soil moisture, *Journal of Hydrology*, 184, 101–129, doi:10.1016/0022-1694(95)02970-2.
- Njoku, E. G., T. J. Jackson, V. Lakshmi, T. K. Chan, and S. V. Nghiem (2003), Soil moisture retrieval from amsr-e, *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, 41(2), 215–229, doi:10.1109/TGRS.2002.808243.
- Noilhan, J., and J.-F. Mahfouf (1996), The isba land surface parameterisation scheme, *Global* and *Planetary Change*, 13(1), 145 – 159, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0921-8181(95)00043-7, soil Moisture Simulation.

- Noilhan, J., and S. Planton (1989), A simple parameterization of land surface processes for meteorological models, *Monthly Weather Review*, 117(3), 536–549, doi:10.1175/1520-0493(1989) 117<0536:ASPOLS>2.0.CO;2.
- Notarnicola, C., M. Angiulli, and F. Posa (2008), Soil moisture retrieval from remotely sensed data: neural network approach versus bayesian method, *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.*, 46, 547–557, doi:10.1109/TGRS.2007.909951.
- Oki, T., and S. Kanae (2006), Global hydrological cycles and world water resources, *Science*, 313(5790), 1068–1072, doi:10.1126/science.1128845.
- Ouchi, K. (2013), Recent trend and advance of synthetic aperture radar with selected topics, *Remote Sensing*, 5(2), 716–807, doi:10.3390/rs5020716.
- Ozdogan, M., Y. Yang, G. Allez, and C. Cervantes (2010), Remote sensing of irrigated agriculture: Opportunities and challenges, *Remote Sens.*, 2, 2274–2304, doi:10.3390/rs2092274.
- Pachauri, R., and L. Meyer (2014), *Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report.*, 151 pp., Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
- PAGES (2018), Regional integration, http://pastglobalchanges.org/ini/wg/former/ regional-integration/intro, past Global Changes (PAGES).
- Paloscia, S., S. Pettinato, E. Santi, C. Notarnicola, L. Pasolli, and A. Reppucci (2013), Soil moisture mapping using sentinel-1 images: Algorithm and preliminary validation, *Remote* Sensing of Environment, 134, 234 – 248, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2013.02.027.
- Pasquariello, G., G. Satalino, F. Mattia, D. Casarano, F. Posa, J. Souyris, and T. Le Toan (1997), On the retrieval of soil moisture from sar data over bare soils, *In Proceedings of the IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing (IGARSS 1997)*, pp. 1272–1274.
- Pham-Duc, B., C. Prigent, and F. Aires (2017), Surface water monitoring within cambodia and the vietnamese mekong delta over a year, with sentinel-1 sar observations, *Water*, 9(6), 366, doi:10.3390/w9060366.
- Podest, E. (2017), Basics of synthetic aperture radar, https://arset.gsfc.nasa.gov/sites/ default/files/disasters/SAR-17/Session1-SAR-English.pdf.
- Postel, S. (1992), Water scarcity, Envir. Sci. Tech. Lib., 26(12), 2332–2333.
- Pratola, C., B. B. Barrett, A. Gruber, and E. Dwyer (2015), Quality assessment of the cci ecv soil moisture product using envisat asar wide swath data over spain, ireland and finland, *Remote Sensing*, 7, 15,388–15,423, doi:10.3390/rs71115388.
- Prevot, L., I. Champion, and G. Guyot (1993), Estimating surface soil moisture and leaf area index of a wheat canopy using a dual-frequency (c and x bands) scatterometer, *Remote Sens. Environ.*, 46, 331–339, doi:10.1016/0034-4257(93)90053-Z.
- Pulvirenti, L., F. Ticconi, and N. Pierdicca (2009), Neural network emulation of the integral equation model with multiple scattering, *Sensors*, 9, 8109–8125, doi:10.3390/s91008109.
- Puma, M. J., and B. I. Cook (2010), Effects of irrigation on global climate during the 20th century, Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 115(D16), doi:10.1029/2010JD014122.

- Qu, Y. (2004), An integrated hydrologic model for multi-process simulation using semi-discrete finite volume approach, Ph.D. thesis, The Pennsylvania State University.
- Qu, Y., and C. J. Duffy (2007), A semidiscrete finite volume formulation for multiprocess watershed simulation, *Water Resour. Res.*, 43, W08,419.
- Quintana-Seguí, P., P. Le Moigne, Y. Durand, E. Martin, F. Habets, M. Baillon, C. Canellas, L. Franchisteguy, and S. Morel (2008), Analysis of near-surface atmospheric variables: Validation of the safran analysis over france, *Journal of Applied Meteorology and Climatology*, 47(1), 92–107, doi:10.1175/2007JAMC1636.1.
- Quintana-Seguí, P., C. Peral, M. Turco, M. C. Llasat, and E. Martin (2016), Meteorological analysis systems in north-east spain: Validation of safran and span, JOURNAL OF ENVI-RONMENTAL INFORMATICS, 27(2).
- Quintana-Seguí, P., M. Turco, S. Herrera, and G. Miguez-Macho (2017), Validation of a new safran-based gridded precipitation product for spain and comparisons to spain02 and era-interim, *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 21(4), 2187–2201, doi:10.5194/ hess-21-2187-2017.
- Rabus, B., M. Eineder, A. Roth, and R. Bamler (2003), The shuttle radar topography mission—a new class of digital elevation models acquired by space borne radar, J. Photogramm. Remote Sens., 57, 241–262, doi:10.1016/S0924-2716(02)00124-7.
- Radar Altimetry Tutorial and Toolbox (2017), http://www-cs-faculty.stanford.edu/~uno/ abcde.html.
- Rammer, J., and H. Smith (1986), Quantum field-theoretical methods in transport theory of metals, *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 58, 323–359, doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.58.323.
- Raney, R. K. (1998), The delay/doppler radar altimeter, IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing, 36(5), 1578–1588, doi:10.1109/36.718861.
- Ray, C., C. Martin-Puig, M. P. Clarizia, G. Ruffini, S. Dinardo, C. Gommenginger, and J. Benveniste (2015), Sar altimeter backscattered waveform model, *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience* and Remote Sensing, 53(2), 911–919, doi:10.1109/TGRS.2014.2330423.
- Ribbes, F., and T. Toan (1999), Rice field mapping and monitoring with radarsat data, *Int. J. Remote Sens.*, 20, 745–765, doi:10.1080/014311699213172.
- Rignot, E., and J. van Zyl (1993), Change detection techniques for ers-1 sar data, IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens., 319, 896–906, doi:10.1109/36.239913.
- Rodriguez, V. (2018), Ebro river, river, spain, https://www.britannica.com/place/ Ebro-River.
- Ruralcat (2018), Dades agrometeorològiques, https://ruralcat.gencat.cat/web/guest/ agrometeo.estacions.
- Sadoff, C., and M. Muller (2015), Better water resources management: Greater resilience today, more effective adaptation tomorrow, http://hdl.handle.net/10535/5041.
- Sahebi, M., F. Bonn, and G. Bénié (2004), Neural networks for the inversion of soil surface parameters from synthetic aperture radar satellite data, *Can. J. Civil Eng.*, 31, 95–108, doi: 10.1139/l03-079.

- SAIH Ebro (2018), http://www.saihebro.com.
- Saleh, F., N. Flipo, F. Habets, A. Ducharne, L. Oudin, P. Viennot, and E. Ledoux (2011), Modeling the impact of in-stream water level fluctuations on stream-aquifer interactions at the regional scale, *Journal of Hydrology*, 400(3), 490 – 500, doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhydrol.2011.02.001.
- Salmon, J. M., M. A. Friedl, S. Frolking, D. Wisser, and E. M. Douglas (2015), Global rain-fed, irrigated, and paddy croplands: A new high resolution map derived from remote sensing, crop inventories and climate data, J. Appl. Earth Obs. Geoinf., 38, 321–334.
- Sandwell, D. (2009), Satellite remote sensing sio 135/sio 236: Electromagnetic radiation and polarization, https://topex.ucsd.edu/rs/em.pdf.
- Santi, E., S. Paloscia, S. Pettinato, C. Notarnicola, E. Pasolli, and A. Pistocchi (2013), Comparison between sar soil moisture estimates and hydrological model simulations over the scrivia test site, *Remote Sens.*, 5, 4961–4976, doi:10.3390/rs5104961.
- Santi, E., S. Paloscia, S. Pettinato, and G. Fontanelli (2016), Application of artificial neural networks for the soil moisture retrieval from active and passive microwave spaceborne sensors, *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*, 48, 61–73, doi:10. 1016/j.jag.2015.08.002.
- Sauer, T., P. Havlik, U. Schneider, E. Schmid, G. Kindermann, and M. Obersteiner (2010), Agriculture and resource availability in a changing world: The role of irrigation, *Water Resour. Res.*, 46(12), 5, doi:10.1029/2009WR007729.
- Schmugge, T. J., T. J. Jackson, P. E. O'Neill, and M. B. Parlange (1998), Observations of coherent emissions from soils, *Radio Science*, 33(2), 267–272, doi:10.1029/97RS02614.
- Shao, Y., X. Fan, H. Liu, J. Xiao, S. Ross, B. Brisco, R. Brown, and G. Staples (2001), Rice monitoring and production estimation using multitemporal radarsat, *Remote Sens. Environ.*, 76, 310–325.
- Sharma, K. D., S. Sorooshian, and H. Wheater (2008), Hydrological Modelling in Arid and Semi-Arid Areas, 223 pp., New York : Cambridge University.
- Sherman, L. K. (1932), Stream flow from rainfall by the unit graph method, *Eng. News-Rec.*, 108, 501–505.
- Shi, Y., K. J. Davis, C. J. Duffy, and X. Yu (2013), Development of a coupled land surface hydrologic model and evaluation at a critical zone observatory, *Journal of Hydrometeorology*, 14(5), 1401–1420, doi:10.1175/JHM-D-12-0145.1.
- Shiklomanov, I. (1996), Assessment of water resources and water availabilit in the world: Scientific and technical report.
- Shiklomanov, I. (2000), Appraisal and assessment of world water resources, *Water Int.*, 25(1), 11–32.
- Shipman, J., J. D. Wilson, and C. A. Higgins (2015), An Introduction to Physical Science, Cengage Learning.

- Shoshany, M., T. Svoray, P. Curran, G. Foody, and A. Perevolotsky (2000), The relationship between ers-2 sar backscatter and soil moisture: Generalization from a humid to semi-arid transect, *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 21(11), 2337–2343, doi: 10.1080/01431160050029620.
- Siebert, S., P. Doll, J. Hoogeveen, J. Faures, K. Frenken, and S. Feick (2005), Development and validation of the global map of irrigation areas, *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.*, 2(4), 1299–1327.
- Sikdar, M., and I. Cumming (2001), A modified empirical model for soil moisture estimation in vegetated areas using sar data., p. 803–806, IEEE.
- Skolnik, M. (2008), *Radar Handbook, Third Edition*, Electronics electrical engineering, McGraw-Hill Education.
- Smith, D. R., and D. Schurig (2003), Electromagnetic wave propagation in media with indefinite permittivity and permeability tensors, *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 90, 077,405, doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett. 90.077405.
- Sophocleous, M. (2004a), Global water resources affected by human interventions and climate change, *Natural Resources Research*, 13, doi:10.1023/B:NARR.0000032644.16734.f5.
- Sophocleous, M. (2004b), Global and regional water availability and demand: Prospects for the future, Natural Resources Research, 13(2), 61–75, doi:10.1023/B:NARR.0000032644.16734.f5.
- Sørensen, L. S. (2016), Altimetry theory, http://seom.esa.int/cryotraining2016/files/ CTC16/Day3/1\_Sorensen\_Altimetry\_theory\_Louise.pdf.
- Srivastava, H., P. Patel, Y. Sharma, and R. Navalgund (2009), Large-area soil moisture estimation using multi-incidence-angle radarsat-1 sar data, *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.*, 47, 2528–2535, doi:10.1109/TGRS.2009.2018448.
- Sugawara, M. (1969), The flood forecasting by a series storage type model. Floods and Their Computation, 555–559 pp., IAHS Publ.
- Tatem, A. J., S. J. Goetz, and S. I. Hay (2008), Fifty years of earth observation satellites: Views from above have lead to countless advances on the ground in both scientific knowledge and daily life, *American scientist*, 96(5), 390–398, doi:10.1511/2008.74.390.
- The Drainage Basin Hydrological Cycle (2018), http://www.alevelgeography.com/ drainage-basin-hydrological-system/.
- Thenkabail, P. S., C. M. Biradar, P. Noojipady, V. Dheeravath, Y. Li, M. Velpuri, M. Gumma, O. R. P. Gangalakunta, H. Turral, X. Cai, J. Vithanage, M. A. Schull, and R. Dutta (2009), Global irrigated area map (giam), derived from remote sensing, for the end of the last millennium, *Int. J. Remote Sens.*, 30, 3679–3733.
- Thoma, D., M. Moran, R. Bryant, C. Collins, M. Rahman, and S. Skirvin (2004), Comparison of two methods for extracting surface soil moisture from c-band radar imagery, *In Proceedings of the IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium (IGARSS 2004)*, pp. 827–830.
- Thoma, D., M. Moran, R. Bryant, M. Rahman, C. Holifield-Collins, S. Skirvin, E. Sano, and K. Slocum (2006), Comparison of four models to determine surface soil moisture from c-band radar imagery in a sparsely vegetated semiarid landscape, *Water Resour. Res.*, 42, 1–12, doi: 10.1029/2004WR003905.

- Thoma, D., M. Moran, R. Bryant, M. Rahman, C. Collins, T. Keefer, R. Noriega, I. Osman, S. Skrivin, M. Tischler, D. Bosch, P. Starks, and C. Peters-Lidard (2008), Appropriate scale of soil moisture retrieval from high resolution radar imagery for bare and minimally vegetated soils, *Remote Sens. Environ.*, 112, 403–414, doi:10.1016/j.rse.2007.06.021.
- Thompson, M., M. Wronski, and L. van Erp (2010), ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH PRACTI-TIONER MANUAL: A RESOURCE MANUAL FOR ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH PRAC-TITIONERS WORKING WITH ABORIGINAL AND TORRES STRAIT ISLANDER COM-MUNITIES, Commonwealth of Australia, National Circuit, Barton.
- Todini, E. (2007), Hydrological catchment modelling: past, present and future, *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.*, 11, 468–482.
- Trenberth, K., and G. Asrar (2014), Challenges and Opportunities in Water Cycle Research: WCRP Contributions, Surv Geophys, 35, 515–532, doi:10.1007/s10712-012-9214-y.
- Trenberth, K., P. Yanda, and H. Treut (2018), WCRP grand challenge: Changes in water availability, https://www.wcrp-climate.org/images/documents/grand\_challenges/ GC\_gsq\_water\_v5.pdf, the World Climate Research Programme (WCRP).
- Tuinenburg, O. A., R. W. A. Hutjes, T. Stacke, A. Wiltshire, and P. Lucas-Picher (2014), Effects of irrigation in india on the atmospheric water budget, *Journal of Hydrometeorology*, 15(3), 1028–1050, doi:10.1175/JHM-D-13-078.1.
- Ulaby, F., R. Moore, and A. Fung (1982), Pysical mechanisms and empirical models for scattering and emission, *Microwave Remote Sensing*, 2, 816–921.
- Ulaby, F. T., R. K. Moore, and A. K. Fung (1986a), *Microwave Remote Sensing, Active and Passive: From Theory to Applications*, vol. 3, 1065-2162 pp., Artech House, Norwood, MA.
- Ulaby, F. T., R. K. Moore, and A. K. Fung (1986b), Microwave Remote Sensing, Active and Passive: Radar Remote Sensing and Surface Scattering and Emission Theory, vol. 2, Artech House, Norwood, MA.
- UNEP/MAP (2009), State of the environment and development in the mediterranean.
- UNESCO (2011), The Impact of Global Change on Water Resources: The Response of UN-ESCO's International Hydrological Program, united Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO).
- Vidal, J.-P., E. Martin, L. Franchistéguy, M. Baillon, and J.-M. Soubeyroux (2010), A 50year high-resolution atmospheric reanalysis over france with the safran system, *International Journal of Climatology*, 30(11), 1627–1644, doi:10.1002/joc.2003.
- Vignudelli, S., A. Kostianoy, P. Cipollini, and J. Benveniste (2011), Coastal Altimetry, 567 pp., Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, Germany.
- Villasensor, J., D. Fatland, and L. Hinzman (1993), Change detection on alaska's north slope using repeat-pass ers-1 sar images, *IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens.*, 31, 227–236, doi: 10.1109/36.210462.
- Vörösmarty, C. J., and D. Sahagian (2000), Anthropogenic disturbance of the terrestrial water cycle, *BioScience*, 50(9), 753–765, doi:10.1641/0006-3568(2000)050[0753:ADOTTW]2.0.CO;2.

- Vörösmarty, C. J., P. Green, J. Salisbury, and R. B. Lammers (2000), Global water resources: Vulnerability from climate change and population growth, *Science*, 289(5477), 284–288, doi: 10.1126/science.289.5477.284.
- Wagner, W., G. Lemoine, and H. Rott (1999), A method for estimating soil moisture from ers scatterometer and soil data, *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 70, 191–207, doi:10.1016/ S0034-4257(99)00036-X.
- Wagner, W., G. Bloeschl, P. Pamaloni, and J. Calvet (2007), Operational readiness of microwave romote sensing of soil moisture for hydrologic applications, *Nordic Hydrology*, 38, 1–20, doi: 10.2166/nh.2007.029.
- Wagner, W., C. Pathe, M. Doubkova, D. Sabel, A. Bartsch, S. Hasenauer, G. Bloeschl, K. Scipal, J. Martínez-Fernández, and A. Loew (2008), Temporal stability of soil moisture and radar backscatter observed by the Advanced Synthetic Aperture Radar (ASAR), Sensors, 8, 1174– 1197.
- Wagner, W., S. Hahn, R. Kidd, T. Melzer, Z. Bartalis, S. Hasenauer, J. Figa-Saldaña, P. de Rosnay, A. Jann, S. Schneider, J. Komma, G. Kubu, K. Brugger, C. Aubrecht, J. Züger, U. Gangkofner, S. Kienberger, L. Brocca, Y. Wang, G. Blöschl, J. Eitzinger, and K. Steinnocher (2013), The ascat soil moisture product: A review of its specifications, validation results, and emerging applications, *Meteorologische Zeitschrift*, 22(1), 5–33, doi: 10.1127/0941-2948/2013/0399.
- Wait, J. (1985), Electromagnetic Wave Theory, 308 pp., Harper and Row, New York, NY.
- Wang, S., X. Li, X. Han, and R. Jin (2011), Estimation of surface soil moisture and roughness from multi-angular asar imagery in the watershed allied telemetry experimental research (water), *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.*, 15, 1415–1426, doi:10.5194/hess-15-1415-2011.
- Wingham, D., C. Rapley, and H. Griffiths (1986), New techniques in satellite tracking system, in *IGARSS' 86 Symposium*, p. 1339–1344.
- Wisser, D., S. Frolking, E. Douglas, B. Fekete, C. Vorosmarty, and A. Schumann (2008), Global irrigation water demand: Variability and uncertainties arising from agricultural and climate data sets, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 35(24), 5.
- WMO (1997), Comprehensive Assessment of the Freshwater Resources and Water Availability in the World, World Meteorological Organization, Geneva, Switzerland.
- WMO (2012), *International Glossary of Hydrology*, World Meteorological Organization, Geneva, Switzerland.
- Wolfe, B., B. Berger, D. Filiberto, D. Pimentel, E. Poon, E. Abbett, E. Karabinakis, M. Newton, S. Clark, and S. Nandagopal (2004), Water Resources: Agricultural and Environmental Issues, *BioScience*, 54 (10), 909–918, doi:10.1641/0006-3568(2004)054[0909:WRAAEI]2.0.CO;2.
- Yang, G., Y. Shi, C. Zhao, and J. Wang (2012), Estimation of soil moisture from multi-polarized sar data over wheat coverage areas.
- Yu, F., and Y. Zhao (2011), A new semi-empirical model for soil moisture content retrieval by asar and tm data in vegetation-covered areas, *Sci. China Earth Sci.*, 54, 1955–1964, doi: 10.1007/s11430-011-4204-3.
- Zhang, M., H. Lee, C. Shum, D. Alsdorf, F. Schwartz, K. Tseng, Y. Yi, C. Kuo, H. Tseng, and A. Braun (2010), Application of retracked satellite altimetry for inland hydrologic studies, *Int. J. Remote Sens.*, 31, 3913–3929, doi:10.1080/01431161.2010.483495.
- Zhou, T., B. Nijssen, H. Gao, and D. P. Lettenmaier (2016), The contribution of reservoirs to global land surface water storage variations, *Journal of Hydrometeorology*, 17(1), 309–325, doi:10.1175/JHM-D-15-0002.1.
- Zhuo, L., and D. Han (2016), The relevance of soil moisture by remote sensing and hydrological modelling, *Proceedia Engineering*, 154, 1368–1375.
- Zribi, M., and M. Dechambre (2003), A new empirical model to retrieve soil moisture and roughness from c-band radar data, *Remote Sens. Environ.*, 84, 42–52, doi:S0034-4257(02) 00069-X.
- Zribi, M., N. Baghdadi, N. Holah, and O. Fafin (2005), New methodology for soil surface moisture estimation and its application to envisat-asar multi-incidence data inversion, *Remote Sens. Environ.*, 96, 485–496, doi:10.1016/j.rse.2005.04.005.
- Zribi, M., S. Saux-Picart, C. André, L. Descroix, C. Ottle, and A. Kallel (2007), Soil moisture mapping based on asar/envisat radar data over a sahelian region, *Int. J. Remote Sens.*, 28, 3547–3565, doi:10.1080/01431160601009680.
- Zribi, M., A. Chahbi, M. Shabou, Z. Lili-Chabaane, B. Duchemin, N. Baghdadi, R. Amri, and A. Chehbouni (2011), Soil surface moisture estimation over a semi-arid region using envisat asar radar data for soil evaporation evaluation, *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.*, 15, 345–358, doi: 10.5194/hess-15-345-2011.
- Zribi, M., F. Kotti, R. Amri, W. Wagner, M. Shabou, Z. Lili-Chabaane, and N. Baghdadi (2014), Soil moisture mapping in a semiarid region, based on ASAR/wide swath satellite data, Water Resources Research, 50 (2), 823–835.